OZONE AS A DRIVER OF LUNG INFLAMMATION AND INNATE IMMUNITY, AND AS A MODEL FOR LUNG DISEASE

EDITED BY: Bernahrd Ryffel, Kian Fan Chung and Dieudonnée Togbe PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-267-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-267-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

OZONE AS A DRIVER OF LUNG INFLAMMATION AND INNATE IMMUNITY, AND AS A MODEL FOR LUNG DISEASE

Topic Editors:

Bernahrd Ryffel, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France **Kian Fan Chung**, Imperial College London, United Kingdom **Dieudonnée Togbe**, UMR7355 Immunologie et Neurogénétique Expérimentales et Moléculaires (INEM), France

Citation: Ryffel, B., Chung, K. F., Togbe, D., eds. (2021). Ozone as a Driver of Lung Inflammation and Innate Immunity, and as a Model for Lung Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-267-0

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Ozone as a Driver of Lung Inflammation and Innate Immunity and as a Model for Lung Disease

Kian Fan Chung, Dieudonnée Togbe and Bernhard Ryffel

07 Major Effect of Oxidative Stress on the Male, but Not Female, SP-A1 Type II Cell miRNome

George T. Noutsios, Nithyananda Thorenoor, Xuesheng Zhang, David S. Phelps, Todd M. Umstead, Faryal Durrani and Joanna Floros

- **19** *Transcriptional Effects of Ozone and Impact on Airway Inflammation* Sharon Mumby, Kian Fan Chung and Ian M. Adcock
- **33** Ozone Inhalation Attenuated the Effects of Budesonide on Aspergillus fumigatus-Induced Airway Inflammation and Hyperreactivity in Mice Cameron H. Flayer, Moyar Q. Ge, Jin W. Hwang, Blerina Kokalari, Imre G. Redai, Zhilong Jiang and Angela Haczku
- **47** Acute Respiratory Barrier Disruption by Ozone Exposure in Mice Milena Sokolowska, Valerie F. J. Quesniaux, Cezmi A. Akdis, Kian Fan Chung, Bernhard Ryffel and Dieudonnée Togbe
- 57 Ozone Pollution: A Major Health Hazard Worldwide Junfeng (Jim) Zhang, Yongjie Wei and Zhangfu Fang
- 67 The Metabolic Response to Ozone Stephanie A. Shore
- 74 Ozone-Induced Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation Controls Lung Inflammation via Interleukin-22 Modulation

Chloé Michaudel, Florent Bataille, Isabelle Maillet, Louis Fauconnier, Cyril Colas, Harry Sokol, Marjolène Straube, Aurélie Couturier-Maillard, Laure Dumoutier, Jacques van Snick, Valérie F. Quesniaux, Dieudonnée Togbe and Bernhard Ryffel

- **90** Oxidative Stress in Ozone-Induced Chronic Lung Inflammation and Emphysema: A Facet of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Coen H. Wiegman, Feng Li, Bernhard Ryffel, Dieudonnée Togbe and Kian Fan Chung
- 103 Ozone-Induced Oxidative Stress, Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, and Glucocorticoid Resistance in Asthma

Chioma Enweasor, Cameron H. Flayer and Angela Haczku





Editorial: Ozone as a Driver of Lung Inflammation and Innate Immunity and as a Model for Lung Disease

Kian Fan Chung^{1*}, Dieudonnée Togbe² and Bernhard Ryffel²

¹ Experimental Studies, National Heart & Lung Institute, Imperial College London, United Kingdom, ² Laboratory of Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, UMR 7355 CNRS-University of Orleans, Orléans, France

Keywords: ozone, air pollution, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, emphysema, lung inflammation, corticosteroid insensitivity, oxidative stress

Editorial on the Research Topic

Ozone as a Driver of Lung Inflammation and Innate Immunity and as a Model for Lung Disease

The articles in this series will remind readers of the increasing importance of ozone as an important component of air pollution that contributes to mortality and disease progression (1-3).

Ground level ozone is created by chemical reactions in the presence of sunlight between oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and volatile organic compounds (VOC) that are both emitted as pollutants from cars, power plants, industrial boilers, refineries, chemical plants, and other sources. Levels of ozone are most likely to reach unhealthy levels on hot sunny days in urban areas, although high levels may also be observed during winter months. Ozone can also be transported long distances by wind into non-urban areas.

The effects of ozone on health are relatively well-known. Exposure to ozone can cause difficulty to breathe, shortness of breath and discomfort on breathing, cough and sore-throat presumably due to an inflammation and damage to the upper and lower airways. Ozone exposure can aggravate lung conditions such as asthma and COPD, causing acute deterioration of these conditions that necessitate emergency treatments (4, 5). As such, ozone exposure is likely to cause increased school absences, days off work, medication use, visits to doctors and emergency rooms, and hospital admissions.

Ozone is highly reactive, eliciting rapid and dose-dependent disruption of the respiratory barrier. It impacts many cell types in the lung and activates specific signaling cascades, eliciting responses including cellular damage, enhanced apoptosis, cytokine production, recruitment of inflammatory cells, and subsequent tissue repair.

Oxidative stress is a conserved mechanism that contributes to numerous environmental lung injuries. Ozone, as a principal mediator of oxidative stress in both the intracellular and extracellular compartments, has become a clinically-relevant model to understand the mechanisms underlying biological responses to oxidative stress (6, 7). Oxidation products are either directly toxic and can cause injury to lung tissue or they can function as exogenous ligands *via* binding to cell surface receptors and thereby triggering intracellular inflammatory and/or apoptotic signaling pathways (8). Thus, ozone-induced oxidant stress modifies several known cell-signaling mechanisms: activation of innate immune signaling pathways, upregulation of antioxidant genes, and enhanced release of damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) (9, 10). Oxidative stress also decreases the clearance of pathogens by impairing antimicrobial function of effector cells including suppressing alveolar macrophage phagocytosis, enhancing macrophage and neutrophil apoptosis, and increasing the susceptibility of epithelial cells to influenza infection.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Pietro Ghezzi, Brighton and Sussex Medical School, United Kingdom

> ***Correspondence:** Kian Fan Chung f.chung@imperial.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 May 2021 **Accepted:** 10 June 2021 **Published:** 30 June 2021

Citation:

Chung KF, Togbe D and Ryffel B (2021) Editorial: Ozone as a Driver of Lung Inflammation and Innate Immunity and as a Model for Lung Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:714161. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.714161

4

This Research Topic collection on ozone extends our knowledge on ozone of the recent decade. We summarize the contents of each of these 9 articles.

Dr. J. J. Zhang et al. starts this collection stating that ozone is responsible for hundreds of thousands of premature deaths and tens of millions of asthma-related emergency visits annually. To combat ozone pollution globally, an urgent reduction in fossil fuel consumption is required to cut NO_x and VOCs and greenhouse gas emissions. Preventive and therapeutic strategies are to alleviate the detrimental effects of ozone especially for susceptible individuals need to be further explored. The efficacy of antioxidants, and the major pathogenic pathways need to be investigated to identify molecular target.

Dr. C. Michaudel et al. revisits respiratory epithelial damage and inflammation in mice and extended previous knowledge showing that a single ozone (1h, 1ppm) causes within hours epithelial cell death with IL-1 α and IL-33 expression followed by neutrophilic inflammation and repeated exposure over 6 weeks in mice induced chronic respiratory pathology with chronic inflammation and emphysema dependent on aryl hydrocarbon and IL-17/IL-22 expression.

Dr. M. Sokolowska et al. add new insights on the respiratory barrier disruption of epithelial tight junctions and cell death followed by ROS activation, airway hyperreactivity (AHR), myeloid cell recruitment and remodeling. High ROS levels activate a novel PGAM5 phosphatase dependent cell-death pathway, called oxeiptosis. Chronic ozone exposure leads to progressive and irreversible loss of alveolar epithelial cells and alveoli resulting in reduced gas exchange space typical of emphysema.

Dr. Wiegman et al. review oxidative stress in the lung upon acute exposure and chronic ozone exposure the activation of oxidative pathways causes AHR, cell death tissue remodeling, emphysema and chronic inflammation mimicking cigarette smoke induced COPD. There is derangement of the integrity of cell membranes and organelles of the respiratory epithelial cells causing a stress response with the release of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS), DNA, and proteases. Mitochondrial ROS and DNA activate NLRP3 inflammasome and the DNA sensors cGAS and STING accelerating inflammation enhancing alveolar septa destruction, remodeling, and fibrosis. Inhibitors of mitochondrial ROS, NLRP3 inflammasome, DNA sensor and cell death pathways may represent novel therapeutic targets.

Dr. Flayer et al. report on the effect of ozone inhalation impairing glucocorticoid responsiveness in a mouse model of allergic asthma induced by sensitization and challenge with Aspergillus fumigatus. Ozone exposure counteracted the effects of budesonide on airway inflammation, airway hyperreactivity,

REFERENCES

- Jerrett M, Finkelstein MM, Brook JR, Arain MA, Kanaroglou P, Stieb DM, et al. A Cohort Study of Traffic-Related Air Pollution and Mortality in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. *Environ Health Perspect* (2009) 117:772–7. doi: 10.1289/ehp.11533
- Turner MC, Jerrett M, Pope CA 3rd, Krewski D, Gapstur SM, Diver WR, et al. Long-Term Ozone Exposure and Mortality in a Large Prospective Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2016) 193:1134–42. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201508-1633OC

and surfactant protein D (SP-D) production. Asthmatics who are exposed to high ambient ozone levels may become less responsive to glucocorticoid treatment particularly during acute exacerbations of asthma.

Dr. Mumby et al. report on acute ozone exposure in man resulting in sputum neutrophilia, respiratory irritation and may be associated with systemic inflammation and chronic exposure amplifies these effects. In asthmatic subjects, ozone induces a greater number of genes in bronchoalveolar macrophages than healthy responders with up-regulation of inflammatory and immune pathways and the enhanced expression of repair programs. Models of ozone exposure recapitulate the inflammatory effects seen in humans and enable the elucidation of key transcriptional pathways that drive ozone effects on airways.

Dr. Enweasor et al. review oxidative stress in neutrophil recruitment and their resistance to glucocorticosteroids and innate lymphoid cells (ILC). Furthermore, a role of ILC type 2 cells was reported in the ozone inflammatory response, but also of ILC type 1 such as NK cells as well as NKT cells. Anti-CD1d mAb administration blocked NKT cell activation and ozoneinduced AHR asthma. NKT cells mediate a unifying pathogenic mechanism for several distinct forms of asthma.

Dr. Shore investigates the metabolic effects of ozone on glucose intolerance and hyperlipidemia, characteristics of the metabolic syndrome. Further, the role of stress hormones and exacerbation by obesity and diabetes. The intestinal microbiome is critical in the regulation of metabolism is well known and a link of the gut microbiome and pulmonary inflammation in response to ozone has been uncovered including heightened AHR

Dr. Noutsios et al. review surfactant protein A (SP-A) in the airway and the interaction with alveolar macrophages (AM), the guardian cells of innate immunity in the lungs. SP-A regulates many of its functions under basal condition and in response to infection and oxidative stress. They investigated the effect of hSP-A variants on the AM gene expression profile in response to Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and differences in AM gene expression of TP53, TNF, and cell cycle.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the authors who contributed to this Series.

- Zhang Z, Yao M, Wu W, Zhao X, Zhang J. Spatiotemporal Assessment of Health Burden and Economic Losses Attributable to Short-Term Exposure to Ground-Level Ozone During 2015-2018 in China. *BMC Public Health* (2021) 21(1069). doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10751-7
- Dai Y, Qiu H, Sun S, Yang Y, Lin H, Tian L. Age-Dependent Effect of Ambient Ozone on Emergency Asthma Hospitalizations in Hong Kon. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141:1532–4.e1535. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.006
- 5. Moore K, Neugebauer R, Lurmann F, Hall J, Brajer V, Alcorn S, et al. Ambient Ozone Concentrations Cause Increased Hospitalizations for Asthma in

Children: An 18-Year Study in Southern California. *Environ Health Perspect* (2008) 116:1063–70. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10497

- Li F, Xu M, Wang M, Wang L, Wang H, Zhang H, et al. Roles of Mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 Inflammasome in Multiple Ozone-Induced Lung Inflammation and Emphysema. *Respir Res* (2018) 19(230). doi: 10.1186/ s12931-018-0931-8
- Wiegman CH, Li F, Clarke CJ, Jazrawi E, Kirkham P, Barnes PJ, et al. A Comprehensive Analysis of Oxidative Stress in the Ozone-Induced Lung Inflammation Mouse Model. *Clin Sci (Lond Engl: 1979)* (2014) 126:425–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20130039
- Yan Z, Jin Y, An Z, Liu Y, Samet JM, Wu W. Inflammatory Cell Signaling Following Exposures to Particulate Matter and Ozone. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1860:2826–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.03.030
- Hollingsworth JW, Kleeberger SR, Foster WM. Ozone and Pulmonary Innate Immunity. Proc Am Thorac Soc (2007) 4:240–6. doi: 10.1513/pats.200701-023AW

 Williams AS, Leung SY, Nath P, Khorasani NM, Bhavsar P, Issa R, et al. Role of TLR2, TLR4, and MyD88 in Murine Ozone-Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Neutrophilia. J Appl Physiol (2007) 103:1189–95. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00172.2007

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Chung, Togbe and Ryffel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Major Effect of Oxidative Stress on the Male, but Not Female, SP-A1 Type II Cell miRNome

George T. Noutsios^{1†}, Nithyananda Thorenoor¹, Xuesheng Zhang¹, David S. Phelps¹, Todd M. Umstead¹, Faryal Durrani¹ and Joanna Floros^{1,2*}

¹ Center for Host Defense, Inflammation, and Lung Disease (CHILD) Research, Department of Pediatrics, College of Medicine, Pennsylvania State University, Hershey, PA, United States, ² Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, College of Medicine, Pennsylvania State University, Hershey, PA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kian Fan Chung, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Bernahrd Ryffel, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France Tanja Kunej, University of Liubliana, Slovenia

*Correspondence:

Joanna Floros jfloros@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

[†]Present Address:

George T. Noutsios, School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences, Arizona State University, Glendale, AZ, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 November 2018 Accepted: 17 June 2019 Published: 10 July 2019

Citation:

Noutsios GT, Thorenoor N, Zhang X, Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Durrani F and Floros J (2019) Major Effect of Oxidative Stress on the Male, but Not Female, SP-A1 Type II Cell miRNome. Front. Immunol. 10:1514. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01514 Pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) plays an important role in surfactant metabolism and lung innate immunity. In humans there are two proteins, SP-A1 and SP-A2, encoded by SFTPA1 and SFTPA2, respectively, which are produced by the alveolar type II cells (T2C). We sought to investigate the differential influence of SP-A1 and SP-A2 in T2C miRNome under oxidative stress (OxS). SP-A knock out (KO) and hTG male and female mice expressing SP-A1 or SP-A2 as well as gonadectomized (Gx) mice were exposed to O3-induced oxidative stress (OxS) or filtered air (FA). Expression of miRNAs and mRNAs was measured in the T2C of experimental animals. (a) In SP-A1 males after normalizing to KO males, significant changes were observed in the miRNome in terms of sex-OxS effects, with 24 miRNAs being differentially expressed under OxS. (b) The mRNA targets of the dysregulated miRNAs included Ago2, Ddx20, Plcg2, Irs1, Elf2, Jak2, Map2k4, Bcl2, Ccnd1, and Vhl. We validated the expression levels of these transcripts, and observed that the mRNA levels of all of these targets were unaffected in SP-A1 T2C but six of these were significantly upregulated in the KO (except Bcl2 that was downregulated). (c) Gondadectomy had a major effect on the expression of miRNAs and in three of the mRNA targets (Irs1, Bcl2, and Vhl). Ccnd1 was upregulated in KO regardless of Gx. (d) The targets of the significantly changed miRNAs are involved in several pathways including MAPK signaling pathway, cell cycle, anti-apoptosis, and other. In conclusion, in response to OxS, SP-A1 and male hormones appear to have a major effect in the T2C miRNome.

Keywords: alveolar epithelium, surfactant protein A, ozone, sex differences, MAPK

INTRODUCTION

Ambient ozone (O_3) -induced oxidative stress (OxS) is one of the major environmental factors contributing to the occurrence and development of upper and lower airway disease, including chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) (1), asthma, and chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD) (2, 3). In the distal lung, the alveolar epithelial cells provide the first line of defense against environmental pathogens such as O_3 , pollutants, bacteria, viruses, and allergens by producing a number of protective factors (4). In addition to secreting pulmonary surfactant to reduce the alveolar surface tension, they produce chemokines and cytokines that regulate alveolar inflammatory responses as well as proteinases and proteinase inhibitors (5). Upon environmental stress such as that of

7

OxS, O_3 increases the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (6) that disrupt the alveolar epithelial cell barrier function by the dissociation of the tight junctions of alveolar epithelium (7), thereby allowing the entrance of opportunistic bacteria such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to infect the alveolar epithelium. Exposure to O_3 also reduces pulmonary surfactant secretion (8). The alveolar epithelium initiates a self-repair process by recruitment, proliferation, and differentiation of new epithelial cells to maintain the structural and functional traits that are required to maintain a normal respiratory function (9).

The alveolar epithelium is comprised of two different cells types, the alveolar type I cells (T1C) and the type II cells (T2C) that are in close proximity with the alveolar macrophages (AM) that reside in the alveolar space. The T1C are large, flat cells with a thin attenuated cytoplasm that line 90% of the alveolar surface. This distinct shape enables them to facilitate O₂/CO₂ gas exchange by minimizing the diffusion distance between the alveolar surface and the blood (10). The T2C cover $\sim 10\%$ of the alveolar surface and their main function is to produce and secrete pulmonary surfactant, a phospholipid and protein mixture, which lowers the surface tension in the alveolus during the respiration process. T2C possess unique secretory organelles, called lamellar bodies, which contain surfactant lipids and surfactant proteins A (SP-A), SP-B, and SP-C. Also, T2C play a very important role in the epithelium repair process after lung injury and are considered the progenitor cells of the alveolar epithelium. Upon epithelial damage T2C proliferate as new T2C and they differentiate into T1C repairing the scarred epithelial surface (9, 11, 12).

SP-A is the most abundant protein in pulmonary surfactant and has both surfactant-related functions and innate immunity functions (13-17). SP-A knock-out mouse studies have revealed important host defense functions of SP-A, where KO mice are more vulnerable to bacterial infections compared to the mice that express SP-A (18-22). Also, SP-A has been shown to have regulatory effects on the proteome, function, cell shape, and activation state of AM (21, 23-26). OxS stress increases the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (6) and these in turn damage the alveolar epithelium (27), oxidize SP-A, and compromise innate immune functions (23, 28–33). In humans however, unlike in rodents, there are two different genes, SFTPA1 and SFTPA2, encoding SP-A1 and SP-A2 proteins, respectively. We have previously shown that SP-A1 and SP-A2 differentially affect the proteomic expression in AM (34, 35), the AM function (36-38), surfactant secretion (39), structure of surfactant monolayers (40, 41) and more recently we have shown that SP-A1 and SP-A2 differentially regulate the AM miRNome and antioxidant pathways in the AM (42), lung function mechanics (43), and survival after *K. pneumoniae* infection (44). MicroRNAs (miRNAs) have also been shown to differentially affect SP-A1 and SP-A2 expression (45), and also contribute to the maintenance of the T2C phenotype (46).

In the present study, using humanized transgenic (hTG) mice, where each expresses either SP-A1 or SP-A2, we sought to investigate the differential influence of SP-A1 and SP-A2 on the T2C miRNome under the effect of OxS. We found that the T2C miRNome is regulated in response to OxS and that O₃ exposure has a major effect on the male SP-A1 miRNome. We also show that sex hormones play a role in T2C miRNome under the studied conditions.

METHODS

Oxidative Stress Animal Model

Twelve weeks old humanized transgenic (hTG) C57BL/6 mice (males and females) each carrying human SP-A1 ($6A^2$), SP-A2 ($1A^0$) (47), as well as SP-A knock-out (KO) were used in the present study. Females were synchronized for 7 days as described previously (42) to stimulate estrus. A total of n = 52 mice (36 for miRNA study, 16 for gonadectomy analysis). Protocols involving animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine.

Animals were exposed to 2 ppm ozone (O₃) or filtered air (FA) (control) at 25°C as described previously (42, 48). We used 3 mice per group. i.e., 3 males, 3 females, 3 SP-A KO, 3 hTG SP-A2, 3 hTG SP-A1, 3 for O₃, and FA exposure (n = 36). All O₃ and FA exposures were conducted in parallel as described (49). Mice were sacrificed 4 h post exposure. Each animal was analyzed individually, and we did not pool any samples. Summary of the experimental workflow is depicted in **Figure 1**.

Mouse Alveolar Type II Cells Isolation

Mouse type II cells were isolated based on a modified method that was described previously (50). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with intraperitoneal injection of 87.5 mg/kg ketamine and 12.5 mg/kg xylazine and exsanguinated by cutting the inferior vena cava. Cardiac perfusion of the lung was performed with 10 mL of normal saline solution followed by endotracheal intubation and infusion of the lungs with 3 mL solution of 50 U/ml dispase II (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in HBSS 1x and sealed with 0.5 mL of 1% solution of low melting agarose (Sigma-Aldrich). The lungs were removed from the thoracic cavity and lung lobes digested in 15 mL tube containing 2 mL of dispase II for 45 min at 37°C with constant shaking at 150 rpm. Digested lungs were dissected and homogenized in 7 mL of complete DMEM solution, supplemented with 10 µL DNase I (5,000 Kunitz U/ml Sigma-Aldrich). The lung epithelial cells were filtered through a 100 and 40 µm strainer, passed through 20 µm- nylon mesh, cells were collected by centrifugation at 130 xg for 8 min, and resuspended in 10 mL of DMEM/25 mM HEPES/10% FBS/1x AB/AM. Negative selection of T2C was performed by incubating the cell suspensions in 10-cm cultured dishes coated with 42

Abbreviations: *Ago2*, argonaute 2; AM, alveolar macrophages; *Bcl2*, B-cell lymphoma 2; Ccnd1, cyclin D1; COPD, chronic obstructive lung disease; CRS, chronic rhinosinusitis; *Ddx20*, dead-box helicase 20; eIF2, eukaryotic initiation factor 2; FA, filtered air; Gx, gonadectomized; FDR, false discovery rate; hTG, humanized transgenic; *Irs1*, Insulin Receptor Substrate 1; *Jak2*, Janus Kinase 2; KO, SP-A knock-out; *Map2k4*, Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase 4; *MAPK*, mitogen-activated protein kinases; miRNAs, microRNAs; NGx, non-gonadectomized; O3, ozone; OxS, oxidative stress; *Plcg2*, Phospholipase C Gamma 2; ROS, reactive oxygen species; *SFTPA1*, gene encoding SP-A1; *SFTPA2*, gene encoding SP-A2; SP-A, surfactant protein A; SP-B, surfactant protein B; SP-C, surfactant protein C; SP-D, surfactant protein D; T1C, alveolar type I cells; T2C, alveolar type II cells; *Vhl*, Von Hippel-Lindau protein.



FIGURE 1 Experimental worknow of the present study. In I.G. numanized transgenic that each carries a single SP-A1 ($6A^2$) or SP-A2 ($1A^0$) variant; SP-A-KO, knock out; Gx, gonadectomized; NGx, non-gonadectomized; FA, filter air; O₃, ozone; T2C, Alveolar epithelial Type II cells; Δ , difference; FDR, false discovery rate; IPA, ingenuity pathway analysis; OxS, oxidative stress.

 μ g anti-mouse CD45 (targeting hematopoietic cells) and 16 μ g anti-mouse CD16/32 (BD Pharmingen, San Jose, CA) (targeting alveolar macrophages) at 37°C, 10% CO₂ for 2 h. Non-attached cells were centrifuged, washed with 1x PBS (Gibco, Waltham, MA) and counted. A fraction was used to prepare cytospins, cells were stained, and a differential cell count was performed. T2C purity was 95% as assessed by Papanikolaou staining. The remaining T2C pellet was resuspended in 500 μ L solution of DMEM supplemented with 40% fetal bovine serum (Gibco) and 10% DMSO (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and T2C were cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen until further use.

Gonadectomy and Ozone Exposure

Male and female SP-A1 and KO mice were gonadectomized (Gx) and exposed to O_3 (2 ppm) for 3 h and were sacrificed 4 h post OxS as described (51). The differentially expressed miRNAs from

Gx samples were identified by RNA sequencing as described previously (42, 52). The miRNAs identified from Gx mice were selected for analysis and changes in miRNA expression in SP-A1 mice were calculated by normalizing to KO as described previously (42). Samples from 16 animals (8 males and 8 females for SP-A1 and KO) were individually analyzed.

Isolation of miRNAs, qRT-PCR, and Statistical Analysis

Total RNA from the isolated mouse T2C was prepared using QIAzol Lysis Reagent (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and the miRNAenriched fraction was purified and used to generate cDNA, and then served as a template for real-time qPCR. Expression profiles of the 372 most abundantly expressed and best-characterized miRNAs in miRBase were then studied as described previously (42). The expression of miRNAs from FA and O₃ exposed T2C samples from SP-A1, SP-A2, and KO mice were analyzed as described previously (42). The variability across the 3 samples was assessed by *p*-values (p < 0.0166) and miRNAs with significantly changed levels were studied further (p < 0.0166). Bonferroni correction applied for sex, treatment, and genotype variability. The miRNA:gene target interactions were identified and reported in a format which enables direct transfer of results to genomic databases cataloging validated miRNA-target interactions as described previously (53, 54).

Gene Expression Analysis

To assess the expression of levels of *Ago2*, *Ddx20*, *Plcg2*, *Irs1*, *Elf2*, *Bcl2*, *Jak2*, *Map2k4*, *Bcl2*, *Ccnd1*, and *Vhl* genes at mRNA level in the male non-gonadectomized (NGx) and gonadectomized (Gx) KO and SP-A1 T2C, we performed qRT-PCR as described previously (42). The specific RT2 qPCR Primer assay was purchased from Qiagen. Cell samples were obtained from 3 separate animals/treatment (FA and O₃), and each sample was analyzed in triplicate/animal and quantified relative to *Gapdh* mRNA expression.

RESULTS

SP-A1 and SP-A2 Differentially Regulate the T2C miRNome

The expression levels of the hTG SP-A1 and SP-A2 T2C miRNomes were determined in males and females that were exposed to FA or O_3 and compared to the corresponding KO T2C. The miRNome levels are presented as volcano plots to show the fold change regulation differences between levels of miRNAs in hTG and KO mice, as well as their statistical significance (**Figures 2, 3**).

After FA exposure, which serves as control, in our experimental model, we observed in **Figure 2A**, a very tightly packed cluster of data points with few data points exceeding the cutoff for significance (Bonferroni corrected p < 0.0166), indicating that there are only a few differences between FA-exposed SP-A1 males and KO males. In **Figure 2B**, when the same comparison is made with female mice, we observed a very similar pattern to that of males, with only two miRNAs to exceed the significance threshold. Following O₃ exposure the SP-A1











male mice (Figure 2C) show a very different picture. There are many more differences (both in magnitude and in significance) between O_3 exposed SP-A1 and KO males. SP-A1 females on the other hand show minimal changes compared to females KO (Figures 2C,D, respectively).

When we compared the SP-A2 hTG males and females after FA and OxS we do not see any robust differences as those seen with the SP-A1 male hTG (**Figures 3A-D**). It is immediately obvious that the pattern seen after OxS for the SP-A1 males is unique (shaded area of **Figure 2C** compared to the rest of the panels of **Figure 2** and all panels of **Figure 3**) in the volcano plots analysis. This indicates that in response to OxS the male T2C miRNome of the SP-A1 mice is more responsive compared to the rest of the hTGs and exhibits a higher number of changed miRNAs that reach the Bonferroni corrected significance threshold p < 0.0166 (compare shaded area).

Oxidative Stress Has a Major Effect on the Male T2C miRNome

We performed a non-supervised hierarchical clustering of our entire dataset to display a heat map with a dendrogram indicating co-regulated genes across groups or individual samples (Figure 4). We found two distinct clusters a and b, with clade a being the one of SP-A1 male T2C miRNome, while the rest of our experimental animals clustered together in group b. A two-way ANOVA test for sex and treatment effects showed that the F-stat for the SP-A1 mice regarding the sex effect is F =161.91 with F crit = 3.84 and $p = 2.79 \times 10^{-5}$. The F-stat for the interaction between the two factors (sex and treatment) was F = 16.69 with F crit = 3.84 and $p = 4.63 \times 10^{-5}$. The same analysis for the SP-A2 mice miRNome did not show that sex, treatment, or the combination of these two factors were significantly different (F-stat for SP-A2 mice was F = 1.24 lower than the F crit = 3.84 and *p*-value not significant p = 0.265). These data show that in the T2C miRNome, there is a difference between sexes in response to O₃ exposure as a function of SP-A variants.

mRNA Targets of the Male SP-A1 T2C miRNome Associate With Cell Cycle, Apoptosis, and MAPK Pathway

To better understand and integrate the T2C miRNome data, we performed Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) for the T2C miRNAs whose expression was significantly altered by OxS. Only miRNAs that were shown to pass the corrected Bonferroni p < 0.0166 and a false discovery rate (FDR)-adjusted q < 0.05 were used to ensure that sex, treatment, gene, and array variability do not lead to false discoveries. Fifty-four miRNAs met the above criteria and were used for IPA. This analysis identified several mRNA transcripts, the expression of which could be affected by approximately half of the miRNAs selected for IPA. The targets identified include the following transcripts Ago2, Ddx20, Plcg2, Irs1, Elf2, Jak2, Map2k4, Bcl2, Ccnd1, and Vhl mRNAs. The levels of miRNAs that targeted the above molecules and were significantly changed in SP-A1 males in response to OxS are shown on **Table 1**.

Next, we performed qRT-PCR to assess the expression levels of *Ago2, Ddx20, Plcg2, Irs1, Elf2, Jak2, Map2k4, Bcl2, Ccnd1*, and *Vhl* genes in the male KO and SP-A1 T2C (**Figure 5**). To our surprise, we observed that in response to OxS the levels of *Ago2, Elf2, Jak2, Map2k4, Ccnd1*, and *Vhl* were significantly upregulated in the KO T2C but remained unaffected in the SP-A1 T2C. Also, the *Bcl2* gene was significantly downregulated only in the KO T2C. The above molecules are involved in several pathways including mitogen activated protein kinases (*MAPK*) signaling pathway, cell cycle, and apoptosis.

TABLE 1 | Levels and statistical significance of the male SP-A1 T2C miRNAs in OxS and shown by IPA to be directly associated with genes Ago2, Ddx20, Plcg2, Irs1, Elf2, Bcl2, Jak2, Map2k4, Blc2, Ccnd1, and Vhl.

Mature miRNA ID	Fold regulation	<i>p</i> -value	FDR (q-value)	Target gene(s)	PMID	Validation experiments*
miR-124-3p	-2.6902	0.006674	0.038944405	Ago2, Ccnd1, Eif2	27577603	HITS-CLIP
miR-135a-5p	-2.9089	0.001569	0.037656	Jak2	30854107	Luciferase
miR-141-3p	-3.3007	0.007623	0.038944405	Map2k4	28454307	WB, IHC, qRT-PCR
miR-143-3p	-3.4508	0.000843	0.029428364	Bcl2	29581736	WB
miR-143-5p	-2.5534	0.00237	0.038944405	Bcl2	20878132	qRT-PCR
miR-148a-3p	-2.193	0.00597	0.038944405	Ppara and indirectly Bcl2	26001136	Luciferase
miR-153-3p	-4.1674	0.000733	0.0281472	Bcl2	30537994	Luciferase
miR-190a-5p	-3.1766	0.003205	0.038944405	Ddx20		in silico report
miR-19b-3p	-3.5226	0.004329	0.038944405	Ccnd1	29455644	WB
miR-204-3p	2.2073	0.007978	0.038944405	N/A		
miR-208a-3p	-3.7777	0.004875	0.038944405	Ddx20		in silico report
miR-20b-5p	-2.2419	0.00638	0.038944405	Indirect effect on Bcl2	30816540	Luciferase
miR-219a-5p	-16.1578	0.000011	0.002112	Plcg2	20956612	qRT-PCR
miR-223-3p	6.3634	0.003918	0.038944405	lrs1	29286159	qRT-PCR
miR-26a-5p	-2.3634	0.006167	0.038944405	Indirect effect on Htr1a	30766477	Luciferase
miR-29b-3p	-2.6192	0.004297	0.038944405	Ago2		IP
miR-301a-3p	-3.0775	0.010054	0.045186977	Indirect effect in Ago2	28332581	qRT-PCR
miR-302a-3p	2.2073	0.007978	0.038944405	Indirect effect in Ccd1	28510621	Luciferase
miR-302a-5p	2.2073	0.007978	0.038944405	Indirect effect in Ccd1	28510621	Luciferase
miR-34b-3p	2.1409	0.004946	0.038944405	N/A		
miR-499-5p	-2.6842	0.000025	0.0032	Sox6	31076992	qRT-PCR
miR-539-3p	2.2073	0.007978	0.038944405	Ntrk3	21143953	Luciferase
miR-708-5p	-2.3546	0.008364	0.039182049	Vhl	21852381	qRT-PCR
miR-758-3p	3.3301	0.001181	0.032393143	Indirectly Bcl2	31138034	aRT-PCR

PMID, unique identifier number used in PubMed for miRNA; –, indicates downregulation; FDR, false discovery rate; HITS-CLIP, high-throughput sequencing of RNA isolated by cross-linking immunoprecipitation; WB, western blot; IHC, immunohistochemistry; qRT-PCR, quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; IP, immunoprecipitation; N/A, non-applied; *, last column shows the validation techniques used for each miRNA as noted in the PMID.

Effect of Gonadectomy and OxS on the Expression of miRNAs in SP-A1 Male and Female Mice

To study the effect of sex hormones on the expression of miRNAs after OxS, we performed miRNA expression analysis in T2C from gonadectomized (Gx) SP-A1 and KO male and female mice and compared it with that of non-gonadectomized (NGx) mice after O_3 exposure.

For this analysis, we used 120 miRNAs that were identified in both NGx (males and females) and Gx (males and females) groups. Of these, in the NGx (males vs. females) group, 89 miRNAs had their levels significantly changed (fold change ≥ 2) after FA exposure (**Figure 6A**). In the Gx group (male vs. female) compared to the corresponding NGx (male vs. female) group, expression of 9 miRNAs (10.1%) was significantly increased (fold change ≥ 2), and expression of 61 miRNAs (68.53%) was significantly decreased (fold change ≥ 2) (**Figure 6A**). In response to OxS, the level of 56 miRNAs was significantly altered (≥ 2 fold) in NGx (male vs. female) groups (**Figure 6B**). Following, comparison of the Gx group (male vs. female) to the corresponding NGx (male vs. female) group, the expression of 5 miRNAs (8.9%) was significantly increased (≥ 2 fold), and the expression levels of 33 (58.9%) miRNAs was significantly decreased (≥ 2 fold) (**Figure 6B**). Of the 89 (**Figure 6A**) and 56 (**Figure 6B**) miRNAs differentially expressed in Gx males vs. females after FA and O₃ exposure, 24 miRNAs (26.96%) are specific to FA exposure and 16 miRNAs (17.97%) are specific to O₃ exposure (**Figure 6C**). Moreover, a one-way ANOVA pertaining to the gonadectomy effect on the miRNA expression showed a significant difference with F stat = 120.5 with F crit = 3.88 and $p = 5.95 \times 10^{-23}$ (see **Supplementary File 1**) indicating that sex hormones play a role.

Furthermore, we monitored the expression levels of the target genes discussed above after gonadectomy in both SP-A1 and KO mice (**Figure 7**). We found that Gx had a major effect in three genes (*Irs1*, *Bcl2*, *Vhl*) in KO mice. *Irs1* was upregulated in Gx KO only. No significant change was observed for IRS1 in the NGx KO (**Figure 4**). *Bcl2* and *Vhl* showed decrease and increase expression, respectively, compared to control *Gapdh* mRNA (**Figure 7**); both of these had shown the reverse in NGx (**Figure 5**). Of interest, *Ccnd1* was upregulated in KO regardless of Gx. These data indicate that sex hormones play an important role in the observed miRNA sex differences by affecting regulation of miRNAs, as most of the miRNAs that were increased in NGx were decreased in Gx.







significant decrease (\geq 2-fold). (B) NGx shows the miRNAs (n = 56) that changed significantly (\geq 2-fold) in OxS when males were compared to females. Gx depicts the comparison of Gx values (male vs. female) to NGx (male vs. female). Out of the same 56 miRNAs (found to have their levels increased in NGx), 5 miRNAs (8.9%) showed a significant increase (\geq 2-fold) and 33 miRNAs (58.9%) showed a significant decrease (\geq 2-fold). (C) Depicts the comparison of the 89 and 56 differentially expressed miRNAs identified between Gx males and females. Out of 89 miRNAs studied, 24 miRNAs (26.96%) are significantly increased in FA (\geq 2-fold), and 16 miRNAs (17.97%) are significantly increased in OxS (\geq 2-fold).



the Gx SP-A1 the *VhI* gene was significantly increased in SP-A1 by 1.8-fold. *means p < 0.05.

DISCUSSION

We have previously shown a differential effect of SP-A1 and SP-A2 proteins on AM function (31, 37, 38), AM proteome (34, 35) and AM miRNome (42) as well as sex differences after OxS. In the present study, we investigated the effect of OxS on mouse T2C under the influence of either SP-A1 or SP-A2 and compared it to KO mice as well as studied the role of sex hormones in the T2C miRNome of the SP-A1 hTG mice. We found significant changes after O3 exposure in SP-A1 males but not in the other animals. When a non-supervised hierarchical clustering analysis on the entire dataset was performed, we observed that the O₃-exposed SP-A1 male miRNome clustered separately from the rest of the experimental animals showing that OxS has a major effect on the male SP-A1 T2C miRNome. Also, a two-way ANOVA analysis showed that there is an interaction between the male sex hormones and the SP-A1 gene under the effect of OxS. Gonadectomy had a major effect on the expression of the T2C miRNome compared to non-gonadectomized mice. Our miRNome analysis in the T2C that was subjected to OxS was based on strong validation methodologies. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA), pairs miRNAs/mRNA targets based not only on the gold standard in silico predicted algorithms (miRBase, miRTarBase, miRWalk, Targetscan, etc.) but also on experimental data from the published literature. With IPA we showed that miRNAs that were changed significantly >2-fold in male SP-A1 T2C mice, targeted genes that are involved in the MAPK signaling pathway, cell cycle, and anti-apoptosis. We monitored/validated experimentally via qRT-PCR which of the predicted mRNA targets are responding to the effect of OxS. Gene expression analysis of the target mRNAs of interest surprisingly showed that the OxS affected predominantly the KO mouse while the SP-A1 mouse showed no significant shifts in the expression levels of the same genes. Gonadectomy of male SP-A1 and KO mice prior to O_3 exposure led to significant changes in the expression levels of three genes (*Irs1, Bcl2,* and *Vhl*) in KO, whereas the expression of *Ccnd1* remained increased in KO regardless of Gx. These data indicate that sex differences are in part attributable to circulating gonadal hormones (51), which are believed to influence the innate immune responses. The specific roles of these hormones and the underlying mechanisms of regulation remain yet to be explored.

The mRNA targets of the SP-A1 T2C miRNAs that were changed significantly in the non-gonadectomized males under OxS included genes being involved in the MAPK signaling, apoptosis, and cell cycle. Although the activation of the MAPK pathway by OxS has been described before in other systems and tissues (55-57), in the present study our data show that there are miRNAs that may regulate genes of the MAPK signaling pathways in the respiratory alveolar epithelial T2C. The validation experiments on the mRNA targets showed that the mRNAs of interest (that were targeted by significantly changed miRNAs, Figure 2C) are particularly responsive in the male KO but not responsive in SP-A1 except the Bcl2 which showed increased levels in SP-A1. The increase of Bcl2 in SP-A1 indicates that the SP-A1 T2C may be protected against apoptosis. Previously, we have shown that AM of SP-A2 hTG mice were also protected from apoptosis under OxS (42), indicating a differential effect of the two SP-A genes, SFTPA1 and SFTPA2, in T2C and AM, respectively, with regards to apoptosis. However, the fact that most of the target genes in SP-A1 remained unaffected after OxS is puzzling. We speculate that this may in part be due to: (1) The time point used (4 h after OxS) for study is not optimal to assess mRNA levels of target genes in SP-A1; (2) the target genes may recover from OxS faster in SP-A1 than in KO; (3) SP-A1 may protect other molecules from harmful effects of OxS



members of several pathways as shown in figure. These include *MAPK* and *JAK2* signaling pathways, cell cycle, anti-apoptosis, and other. The miRNAs and the mRNA levels of their target genes studied in the present study are highlighted in yellow. Up (\uparrow) or down (\downarrow) on the right of the target gene indicate increase or decrease in KO in non-gondectomized (NGx) mice. Up (\uparrow) or down (\downarrow) on the left of the target gene indicate increase or decrease in gondectomized (Gx) mice. The expression of 3 genes (*Irs1, Bcl2, And VhI*) changed after gonadectomy: *Bcl2* and *VhI*, respectively showed increase and decrease in KO, which is the reverse of what is seen in the NGx KO. *Irs1* increased in Gx KO only, no change in NGx (*). The expression of *Ccnd1* was increased in both NGx and Gx KO indicating hormone-independent expression. The expression of *Plcg2* and *Ddx20* did not change significantly after OxS in either NGx or GX KO ([†]).

by being more readily oxidized by scavenging ROS (48); (4) SP-A1 may protect the T2C by affecting functions modulated by molecules that are not regulated by miRNAs. An example of this may be its role in surfactant structural organization (41) and potentially lung function. Another interesting observation was the significant upregulation of Von Hippel-Lindau (Vhl) mRNA, targeted by miR-708-5p (58), in the gonadectomized (Gx) SP-A1 T2C when the experimental male mice were exposed to O₃. It is known that *Vhl* is part of a degradation complex that removes damaged or unnecessary proteins and helps maintain the normal functions of cells (59). In particular, this degradation complex is known to degrade proteins when oxygen levels are lower than normal, such as hypoxia (60) and possibly in OxS. The increase in Vhl in Gx SP-A1 mice (but not in NGx) indicates that sex hormones may play a role in its expression in SP-A1 mice.

The increase of several targets in KO but not in SP-A1 may point to deficiencies in KO and that these increases may reflect a more active gene regulation to overcome the effects of OxS. These include, the mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase 4 (Map2k4) and Janus Kinase 2 (Jak2), which are targeted by miR-141-3p (61) and miR-135a-5p (62) and shown

here to change by >2-fold; both targets are involved in the MAPK signaling. These could transmit the OxS distress signal across the cell membrane to the DNA in the nucleus triggering a number of different functions such as apoptosis, cell differentiation and proliferation. The argonaute 2 (Ago2) mRNA, which is targeted by miR-124-3p and miR-29b-3p (63), was increased significantly in the KO. Ago2 is an important enzyme in the biogenesis of miRNAs that plays a role in the formation of the RNA-induced silencing complex (64). Of interest, cyclin D1 (Ccnd1) was upregulated in Gx and NGx KO males indicating independence of circulating hormones, and possibly a dependence on the presence or absence of SP-A, no change in Ccnd1 was observed in SP-A1 T2C either in Gx or NGx males. The eukaryotic initiation factor 2 (eIF2) was upregulated in NGx KO but not in the Gx KO mice indicating a role of hormones in its expression. These mRNAs (Ccnd1 and elF2) are targeted by miR-124-3p. This molecule is known to regulate global and specific mRNA translation in response to stress-related signals (such as OxS) (65).

Collectively, our data show that OxS has a major effect on the male SP-A1 T2C miRNome. The targets of the significant

miRNAs are implicated in several pathways that include the MAPK signaling pathway (Mapk, Jak2, Irs1), cell cycle (Ccnd1), anti-apoptosis (Bcl2), protein degradation (Vhl), and other. These observations diagrammatically are depicted in Figure 8. The limitations of the present study are that we studied a single time point and we did not look at the protein levels of the targeted mRNAs. Our publication on the alveolar macrophages (AM) miRNome showed that in response to OxS, it was SP-A2 that had a major effect on the male AM with pro-inflammatory, antiapoptotic, and anti-oxidant pathways playing a role (42). The two studies together indicate that there is a differential role of SP-A1 and SP-A2 in the alveolar cells. The SP-A1 findings in the present study are consistent with our previous observations where SP-A1 is shown to play a role in the surfactant structural organization (41), and may also play an important role on the integrity and function of T2C. SP-A2 on the other hand has been shown to not only affect the AM male miRNome but also exhibit a higher innate immune activity (31, 36, 38).

We conclude that dysregulation of either SP-A1 or SP-A2 may affect the innate immunity and/or surfactant structure and potentially lung function. Both processes are essential for normal lung function and derangement of the regulation of either gene may be a problem in pulmonary diseases, including OxS.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All protocols used in this study were evaluated and approved by the Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and conformed to the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health on the care and use of laboratory animals.

REFERENCES

- Fordham MT, Mulligan JK, Casey SE, Mulligan RM, Wang EW, Sansoni ER, et al. Reactive oxygen species in chronic rhinosinusitis and secondhand smoke exposure. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* (2013) 149:633–8. doi: 10.1177/0194599813496377
- Al-Hegelan M, Tighe RM, Castillo C, Hollingsworth JW. Ambient ozone and pulmonary innate immunity. *Immunol Res.* (2011) 49:173–91. doi: 10.1007/s12026-010-8180-z
- Holguin F. Oxidative stress in airway diseases. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2013) 10(Suppl.):S150–7. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201305-116AW
- Whitsett JA, Alenghat T. Respiratory epithelial cells orchestrate pulmonary innate immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:27–35. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3045
- Meyer M, Jaspers I. Respiratory protease/antiprotease balance determines susceptibility to viral infection and can be modified by nutritional antioxidants. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 308:L1189–201. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00028.2015
- Voter KZ, Whitin JC, Torres A, Morrow PE, Cox C, Tsai Y, et al. Ozone exposure and the production of reactive oxygen species by bronchoalveolar cells in humans. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2001) 13:465–83. doi: 10.1080/08958370151131837
- 7. Yang L, Chen X, Simet SM, Hu G, Cai Y, Niu F, et al. Reactive oxygen species/hypoxia-inducible factor-1α/platelet-derived growth factor-BB autocrine loop contributes to cocaine-mediated alveolar epithelial barrier damage. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 55:736–48. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0096OC

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GN performed experiments, run statistics, analyzed and synthesized the data, contributed to the manuscript writing. NT performed experiments, analyzed and synthesized the data, contributed to the manuscript writing. XZ and TU performed maintenance and breeding of mouse lines, exposed mice to experimental conditions (FA & O₃) and isolated alveolar type II cells. FD performed all gonadectomy experiments. DP contributed to data analysis and synthesis and manuscript writing. JF designed and provided oversight to the entire project, involved in data analysis, integration, and writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIHR01HL34788 and CHILD fund, Department of Pediatrics, College of Medicine at Pennsylvania State University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine Genomic Core Facility for identification miRNAs from gonadectomy samples.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.01514/full#supplementary-material

- Finlayson-pitts BJ, Mautz WJ, Lai CC, Bufalino C, Messer K, Mestas J, et al. Are changes in breathing pattern on exposure to ozone related to changes in pulmonary surfactant? *Inhal Toxicol.* (1994) 6:267–87. doi: 10.3109/08958379408995236
- Chambers RC, Mercer PF. Mechanisms of alveolar epithelial injury, repair, and fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2015) 12(Suppl 1.):S16–20. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201410-448MG
- Schneeberger E. Alveolar type I cells. In: Crystal RG, West JB, Weibel ER, Barnes PJ, editors. *The Lung:Scientific Foundations*. 2nd Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott-Raven (1997). 535–42.
- Crosby LM, Waters CM. Epithelial repair mechanisms in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2010) 298:L715–31. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00361.2009
- Ghosh MC, Gorantla V, Makena PS, Luellen C, Sinclair SE, Schwingshackl A, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I stimulates differentiation of ATII cells to ATI-like cells through activation of Wnt5a. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2013) 305:L222–8. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00014.2013
- Griese M. Pulmonary surfactant in health and human lung diseases: state of the art. *Eur Respir J.* (1999) 13:1455–76. doi: 10.1183/09031936.99.13614779
- Crouch E, Wright JR. Surfactant proteins a and d and pulmonary host defense. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2001) 63:521–54. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.63. 1.521
- Phelps DS. Surfactant regulation of host defense function in the lung: a question of balance. *Pediatr Pathol Mol Med.* (2001) 20:269–92. doi: 10.1080/15513810109168822
- Wright JR. Immunoregulatory functions of surfactant proteins. Nat Rev Immunol. (2005) 5:58–68. doi: 10.1038/nri1528

- Floros J, Wang G, Mikerov AN. Genetic complexity of the human innate host defense molecules, surfactant protein A1 (SP-A1) and SP-A2-impact on function. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Exp.* (2009) 19:125–37. doi: 10.1615/CritRevEukarGeneExpr.v19.i2.30
- LeVine AM, Bruno MD, Huelsman KM, Ross GF, Whitsett JA, Korfhagen TR. Surfactant protein A-deficient mice are susceptible to group B streptococcal infection. J Immunol. (1997) 158:4336–40.
- LeVine AM, Kurak KE, Bruno MD, Stark JM, Whitsett JA, Korfhagen TR. Surfactant protein-A-deficient mice are susceptible to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1998) 19:700–8. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.19.4.3254
- LeVine AM, Whitsett JA, Gwozdz JA, Richardson TR, Fisher JH, Burhans MS, et al. Distinct effects of surfactant protein A or D deficiency during bacterial infection on the lung. *J Immunol.* (2000) 165:3934–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.7.3934
- Mikerov AN, Haque R, Gan X, Guo X, Phelps DS, Floros J. Ablation of SP-A has a negative impact on the susceptibility of mice to Klebsiella pneumoniae infection after ozone exposure: sex differences. *Respir Res.* (2008) 9:77. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-9-77
- 22. Mikerov AN, Hu S, Durrani F, Gan X, Wang G, Umstead TM, et al. Impact of sex and ozone exposure on the course of pneumonia in wild type and SP-A (-/-) mice. *Microb Pathog.* (2012) 52:239–49. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2012.01.005
- Mikerov AN, Gan X, Umstead TM, Miller L, Chinchilli VM, Phelps DS, et al. Sex differences in the impact of ozone on survival and alveolar macrophage function of mice after Klebsiella pneumoniae infection. *Respir Res.* (2008) 9:24. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-9-24
- Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Quintero OA, Yengo CM, Floros J. *In vivo* rescue of alveolar macrophages from SP-A knockout mice with exogenous SP-A nearly restores a wild type intracellular proteome; actin involvement. *Proteome Sci.* (2011) 9:67. doi: 10.1186/1477-5956-9-67
- Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Floros J. Sex differences in the response of the alveolar macrophage proteome to treatment with exogenous surfactant protein-A. *Proteome Sci.* (2012) 10:44. doi: 10.1186/1477-5956-10-44
- Tsotakos N, Phelps DS, Yengo CM, Chinchilli VM, Floros J. Single-cell analysis reveals differential regulation of the alveolar macrophage actin cytoskeleton by surfactant proteins A1 and A2: implications of sex and aging. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2016) 7:18. doi: 10.1186/s13293-016-0071-0
- Kehrl HR, Vincent LM, Kowalsky RJ, Horstman DH, O'Neil JJ, McCartney WH, et al. Ozone exposure increases respiratory epithelial permeability in humans. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1987) 135:1124–8.
- Huang W, Wang G, Phelps DS, Al-Mondhiry H, Floros J. Human SP-A genetic variants and bleomycin-induced cytokine production by THP-1 cells: effect of ozone-induced SP-A oxidation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2004) 286:L546–53. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00267.2003
- Janic B, Umstead TM, Phelps DS, Floros J. Modulatory effects of ozone on THP-1 cells in response to SP-A stimulation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2005) 288:L317–25. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00125.2004
- Cho HY, Morgan DL, Bauer AK, Kleeberger SR. Signal transduction pathways of tumor necrosis factor-mediated lung injury induced by ozone in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2007) 175:829–39. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200509-1 527OC
- Mikerov AN, Umstead TM, Gan X, Huang W, Guo X, Wang G, et al. Impact of ozone exposure on the phagocytic activity of human surfactant protein A (SP-A) and SP-A variants. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2008) 294:L121–30. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00288.2007
- Haque R, Umstead TM, Freeman WM, Floros J, Phelps DS. The impact of surfactant protein-A on ozone-induced changes in the mouse bronchoalveolar lavage proteome. *Proteome Sci.* (2009) 7:12. doi: 10.1186/1477-5956-7-12
- Connor AJ, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Ozone-induced lung injury and sterile inflammation. Role of toll-like receptor 4. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2012) 92:229–35. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.01.004
- 34. Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Silveyra P, Hu S, Wang G, Floros J. Differences in the alveolar macrophage proteome in transgenic mice expressing human SP-A1 and SP-A2. J Proteom Genom Res. (2013) 1:2–26. doi: 10.14302/issn.2326-0793.jpgr-12-207

- Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Floros J. Sex differences in the acute *in vivo* effects of different human SP-A variants on the mouse alveolar macrophage proteome. *J Proteomics*. (2014) 108:427–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2014.06.007
- Wang G, Umstead T, Phelps D, Al-Mondhiry H, Floros J. The effect of ozone exposure on the ability of human surfactant protein a variants to stimulate cytokine production. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2002) 110:79–84. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0211079
- 37. Mikerov AN, Umstead TM, Huang W, Liu W, Phelps DS, Floros J. SP-A1 and SP-A2 variants differentially enhance association of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with rat alveolar macrophages. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2005) 288:L150–8. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00135.2004
- Mikerov A, Wang G, Umstead T, Zacharatos M, Thomas N, Phelps D, et al. Surfactant protein A2 (SP-A2) variants expressed in CHO cells stimulate phagocytosis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* more than do SP-A1 variants. *Infect Immun.* (2007) 75:1403–12. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01341-06
- Wang G, Bates-Kenney SR, Tao JQ, Phelps DS, Floros J. Differences in biochemical properties and in biological function between human SP-A1 and SP-A2 variants, and the impact of ozone-induced oxidation. *Biochemistry*. (2004) 43:4227–39. doi: 10.1021/bi036023i
- Wang G, Taneva S, Keough KM, Floros J. Differential effects of human SP-A1 and SP-A2 variants on phospholipid monolayers containing surfactant protein B. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2007) 1768:2060–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.06.025
- Lopez-Rodriguez E, Pascual A, Arroyo R, Floros J, Perez-Gil J. Human pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A1 provides maximal efficiency of lung interfacial films. *Biophys J*. (2016) 111:524–36. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2016.06.025
- 42. Noutsios GT, Thorenoor N, Zhang X, Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Durrani F, et al. SP-A2 contributes to miRNA-mediated sex differences in response to oxidative stress: pro-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic, and anti-oxidant pathways are involved. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2017) 8:37. doi: 10.1186/s13293-017-0158-2
- 43. Thorenoor N, Zhang X, Umstead TM, Scott Halstead E, Phelps DS, Floros J. Differential effects of innate immune variants of surfactant protein-A1 (SFTPA1) and SP-A2 (SFTPA2) in airway function after *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection and sex differences. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:23. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0723-1
- 44. Thorenoor N, Umstead T, Zhang X, Phelps D, Floros J. Survival of surfactant protein-A1 and SP-A2 transgenic mice after Klebsiella pneumoniae infection, exhibits sex-, gene-, and variant specific differences; treatment with surfactant protein improves survival. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2404. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02404
- 45. Silveyra P, Wang G, Floros J. Human SP-A1 (SFTPA1) variant-specific 3' UTRs and poly(A) tail differentially affect the in vitro translation of a reporter gene. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2010) 299:L523–34. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00113.2010
- 46. Silveyra P, Chroneos ZC, DiAngelo SL, Thomas NJ, Noutsios GT, Tsotakos N, et al. Knockdown of Drosha in human alveolar type II cells alters expression of SP-A in culture: a pilot study. *Exp Lung Res.* (2014) 40:354–66. doi: 10.3109/01902148.2014.929757
- Wang G, Guo X, Diangelo S, Thomas NJ, Floros J. Humanized SFTPA1 and SFTPA2 transgenic mice reveal functional divergence of SP-A1 and SP-A2: formation of tubular myelin *in vivo* requires both gene products. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:11998–2010. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.046243
- Haque R, Umstead TM, Ponnuru P, Guo X, Hawgood S, Phelps DS, et al. Role of surfactant protein-A (SP-A) in lung injury in response to acute ozone exposure of SP-A deficient mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2007) 220:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2006.12.017
- Umstead TM, Phelps DS, Wang G, Floros J, Tarkington BK. In vitro exposure of proteins to ozone. Toxicol Mech Methods. (2002) 12:1–16. doi: 10.1080/1537-650291895739
- Messier EM, Mason RJ, Kosmider B. Efficient and rapid isolation and purification of mouse alveolar type II epithelial cells. *Exp Lung Res.* (2012) 38:363–73. doi: 10.3109/01902148.2012.713077
- Durrani F, Phelps DS, Weisz J, Silveyra P, Hu S, Mikerov AN, et al. Gonadal hormones and oxidative stress interaction differentially affects survival of male and female mice after lung *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. *Exp Lung Res.* (2012) 38:165–72. doi: 10.3109/01902148.2011.654045

- Sun J, Nishiyama T, Shimizu K, Kadota K. TCC: an R package for comparing tag count data with robust normalization strategies. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2013) 14:219. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-219
- Desvignes T, Batzel P, Berezikov E, Eilbeck K, Eppig JT, McAndrews MS, et al. miRNA nomenclature: a view incorporating genetic origins, biosynthetic pathways, and sequence variants. *Trends Genet.* (2015) 31:613– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2015.09.002
- Piletič K, Kunej T. Minimal standards for reporting microRNA:target interactions. OMICS. (2017) 21:197–206. doi: 10.1089/omi. 2017.0023
- 55. Gaitanaki C, Konstantina S, Chrysa S, Beis I. Oxidative stress stimulates multiple MAPK signalling pathways and phosphorylation of the small HSP27 in the perfused amphibian heart. *J Exp Biol.* (2003) 206(Pt 16):2759–69. doi: 10.1242/jeb.00483
- Matos TJ, Duarte CB, Gonçalo M, Lopes MC. Role of oxidative stress in ERK and p38 MAPK activation induced by the chemical sensitizer DNFB in a fetal skin dendritic cell line. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2005) 83:607–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1711.2005.0 1378.x
- 57. Son Y, Cheong YK, Kim NH, Chung HT, Kang DG, Pae HO. Mitogenactivated protein kinases and reactive oxygen species: how can ROS activate MAPK pathways? J Signal Transduct. (2011) 2011:792639. doi: 10.1155/2011/792639
- Li M, Wang Y, Song Y, Bu R, Yin B, Fei X, et al. MicroRNAs in renal cell carcinoma: a systematic review of clinical implications (Review). Oncol Rep. (2015) 33:1571–8. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.3799
- Iturrioz X, Durgan J, Calleja V, Larijani B, Okuda H, Whelan R, et al. The von Hippel-Lindau tumour-suppressor protein interaction with protein kinase Cdelta. *Biochem J.* (2006) 397:109–20. doi: 10.1042/BJ20060354

- Krek W. VHL takes HIF's breath away. Nat Cell Biol. (2000) 2:E121–3. doi: 10.1038/35017129
- Ding L, Yu LL, Han N, Zhang BT. miR-141 promotes colon cancer cell proliferation by inhibiting MAP2K4. Oncol Lett. (2017) 13:1665–71. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.5653
- Navarro A, Diaz T, Martinez A, Gaya A, Pons A, Gel B, et al. Regulation of JAK2 by miR-135a: prognostic impact in classic Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2009) 114:2945–51. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-204842
- Turchinovich A, Burwinkel B. Distinct AGO1 and AGO2 associated miRNA profiles in human cells and blood plasma. RNA Biol. (2012) 9:1066–75. doi: 10.4161/rna.21083
- Macfarlane LA, Murphy PR. MicroRNA: Biogenesis, function and role in cancer. Curr Genomics. (2010) 11:537–61. doi: 10.2174/138920210793175895
- 65. Weeks A, Agnihotri S, Lymer J, Chalil A, Diaz R, Isik S, et al. Epithelial cell transforming 2 and aurora kinase B modulate formation of stress granule-containing transcripts from diverse cellular pathways in astrocytoma cells. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:1674–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.02.013

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Noutsios, Thorenoor, Zhang, Phelps, Umstead, Durrani and Floros. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcriptional Effects of Ozone and Impact on Airway Inflammation

Sharon Mumby, Kian Fan Chung and Ian M. Adcock*

Respiratory Section, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Epidemiological and challenge studies in healthy subjects and in individuals with asthma highlight the health impact of environmental ozone even at levels considered safe. Acute ozone exposure in man results in sputum neutrophilia in 30% of subjects particularly young children, females, and those with ongoing cardiopulmonary disease. This may be associated with systemic inflammation although not in all cases. Chronic exposure amplifies these effects and can result in the formation of asthma-like symptoms and immunopathology. Asthmatic patients who respond to ozone (responders) induce a greater number of genes in bronchoalveolar (BAL) macrophages than healthy responders with up-regulation of inflammatory and immune pathways under the control of cytokines and chemokines and the enhanced expression of remodeling and repair programmes including those associated with protease imbalances and cell-cell adhesion. These pathways are under the control of several key transcription regulatory factors including nuclear factor (NF)-kB, anti-oxidant factors such as nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 NRF2, the p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK), and priming of the immune system by up-regulating toll-like receptor (TLR) expression. Murine and cellular models of acute and chronic ozone exposure recapitulate the inflammatory effects seen in humans and enable the elucidation of key transcriptional pathways. These studies emphasize the importance of distinct transcriptional networks in driving the detrimental effects of ozone. Studies indicate the critical role of mediators including IL-1, IL-17, and IL-33 in driving ozone effects on airway inflammation, remodeling and hyperresponsiveness. Transcription analysis and proof of mechanisms studies will enable the development of drugs to ameliorate the effects of ozone exposure in susceptible individuals.

Keywords: gene expression, immune cell recruitment, acute ozone exposure, chronic ozone exposure, pro-inflammatory signaling

INTRODUCTION

It has been known since the mid-1980s that ozone exposure induces airway inflammation and reduces lung function (1). As highlighted elsewhere, ozone is a powerful gaseous oxidant and toxic air pollutant that is inhaled and thereby affects the lung (2). The highly reactive oxidative agent ozone, or catena-trioxygen (O_3), is consumed by protective processes within the epithelial lining fluid to produce secondary oxidation products that activate the airway epithelium to enhance inflammatory signaling pathways and induce several pro-inflammatory and immune factors (2). In this Review, we will discuss the effects of ozone on the activation of pro-inflammatory pathways in airway epithelial cells. We then discuss the epidemiological effects of ozone and that of controlled ozone-exposure on clinical and immune features in healthy subjects and in at-risk

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Deirdre R. Coombe, Curtin University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Stavros Garantziotis, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS), United States Mikael Adner, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden Matthew Georgenson Drake, Oregon Health & Science University, United States

*Correspondence: lan M. Adcock

ian M. Adcock ian.adcock@imperial.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 March 2019 Accepted: 27 June 2019 Published: 10 July 2019

Citation:

Mumby S, Chung KF and Adcock IM (2019) Transcriptional Effects of Ozone and Impact on Airway Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 10:1610. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01610

19

subjects including asthmatics and patients with other airways diseases and those in the youngest and oldest populations. Finally, we discuss how acute and chronic ozone-exposure models may provide insight into the clinical effects of ozone. The data also highlights the importance of acute vs. chronic exposure and also the effect of the timing of samples collection following ozone exposure for the analysis of ozone effects.

MECHANISMS IMPLICATED IN OZONE ACTIONS ON THE AIRWAY EPITHELIUM

There are differences in the responses of cells and animals to particulate matter (PM) and ozone (3). Both PMs and ozone can activate membrane receptors, intracellular kinases particularly NF- κ B and phosphatases, and transcription factors that regulate inflammatory responses. Understanding these mechanistic processes will allow both preventative sand therapeutic strategies to be designed for subjects exposed to ozone for prolonged periods.

Mechanistically, inhaled ozone does not enter cells but reacts with components of the airway lining fluid to generate other reactive oxygen species (ROS) to enhance local oxidative stress, inflammation, and epithelial cell injury (4) (Figure 1). Recent data also highlights a pro-inflammatory role for ozonederived oxysterols (epoxycholesterol- α and $-\beta$ and secosterol A and B) (5). These form in the airway lining fluid and form lipid-protein adducts with the liver X receptor (LXR) resulting in suppression of cholesterol synthesis pathways. Ozone-induced lung injury pulmonary inflammation has been linked to altered expression of pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPMs) such as 14-HDHA and 17-HDHA and the SPM protectin DX (PDX) in the lung of male C57Bl/6J mice (6). Exogenous administration of 14-HDHA and 17-HDHA prior to ozone exposure decreased proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression, and decreased BAL macrophages and PMNs. Ozone also enhances the expression of several eicosanoids and oxidized lipids including 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) in the BAL of ozone-exposed animals. These oxidized lipids may mediate the effects of ozone on AHR in vivo as demonstrated by effects on precision cut lung slices (7). In contrast, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) may not be important since knockout of microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 (mPGES-1) did not impact on ozoneinduced AHR or inflammation (8).

Key Role of Oxidative Stress in Ozone Actions

The critical role of oxidative stress in ozone function was highlighted by the fact that lipid oxidation, epithelial proliferation, bronchial mucous cell hyperplasia, and mucus hypersecretion were greater in Nrf2-/- than in wild type mice (9). Furthermore, the potent and selective Nrf2 activator 3- (pyridin-3-ylsulfonyl)-5-(trifluoromethyl)-2H-chromen-2-one (PSTC) restored ozone-induced glutathione depletion with no off-target inhibition of IL-1 β -induced NF- κ B translocation in human bronchial epithelial cells (HBECs) (10). Interestingly, the serum innate immune protein, mannose-binding lectin (MBL),

helps drive ozone-induced proinflammatory events. Ozone (0.3 ppm)-exposed MBL-deficient (Mbl-/-) mice produced significantly reduced levels of BAL inflammatory markers including eosinophils, neutrophils, CXCL2 and CXCL5, and gene array analysis revealed differences in the NRF2 signaling networks (11).

In addition, high doses of the anti-oxidant N-acetylcysteine (NAC) prevents and reverses ozone-induced lung damage *in vivo* (12). NAC given prophylactically prevented ozone-induced BAL inflammation (macrophages) and airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass whilst NAC given therapeutically reversed AHR in addition to reducing ASM mass and the number of apoptotic cells.

Differences Between *in vivo* and *in vitro* Effects of Ozone on Cellular and Mitochondrial ROS

There are controversies regarding the role of ROS in mediating ozone functions both in vitro and in vitro. It is possible that mitochondrial damage leading to oxidant stress may play an important role in the pathogenesis of airflow obstruction and emphysema following ozone exposure (13). Mice exposed to ozone have mitochondrial dysfunction reflected by decreased mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m$), increased mitochondrial oxidative stress, and reduced mitochondrial complex I, III, and V expression. This was associated with airway inflammation and AHR (14). Pharmacological reversal of mitochondrial dysfunction by the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ reduced inflammation and AHR. In another study, a similar mitochondrial-directed anti-oxidant, MitoTEMPO, reduced chronic (6 week) ozone-induced (2.5 ppm, 3 h, twice weekly) lung inflammation (BAL cells and IL-1β, KC/CXCL1 and IL-6) and oxidative stress but had no effect on emphysema (Lm) scores. In contrast, inhibition of the NLPR3 inflammasome, which is activated by mitochondrial ROS (mtROS) and other stimuli, suppressed ozone-induced inflammation, oxidative stress, emphysema, airway remodeling, and airflow limitation (Figure 1).

Further evidence for a role of mitochondrial dysregulation in ozone-induced inflammation and AHR was shown by restoration of defective mitochondria using induced pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells (iPSC-MSCs) *in vitro* and *in vivo* (15). iPSC-MSCs protected against oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in human ASMCs and in mouse lungs while reducing airway inflammation and AHR.

Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) and Other Cell Surface Receptors Mediating Ozone-Induced Inflammation

Ozone also impacts on AHR and neutrophilic inflammation though activation of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4 (16). In addition, there is a priming effect of ozone on the innate immune response as exemplified by enhanced TLR2 and TLR4 expression and functional responses to their respective agonists (17, 18). Ozone alone enhanced TLR4, TLR2, and TLR1 expression on macrophages which may account for the ability of subsequent challenge of ozone-exposed mice



surface pathways leading to the induction of the mRNA for cytokines, growth factors, and remodeling enzymes. As a result, there is an acute effect on the recruitment and activation of innate immune cells and on epithelial barrier function and mucus production. These acute effects of ozone may impact on the levels of inflammatory mediators and cells in the blood. Airway inflammation may be directly, or indirectly, associated with airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR). Prolonged ozone exposure has a greater remodeling effect and can result in emphysema. Together, both acute and chronic ozone exposure results in increased hospitalisations due to lung exacerbations or attacks, decreased quality of life (QoL) in at-risk individuals and a large healthcare cost for the individual and for society.

to Pam3CYS, a synthetic TLR2/TLR1 agonist, to enhance lung IL-6 and KC/CXCL1 and reduce $TNF\alpha$ and $MIP1\alpha$ expression. Transcriptomic and bioinformatic analysis of lung tissue revealed significant effects on innate immune pathways. Of interest, hyaluronan, a damage-associated molecular pattern essential for the full range of ozone effects seen in vivo, acts through the TLR4/MyD88-TIRAP pathway (19, 20). The primary receptor for hyaluronic acid (HA), which is important in lung injury and is elevated following ozone exposure, is CD44. Genetic experiments using CD44 deficient mice or those lacking inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor, which facilitates HA binding, do not demonstrate AHR following ozone exposure. In addition, pharmacologic pretreatment of ozoneexposed mice with HA-binding peptide protects against ozoneinduced AHR whilst HA itself enhances the effect of ozone in a CD44-dependent manner (21). Together, these results suggest that the extracellular matrix is important in ozoneinduced AHR.

Genetic deletion of surfactant protein-D (SFTPD), a collectin important for suppressing macrophage inflammatory responses alters the response to ozone (22). In SFTPD(-/-) mice, there was increased presence of lung injury and oxidative stress and the increased numbers of BAL macrophages were enlarged and foamy. SFTPD(-/-) mice also presented with a worsening of central airway and parenchymal mechanics consistent with the loss of parenchymal integrity. Ozone modulation of SFTPD regulates an IFN γ /IL-12 feedback loop which amplifies dendritic cell homing to mediastinal lymph nodes (23).

Intracellular Signaling Pathways Mediating Ozone Actions

There is evidence that p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway mediates ozone-enhanced airway inflammation and remodeling as well as AHR in murine models of asthma (24). These responses to ozone are relatively corticosteroid insensitive but combination of dexamethasone with a p38 MAPK inhibitor (SB239063) suppressed ozone effects on inflammation and AHR suggesting that p38 MAPK activation is involved in the corticosteroid insensitivity seen in this model. SB239063 alone prevented ozone-induced airway resistance (Raw), lung compliance (CL), and BAL IL-13 levels when given in the context of an ovalbumin challenge (25). In addition, the anti-oxidant a-tocopherol alone reduced BAL eosinophils and macrophages and peribronchial inflammation. Both drugs also prevented increases in ozone-induced AHR, BAL IFNy, and IL-6 expression and perivascular lung inflammation. This effect was enhanced using a combination of both drugs indicating a role for both p38 MAPK and oxidative stress in ozone-induced exacerbations of asthma.

The p38 MAPK pathway is also involved in the mechanism of action of the novel gaseous transmitter hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), which partially reversed ozone-induced lung inflammation, oxidative stress and emphysema (26, 27). Other pathways targeted by H₂S include the Akt pathway and the NLRP3-caspase-1 system. Other MAPK pathways may also be important since the effect of OBC on lung inflammation was dependent on the activation of MAP4K4 in CD4(+) T cells (28).

A number of other signaling pathways have been implicated in ozone-induced inflammation, tissue damage and AHR. The spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) inhibitor NVP-QAB-205 significantly reduced AHR in an ovalbumin-exposed and challenged mouse model of asthma and restored the enhanced response to PM2.5/ozone back to normal levels (29). Furthermore, IL-10 overexpression protects mice from the detrimental inflammatory, NF- κ B-mediated effects of ozone (30). The EGFR kinase inhibitor PD153035, given prophylactically, prevents ozone-induced EGFR (Y1068) phosphorylation in the lung sections and significantly attenuates lung inflammation (31). The effects of therapeutic administration on inflammation and lung function should be measured.

The airway remodeling induced by ozone exposure may involve the presence of neutrophil-derived neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL) (32). The effects seen *in vivo* on the suppression of E-cadherin and up-regulated α -SMA expression were replicated by NGAL exposure in 16HBE cells acting through the WNT/glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) pathway.

Ozone also impacts on cardiorespiratory conditions including hypoxia-associated pulmonary hypertension (HPH) which often occurs in COPD (33). Male C57BL/6 mice exposed to 3 weeks hypoxia (10.0% O₂) followed by ozone (4 h, 1 ppm) resulted in increased inflammation, oedema, and AHR. Fasudil, a Rho kinase inhibitor, reduced pulmonary endothelial barrier damage suggesting that enhanced pulmonary vascular pressure may contribute to lung injury, inflammation, and oedema following ozone exposure (34). In addition, the hypoxia induced transcription factor HIF-1 α mediates MIF effects on ozoneinduced BAL cell counts, cytokine, and AHR (35).

EPIDEMIOLOGICAL IMPACT OF OZONE IN HEALTHY AND AT RISK SUBJECTS

Controlled human exposure to ozone causes decrements in lung function, increased lung neutrophilia and increased airway levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (4). It is not surprising, therefore, that air pollution is a known asthma trigger and has been associated with short-term asthma symptoms, airway inflammation, decreased lung function, and reduced response to asthma rescue medications and increases the risk of asthma hospitalizations and healthcare utilization (36). In addition, traffic-related pollutants may be causally related to childhood asthma (36).

Ozone impacts equally upon both FEV_1 and FVC and therefore does not result in a decrease in FEV_1/FVC . This effect is age-dependent with an increased risk in susceptible populations particularly the very young, pregnant women and individuals with an existing cardiopulmonary disease (37). Acute airway injury and inflammation also results from ozone exposure including enhanced localization of neutrophils and increased cytokine and chemokine expression (1). An early observational study in 38 asthmatics and 13 healthy control subjects in metropolitan Atlanta showed that ozone induced more symptoms of upper airway disease in asthmatics (38). High ozone levels were associated with greater airflow obstruction, lower asthma quality of life scores, more eosinophilia, and higher exhaled nitric oxide (NO) levels in asthmatics. These associations were enhanced in atopic participants irrespective of asthma status. Peak Expiratory Flow (PEF) levels were also negatively associated with weekly average ozone levels for 605 children in Turkey without upper respiratory tract complaints (39).

Significant increases in sputum neutrophilia is only seen in \sim 30% asthmatics (40). This mimics other markers of sputum neutrophil activation and exhaled breath malondialdehyde (MDA) levels. There was a significant correlation between the ozone-induced fall in FEV1 and sputum neutrophil numbers. In addition, there was evidence for sputum eosinophilia post ozone exposure (40). Furthermore, ozone significantly increased neutrophil numbers and myeloperoxidase levels in bronchoalveolar lavage and produced a 4-fold increase in bronchial mucosal mast cell numbers (41). Asthmatic patients not previously treated with inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) and those with a lower FEV1 were more likely to respond to ozone (Figure 1). Lower baseline airway inflammation, younger age and greater airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) was associated with airway neutrophilia in response to ozone (42). It is possible, therefore, that the lung function and inflammatory responses to ozone are different.

Ozone Increases the Risk of Emergency Room Visits

The risk of increased emergency room visits in subjects with acute respiratory infections, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and pneumonia in response to environmental ozone exposure across 17 US states was also age related (43). There is evidence that ozone exposure causes systemic inflammation as measured by blood club cell protein (CCP)-16 levels (44). Recent studies examining data from 6,488 subjects from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) between 2005 and 2006 demonstrated a positive association between ozone exposure and emergency room visits in asthmatic patients (adjusted OR 1.07, 95% CI: 1.02-1.13). However, this effect was less than that seen with PM2.5 and NO₂ exposure (45). In addition, time-series analyses of ozone exposure and emergency room visits across 17 States in the USA demonstrated a significant increase in the rate of admission per 20 ppb increase in ozone across all age groups. The effect was greater in adults compared to children and in subjects with asthma and COPD (43). Finally, short term exposure of asthmatics to increasing levels of ozone in the Chinese province of Hubei resulted in asthma mortality (46).

It is evident that ozone exposure also impacts upon the health status of patients with other respiratory diseases such as idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). For example, chronic exposure to ozone enhances the risk of ARDS among older adults (>65 years of age) in the USA (47). Increases of 1 ppb in annual average ozone levels was associated with increases in annual hospital admission rates for ARDS of 0.15% (95% CI, 0.08–0.22) which was evident even in low-pollution regions (annual average ozone level < 45 ppb) below the current annual US National Ambient Air Quality

Standards. Furthermore, long term exposure (3 years) to ozone was significantly (P < 0.01) associated with the development of ARDS following acute trauma even at exposure levels generally below European and USA air quality standards (48).

In a French IPF cohort (COhorte FIbrose, COFI), increasing ozone levels measured close to the patient's home was associated with acute exacerbations (AE) which are associated with high mortality (49). However, in this study ozone did not affect mortality although this was increased by increased exposure to PM2.5 and PM10. In an earlier study, AEs were significantly associated with increases in ozone exposure in the 6 weeks prior to hospital admission (50). Although air pollution *per se* is associated with AEs, disease progression and mortality in IPF, ground level ozone exposure over 40 weeks does not affect lung function (51). Overall, the data suggest that elevated levels of ozone increase respiratory tract complaints with a greater effect seen in susceptible adults and in children.

Ozone also impacts on the health of non-respiratory patients and the risk of mortality is increased in sepsis patients exposed to environmental ozone (52). The mechanisms for this effect was unclear, however, in 3,820 non-current smoking subjects from the Framingham Heart study, there was a negative correlation between ozone exposure and systemic monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1 levels as a marker of systemic inflammation (53). It is of interest that many of these exposures that affect AEs, for example, are below current National Guidelines which has huge public health implications.

Controlled Exposure to Ozone: Effects on Lung Function and Immune Cell Activation

Early studies examining the acute effect effects of O3 (220 ppb, 2.25 h) exposure under laboratory conditions on respiratory physiology in healthy subjects revealed an acute effect on lung function parameters such as FEV1 and FVC and effects on AHR to methacholine (Mch) and on respiratory epithelial permeability at 1-day postexposure (54). The responder profiles to these different readouts differed in that either the acute decreases in FEV1 or the development of AHR or epithelial permeability at 1 day post ozone did not always coincide suggesting that these are separate and independent phenotypic effects seen with O3 exposure (54).

Controlled exposure studies support these epidemiological reports. The recent Multicenter Ozone Study in Older Subjects (MOSES) examined the respiratory responses to low concentrations of ozone in 87 healthy adults aged 60 years (55). Exposure to filtered air rapidly increased mean FEV₁ and FVC values but ozone attenuated these increases in a dose-dependent manner. This effect persisted for 22 h after exposure. Ozone enhanced plasma CC16 levels and sputum neutrophilia in a dose-dependent manner after 4 h and sputum neutrophilia returned to normal levels 18 h post-ozone exposure (55, 56). Worryingly, concentrations of ozone close to the National Ambient Air Quality Standard (0.06 ppm) decreased lung function and increased airway inflammation in healthy young adults (57). This response was independent of a

reduction in the expression of the anti-oxidant gene glutathione S-transferase mu 1 (GSTM1).

Acute ozone exposure (2 h, 0.4 ppm) of 9 healthy adults enhanced sputum neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages after 6 h with a significant upregulation of innate immune (mCD14, CD11b, CD16) and antigen presenting (CD86, HLA-DR) markers (58). Ozone also enhanced sputum interleukin (IL)-6 and induced a transient decline in lung function but had no effect on exhaled NO. This suggests that ozone can prime innate immune cells that may be important for susceptible subjects subsequently exposed to inhaled allergens.

It is unclear whether ozone acts independently of other environmental factors. In some studies ozone alone enhances plasma and sputum inflammatory cells and mediators (CC16, IL-6, and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)9) (59) with no effect seen with carbon black ultrafine particles (cbUFP). However, other studies show no effect of ozone alone (60). Overall, the effect of ozone on immune cell numbers and activation are dependent upon the dose and timing of exposure and the samples collection point. This makes comparison of the studies more complex.

Sputum induction on 27 healthy adults before and after ozone exposure (0.4 ppm, 2 h) gave distinct transcriptional responses according to whether there was a significant increase in sputum neutrophils (61). These ozone responders had activated innate immunity (increased expression of CD16, CD11b, and CD80 and elevated IL-8 and IL-1 β expression) with reduced immune cell trafficking pathways (**Figure 1**). These distinct signatures may explain the effects of ozone in sensitive individuals. Healthy subjects who respond to ozone also demonstrate significantly enhanced sputum levels of the miRNAs miR-132, miR-143, miR-145, miR-199a^{*}, miR-199b-5p, miR-222, miR-223, miR-25, miR-224, and miR-582-5p (62). The predicted targets of these miRNAs included inflammatory and immune-response pathways.

Gene arrays of BAL cell mRNA isolated after exposure of combined healthy and asthmatic subjects to various doses of ozone were subjected to pathways analysis (63). This highlighted enhanced inflammation and repair pathways particularly those involved in chemokine/cytokine secretion, activity, and receptor binding; metalloproteinase and endopeptidase activity; adhesion, locomotion, and migration; and cell growth and tumorigenesis regulation. The response in asthmatics was 1.7–3.8-fold greater than that seen in healthy subjects. The highest differentially expressed up-regulated gene was osteopontin and treatment of an airway epithelial cell line with polymeric osteopontin enhanced wound closure in an α 9 β 1 integrin-dependent manner.

Bioinformatic analysis of gene expression profiles has indicated that the impact of ozone exposure on generating acute lung injury (ALI) in animal models is significantly correlated with signatures seen in 3 human lung injury bronchoalveolar lavage datasets (r = 0.33-0.45, $p < 10^{-16}$) (64). Signatures relate to neutrophils, cytokine and chemokine activation and kinase activation pathways and there is a significant overlap of 181 potential drug targets common between human and animal models.

Metabolomics analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) from healthy subjects following a 2 h exposure to ozone (0.3 ppm) whilst undertaking light exercise could detect 28 differentially expressed metabolites after 1 h indicative of increased glycolysis and a feedback antioxidant response (65). In contrast, at 24 h post ozone exposure 41 differentially expressed metabolites were observed. These were associated with enhanced proteolysis and lipid membrane turnover indicating repair of airway tissues (65). Interestingly, whilst many human ozone exposure models include light exercise, the effect of ozone on exhaled oxidative stress markers were attenuated by physical activity in healthy adolescents (66).

SEX SPECIFIC RESPONSES TO OZONE

Sex-specific differences exist in the incidence and prognosis of respiratory diseases with women having a greater risk of adverse health outcomes from air pollution than men (Figure 1). However, the underlying mechanisms for this are unknown although sex-specific patterns of immune gene expression and regulatory networks have been proposed (67). The expression of 84 inflammatory genes in murine lungs 4h after ozone exposure (2 ppm, 3 h) was examined and linked to lung histology and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cell counts (68). Inflammatory gene mRNA levels in female mouse lungs were significantly lower than in males for 20/72 genes analyzed following ozone exposure (3h at 2 ppm) whilst only 4/72 were higher. Down-regulated genes included TLRs (TLR1, TLR3, TLR6), cytokines (IL1a, IL23a), chemokines (CXCL5, CCCL12, CCL11, CCL25), cytokine and chemokine receptors (CCR3, CCR2, CXCR4, IL1RAP), as well as other immune mediators, enzymes, receptors and transcription factors (C3AR1, CD14, CD40, RIPK2, PTGS2, NF-KB, LY96). Up-regulated pathways included macrophage activation (CXCL2, CCL19), Toll-like-receptor activation (MYD88), and modulation of IL-6 responses (C4B). Bioinformatic analysis indicated that immune cell adhesion and movement and pattern recognition receptor functions were enriched in females whereas the inflammatory response, cell-to-cell signaling and interaction, and cellular movement pathways were enriched in males. Overall, the results indicate a decrease in innate immune responses in females compared to males in response to ozone exposure (68).

The same group also examined miRNA lung expression and found that the baseline expression of miR-222-3p and miR-466 k were up- and down-regulated, respectively, as different in the lungs of male and female C57BL/6 mice which pathway analysis indicated controlled the expression of cell-to-cell signaling and interaction, cellular growth, proliferation, and gene expression (67). Exposure of male and female C57BL/6 mice to 2 ppm of ozone or filtered air for 3 h resulted in sex differences in the expression of 9 miRNAs including miR-130b-3p, miR-17-5p, miR-294a-3p, and miR-338-5p which are involved in inflammation and targeted key regulators of the immune response including IL-6, SMAD2/3, and TMEM9. The top networks included pathways associated with cell cycle, cellular development, growth, proliferation, and movement along with cell death and survival.

The detrimental effects of ozone in the lung have been attributed to bronchial-alveolar epithelial damage and defects

in the bronchial-blood barrier but whether these effects are different between males and females is unclear. 3 h exposure to 2 ppm ozone up-regulated lung IL-6 levels in both males and females but the expression of IL-6R in the lung was only elevated in females (69). This was associated with a significant increase in STAT3-Y705 phosphorylation in both females and males whilst JAK expression and phosphorylation differed between sexes. In addition, NF- κ B (p105/p50) and AKT1 protein levels were significantly increased only in ozone-exposed females. Furthermore, these responses varied across the oestrous cycle (69).

Ozone exposure following an infection results in greater survival in males compared to females whereas survival after infection alone is greater in females (70). Using a multianalyte immunoassay to measure 59 analytes in the lung at 4 h indicated that females had a greater oxidative stress response to ozone than males indicated by enhanced lung expression of EGF, fibrinogen, haptoglobin, IL-17, Interferon γ inducible protein (IP)-10, KC/CXCL1, MCP-5, M-CSF, MIP-2, RANTES, SCF, and TNF- α . This enhanced response was inversely correlated with the poorer survival (70). It is surprising how few studies take gender into account when modeling the effects of environmental pollutants.

Previous work from the Shore group has demonstrated that short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) which represent the end products of bacterial fermentation are important in driving the airway response to ozone following changes in the mouse gut microbiome (71). The same group have reported that these ozone-induced responses are sex-dependent. Indeed, acute ozone exposure to ozone resulted in greater AHR in male compared to female mice which disappeared with antibiotic treatment (71). Female pups kept in the same cages as male pups also exhibited a greater AHR in response to ozone exposure which was mimicked by addition of the SCFA propionate to the drinking water. The data indicates that microbiome-derived SCFAs are processed in a sex-dependent manner to modify ozone-induced AHR.

OZONE MAY AFFECT INHALED AND ORAL DRUG RESPONSES

Acute inhalation of ozone in rodents modulates the expression of circulating stress hormones including adrenalin and corticosterone/cortisol and adrenalectomy attenuates ozone-induced lung injury and inflammation. This may account for the variable sensitivity seen to ozone *in vivo*. This also suggests that there is a potential feedback loop that may be impacted by exogenous drugs (β 2-agonists and ICS) used to treat patients with asthma and COPD which affects the response to environmental ozone (72, 73).

High levels of IL-17A have been associated with a relative corticosteroid (CS)-insensitivity in mice (74). Chronic ozone exposure (2.5 ppm; 3 h twice weekly for 6 weeks) enhanced numerous inflammatory mediators including IL-17A, which was associated with neutrophil infiltration into the lung (75). Prophylactic treatment with a combination of dexamethasone (2 mg/kg) and an anti-murine IL-17A monoclonal antibody (IL-17mAb) reduced chronic ozone-induced neutrophilia and total

inflammatory cells, inhibited BAL protein levels of IL-8, IL-17A, and TNF- α and the mean linear intercept (Lm) as a marker of emphysema. Combined administration also significantly elevated BAL interferon (IFN) γ levels and glucocorticoid receptor (GR) expression whilst supressing NF- κ B and p38 MAPK phosphorylation (75). The study highlighted the critical role of IL-17A in reducing CS responses as a result of ozone exposure.

Many studies implicate oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of COPD and the relative corticosteroid-insensitivity observed in most of these patients (76, 77). Repeated ozone exposure (3 ppm, 3 h) twice a week for 6 weeks induces many features of COPD including emphysema and lung/airway inflammation (78). This was associated with enhanced expression of caspase-3 and apoptosis protease activating factor-1 in macrophages and in the airway and alveolar epithelium. IL-13, KC/CXCL1, caspase-3, and IFN γ mRNAs were increased whereas heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) mRNA decreased. These effects of chronic ozone exposure were relatively insensitive to high dose (2 mg/kg) dexamethasone given prophylactically (79). These effects were generally unaffected by the CS-upregulated protein DUSP1/MKP-1 although a small impact effect on remodeling was observed.

Interestingly, there is also a link between ozone exposure and endogenous CS responses in animal models as evidenced by the effect of the 11 β -hydroxylase inhibitor metyrapone (80). Ozone (0.8 ppm, 4 h) exposure evoked a metyropone-sensitive 2-fold increase in plasma corticosterone without affecting epinephrine levels. The effects of ozone on ghrelin or plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 were unaffected by metyrapone. The effect of chronic ozone on endogenous CS responses should be investigated.

MURINE MODELS OF OZONE EXPOSURE REFLECT HUMAN EPIDEMIOLOGICAL AND CHALLENGE MODELS

The effects of acute and chronic ozone exposure in man have been confirmed in animal models and details of the transcriptomic effects elucidated in these rodent models and in human cellular models (81). Acute ozone exposure (1 ppm, 1 h) in the mouse caused respiratory epithelial disruption with protein leak, BAL neutrophil recruitment, lung inflammation and AHR. Chronic exposure (1.5 ppm, 2 h, twice weekly for 6 weeks) amplified these acute effects of ozone and furthermore resulted in collagen deposition, greater epithelial injury with reduced epithelial barrier height, distended bronchioles, and enlarged alveolar space indicative of peribronchiolar fibrosis and emphysema (**Figure 1**).

Repeated exposure of C57BL/6 mice to ozone (0.8 ppm, 4 h/day) for 9 days resulted in the presence of an asthmalike phenotype with airway eosinophilia, mucus cell metaplasia and activation of type 2 innate lymphoid (ILC2) cells (82). Interestingly, ozone (3 ppm, 2 h) induced airway eosinophilia and IL-5 expression as well as neutrophilia in BALB/c but not C57BL/6 mice (83). ILC2s isolated from BALB/c mice exposed to ozone expressed greater mRNA levels for IL5 and IL13 than seen in C57BL/6 mice. Anti-Thy1.2 treatment abolished ozone effects on AHR that were restored by addition of ILC2s. Thus, the role of ILC2 cells in ozone-induced AHR and airways inflammation are strain dependent.

The effects of ozone on lung inflammation and AHR are biphasic and are mediated, at least in part, by distinct eosinophil populations (84). The acute 1-day effect of ozone is associated with the presence of mature airway-resident eosinophils in close proximity to parasympathetic nerves causing AHR. Four days after exposure, newly divided eosinophils were recruited to airways in a TNF α -dependent manner to suppress ozoneinduced AHR. In this case, only airway eosinophils correlated with AHR indicating the importance of inflammation in distinct airway compartments.

As in man, the effects of ozone are age-dependent with adolescent and young adult animals being more susceptible to changes in ventilation and pulmonary injury/inflammation (85). Older rats had an inability to induce adaptation of ventilatory function in response to repeated ozone exposure and augmentation of lung function was most prevalent in young adult animals exposed to subchronic ozone. For example, BAL γ -glutamyl transferase activity and lung inflammation were only significantly enhanced after acute ozone in adolescent and young adult rats. The susceptibility of children to the detrimental effects of ozone exposure may be due to the need for airway and lung growth to continue after birth (86). Neurokinin signaling is involved in ozone-induced cell death and in male infant rhesus monkeys ozone increased neurokinin pathway expression in the conducting airways. In addition, ozone exposure at an early age resulted in enhanced inflammation and AHR.

Asthma exacerbations are often triggered by air pollution including ozone and in a murine model of asthma, ozone exposure resulted in enhanced AHR and greater neutrophilic inflammation associated with increased BAL levels of TNF- α , IL-13, and HA (87). Ozone also decreased epithelial cell density and increased mucus production. Furthermore, In BALB/c mice sensitized to ovalbumin, combined ozone (4 h, 0.5 ppm) and diesel exhaust particles (DEP, 4 h, 2 mg/m³) exposure once a week for 4 weeks exacerbated AHR (88). However, in this instance, enhanced AHR was not linked to pulmonary inflammation. This mimics the situation in man where there is often a disconnect between inflammation and AHR (54) (see above).

EFFECTS OF OZONE ON INNATE IMMUNE CELLS IN THE AIRWAY

Spleen-derived macrophages and inflammatory mediators are important in ozone toxicity (89). Splenectomy resulted in decreases in pro-inflammatory macrophages (CD11b+Ly6CHi) in the lung and down regulation of CCR2, CCL2, and CCL4, but increases in anti-inflammatory (CD11b+Ly6CLo) macrophages compared to ozone-exposed wild type mice. The numbers of CD11b+Ly6G+Ly6C+ granulocytic (G)-myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC)s were also reduced in ozoneexposed splenectomised mice. Importantly, changes in lung macrophage subpopulations and in lung G-MDSCs correlated with reduced ozone toxicity, BAL protein content and 4hydroxynonenal expression. Ambient ozone exposure resulted in impaired antibacterial host defense, in part related to disruption of epithelial barrier and effective phagocytosis of pathogens (**Figure 1**). The functional response to ambient ozone is dependent on many components of the innate immune signaling (90).

Inverted formin-2 (INF2) is a significant quantitative trait locus that contributes to ozone-induced neutrophilic inflammation in mice (91). Transcriptomic and bioinformatic analysis of ozone-exposed INF2(-/-) and wild type mice revealed key roles for major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II genes and the TNF gene cluster in ozone-induced lung neutrophilia.

The influx of distinct macrophage and monocyte subpopulations into the lung during acute ozone (0.8 ppm, 3 h)-induced lung injury was associated with CCR2 expression (92). There was a more predominant effect on proinflammatory CCR2+ and CD11b+LY6CHi and NOS2+ macrophages. However, there was also an effect on the timing of the recruitment of anti-inflammatory mannose receptor+ macrophages and CD11b+LY6CLo macrophages.

Ozone-induced $\gamma\delta$ T cells are critical for the induction of alternatively activated M2 macrophages and the resolution of inflammation after ozone exposure (93). It is probable that secretion of IL-17A by $\gamma\delta$ T-cells alters macrophage polarization and the clearance of apoptotic cells.

Furthermore, ozone exposure regulates the expression of galectin-3 (GAL3), which is a lectin that controls macrophage activity (94). Ozone increased the numbers of proinflammatory (GAL3+, NOS2+) and anti-inflammatory (MR1+) macrophages within the lungs. NOS2+ macrophage numbers were reduced in GAL3(-/-) mice whilst MR1+ macrophages were increased. GAL3(-/-) mice had reduced numbers of ozone-induced LY6Chi macrophages but no effect on LY6Clo macrophages was seen. In addition, the numbers of granulocytic (G) and monocytic (M) myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) were altered in GAL3(-/-) mice with G-MDSC being reduced and M-MDSCs being increased. These changes in immune cell populations correlated with tissue damage after ozone exposure.

Ozone-induced lung expression of GR-1+ macrophages expressing high levels of MARCO and CX3CR1 are not derived from circulating CCR2+ cells but from lung resident macrophages (95). This cell population was reduced in CXCR1(-/-) mice which had an enhanced AHR and inflammatory response to ozone. This suggests that this subset of lung macrophages protect the host from ozone (96).

EFFECT OF OZONE ON GENE EXPRESSION IN ANIMAL AND CELLULAR MODELS

Acute (1 week) and chronic (3 and 6 weeks) exposure to ozone (3 ppm, 3 h, twice weekly) elevated total BAL cell counts associated with increased chemokine and cytokine expression. This increased inflammation was associated with Lm (mean linear intercept) scores after chronic exposure (97). The

expression and activity of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)like 2 (Nrf2), a marker of anti-oxidant activity, was present after 1 week but was lost at 3 and 6 weeks, at which time the expression and activation of HIF-1 α was seen. HIF-1 α -induced genes such as histone deacetylase (HDAC)2, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), kelch-like ECH-associated protein (KEAP)1, and macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) were also upregulated at 3 and 6 weeks ozone exposure. This suggests that the loss of the antioxidative stress response and activation of the HIF-1 α pathway contribute to the inflammatory response and emphysema observed in ozone-exposed mice.

Further analysis of the transcriptomic data from this model using gene set variation analysis (GSVA) (98, 99) and the online freeware R Bioconductor (https://www.bioconductor. org/) (Figure 2). GSVA is a non-parametric, unsupervised method for estimating the variation of sets of genes or pathways across a dataset and indicates that there is enrichment of gene signatures associated with fibrosis in this model that are reversed by co-treatment with N-acetyl cysteine (NAC). This approach also enables the analysis of other activated cells and pathways such as CD8+ T-cells, glycolysis and the HIPPO pathway that impact upon the mechanisms of chronic (6 week) ozone exposure on lung pathophysiology. However, not all models of repeated ozone challenge enhance inflammation, AHR and mucus hypersecretion in murine models of asthma (100). In this model, repeated ozone exposures reduced ovalbumin-induced AHR but did enhance mucus hypersecretion potentially via effects on immune dysregulation.

The effect of acute ozone exposure (0.25, 0.5, or 1.0 ppm for 4 h) on gene expression profiles were examined in male Wistar Kyoto rats. Acute inflammatory response genes along with genes involved in cell adhesion and migration, steroid metabolism, cell cycle control, and cell apoptosis/growth were up-regulated in an NF-KB/RELA, SP1, and TP53-dependent manner (101). Ozone treatment of rats (2 ppm, 3 h) enhances the expression of 8hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) and of HO-1 in alveolar macrophages (AM) in a time-dependent manner (102). Ozone also induced markers of apoptosis (cleaved caspase-9) and of autophagy (beclin-1) in AM and enhanced BAL MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression. Enhanced NF-кB-associated inflammatorytype AM (MCP-1, NOS2, and COX-2) was also seen along with markers of anti-inflammatory/wound repair macrophages (arginase-1, YM1, and GAL3). Overall, this indicates that both proinflammatory/cytotoxic and anti-inflammatory/wound repair macrophages are activated in response to ozone in the rat. The authors suggested that these effects were downstream of ozone interactions with the airway lining fluid to oxidatively modify local lipids and proteins.

Exposure of BALB/c mice to ozone (2.5 ppm) for 6 weeks induced a chronic inflammatory process similar to that seen in COPD (78). These features included alveolar enlargement and damage linked to epithelial cell caspase 3induced apoptosis, enhanced inflammation (IL-13, KC/CXCL1, and IFN γ), increased protease (MMP-12) expression and airway wall remodeling (enhanced collagen deposition). In C57BL/6J mice exposed to ozone before subsequent challenge with *Escherichia coli* LPS resulted in greater levels of total protein and



pathways such as the glycolysis (E) and HIPPO (F) pathways. The ES for each of these signatures is reversed by co-treatment with N-acetyl cysteine (NAC, 100

mg/kg i.p.). Data is obtained from the experiments reported in Yang et al. (83). Data are presented as individual data points with box-and-whisker plots showing median and interguartile range. **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; *** $p < 10^{-5}$.

of proinflammatory cytokines in lung lavage fluid and amplified the LPS-response in lung tissue (90). This was associated with enhanced systemic IL-6 expression. The enhanced LPS response following ozone exposure was due to enhanced macrophage TLR4 expression.

Ozone also affects epithelial cell tight junctions *in vivo* by suppressing the expression of claudins (CLDNs) (103). Chronic ozone exposure increased CLDN3, CLDN4, ROS, Nrf2, and Keap1 protein expression but decreased lung CLDN14 protein expression. This suggests that ozone may affect tight junction formation, at least in part, through a ROS-dependent mechanism. Ozone inhalation also suppresses mitochondrial gene expression, enhances mtDNA damage and affects mtDNA copy number indicating that the loss of pulmonary function and inflammation are linked with the loss of mtDNA integrity and DNA repair capability (104) (**Figure 1**).

The diabetes-prone KK strain of mice subjected to ozone (0.5 ppm, 5 h/day for 13 weekdays) had a further impaired insulin response linked to reduced plasma insulin and leptin levels (105). Ozone exposure for 3 weeks resulted in enhanced lung and systemic inflammation with increased numbers of monocytes/macrophages in both blood and visceral adipose tissue. Activation of CD4+T cells was also detected along with up-regulation of inflammatory (CXCL-11, IFN γ , TNF α , IL-12, and NOS2) and oxidative stress (COX4, COX5a, SCD1, NRF1, and NRF2) genes in visceral adipose tissue. The data indicates that repeated ozone exposure exacerbates insulin resistance,

oxidative stress, and activates the innate immune system in susceptible animals.

Gene arrays using RNA from ozone (0.75 ppm, 2 h)-exposed primary HBECs indicated up-regulation of pro-inflammatory (e.g., IL-6, IL-8) and vascular function (e.g., PTGS2) pathways (106). In contrast, nitrogen dioxide-exposed cells gave a large oxidative stress response signal highlighting their differing mechanistic responses. In order to understand the mechanisms underlying the epidemiological evidence for an association between black carbon (BC) and ozone exposure with adverse health effects. The effects of BC and ozone-oxidized BC (OBC) on transcriptomic profiles in human lung epithelial A549 cells were studied (107). Only a few oxidative stress-related genes were co-regulated by BC and OBC whereas ~40% of inflammatory genes and 33% of autophagy-related genes were identical. This highlights differences in the toxic mechanisms between different environmental pollutants but does indicate a degree of cooperation in modulating inflammation above oxidative stress.

A combination of structural cells including epithelial cells and resident immune cells such as macrophages are critical for the lung innate immune response to ozone. Co-culture of human airway epithelial cell lines and BAL macrophages from healthy subjects have been exposed to ozone (108). Macrophages had elevated levels of alternative activation markers, enhanced cytotoxicity and reduced phagocytosis compared to those treated in monoculture. Co-culture also affected the ability of macrophages to

regulate HA expression. These results highlight the importance of cell-cell communication and particularly epithelial-derived factors in modulating ozone-induced macrophage immunophenotypes.

Exposure of primary airway epithelial cells from juvenile rhesus monkeys to ozone resulted in attenuated IL-6 and IL-8 expression but this effect was altered if the animals had also been challenged with LPS (109). In accordance with these results, the expression of miRNAs such as miR-149 that control IL-6 expression were also dysregulated. The authors suggested that early-life exposure to ozone reprogrammed the innate immune response of airway epithelial cells to subsequent bacterial challenges in later life.

CYTOKINE MEDIATORS OF OZONE EFFECTS

IL-33 is critical in mediating ozone effects in murine models (**Figure 1**). For example, co-exposure of mice to BC and to OBC enhances inflammation and lung damage compared to individual exposures (107). Neutralizing antibodies against IL-33 prevented BC/OBC-induced lung damage and inflammation through MAPK- and PI3K-AKT-dependent pathways (110). Interestingly, anti-IL-6 antibodies had no effect on these ozone-induced parameters although anti-IL-33 did suppress IL-6 expression.

Furthermore, ST2- and IL-33-deficient mice exposed to ozone (1 ppm, 1 h) gave a further reduction in epithelial cell injury, myeloid cell recruitment, and inflammation (111). In contrast, the tight junction proteins E-cadherin and zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1) and neutrophil ROS and AHR are diminished. ST2 neutralization mimicked these effects and highlighted the importance of IL-33/ST2 signaling in epithelial barrier function and inflammation following ozone exposure. Interestingly, the enhanced effects of ozone exposure on inflammation and AHR seen in obese mice was also dependent on IL-33 (112). This was due to the combined effect of obesity and ozone to promote T2 cytokine production from ST2+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and ILC2 cells.

Administration of an anti-IL17 mAb to chronic ozoneexposed mice results in suppression of BAL KC/CXCL1, BAL total cell and neutrophil counts and of AHR (113). Anti-IL-17 also reduced p38 MAPK activation and highlighted the important role of IL-17 in ozone-induced inflammation, lung injury and AHR. This result using an anti-IL-17 mAb augments previous data using IL-17A and IL-1R1 knockout mice which demonstrated that ozone-induced IL-17A and neutrophilic airway inflammation was downstream of the caspase-1-IL-1 pathway (114). Prolonged (7h) low-dose (0.7 ppm) ozone exposure resulted in neutrophilic airway inflammation, accompanied by an increased production of IL-1β, IL-18, IL-17A, Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), INFy-inducible protein 10 (IP-10) in BAL which were attenuated in IL-17(-/-) mice. Furthermore, IL1R1(-/-) mice as well as mice given a caspase inhibitor in vivo show decreased IL-17A expression and airway inflammation. Although IL-17A is important for ozone-induced AHR it does not appear to be critical for the lung destruction seen in IL-17A(-/-) mice (115). These mice also failed to show an effect of IL-17A on airway inflammation.

The IL-1/inflammasone axis has been associated with ozoneinduced airway inflammation in allergic asthmatic patients (116) and both IL-1 α (-/-) knockout mice and blocking antibodies provide evidence for a role for IL-1 in ozone-induced epithelial cell barrier function, inflammation, and AHR (117). These prevented ozone-induced effects via IL-1R1 and the adaptor protein MYD88. IL-1 release is downstream of inflammasome activation and evidence suggests that ozone-enhanced lung oxidative stress causes inflammasome activation and IL-1 release eventually leading to alveolar destruction/emphysema and respiratory failure (118). In contrast, ozone appears to suppress NLRP3-mediated inflammation by enhancing NRF2 activity in rats (119).

CONCLUSION

Ozone induces the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) within epithelial lining fluid, which in turn activates ROS-related intracellular signaling pathways within airway epithelial cells resulting in enhanced expression of inflammatory and remodeling factors. Analysis of transcriptomic profiles in human and mouse tissues and cells have indicated the key role of specific immune and inflammatory pathways in driving the detrimental effects of ozone exposure. These data have indicated treatable mechanisms (p38 MAPK, TLRs, NRLP3, HIPPO) and mediators (IL-1, IL-17, and IL-33) that may be suitable for ameliorating the effects of ozone. Biologics may provide a suitable means of prolonged treatment in susceptible individuals where ozone exposure is high and enduring.

Future analysis of ozone effects needs to incorporate more global assessments of inflammation, AHR, and epithelial damage. The advent of increasingly affordable bulk and single-cell RNAsequencing will provide insight into ozone actions particularly when applied to lung/airway samples from both healthy subjects and patients with disease. Recent epidemiological analysis of ozone effects in adults and children should be linked to realtime monitoring of individual exposures linked to cell/tissue sampling. Appreciation of the mechanisms by which ozone exerts its effects suggest that potent drugs that target TLRs or redox-sensitive kinases to restore immune skewing induced by ozone as well as restoration of metabolic perturbations may be of use when exposures cannot be reduced to "safe" levels. Indeed, it is likely that even current levels that are considered safe may have adverse effects on both healthy subjects and patients with different airways diseases. This will require public health changes and government interventions on a global level. This is likely to become particularly important with temperature changes associated with climate change. Ozone has profound effects on the airway, particularly in sensitive subjects, and although drugs may be developed that prove effective it is better to prevent the exposure at all ages.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IA and KC conceived the topic. IA and SM drafted the manuscript. IA, KC, and SM edited and revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Seltzer J, Bigby BG, Stulbarg M, Holtzman MJ, Nadel JA, Ueki IF, et al. O3-induced change in bronchial reactivity to methacholine and airway inflammation in humans. *J Appl Physiol.* (1986) 60:1321–6. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1986.60.4.1321
- Mudway IS, Kelly FJ. Ozone and the lung: a sensitive issue. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2000) 21:1–48. doi: 10.1016/S0098-2997(00)00003-0
- Yan Z, Jin Y, An Z, Liu Y, Samet JM, Wu W. Inflammatory cell signaling following exposures to particulate matter and ozone. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1860:2826–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.03.030
- Bromberg PA. Mechanisms of the acute effects of inhaled ozone in humans. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1860:2771–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.07.015
- Speen AM, Kim HH, Bauer RN, Meyer M, Gowdy KM, Fessler MB, et al. Ozone-derived Oxysterols Affect Liver X Receptor (LXR) Signaling: A POTENTIAL ROLE FOR LIPID-PROTEIN ADDUCTS. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:25192–206. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.732362
- Kilburg-Basnyat B, Reece SW, Crouch MJ, Luo B, Boone AD, Yaeger M, et al. Specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators regulate ozone-induced pulmonary and systemic inflammation. *Toxicol Sci.* (2018) 163:466–77. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfy040
- Cooper PR, Mesaros AC, Zhang J, Christmas P, Stark CM, Douaidy K, et al. 20-HETE mediates ozone-induced, neutrophil-independent airway hyper-responsiveness in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e10235. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010235
- Wang M, Cooper PR, Jiang M, Zhao H, Hui Y, Yao Y, et al. Deletion of microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 does not alter ozone-induced airway hyper-responsiveness. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2010) 334:63–8. doi: 10.1124/jpet.110.166678
- Cho HY, Gladwell W, Yamamoto M, Kleeberger SR. Exacerbated airway toxicity of environmental oxidant ozone in mice deficient in Nrf2. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2013) 2013:254069. doi: 10.1155/2013/254069
- Yonchuk JG, Foley JP, Bolognese BJ, Logan G, Wixted WE, Kou JP, et al. Characterization of the potent, selective Nrf2 activator, 3-(Pyridin-3-Ylsulfonyl)-5-(Trifluoromethyl)-2H-chromen-2-one, in cellular and *in vivo* models of pulmonary oxidative stress. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2017) 363:114– 25. doi: 10.1124/jpet.117.241794
- Ciencewicki JM, Verhein KC, Gerrish K, McCaw ZR, Li J, Bushel PR, et al. Effects of mannose-binding lectin on pulmonary gene expression and innate immune inflammatory response to ozone. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2016) 311:L280–91. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00205.2015
- Li F, Wiegman C, Seiffert JM, Zhu J, Clarke C, Chang Y, et al. Effects of N-acetylcysteine in ozone-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease model. *PLoS. ONE.* (2013) 8:e80782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080782
- Li F, Xu M, Wang M, Wang L, Wang H, Zhang H, et al. Roles of mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 inflammasome in multiple ozoneinduced lung inflammation and emphysema. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:230. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0931-8
- Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE, et al. Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:769–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.046
- Li X, Michaeloudes C, Zhang Y, Wiegman CH, Adcock IM, Lian Q, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in the airways. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141:1634–1645.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.017

FUNDING

SM and IA were supported by the British Heart Foundation (PG/14/27/30679) and the Dunhill Medical Trust (R368/0714). IA was also supported by the Wellcome Trust (093080/Z/10/Z).

- Williams AS, Leung SY, Nath P, Khorasani NM, Bhavsar P, Issa R, et al. Role of TLR2, TLR4, and MyD88 in murine ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and neutrophilia. *J Appl Physiol.* (2007) 103:1189–95. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00172.2007
- Oakes JL, O'Connor BP, Warg LA, Burton R, Hock A, Loader J, et al. Ozone enhances pulmonary innate immune response to a Tolllike receptor-2 agonist. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2013) 48:27–34. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2012-0187OC
- Connor AJ, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Ozone-induced lung injury and sterile inflammation. Role of toll-like receptor 4. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2012) 92:229–35. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.01.004
- Li Z, Potts-Kant EN, Garantziotis S, Foster WM, Hollingsworth JW. Hyaluronan signaling during ozone-induced lung injury requires TLR4, MyD88, and TIRAP. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e27137. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027137
- Garantziotis S, Li Z, Potts EN, Lindsey JY, Stober VP, Polosukhin VV, et al. TLR4 is necessary for hyaluronan-mediated airway hyperresponsiveness after ozone inhalation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 181:666–75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200903-0381OC
- Garantziotis S, Li Z, Potts EN, Kimata K, Zhuo L, Morgan DL, et al. Hyaluronan mediates ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *J Biol Chem.* (2009) 284:11309–17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M802400200
- 22. Groves AM, Gow AJ, Massa CB, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Prolonged injury and altered lung function after ozone inhalation in mice with chronic lung inflammation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2012) 47:776–83. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2011-0433OC
- Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Flayer CH, Killingbeck SS, Redai IG, MacFarlane AW, et al. Cutting edge: role of NK cells and surfactant protein D in dendritic cell lymph node homing: effects of ozone exposure. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:553–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403042
- Liang L, Li F, Bao A, Zhang M, Chung KF, Zhou X. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in ovalbumin and ozone-induced mouse model of asthma. *Respirology*. (2013) 18:20–9. doi: 10.1111/resp.12189
- 25. Bao A, Yang H, Ji J, Chen Y, Bao W, Li F, et al. Involvements of p38 MAPK and oxidative stress in the ozone-induced enhancement of AHR and pulmonary inflammation in an allergic asthma model. *Respir Res.* (2017) 18:216. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0697-4
- 26. Li F, Zhang P, Zhang M, Liang L, Sun X, Li M, et al. Hydrogen sulfide prevents and partially reverses ozone-induced features of lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 55:72–81. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0014OC
- Zhang P, Li F, Wiegman CH, Zhang M, Hong Y, Gong J, et al. Inhibitory effect of hydrogen sulfide on ozone-induced airway inflammation, oxidative stress, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 52:129–37. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0415OC
- Jin M, Chu H, Li Y, Tao X, Cheng Z, Pan Y, et al. MAP4K4 deficiency in CD4(+) T cells aggravates lung damage induced by ozone-oxidized black carbon particles. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* (2016) 46:246–54. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2016.08.006
- Penton PC, Wang X, Amatullah H, Cooper J, Godri K, North ML, et al. Spleen tyrosine kinase inhibition attenuates airway hyperresponsiveness and pollution-induced enhanced airway response in a chronic mouse model of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 131:512–20.e1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.039
- Backus GS, Howden R, Fostel J, Bauer AK, Cho HY, Marzec J, et al. Protective role of interleukin-10 in ozone-induced pulmonary inflammation. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2010) 118:1721–7. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1 002182

- Feng F, Jin Y, Duan L, Yan Z, Wang S, Li F, et al. Regulation of ozone-induced lung inflammation by the epidermal growth factor receptor in mice. *Environ Toxicol.* (2016) 31:2016–27. doi: 10.1002/tox.22202
- Wang Y, Jia M, Yan X, Cao L, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM, et al. Increased neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) promotes airway remodelling in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Sci.* (2017) 131:1147–59. doi: 10.1042/CS20170096
- Zychowski KE, Lucas SN, Sanchez B, Herbert G, Campen MJ. Hypoxiainduced pulmonary arterial hypertension augments lung injury and airway reactivity caused by ozone exposure. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2016) 305:40– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2016.06.003
- 34. Kasahara DI, Mathews JA, Park CY, Cho Y, Hunt G, Wurmbrand AP, et al. ROCK insufficiency attenuates ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L736–46. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00372.2014
- 35. Russell KE, Chung KF, Clarke CJ, Durham AL, Mallia P, Footitt J, et al. The MIF antagonist ISO-1 attenuates corticosteroid-insensitive inflammation and airways hyperresponsiveness in an ozone-induced model of COPD. *PLoS. ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146102
- 36. Nishimura KK, Galanter JM, Roth LA, Oh SS, Thakur N, Nguyen EA, et al. Early-life air pollution and asthma risk in minority children. The GALA II and SAGE II studies. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 188:309–18. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201302-0264OC
- Gong H Jr, Shamoo DA, Anderson KR, Linn WS. Responses of older men with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease to prolonged ozone exposure. *Arch Environ Health.* (1997) 52:18–25. doi: 10.1080/00039899709603795
- Khatri SB, Holguin FC, Ryan PB, Mannino D, Erzurum SC, Teague WG. Association of ambient ozone exposure with airway inflammation and allergy in adults with asthma. J Asthma. (2009) 46:777–85. doi: 10.1080/02770900902779284
- Altug H, Gaga EO, Dogeroglu T, Brunekreef B, Hoek G, Van Doorn W. Effects of ambient air pollution on respiratory tract complaints and airway inflammation in primary school children. *Sci Total Environ.* (2014) 479-480:201–9. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.01.127
- 40. Vagaggini B, Bartoli ML, Cianchetti S, Costa F, Bacci E, Dente FL, et al. Increase in markers of airway inflammation after ozone exposure can be observed also in stable treated asthmatics with minimal functional response to ozone. *Respir Res.* (2010) 11:5. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-11-5
- Stenfors N, Bosson J, Helleday R, Behndig AF, Pourazar J, Tornqvist H, et al. Ozone exposure enhances mast-cell inflammation in asthmatic airways despite inhaled corticosteroid therapy. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2010) 22:133–9. doi: 10.3109/08958370903005736
- 42. Bartoli ML, Vagaggini B, Malagrino L, Bacci E, Cianchetti S, Dente FL, et al. Baseline airway inflammation may be a determinant of the response to ozone exposure in asthmatic patients. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2013) 25:127–33. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2013.763313
- 43. Strosnider HM, Chang HH, Darrow LA, Liu Y, Vaidyanathan A, Strickland MJ. Age-specific associations of ozone and PM2.5 with respiratory emergency department visits in the US. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2018) 199:882–90. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201806-1147OC
- 44. Blomberg A, Mudway I, Svensson M, Hagenbjork-Gustafsson A, Thomasson L, Helleday R, et al. Clara cell protein as a biomarker for ozone-induced lung injury in humans. *Eur Respir J.* (2003) 22:883–8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.00048203
- 45. Mendy A, Wilkerson J, Salo PM, Weir CH, Feinstein L, Zeldin DC, et al. Synergistic association of house endotoxin exposure and ambient air pollution with asthma outcomes. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019). doi: 10.1164/rccm.201809-1733OC. [Epub ahead of print].
- Liu Y, Pan J, Zhang H, Shi C, Li G, Peng Z, et al. Short-term exposure to ambient air pollution and asthma mortality. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019). doi: 10.1164/rccm.201810-1823OC. [Epub ahead of print].
- 47. Rhee J, Dominici F, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Wang Y, Di Q, et al. Impact of long-term exposures to ambient PM2.5 and ozone on ARDS risk for older adults in the United States. *Chest.* (2019) 26:30711–1. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2019.03.017.
- 48. Reilly JP, Zhao Z, Shashaty GSM, Koyama T, Christie JD, Lanken PN, et al. Low to moderate air pollutant exposure and acute respiratory distress

syndrome after severe trauma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2019) 199:62–70. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201803-0435OC

- Sese L, Nunes H, Cottin V, Sanyal S, Didier M, Carton Z, et al. Role of atmospheric pollution on the natural history of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Thorax*. (2018) 73:145–50. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-209967
- Johannson KA, Vittinghoff E, Lee K, Balmes JR, Ji W, Kaplan GG, et al. Acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis associated with air pollution exposure. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 43:1124–31. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00122213
- 51. Johannson KA, Vittinghoff E, Morisset J, Wolters PJ, Noth EM, Balmes JR, et al. Air pollution exposure is associated with lower lung function, but not changes in lung function, in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Chest.* (2018) 154:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.01.015
- 52. Rush B, Wiskar K, Fruhstorfer C, Celi LA, Walley KR. The impact of chronic ozone and particulate air pollution on mortality in patients with sepsis across the United States. J Intensive Care Med. (2018). doi: 10.1177/0885066618804497. [Epub ahead of print].
- Li W, Dorans KS, Wilker EH, Rice MB, Ljungman PL, Schwartz JD, et al. Short-term exposure to ambient air pollution and circulating biomarkers of endothelial cell activation: the Framingham heart study. *Environ Res.* (2018) 171:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.10.027
- Que LG, Stiles JV, Sundy JS, Foster WM. Pulmonary function, bronchial reactivity, and epithelial permeability are response phenotypes to ozone and develop differentially in healthy humans. *J Appl Physiol*. (2011) 111:679–87. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00337.2011
- Arjomandi M, Balmes JR, Frampton MW, Bromberg P, Rich DQ, Stark P, et al. Respiratory responses to ozone exposure. MOSES (The Multicenter Ozone Study in Older Subjects). *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2018) 197:1319– 27. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201708-1613OC
- Bosson JA, Blomberg A, Stenfors N, Helleday R, Kelly FJ, Behndig AF, et al. Peripheral blood neutrophilia as a biomarker of ozoneinduced pulmonary inflammation. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e81816. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081816
- 57. Kim CS, Alexis NE, Rappold AG, Kehrl H, Hazucha MJ, Lay JC, et al. Lung function and inflammatory responses in healthy young adults exposed to 0.06 ppm ozone for 6.6 hours. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 183:1215–21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201011-1813OC
- Lay JC, Alexis NE, Kleeberger SR, Roubey RA, Harris BD, Bromberg PA, et al. Ozone enhances markers of innate immunity and antigen presentation on airway monocytes in healthy individuals. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2007) 120:719–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.05.005
- Holz O, Heusser K, Muller M, Windt H, Schwarz K, Schindler C, et al. Airway and systemic inflammatory responses to ultrafine carbon black particles and ozone in older healthy subjects. J Toxicol Environ Health A. (2018) 81:576–88. doi: 10.1080/15287394.2018.1463331
- Habre R, Zhou H, Eckel SP, Enebish T, Fruin S, Bastain T, et al. Shortterm effects of airport-associated ultrafine particle exposure on lung function and inflammation in adults with asthma. *Environ Int.* (2018) 118:48–59. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.05.031
- Fry RC, Rager JE, Zhou H, Zou B, Brickey JW, Ting J, et al. Individuals with increased inflammatory response to ozone demonstrate muted signaling of immune cell trafficking pathways. *Respir Res.* (2012) 13:89. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-13-89
- 62. Fry RC, Rager JE, Bauer R, Sebastian E, Peden DB, Jaspers I, et al. Air toxics and epigenetic effects: ozone altered microRNAs in the sputum of human subjects. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2014) 306:L1129–37. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00348.2013
- Leroy P, Tham A, Wong H, Tenney R, Chen C, Stiner R, et al. Inflammatory and repair pathways induced in human bronchoalveolar lavage cells with ozone inhalation. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0127283. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127283
- 64. Sweeney TE, Lofgren S, Khatri P, Rogers AJ. Gene expression analysis to assess the relevance of rodent models to human lung injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2017) 57:184–92. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0 395OC
- Cheng W, Duncan KE, Ghio AJ, Ward-Caviness C, Karoly ED, Diaz-Sanchez D, et al. Changes in metabolites present in lung-lining fluid following exposure of humans to ozone. *Toxicol Sci.* (2018) 163:430–9. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfy043

- 66. Pasalic E, Hayat MJ, Greenwald R. Air pollution, physical activity, and markers of acute airway oxidative stress and inflammation in adolescents. *J Ga Public Health Assoc.* (2016) 6:314–30. doi: 10.21633/jgpha.6.2s19
- Fuentes N, Roy A, Mishra V, Cabello N, Silveyra P. Sex-specific microRNA expression networks in an acute mouse model of ozone-induced lung inflammation. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2018) 9:18. doi: 10.1186/s13293-018-0177-7
- Cabello N, Mishra V, Sinha U, DiAngelo SL, Chroneos ZC, Ekpa NA, et al. Sex differences in the expression of lung inflammatory mediators in response to ozone. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2015) 309:L1150–63. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00018.2015
- Mishra V, DiAngelo SL, Silveyra P. Sex-specific IL-6-associated signaling activation in ozone-induced lung inflammation. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2016) 7:16. doi: 10.1186/s13293-016-0069-7
- Mikerov AN, Phelps DS, Gan X, Umstead TM, Haque R, Wang G, et al. Effect of ozone exposure and infection on bronchoalveolar lavage: sex differences in response patterns. *Toxicol Lett.* (2014) 230:333–44. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.04.008
- Cho Y, Abu-Ali G, Tashiro H, Brown TA, Osgood RS, Kasahara DI, et al. Sex differences in pulmonary responses to ozone in mice. Role of the microbiome. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2019) 60:198–208. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2018-0099OC
- Henriquez AR, Snow SJ, Schladweiler MC, Miller CN, Dye JA, Ledbetter AD, et al. Adrenergic and glucocorticoid receptor antagonists reduce ozoneinduced lung injury and inflammation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2018) 339:161–71. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2017.12.006
- 73. Thomas J, Guenette J, Thomson EM. Stress axis variability is associated with differential ozone-induced lung inflammatory signaling and injury biomarker response. *Environ Res.* (2018) 167:751–8. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.09.007
- McKinley L, Alcorn JF, Peterson A, Dupont RB, Kapadia S, Logar A, et al. TH17 cells mediate steroid-resistant airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *Immunol J.* (2008) 181:4089–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.4089
- 75. Fei X, Zhang PY, Zhang X, Zhang GQ, Bao WP, Zhang YY, et al. IL-17A monoclonal antibody partly reverses the glucocorticoids insensitivity in mice exposed to ozonec. *Inflammation*. (2017) 40:788–97. doi: 10.1007/s10753-017-0523-7
- Barnes PJ. Corticosteroid resistance in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 131:636–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.1564
- Barnes PJ. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of asthma and COP. *Clin Sci* D. (2017) 131:1541–58. doi: 10.1042/CS20160487
- Triantaphyllopoulos K, Hussain F, Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Adcock I, et al. A model of chronic inflammation and pulmonary emphysema after multiple ozone exposures in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2011) 300:L691–L700. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00252.2010
- Pinart M, Hussain F, Shirali S, Li F, Zhu J, Clark AR, et al. Role of mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatase-1 in corticosteroid insensitivity of chronic oxidant lung injury. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2014) 744:108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.10.003
- Thomson EM, Pal S, Guenette J, Wade MG, Atlas E, Holloway AC, et al. Ozone inhalation provokes glucocorticoid-dependent and -independent effects on inflammatory and metabolic pathways. *Toxicol Sci.* (2016) 152:17– 28. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfw061
- Michaudel C, Fauconnier L, Jule Y, Ryffel B. Functional and morphological differences of the lung upon acute and chronic ozone exposure in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:10611. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28261-9
- Kumagai K, Lewandowski RP, Jackson-Humbles DN, Buglak N, Li N, White K, et al. Innate lymphoid cells mediate pulmonary eosinophilic inflammation, airway mucous cell metaplasia, and type 2 immunity in mice exposed to ozone. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2017) 45:692–704. doi: 10.1177/0192623317728135
- Yang Q, Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Wang X, Kemeny DM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells mediate ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 137:571–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.037
- 84. Wicher SA, Lawson KL, Jacoby DB, Fryer AD, Drake MG. Ozoneinduced eosinophil recruitment to airways is altered by antigen sensitization

and tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade. Physiol Rep. (2017) 5:e13538. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13538

- Snow SJ, Gordon CJ, Bass VL, Schladweiler MC, Ledbetter AD, Jarema KA, et al. Age-related differences in pulmonary effects of acute and subchronic episodic ozone exposures in Brown Norway rats. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2016) 28:313–23. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2016.1170910
- Murphy SR, Oslund KL, Hyde DM, Miller LA, Van Winkle LS, Schelegle ES. Ozone-induced airway epithelial cell death, the neurokinin-1 receptor pathway, and the postnatal developing lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2014) 307:L471–81. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00324.2013
- Bao A, Liang L, Li F, Zhang M, Zhou X. Effects of acute ozone exposure on lung peak allergic inflammation of mice. *Front Biosci.* (2013) 18:838–51.
- Farraj AK, Boykin E, Ledbetter A, Andrews D, Gavett SH. Increased lung resistance after diesel particulate and ozone co-exposure not associated with enhanced lung inflammation in allergic mice. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2010) 22:33–41. doi: 10.3109/08958370902862434
- Francis M, Sun R, Cervelli JA, Choi H, Mandal M, Abramova EV, et al. Editor's highlight: role of spleen-derived macrophages in ozoneinduced lung inflammation and injury. *Toxicol Sci.* (2017) 155:182–95. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfw192
- Hollingsworth JW, Kleeberger SR, Foster WM. Ozone and pulmonary innate immunity. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* (2007) 4:240–6. doi: 10.1513/pats.200701-023AW
- Bauer AK, Travis EL, Malhotra SS, Rondini EA, Walker C, Cho HY, et al. Identification of novel susceptibility genes in ozone-induced inflammation in mice. *Eur Respir J.* (2010) 36:428–37. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00145309
- Francis M, Groves AM, Sun R, Cervelli JA, Choi H, Laskin JD, et al. Editor's highlight: CCR2 regulates inflammatory cell accumulation in the lung and tissue injury following ozone exposure. *Toxicol Sci.* (2017) 155:474–84. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfw226
- Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Ribeiro L, Wurmbrand AP, Ninin FM, Shore SA. gammadelta T cells are required for M2 macrophage polarization and resolution of ozone-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0131236. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131236
- Sunil VR, Francis M, Vayas KN, Cervelli JA, Choi H, Laskin JD, et al. Regulation of ozone-induced lung inflammation and injury by the beta-galactoside-binding lectin galectin-3. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2015) 284:236–45. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2015.02.002
- Tighe RM, Li Z, Potts EN, Frush S, Liu N, Gunn MD, et al. Ozone inhalation promotes CX3CR1-dependent maturation of resident lung macrophages that limit oxidative stress and inflammation. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:4800–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101312
- Li Z, Tighe RM, Feng F, Ledford JG, Hollingsworth JW. Genes of innate immunity and the biological response to inhaled ozone. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. (2013) 27:3–16. doi: 10.1002/jbt.21453
- Wiegman CH, Li F, Clarke CJ, Jazrawi E, Kirkham P, Barnes PJ, et al. A comprehensive analysis of oxidative stress in the ozoneinduced lung inflammation mouse model. *Clin Sci.* (2014) 126:425–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20130039
- Hanzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: gene set variation analysis for microarray and RNA-seq data. BMC Bioinform. (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7
- 99. Pavlidis S, Monast C, Loza MJ, Branigan P, Chung KF, Adcock IM, et al. I_MDS: an inflammatory bowel disease molecular activity score to classify patients with differing disease-driving pathways and therapeutic response to anti-TNF treatment. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2019) 15:e1006951. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006951
- 100. Bao W, Zhang Y, Zhang M, Bao A, Fei X, Zhang X, et al. Effects of ozone repeated short exposures on the airway/lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness and mucus production in a mouse model of ovalbumin-induced asthma. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2018) 101:293–303. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.02.079
- 101. Ward WO, Ledbetter AD, Schladweiler MC, Kodavanti UP. Lung transcriptional profiling: insights into the mechanisms of ozone-induced pulmonary injury in Wistar Kyoto rats. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2015) 27:80–92. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2014.954172
- 102. Sunil VR, Patel-Vayas K, Shen J, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Classical and alternative macrophage activation in the

lung following ozone-induced oxidative stress. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2012) 263:195–202. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2012. 06.009

- 103. Kim BG, Lee PH, Lee SH, Park CS, Jang AS. Impact of ozone on claudins and tight junctions in the lungs. *Environ Toxicol.* (2018) 33:798–806. doi: 10.1002/tox.22566
- 104. Rumsey WL, Bolognese B, Davis AB, Flamberg PL, Foley JP, Katchur SR, et al. Effects of airborne toxicants on pulmonary function and mitochondrial DNA damage in rodent lungs. *Mutagenesis*. (2017) 32:343–53. doi: 10.1093/mutage/gew063
- 105. Zhong J, Allen K, Rao X, Ying Z, Braunstein Z, Kankanala SR, et al. Repeated ozone exposure exacerbates insulin resistance and activates innate immune response in genetically susceptible mice. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2016) 28:383–92. doi: 10.1080/08958378.2016.1179373
- 106. Mirowsky JE, Dailey LA, Devlin RB. Differential expression of proinflammatory and oxidative stress mediators induced by nitrogen dioxide and ozone in primary human bronchial epithelial cells. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2016) 28:374–82. doi: 10.1080/08958378.2016.1185199
- 107. An J, Zhou Q, Qian G, Wang T, Wu M, Zhu T, et al. Comparison of gene expression profiles induced by fresh or ozone-oxidized black carbon particles in A549 cells. *Chemosphere*. (2017) 180:212–20. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.04.001
- Bauer RN, Muller L, Brighton LE, Duncan KE, Jaspers I. Interaction with epithelial cells modifies airway macrophage response to ozone. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 52:285–94. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2014-0035OC
- 109. Clay CC, Maniar-Hew K, Gerriets JE, Wang TT, Postlethwait EM, Evans MJ, et al. Early life ozone exposure results in dysregulated innate immune function and altered microRNA expression in airway epithelium. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e90401. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090401
- 110. Chu H, Hao W, Cheng Z, Huang Y, Wang S, Shang J, et al. Black carbon particles and ozone-oxidized black carbon particles induced lung damage in mice through an interleukin-33 dependent pathway. *Sci Total Environ*. (2018) 644:217–28. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.329
- 111. Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Akdis CA, Sokolowska M, et al. Ozone exposure induces respiratory barrier biphasic injury and inflammation controlled by IL-33. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 142:942– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.044
- 112. Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Wurmbrand AP, Ribeiro L, et al. IL-33 drives augmented responses to ozone in obese mice. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2017) 125:246–53. doi: 10.1289/EHP272

- 113. Zhang M, Fei X, Zhang GQ, Zhang PY, Li F, Bao WP, et al. Role of neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody on chronic ozone-induced airway inflammation in mice. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2016) 83:247–56. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2016.06.041
- 114. Che L, Jin Y, Zhang C, Lai T, Zhou H, Xia L, et al. Ozone-induced IL-17A and neutrophilic airway inflammation is orchestrated by the caspase-1-IL-1 cascade. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:18680. doi: 10.1038/srep18680
- 115. Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Hussain F, Zhu J, Wiegman C, et al. IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e58452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 058452
- 116. Aleman MM, Kesic MJ, Mills KH, Peden DB, Hernandez ML. The IL-1 axis is associated with airway inflammation after O3 exposure in allergic asthmatic patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2015) 136:1099–101.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.03.035
- 117. Michaudel C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Quesniaux V, Chung KF, Wiegman C, et al. Interleukin-1alpha mediates ozone-induced myeloid differentiation factor-88-dependent epithelial tissue injury and inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:916. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.201 8.00916
- Michaudel C, Couturier-Maillard A, Chenuet P, Maillet I, Mura C, Couillin I, et al. Inflammasome, IL-1 and inflammation in ozone-induced lung injury. *Am J Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 5:33–40.
- 119. Wang Z, Zhang A, Meng W, Wang T, Li D, Liu Z, et al. Ozone protects the rat lung from ischemia-reperfusion injury by attenuating NLRP3mediated inflammation, enhancing Nrf2 antioxidant activity and inhibiting apoptosis. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2018) 835:82–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018. 07.059

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mumby, Chung and Adcock. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ozone Inhalation Attenuated the Effects of Budesonide on *Aspergillus fumigatus*-Induced Airway Inflammation and Hyperreactivity in Mice

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kian Fan Chung, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Debra Laskin, Rutgers Biomedical and Health Sciences, United States Pankaj Kumar Bhavsar, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Angela Haczku haczku@ucdavis.edu Zhilong Jiang jiang.zhilong@zs-hospital.sh.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 04 January 2019 Accepted: 28 August 2019 Published: 13 September 2019

Citation:

Flayer CH, Ge MQ, Hwang JW, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Jiang Z and Haczku A (2019) Ozone Inhalation Attenuated the Effects of Budesonide on Aspergillus fumigatus-Induced Airway Inflammation and Hyperreactivity in Mice. Front. Immunol. 10:2173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02173 Cameron H. Flayer^{1†}, Moyar Q. Ge^{1,2†}, Jin W. Hwang², Blerina Kokalari², Imre G. Redai², Zhilong Jiang^{1,2,3*} and Angela Haczku^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ² Department of Internal Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ³ Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Inhaled glucocorticoids form the mainstay of asthma treatment because of their anti-inflammatory effects in the lung. Exposure to the air pollutant ozone (O₃) exacerbates chronic airways disease. We and others showed that presence of the epithelial-derived surfactant protein-D (SP-D) is important in immunoprotection against inflammatory changes including those induced by O₃ inhalation in the airways. SP-D synthesis requires glucocorticoids. We hypothesized here that O₃ exposure impairs glucocorticoid responsiveness (including SP-D production) in allergic airway inflammation. The effects of O₃ inhalation and glucocorticoid treatment were studied in a mouse model of allergic asthma induced by sensitization and challenge with Aspergillus fumigatus (Af) in vivo. The role of O₃ and glucocorticoids in regulation of SP-D expression was investigated in A549 and primary human type II alveolar epithelial cells in vitro. Budesonide inhibited airway hyperreactivity, eosinophil counts in the lung and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and CCL11, IL-13, and IL-23p19 release in the BAL of mice sensitized and challenged with Af (p < 0.05). The inhibitory effects of budesonide were attenuated on inflammatory changes and were completely abolished on airway hyperreactivity after O₃ exposure of mice sensitized and challenged with Af. O₃ stimulated release of pro-neutrophilic mediators including CCL20 and IL-6 into the airways and impaired the inhibitory effects of budesonide on CCL11, IL-13 and IL-23. O₃ also prevented budesonide-induced release of the immunoprotective lung collectin SP-D into the airways of allergen-challenged mice. O_3 had a bi-phasic direct effect with early (<12 h) inhibition and late (>48 h) activation of SP-D mRNA (sftpd) in vitro. Dexamethasone and budesonide induced sftpd transcription and translation in human type II alveolar epithelial cells in a glucocorticoid receptor and STAT3 (an IL-6 responsive transcription factor) dependent manner. Our study indicates that O3 exposure counteracts the effects of budesonide on airway

inflammation, airway hyperreactivity, and SP-D production. We speculate that impairment of SP-D expression may contribute to the acute O_3 -induced airway inflammation. Asthmatics exposed to high ambient O_3 levels may become less responsive to glucocorticoid treatment during acute exacerbations.

Keywords: asthma, allergy, ozone, budesonide, surfactant protein-D

INTRODUCTION

In the era of novel biologicals being introduced into the clinic, glucocorticoids remain the main choice of asthma treatment due to their significant anti-inflammatory, immunosuppressive, and immunomodulatory effects (1, 2). A subset of patients however is refractory to glucocorticoids (3-7), making their asthma difficult to control (7). Glucocorticoid insensitivity can be a primary genetic trait but more commonly it is acquired during acute inflammatory exacerbations of airway disease (2, 4-6, 8). Epidemiologic studies indicate a causal link between air pollution and worldwide increases in asthma prevalence and severity. Inhalation of O₃, an ubiquitous, oxidizing, and toxic air pollutant induces acute exacerbations with proinflammatory mediator release, neutrophilic granulocyte influx and obstruction of airways (9-15) and substantially worsens asthma morbidity and mortality (16, 17). Data obtained from studies on mice (18), dogs (19) rhesus macaques (20), healthy volunteers (21), and asthma patients (22, 23) have been controversial on whether glucocorticoids are effective to inhibit O3-induced exacerbation of airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity in asthma. Further, the mechanisms of increased susceptibility of the asthmatic airways to O3 and how glucocorticoid action is affected by inhalation of this air pollutant remain unclear.

Individual susceptibility suggests that genetic predisposition is involved in O₃ responsiveness (24). This is corroborated by strain dependence of the inflammatory response to O3 observed in mice (14, 15, 25). In addition, increasing evidence supports that a failure of protective immune mechanisms also likely plays an important role in shaping the O3 effects in the lung. Surfactant protein-D (SP-D), an epithelial cell product of the airways is a critical factor in the maintenance of pulmonary immune homeostasis. We have originally raised the importance of changes in SP-D expression in resolving allergen and O₃-induced airway inflammation (26) by demonstrating that a differential ability of Balb/c and C57BL/6 mice to respond to allergen (27) or O₃ (28), was inversely associated with the amount of SP-D recovered from the airways of these mouse strains (28, 29). Accordingly, genetically low SP-D producer or SP-D deficient mice were highly susceptible to and had a prolonged recovery period from airway inflammation after allergen or O₃ exposure (28, 30, 31). O₃-inhalation induced exacerbation of Th2-type airway inflammation in allergen challenged mice was also associated with the appearance of abnormal oligomeric molecular forms of SP-D indicating that oxidative damage can cause conformational change with a potential loss of its immunoprotective function (32, 33).

While our lab and others showed that glucocorticoids are necessary for expression of SP-D in epithelial cells (34–37), we also demonstrated a feedback regulation between SP-D and the Th2 cytokines IL-4/IL-13 (30) as well as IL-6 (28), respectively. Interestingly, we found no glucocorticoid response elements in the proximal promoter region of the SP-D gene (*sftpd*) however, this region contains an evolutionarily conserved STAT3/6 response element in a prominent proximal location. Pertinent to this, IL-4/IL-13 (activators of STAT6) as well as IL-6 (activator of STAT3) directly upregulated SP-D synthesis in airway epithelial cells *in vitro* and in mice *in vivo* (28, 30). Lastly, there are indications that STAT3 can be directly phosphorylated by H₂O₂ (the molecular product of O₃ when mixed in water) treatment of airway epithelial cells *in vitro* (38).

We hypothesized that exposure to O₃ interferes with the effects of glucocorticoids on *Af*-induced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity and, that O₃ and glucocorticoid treatment have antagonistic effects on SP-D expression and function in the lung. To study these hypotheses we utilized our *in vivo* mouse model of combined $Af + O_3$ exposure and *in vitro* human airway epithelial cell cultures.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In vivo Studies

Balb/c mice were obtained from the Jackson laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) and bred in-house. All experiments were performed on 8–10 weeks old mice. Experiments where mice were sensitized and challenged with Af and exposed to air or O₃ were carried out as previously described (30, 39, 40). In brief, mice were sensitized with 20 µg Af and alum by intraperitoneal injection (i.p.) on days 0 and 7, then challenged with 25 µg Af by intranasal (i.n.) instillation on day 13. In **Figure 1**, mice were treated with vehicle (Dimethyl sulfoxide, DMSO) or budesonide (0.25 or 2.5 mg/kg) i.n. at the time of Af challenge. 48 h post challenge, lung function (enhanced pause, Penh) was measured using the Buxco[®] system.

In **Figures 2–5**, mice followed the Af sensitization and challenge protocol as described, however 84 h post challenge/budesonide they were exposed to 3 ppm O₃ or air for 2 h. Animals were studied 96 h post Af challenge (12 h post O₃). These time points were selected to mimic O₃-induced exacerbation of allergic changes, because by 96 h post Af

Abbreviations: O₃, Ozone; SP-D, Surfactant protein-D; sftpd, Surfactant protein-D gene; Af, *Aspergillus fumigatus*; BAL, Bronchoalveolar lavage; AHR, Airway hyperreactivity; Human primary type II airway epithelial (hAECII) cells; Cu I, Curcurbitacin I; CCL-, C-C motif chemokine; IL-, Interleukin-; CXCL-, Chemokine (CXC motif) ligand; STAT3, Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; qPCR, Quantitative, real-time polymerase chain reaction; ELISA, Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assay; DMSO, Dimethyl sulfoxide; R, Lung Resistance; G, Tissue Damping; i. n., Intranasal; i.p., Intraperitoneal.



system. Baseline measurements represent data collected over a 10 min period (left panel). Methacholine dose response was established to increasing concentrations of nebulized methacholine. Mean \pm SEM of n = 4-18 (left panel). Durett's multiple comparison; right panel: Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison).

challenge airway inflammation subsides while O3 exposure induced inflammation peaks 12 h post exposure (Figures 2A,B) (33, 40). That a 3 ppm inhaled dose in rodents results in O₃ concentration in the lungs relevant to human exposure levels has been experimentally validated by others, using oxygen-18-labeled O_3 (¹⁸ O_3). Hatch et al. showed that exposure to ¹⁸ O_3 (0.4 ppm for 2 h) caused 4–5-fold higher ¹⁸O₃ concentrations in humans than in rats, in all of the BAL constituents measured (41). Rats exposed to 2.0 ppm, had still less ¹⁸O₃ in BAL than humans exposed to 0.4 ppm. The species discrepancies between the recoverable O_3 levels in the lung are not entirely clear. It is thought however that as rodents are obligate nose breathers (while humans breathe through their nose and mouth), this reduces the delivered dose of O₃ to the lungs of rodents. Further, Slade et al. found that after exposure to O₃, mice react by a rapid decrease of core temperature, a species and strain specific characteristics (42). The recoverable ¹⁸O₃ in the lung tissue was negatively associated with the extent of hypothermia that significantly altered O₂ consumption and pulmonary ventilation, explaining at least partly, the interspecies differences seen in O₃ susceptibility. In addition, in pilot studies we also performed a careful assessment of the biological effects on a range of 0.5–6.0 ppm O₃ exposure. Doses lower than 3 ppm did not elicit a significant inflammatory response that would be commensurate with what is seen in humans, in regards to BAL or peripheral blood neutrophilia, upon O₃ inhalation for 2 h. Higher than 3 ppm doses caused observable respiratory distress especially in Balb/c mice. The O₃ dose we used here therefore represents a level of exposure that is well-tolerated by both Balb/c and C56BL/6 mice and that causes a significant airway inflammatory response.

Lung function was measured using the Flexivent[®] system (Scireq, Montreal, Canada) in response to increasing


were exposed to air or 3 ppm O₃ for 2 h and studied at the indicated time points for airway inflammation. 12 h after O₃ exposure, lung function to methacholine was measured (Flexivent[®]) prior to BAL. (**B**) BAL neutrophils and eosinophils were quantified by differential cell counts on cytospin preparations multiplied by the total cell counts recovered from the BAL (Countess[®]). (**C**) O₃ exposed mice and air exposed controls were studied for methacholine responsiveness 12 h later. Mean \pm SEM of n = 6 * p < 0.01 Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test (air vs. O₃ exposure). (**D**) Balb/c mice were sensitized to 20 µg *Aspergillus fumigatus* (*Af*), with alum (*i*,*p*.) on days 0 and 7. On day 13, mice were challenged with 25 µg *Af* (*i*,*n*). 82 h post-*Af* challenge, mice were exposed to air or 3 ppm O₃ for 2 h, then 12 h later (96 h post-*Af* challenge), lung function was measured (Flexivent[®]) and BAL was harvested. (**E**) BAL neutrophils (live Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺ cells) and eosinophils (live CD11c⁻Siglec-F⁺ cells) were quantitated by FACS analysis. The absolute numbers of eosinophils and neutrophils were calculated by multiplying the percentage of cells determined by flow cytometric gating with the total numbers of cells/lung (Countess[®]). Mean \pm SEM of n = 6; **p < 0.01 Student's *t*-test (air vs. O₃). (**F**) Lung function (airway resistance, Raw) was measured as indicated. Mean \pm SEM of n = 6; ***p < 0.001 Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test (air vs. O₃ exposure).

concentrations of inhaled methacholine. BAL and lung cells were harvested to study inflammatory cells by flow cytometry. Following collection of BAL, 10 mL ice-cold PBS was injected into the right ventricle to perfuse the lung. The lung lobes were then carefully removed and snipped into small pieces before undergoing digestion with Liberase TL (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA) for 40 min at 37°C on a shaker. Digested whole lung homogenate was filtered through a 70 µm cell strainer to create a single cell suspension for flow cytometric analysis. In cell-free BAL supernatant, a custom mouse magnetic Luminex assay was utilized to study cytokines and chemokines while SP-D was measured by western blot, native gel electrophoresis (structure) or sandwich ELISA (quantity). All mouse procedures were reviewed and approved by the University of California, Davis, and University of Pennsylvania Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees.

Flow Cytometry

BAL and lung cells were harvested and single cell suspensions were prepared as previously described for analysis by flow cytometry (40). Fluorescently-conjugated monoclonal antibodies were purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA), BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA), or eBioscience (San Diego, CA). Single cell suspensions were incubated with antibodies targeting surface markers for 20 min at 4 degrees C in the dark. In the BAL samples, the following antibodies were used: APC-Cy7-CD11c, PE-Siglec F, PE-Cy7-CD11b, PerCP-Cy5.5-Ly6G. In the lung digest suspensions, neutrophils, and eosinophils were identified using APC-Cy7-CD11c, PE-Siglec F, and PerCP-Cy5.5-Ly6G. Live/dead Aqua was used in the panels throughout the study to exclude dead cells. Flow cytometry was performed on a Fortessa (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Ashland, OR).



FIGURE 3 [The inhibitory effects of budesonide on *Af*-induced airway inflammation were attenuated and on airway hyperreactivity were completely abolished by O_3 exposure in sensitized and challenged mice. (**A**) Balb/c mice were sensitized to 20 μ g *Aspergillus fumigatus* (*Af*), with alum (*i*,*p*.) on days 0 and 7. On day 13, mice were challenged with 25 μ g *Af* (*i*.*n*.) and administered 2.5 mg/kg budesonide or vehicle (DMSO). 82 h post-*Af* challenge, mice were exposed to air or 3 ppm O_3 for 2 h, then 12 h later (96 h post-*Af* challenge), lung function was measured (Flexivent[®]), and BAL and lungs were harvested. (**B**) Representative gating of BAL and lung neutrophils (live Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺ cells) and eosinophils (live CD11c⁻Siglec-F⁺ cells). (**C**) The absolute numbers of eosinophils and neutrophils were calculated by multiplying the percentage of cells determined by flow cytometric gating with the total numbers of cells/lung or BAL (Countess[®]). Mean ± SEM of *n* = 6; #*p* < 0.05 Student's *t*-test (vehicle vs. budesonide). (**D**) Lung resistance and tissue damping results were calculated as % change from baseline. The difference between the vehicle and budesonide treatment is depicted (by subtracting the individual % change from baseline values from the vehicle treatment average at each methacholine concentration). Mean ± SEM of *n* = 6-14; ***p < 0.001 (*Af*+Air+Bud vs. *Af*+O₃+Bud) Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test.





was assessed for total protein by BCA assay. **(B)** BAL SP-D was measured by ELISA. **(C)** Native-PAGE western blot was used to study SP-D structure. Native (intact) SP-D is the band that due to its molecular size remain on the top of the gel. Due to the variability of migratory capabilities of the de-oligomerized SP-D components, these appear as a "smear" throughout the gel. **(D)** SP-D optical density by Image J analysis; ratio over the mean value of "air+vehicle" control group data. Mean \pm SEM or n = 5-6; "p < 0.05 air vs. O_3 , "p < 0.05 vehicle vs. budesonide, Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test.



Luminex Assay

Cytokines and chemokines were assayed in the BAL via a custom Magnetic Mouse Luminex Assay (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN). C-C motif chemokine 11 (CCL11), Interleukin-23p19 (IL-23p19), IL-13, IL-6, Chemokine (CXC motif) ligand 2 (CXCL2), and CCL20 were measured in the premixed kit. BAL fluid was first concentrated using a 2 mL, 3 k Amicon Ultra Centrifugal Filter (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA) spun at 3,000 g for 30 min. The kit was performed following the instructions from the manufacturer.

BAL SP-D Analysis

Total protein concentration was measured by the BCA Assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). BAL SP-D was assayed by sandwich ELISA using our in-house generated monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies as previously described (33). BAL SP-D was also measured by native gel electrophoresis (33) to assess the tertiary structure of SP-D, which is critical to maintain its anti-inflammatory functions (43, 44). Proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Goat anti-mouse SP-D (1:2,000, R&D



experiments.

Systems, Minneapolis, MN) was the primary antibody while donkey anti-goat antibody coupled to horseradish peroxidase (1:10,000 GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Marlborough, MA) was the secondary antibody. SP-D signal was detected using the ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) on film (ECL Hyperfilm, GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Marlborough, MA). Image J (National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD) analysis was used to determine the optical density of SP-D bands.

In vitro Studies

Human primary type II airway epithelial (hAECII) cells were acquired from normal human lung tissues from NDRI (National Disease Research Interchange). A549 cells were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, Virginia). Dexamethasone, budesonide, curcurbitacin I (Cu I), and RU486 was purchased from Millipore Sigma (Burlington, MA). A549 cells are a human type II alveolar epithelial cell line used by our laboratory and others (45–47) to model functions including expression of mRNA for SP-D. We used these readily available cells to establish conditions of SP-D mRNA expression upon treatment with ozone and budesonide (**Figure 6**). The budesonide effects were then recapitulated in

primary hAECII cells (Figure 7). A549 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Primary hAECII cells were cultured in DMEM-H21 plus F-12 Ham's (1:1) supplied with 5% fetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine. D-valine (Invitrogen) prevented growth of fibroblasts. hAECII cells were treated with budesonide/dexamethasone for 2 h, with or without RU486 and Cu I added to the culture. A549 cells were treated with budesonide and exposed to air or O₃ (300 ppb) for 2 h, which was generated as previously described (31). DMSO was used as the vehicle control in the in vitro studies. At the time points indicated in the figure, cells were harvested for analysis of sftpd mRNA (qPCR) or SP-D protein (western blot). Cells were harvested in TRIzol reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) for mRNA analysis by qPCR or RIPA buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) for protein analysis by western blot.

For the western blots, total intracellular protein was measured by the BCA assay, then 20 μ g protein was loaded for each lane. The primary antibody was goat anti-SP-D (1:500). The secondary antibody was HRP anti-goat IgG (1:1,000). For control antibodies, the primary was rabbit anti-GAPDH (1:1,000) and

the secondary was HRP anti-rabbit (1:5,000). All antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX). Image J (National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD) analysis was used to determine the optical density of SP-D bands. For the qPCR, RNA was extracted from the TRIzol by chloroform layering and isopropanol precipitation, then reverse transcribed into cDNA via the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). qPCR was performed on the recovered cDNA using SYBR green reagents (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) on a ViiA 7 Real-Time PCR system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Fold change was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, first normalizing values to GAPDH. Human SP-D primer with sequence of 5'-ACACAGGCTGGTGGACAG-3' (sense); 5'-TGTTGCAAGGCGGCATT-3' (anti-sense) were used to produce 61 bp products.

Statistical Analysis

All statistics were performed using Prism v7 software (GraphPad Inc., La Jolla, CA). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and are representative of at least 2 independent experiments. A Student's *t*-test was used to compare vehicle vs. budesonide or air vs. O₃. A One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test was used in the budesonide dose response experiment (**Figure 1**). A Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison's test was used when comparing all experimental groups. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Budesonide Inhibited Airway Hyperreactivity Induced by *Af* Sensitization and Challenge in Balb/c Mice in a Dose-Dependent Manner

Inhaled glucocorticoids improve lung function and airway inflammation in allergic asthma (1, 48, 49) but their effectiveness in acute asthma exacerbations are subject of on-going investigations (49-51). We developed a model in which mice were sensitized (i.p.) and challenged with Af at the time of budesonide administration (i.n.) (Figure 1A). To establish the dose-dependent effects of budesonide on methacholine responsiveness we used Penh (enhanced pause), a non-invasive measure of airway obstruction, because it enabled us to obtain data from multiple individual animals simultaneously and complete a study using a large number of mice. These results showed that sensitization and challenge to Af significantly increased baseline Penh and methacholine responsiveness and that budesonide significantly inhibited airway hyperreactivity to methacholine at 2.5 mg/kg dose (Figure 1B). For the subsequent experiments presented in this paper we used this budesonide dose and confirmed its inhibitory effects on allergic airway hyperreactivity by the invasive FlexiVent® system (Figures 2C,F, 3D). These data also provided the basis for the subsequent studies on the effects of O3 on allergic airway inflammation and glucocorticoid responsiveness.

O₃ Induced Airway Inflammation and Hyperreactivity and Enhanced Allergic Airway Changes in Mice Sensitized and Challenged With *Af*

To establish the time course of O_3 induced airway inflammation, Balb/c mice were exposed to air or 3 ppm O₃ for 2 h and studied at several time points afterwards (Figure 2A). Neutrophil influx into the airways peaked 12 h after O₃ exposure (Figure 2B). O3 exposed mice and air exposed controls were studied for methacholine responsiveness at the 12 h time point. O3 induced a significant increase in methacholine responsiveness compared with air exposed controls (p < 0.01) (Figure 2C). To investigate the effects of O₃ on allergic airway inflammation Balb/c mice were sensitized and challenged with Af. In this model the acute inflammatory changes resolve by 96 h after allergen challenge. We therefore studied the mice at this time point, but we also exposed them to either air or O_3 12 h before (Figure 2D). BAL neutrophils and eosinophils were quantitated by FACS analysis (the gating strategy is shown in Figure 3B). O₃ exposure clearly enhanced numbers of eosinophils and neutrophils in the airways of Af sensitized and challenged mice in comparison with air exposure (p < 0.01; Figure 2E). In addition, lung resistance to methacholine challenge was also significantly amplified in the O3 exposed animals (p < 0.001; Figure 2F). These results confirm our previous findings (39) and strongly indicate that O₃ induces airway hyperreactivity on its own and that it enhances airway changes in allergen sensitized and challenged animals.

The Inhibitory Effects of Budesonide on *Af*-Induced Airway Inflammation Were Attenuated, and on Airway Hyperreactivity Were Completely Abolished by O₃ Exposure in Sensitized and Challenged Mice

Experiments in dogs (19) our previous studies in healthy volunteers (52) and investigations in mild asthmatics (53) showed that glucocorticoid treatment inhibited O_3 -induced inflammation in the airways. However, how would O_3 alter the inhibitory effects of budesonide on allergic airway inflammation and hyperreactivity has not been documented.

To study the hypothesis that O_3 impairs the antiinflammatory effects of budesonide, Balb/c mice were sensitized and challenged with Af as described, and were intranasally treated with 2.5 mg/kg budesonide or vehicle. 82 h post-Af challenge mice were exposed to air or 3 ppm O_3 for 2 h, then 12 h later (96 h post-Af challenge), lung function was measured (Flexivent[®]), and BAL and lungs were harvested (**Figure 3A**). BAL eosinophils (live Siglec-F⁺CD11c⁻ cells) and neutrophils (live Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺ cells) and lung eosinophils (live CD45⁺CD11c⁻Siglec-F⁺) and neutrophils (live CD45⁺CD11c⁻Ly6G⁺) were analyzed by FACS from single cell suspensions as shown in **Figure 3B**. Budesonide significantly suppressed eosinophil (not neutrophil) numbers both in the BAL and the lung in air exposed but not in O₃ exposed mice (**Figure 3C**). Strikingly, inhibition of lung resistance (upper panel) and tissue damping (lower panel) by budesonide seen in air exposed mice (gray plain squares) was completely abolished in O₃-exposed mice (gray hatched squares, p < 0.001, **Figure 3D**). These data indicated that the inhibitory effects of budesonide on *Af*-induced airway inflammation were attenuated and on airway hyperreactivity were completely abolished by O₃ exposure in sensitized and challenged mice.

O₃ Upregulated BAL IL-6, CXCL2 and CCL20 in a Budesonide-Resistant Manner and Reversed the Inhibitory Effects of Budesonide on CCL11, IL-13, and IL-23 Expression in Mice Sensitized and Challenged With *Af*

Since O3 mitigated the inhibitory effect of budesonide on airway eosinophilia and airway hyperreactivity, we wanted to investigate the underlying mediator profile. We measured BAL CCL11 (eotaxin, an eosinophil chemoattractant), IL-23p19, IL-6, CXCL2 (pro-neutrophilic mediators), CCL20 (a lymphocyte chemoattractant), and IL-13 (known to prime smooth muscle cells for airway hyperreactivity). O3 strongly induced BAL IL-6, CXCL2, and CCL20 in a budesonide-independent manner (Figure 4). Meanwhile, budesonide significantly reduced BAL CCL11 showed a trend for reduction of IL-13 (p = 0.07) and IL-23p19 (p = 0.05) in the BAL of air exposed, but not O₃ exposed mice (Figure 4, lower panels). These data suggested that O3 induced pro-neutrophilic factors regardless of budesonide treatment, and that the suppressive effects of budesonide on eosinophilia and airway hyperreactivity-inducing factors was attenuated by O3.

O₃ Caused SP-D De-oligomerization and Inhibited Budesonide-Induced SP-D Expression in the BAL

We and others previously showed that SP-D plays an important role in suppressing proinflammatory mediator release in allergen or O₃-induced airway inflammation (28–30, 54) and that production of SP-D required the presence of glucocorticoids in airway epithelium (34–37). Further, we found that O₃-induced airway inflammation in allergen challenged mice resulted in abnormal oligomeric molecular forms of SP-D indicating that oxidative damage can cause conformational changes with a potential inactivation of SP-D's immunoprotective function (28, 32, 33). Here we wanted to investigate how the combination of allergen with O₃ exposure would alter the glucocorticoid effects on SP-D expression.

Assessment of total BAL protein levels showed that those were returned to normal 96 h after Af challenge, indicating inflammatory resolution in air exposed mice. In O₃ exposed mice however, BAL protein levels were significantly elevated indicating acute inflammation that was not prevented by budesonide treatment (**Figure 5A**). As expected on the basis of previous investigations (34–37) budesonide significantly increased BAL SP-D in air exposed mice. Importantly, this budesonide effect on SP-D expression was lost in O₃ exposed mice (**Figure 5B**).

By native gel electrophoresis, structurally intact SP-D was found at the top of the gel and did not separate from the well, while de-oligomerized SP-D was resolved as a smear (**Figure 5C**). Native SP-D density was not statistically different between the groups studied (**Figure 5C**). O₃ caused de-oligomerization of SP-D in the BAL of mice sensitized and challenged with *Af*. This change was prevented by budesonide treatment (gray hatched bar, **Figure 5D**). Our data suggested that budesonide induction of SP-D is inhibited by O₃. We speculate that in budesonide treated mice SP-D was indirectly protected from de-oligomerization possibly as a result of inhibition of eosinophils (the main source of iNOS and nitric oxide) in the lungs of mice (**Figure 3C**).

Time Dependent Effects of O₃ on Budesonide-Induced *sftpd* mRNA in A549 Cells *in vitro*

We previously showed that IL-6 directly induced SP-D in type II alveolar epithelial cell cultures (28). This is interesting in light of O₃ while strongly inducing IL-6 (Figure 4), did not increase SP-D 12h after exposure, but in fact it prevented the stimulatory effects of budesonide on SP-D release in the airways of mice (Figures 5A,B). To better understand the mechanisms of how budesonide and O₃ regulate SP-D expression we used A549 cells, a readily available human type II alveolar epithelial cell line that models functions such as expression of the SP-D gene (sftpd, Figure 6A). To confirm our findings, the budesonide effects were then recapitulated in primary human type II alveolar epithelial cells (hAECII, Figure 7). O3 exposure of A549 cells inhibited sftpd expression 1.5 h later, but by 48 h post exposure this effect was reversed into an induction of the sftpd gene (Figure 6B). Budesonide induced sftpd mRNA in A549 cells exposed to air. O3 completely prevented the budesonide induction of the *sftpd* gene 1.5 h later. However, by 48 h O₃ and budesonide synergistically increased *sftpd* mRNA (Figure 6C). These results are in line with our previous in vivo study on Balb/c mice (28) and suggest that O3 acts on sftpd transcription in a bi-phasic manner with an early phase inhibition (<12 h) and a late phase activation >48 h. Based on these and our previous findings on IL-6 we speculated that budesonide and O₃ may interact on a common signaling pathway involved in SP-D transcription in airway epithelial cells.

Glucocorticoid Receptor-Induced *sftpd* mRNA Transcription Is Facilitated by STAT3/6 Binding

The proximal promoter region of the human SP-D gene (*sftpd*) has binding elements for C/EBP, NFAT, AP1, HNF-3, and STAT3/6 that all contribute to transcription of SP-D (**Figure 7A**) (55). Dexamethasone induced lung SP-D in mice at the level of transcription in the absence of a full glucocorticoid response element in the proximal promoter region of *sftpd*. Zhang and colleagues previously reported that STAT3 can act as a coactivator in glucocorticoid receptor signaling (56). To test if the glucocorticoid receptor works in concert with the STAT3/6 binding element to induce SP-D we studied primary hAECII cells using a specific inhibitor of STAT3 (cucurbitacin Cu I) (57) and the glucocorticoid receptor (RU486). We treated

human primary type II alveolar epithelial (hAECII) cells with budesonide and dexamethasone in vitro and studied SP-D mRNA (qPCR for sftpd) and protein (western blot for SP-D) expression (Figure 7B). We used dexamethasone in the in vitro experiments as a positive control because it is a wellcharacterized glucocorticoid that induces SP-D (35). Indeed, dexamethasone induced sftpd expression in human primary type II aleveolar epithelial cells that was abolished in the presence of Cu I or RU486 (Figure 7C). Similarly, Cu I and RU486 inhibited dexamethasone and budesonide-induced SP-D protein in hAECII cells (Figures 7D-F). Optical density analysis by Image J analysis confirmed that antagonism of the glucocorticoid receptor or STAT3 impaired dexamethasoneinduced SP-D (Figures 7D,E) and that budesonide induced SP-D in a glucocorticoid receptor dependent manner (Figure 7F). These data suggested that glucocorticoid-induced SP-D synthesis was dependent on glucocorticoid receptor and STAT3 activation.

DISCUSSION

We report here the effects of O_3 on intranasal budesonide treatment in allergic airway inflammation and hyperreactivity, implicate the alterations in SP-D expression in the O_3 -induced airway changes and propose the involvement of STAT3 in glucocorticoid signaling during *sftpd* transcription. Our study raises the significance of air pollution in the regulation of respiratory immunity and treatment responsiveness in asthma.

Inhaled glucocorticoids are currently the main choice for asthma treatment because they can profoundly improve lung function, alleviate airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity (1, 48, 49) but their effectiveness in acute asthma exacerbations is subject of on-going debate (49-51, 58-60). Studies on asthma exacerbations caused by exposure to air pollutants are limited (61, 62) and the available experimental data on animals (18-20) and humans (21-23) are unclear on whether inhaled corticosteroids are effective to treat O3induced airway inflammation and/or airway hyperreactivity in asthma. We wanted therefore to further investigate the effects of budesonide on O3-induced exacerbation of allergic airway changes. We found that in the Af sensitization and challenge model airway hyperreactivity to methacholine was inhibited by budesonide at 2.5 mg/kg dose. To mimic asthma exacerbation, we sensitized and challenged Balb/c mice with Af, waited for 4 days for the acute inflammation to subside and then exposed the mice to O₃. Our results show that O₃ exposure induced airway hyperreactivity on its own and significantly enhanced lung resistance to methacholine and the numbers of eosinophils and neutrophils in the airways of Af sensitized and challenged mice confirming previous findings (39). To study the hypothesis that O₃ impairs the anti-inflammatory effects of budesonide, mice were intranasally treated with 2.5 mg/kg budesonide or vehicle. Budesonide significantly suppressed eosinophil (not neutrophil) numbers both in the BAL and the lung in air exposed but not in O₃ exposed mice. Strikingly, inhibition of lung resistance by budesonide (seen in air exposed mice) was completely abolished by O₃ exposure.

In various experimental conditions budesonide was previously shown to inhibit mediators relevant to O3-induced airway changes such as IL-6 (63), CCL11 (64), CXCL2 mRNA in the lung (65) and IL-13-induced ex vivo airway hyperreactivity (66), while CCL20 was actually stimulated by budesonide in asthmatic airway epithelial cells (67) and there is no data in the literature on the effects of budesonide on IL-23p19. O3 upregulated BAL IL-6, CXCL2, and CCL20 in a budesonide-resistant manner and reversed the inhibitory effects of budesonide on CCL11, IL-13, and IL-23p19 expression in mice sensitized and challenged with Af. Induction of CCL20 by O3 is interesting because CCL20 was thought to be responsible for recruitment of neutrophils into the airways conveying budesonide resistance (67). The role of CCL20 in O3-induced resistance to the budesonide effects however would need further confirmation. The reduction seen in BAL CCL11 and IL-23p19 of the budesonide treated air exposed animals corresponded with decreased BAL eosinophil and neutrophil counts, while reduced IL-13 matched the observed inhibition of airway hyperreactivity in the same animals. Since O₃ exposure prevented these budesonide effects, it is possible that these mediators are directly involved in the immunologic and physiologic response to combined Af and O₃ exposure. On the other hand, O3 induced IL-6, CXCL2, and CCL20 was not altered by budesonide treatment and thus may be implicated in the observed neutrophilic inflammation caused by O3 under allergic conditions. Our results are significant because they reproduce a glucocorticoid resistant airway inflammation and the hallmark characteristics of severe neutrophilic asthma exacerbation (68, 69).

SP-D plays an important role in suppressing proinflammatory mediator release in allergen or O3-induced airway inflammation (29, 30, 54). Levels of SP-D expression in the lung are correlated to disease severity in asthma (70, 71). Therapeutics that boost SP-D expression are thought to improve asthma symptoms (70-72). Indeed production of SP-D requires the presence of glucocorticoids in airway epithelium (34-37). Our previous work showed that O₃ exposure induced the expression of SP-D in the BAL >48 h later, as a protective mechanism (28, 33, 39) but O₃induced airway inflammation in allergen challenged mice also led to appearance of abnormal oligomeric molecular forms of SP-D indicating that oxidative stress can cause conformational changes that can inactivate SP-D's immunoprotective function (28, 32, 33). Such de-oligomerization was due to S-nitrosylation of SH bonds responsible for holding the dodecameric SP-D together (43, 44, 73). S-nitrosylation of SP-D requires NO, resulted from increased iNOS activity produced by the large numbers of activated inflammatory cells, particularly eosinophils in the allergen and O₃-exposed lung (33, 43, 44, 73). Here we wanted to know if the combination of allergen with O3 exposure would alter the glucocorticoid effects on SP-D expression and whether budesonide treatment would affect O3-induced SP-D de-oligomerization. As expected on the basis of previous investigations (34-37, 72) budesonide significantly increased BAL SP-D in air exposed mice. Importantly, this budesonide effect on SP-D expression was lost in O3 exposed mice. O3 in addition caused de-oligomerization of SP-D in the BAL of mice sensitized and challenged with *Af*. This change was prevented by budesonide treatment. We speculate that in budesonide treated mice SP-D was indirectly protected from de-oligomerization possibly as a result of inhibition of eosinophils (the main source of iNOS and nitric oxide) in the lungs of mice. Taken together, our data suggested that budesonide induction of SP-D is inhibited by O_3 revealing a novel mechanism by which O_3 antagonizes the therapeutic benefits of this inhaled glucocorticoid. We propose that budesonide enhances SP-D expression thereby amplifying its local therapeutic effects in asthma.

We previously showed that IL-6 directly induced SP-D in type II alveolar epithelial cell cultures (28). This is interesting in the light that O3 while strongly inducing IL-6, did not increase SP-D 12h after exposure, but in fact it prevented the stimulatory effects of budesonide on SP-D release in the airways of mice. To better understand the mechanisms of how budesonide and O3 regulate SP-D expression we used A549 cells, a readily available human type II alveolar epithelial cell line that models functions such as expression of the SP-D gene (*sftpd*). To confirm our findings, the budesonide effects were then recapitulated in primary human type II alveolar epithelial cells. O3 exposure of A549 cells inhibited sftpd expression 1.5 h later, but by 48 h post exposure this effect was reversed into an induction of the sftpd gene. Budesonide induced sftpd mRNA in A549 cells exposed to air. O3 completely prevented the budesonide induction of the sftpd gene 1.5 h later. However, by 48 h O₃ and budesonide synergistically increased sftpd mRNA. These results are in line with our previous in vivo study on Balb/c mice (28) and suggest that O₃ acts on *sftpd* transcription in a bi-phasic manner with an early phase inhibition (<12 h) and a late phase activation >48 h. Based on these and our previous findings on IL-6 we speculated that budesonide and O₃ may interact on a common signaling pathway involved in SP-D transcription in airway epithelial cells.

Two groups independently established that glucocorticoids induced SP-D mRNA protein in vitro and in vivo (34, 35). These pioneering studies showed that hydrocortisone and dexamethasone stimulated both sftpd mRNA and SP-D protein in vitro and in vivo in the fetal rat lung. Since the proximal promoter region of the SP-D gene does not contain complete binding elements for the glucocorticoid receptor, it was hypothesized that glucocorticoids indirectly induced expression of the *sftpd* gene or work in concert with other binding elements. The proximal promoter region of the human SP-D gene has binding elements for C/EBP, NFAT, AP1, HNF-3, and STAT3/6 that all contribute to transcription of SP-D (55). Interestingly, Zhang et al. reported that STAT3 (an IL-6 responsive transcription factor) can act as a co-activator in glucocorticoid receptor signaling (56) and H₂O₂-treatment directly phosphorylated STAT3 in airway epithelial cells (38). We tested the role of STAT3 and the glucocorticoid receptor in SP-D mRNA (sftpd) and protein expression. Dexamethasone induced sftpd expression in human primary type II aleveolar epithelial cells was abolished by blockade of either the glucocorticoid receptor or STAT3. We established here that dexamethasone induced sftpd mRNA and SP-D protein via the glucocorticoid receptor and critically, STAT3. Recent evidence suggests that O3-induced glucocorticoid insensitivity involves p38 MAPK,

MKP-1, and IL-17A. Inhibition of p38 MAPK prevented the decreased the inhibitory effects of dexamethasone on O_3 stimulated inflammation and IL-17A (18) and inhibition of IL-17A reduced dexamethasone insensitivity in a mouse model of chronic O_3 exposure (74). Here we showed for the first time that STAT3 is involved in glucocorticoid-induced SP-D synthesis. Cooperation between the glucocorticoid receptor and STAT3 may be crucial for SP-D synthesis in airway epithelial cells.

There are likely many pathways that contribute to the BAL SP-D levels *in vivo*, including but not limited to budesonide treatment, O_3 exposure, and BAL IL-6 expression. Since glucocorticoids are known to have numerous side effects and after chronic administration patients can become refractory, novel asthma therapeutics to induce SP-D may seek to directly activate STAT3 signaling (5).

While prior work suggested that O_3 may impair the effectiveness of budesonide, here we studied the potential role for SP-D in this pathway. We propose a novel SP-D-mediated mechanism for the anti-inflammatory and functional effects of budesonide on the lung. A better understanding of how air pollutants such as O_3 might affect asthma treatment will lead to improved therapeutic approaches.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the University of California, Davis and University of Pennsylvania Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees. The protocol was approved by the University of California, Davis, and University of Pennsylvania Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF conducted the *in vivo* SP-D and luminex experiments, assisted with flow cytometry and Flexivent analysis, and wrote the manuscript. MG conducted the *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments (performing the Flexivent and flow cytometry experiments) and assisted with flow cytometry and Flexivent analysis. ZJ conducted the *in vitro* experiments (isolation, purification and culture of AECII cells, Western blot, and qRT-PCR analysis for SP-D expression in the cells after treatment). JH, BK, and IR assisted with *in vivo* experiments. AH lead all aspects of the study and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by T32 HL007013 and T32 ES007059 (CF); TRDRP556126/2018A; R21AI116121; R01AI072197 and RC1ES018505 (AH).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Christopher Stevenson (Hoffmann-La Roche) for his support in development of the overall hypothesis and design of the study.

REFERENCES

- Alangari AA. Corticosteroids in the treatment of acute asthma. *Ann Thorac Med.* (2014) 9:187–92. doi: 10.4103/1817-1737. 140120
- Barnes PJ. Glucocorticosteroids. Handb Exp Pharmacol. (2017) 237:93–115. doi: 10.1007/164_2016_62
- Haczku A, Alexander A, Brown P, Assoufi B, Li B, Kay AB, et al. The effect of dexamethasone, cyclosporine, and rapamycin on Tlymphocyte proliferation in vitro: comparison of cells from patients with glucocorticoid-sensitive and glucocorticoid-resistant chronic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (1994) 93:510–9. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(94) 90361-1
- Leung DY, Szefler SJ. New insights into steroid resistant asthma. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (1998) 9:3–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.1998. tb00293.x
- 5. Trevor JL, Deshane JS. Refractory asthma: mechanisms, targets, and therapy. *Allergy*. (2014) 69:817–27. doi: 10.1111/all.12412
- Rodriguez JM, Monsalves-Alvarez M, Henriquez S, Llanos MN, Troncoso R. Glucocorticoid resistance in chronic diseases. *Steroids*. (2016) 115:182–92. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2016.09.010
- Wang M, Gao P, Wu X, Chen Y, Feng Y, Yang Q, et al. Impaired anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoid in neutrophil from patients with steroid-resistant asthma. *Respir Res.* (2016) 17:153. doi: 10.1186/s12931-016-0462-0
- Chan MT, Leung DY, Szefler SJ, Spahn JD. Difficult-to-control asthma: clinical characteristics of steroid-insensitive asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1998) 101:594–601. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(98)70165-4
- Hollingsworth JW II, Cook DN, Brass DM, Walker JK, Morgan DL, Foster WM, et al. The role of Toll-like receptor 4 in environmental airway injury in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2004) 170:126–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200311-1499OC
- Park JW, Taube C, Joetham A, Takeda K, Kodama T, Dakhama A, et al. Complement activation is critical to airway hyperresponsiveness after acute ozone exposure. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2004) 169:726–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200307-1042OC
- Park JW, Taube C, Swasey C, Kodama T, Joetham A, Balhorn A, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist attenuates airway hyperresponsiveness following exposure to ozone. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2004) 30:830–6. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2003-0373OC
- Johnston RA, Mizgerd JP, Shore SA. CXCR2 is essential for maximal neutrophil recruitment and methacholine responsiveness after ozone exposure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2005) 288:L61–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00101.2004
- Joad JP, Kott KS, Bric JM, Peake JL, Plopper CG, Schelegle ES, et al. Structural and functional localization of airway effects from episodic exposure of infant monkeys to allergen and/or ozone. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2006) 214:237– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2005.12.012
- Lu FL, Johnston RA, Flynt L, Theman TA, Terry RD, Schwartzman IN, et al. Increased pulmonary responses to acute ozone exposure in obese db/db mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2006) 290:L856–65. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00386.2005
- Shore SA. Obesity and asthma: lessons from animal models. J Appl Physiol. (2006) 102:516–28. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00847.2006
- Strickland MJ, Darrow LA, Klein M, Flanders WD, Sarnat JA, Waller LA, et al. Short-term associations between ambient air pollutants and pediatric asthma emergency department visits. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:307–16. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200908-1201OC
- Delamater PL, Finley AO, Banerjee S. An analysis of asthma hospitalizations, air pollution, and weather conditions in Los Angeles County, California. *Sci Total Environ*. (2012) 425:110–8. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012. 02.015
- Bao A, Li F, Zhang M, Chen Y, Zhang P, Zhou X. Impact of ozone exposure on the response to glucocorticoid in a mouse model of asthma: involvements of p38 MAPK and MKP-1. *Respir Res.* (2014) 15:126. doi: 10.1186/s12931-014-0126-x
- Stevens WH, Adelroth E, Wattie J, Woolley MJ, Ellis R, Dahlback M, et al. Effect of inhaled budesonide on ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness

and bronchoalveolar lavage cells in dogs. J Appl Physiol. (1994) 77:2578–83. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1994.77.6.2578

- Joad JP, Kott KS, Bric JM, Schelegle ES, Gershwin LJ, Plopper CG, et al. The effects of inhaled corticosteroids on intrinsic responsiveness and histology of airways from infant monkeys exposed to house dust mite allergen and ozone. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2008) 226:153–60. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2007. 09.005
- Alexis NE, Lay JC, Haczku A, Gong H, Linn W, Hazucha MJ, et al. Fluticasone propionate protects against ozone-induced airway inflammation and modified immune cell activation markers in healthy volunteers. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2008) 116:799–805. doi: 10.1289/ehp. 10981
- 22. Vagaggini B, Taccola M, Cianchetti S, Carnevali S, Bartoli ML, Bacci E, et al. Ozone exposure increases eosinophilic airway response induced by previous allergen challenge. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2002) 166:1073–7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2201013
- Vagaggini B, Cianchetti S, Bartoli M, Ricci M, Bacci E, Dente FL, et al. Prednisone blunts airway neutrophilic inflammatory response due to ozone exposure in asthmatic subjects. *Respiration*. (2007) 74:61–8. doi: 10.1159/000096078
- 24. Horvath SM, Gliner JA, Folinsbee LJ. Adaptation to ozone: duration of effect. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1981) 123:496–9.
- Backus-Hazzard GS, Howden R, Kleeberger SR. Genetic susceptibility to ozone-induced lung inflammation in animal models of asthma. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2004) 4:349–53. doi: 10.1097/00130832-200410000-00004
- Haczku A, Atochina EN, Tomer Y, Chen H, Scanlon ST, Russo S, et al. *Aspergillus fumigatus*-induced allergic airway inflammation alters surfactant homeostasis and lung function in BALB/c mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2001) 25:45–50. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.25.1.4391
- 27. Takeda K, Haczku A, Lee JJ, Irvin CG, Gelfand EW. Strain dependence of airway hyperresponsiveness reflects differences in eosinophil localization in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2001) 281:L394–402. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2001.281.2.L394
- Kierstein S, Poulain FR, Cao Y, Grous M, Mathias R, Kierstein G, et al. Susceptibility to ozone-induced airway inflammation is associated with decreased levels of surfactant protein D. *Respir Res.* (2006) 7:85. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-7-85
- 29. Atochina EN, Beers MF, Tomer Y, Scanlon ST, Russo SJ, Panettieri RA Jr, et al. Attenuated allergic airway hyperresponsiveness in C57BL/6 mice is associated with enhanced surfactant protein. (SP)-D production following allergic sensitization. *Respir Res.* (2003) 4:15. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-4-15
- Haczku A, Cao Y, Vass G, Kierstein S, Nath P, Atochina-Vasserman EN, et al. IL-4 and IL-13 form a negative feedback circuit with surfactant protein-D in the allergic airway response. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:3557–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3557
- Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Flayer CH, Killingbeck SS, Redai IG, Macfarlane AWT, et al. Cutting edge: role of NK cells and surfactant protein D in dendritic cell lymph node homing: effects of ozone exposure. *J Immunol*. (2016) 196:553–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403042
- 32. Forbes LR, Haczku A. SP-D and regulation of the pulmonary innate immune system in allergic airway changes. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2010) 40:547–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03483.x
- 33. Yousefi S, Sharma SK, Stojkov D, Germic N, Aeschlimann S, Ge MQ, et al. Oxidative damage of SP-D abolishes control of eosinophil extracellular DNA trap formation. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2018) 104:205–14. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3AB1117-455R
- Deterding RR, Shimizu H, Fisher JH, Shannon JM. Regulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in vitro and in vivo. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1994) 10:30–7. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.10.1. 8292379
- Mariencheck W, Crouch E. Modulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in fetal rat lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1994) 10:419–29. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.10.4.8136157
- 36. Rust K, Bingle L, Mariencheck W, Persson A, Crouch EC. Characterization of the human surfactant protein D promoter: transcriptional regulation of

SP-D gene expression by glucocorticoids. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1996) 14:121–30. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.14.2.8630261

- Cao Y, Tao JQ, Bates SR, Beers MF, Haczku A. IL-4 induces production of the lung collectin surfactant protein-D. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2004) 113:439–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.11.031
- Park SK, Dahmer MK, Quasney MW. MAPK and JAK-STAT signaling pathways are involved in the oxidative stress-induced decrease in expression of surfactant protein genes. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2012) 30:334–46. doi: 10.1159/000339068
- Kierstein S, Krytska K, Sharma S, Amrani Y, Salmon M, Panettieri RA Jr, et al. Ozone inhalation induces exacerbation of eosinophilic airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in allergen-sensitized mice. *Allergy*. (2008) 63:438– 46. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01587.x
- Yang Q, Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Wang X, Kemeny DM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells mediate ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 137:571–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.037
- Hatch GE, Slade R, Harris LP, Mcdonnell WF, Devlin RB, Koren HS, et al. Ozone dose and effect in humans and rats. A comparison using oxygen-18 labeling and bronchoalveolar lavage. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1994) 150:676–83. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.150.3. 8087337
- Slade R, Watkinson WP, Hatch GE. Mouse strain differences in ozone dosimetry and body temperature changes. *Am J Physiol.* (1997) 272:L73–77. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1997.272.1.L73
- Atochina-Vasserman EN, Winkler C, Abramova H, Schaumann F, Krug N, Gow AJ, et al. Segmental allergen challenge alters multimeric structure and function of surfactant protein D in humans. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 183:856–64. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201004-0654OC
- Atochina-Vasserman EN. S-nitrosylation of surfactant protein D as a modulator of pulmonary inflammation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2012) 1820:763–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2011.12.006
- Mathew T, Sarada SKS. Intonation of Nrf2 and Hif1-alpha pathway by curcumin prophylaxis: a potential strategy to augment survival signaling under hypoxia. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2018) 258:12–24. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2018.09.008
- 46. Schneberger D, Devasure JM, Kirychuk SA, Wyatt TA. Organic barn dust inhibits surfactant protein D production through protein kinasec alpha dependent increase of GPR116. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0208597. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208597
- Li S, Sun Z, Chen T, Pan J, Shen Y, Chen X, et al. The role of miR-431-5p in regulating pulmonary surfactant expression in vitro. *Cell Mol Biol Lett.* (2019) 24:25. doi: 10.1186/s11658-019-0150-4
- Kelly EA, Busse WW, Jarjour NN. Inhaled budesonide decreases airway inflammatory response to allergen. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2000) 162:883–90. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.162.3. 9910077
- Nuhoglu Y, Bahceciler NN, Barlan IB, Mujdat Basaran M. The effectiveness of high-dose inhaled budesonide therapy in the treatment of acute asthma exacerbations in children. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2001) 86:318–22. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)63306-6
- Hill JM. Nebulised corticosteroids in the treatment of patients with asthma. *Thorax.* (1999) 54:661–3. doi: 10.1136/thx.54.8.661
- Zhang Y, He J, Yuan Y, Faramand A, Fang F, Ji H. Increased versus stable dose of inhaled corticosteroids for asthma exacerbations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Exp Allergy.* (2019). doi: 10.1111/cea. 13450. [Epub ahead of print].
- Alexis NE, Carlsten C. Interplay of air pollution and asthma immunopathogenesis: a focused review of diesel exhaust and ozone. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2014) 23:347–55. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2014. 08.009
- 53. Vagaggini B, Taccola M, Conti I, Carnevali S, Cianchetti S, Bartoli ML, et al. Budesonide reduces neutrophilic but not functional airway response to ozone in mild asthmatics. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 164:2172–6. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.12.2009090
- 54. Hortobagyi L, Kierstein S, Krytska K, Zhu X, Das AM, Poulain F, et al. Surfactant protein D inhibits TNF-alpha production by macrophages

and dendritic cells in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2008) 122:521-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.05.002

- 55. He Y, Crouch EC, Rust K, Spaite E, Brody SL. Proximal promoter of the surfactant protein D gene: regulatory roles of AP-1, forkhead box, and GT box binding proteins. *J Biol Chem.* (2000) 275:31051–60. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M003499200
- Zhang Z, Jones S, Hagood JS, Fuentes NL, Fuller GM. STAT3 acts as a coactivator of glucocorticoid receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem*. (1997) 272:30607– 10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.49.30607
- 57. Blaskovich MA, Sun J, Cantor A, Turkson J, Jove R, Sebti SM. Discovery of JSI-124. (cucurbitacin I), a selective Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 signaling pathway inhibitor with potent antitumor activity against human and murine cancer cells in mice. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63: 1270–9.
- O'byrne PM. Acute asthma intervention: insights from the STAY study. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2007) 119:1332–1336. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007. 03.007
- Lin J, Zhou X, Wang C, Liu C, Cai S, Huang M. Symbicort(R) maintenance and reliever therapy (SMART) and the evolution of asthma management within the GINA guidelines. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2018) 12:191–202. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2018.1429921
- Direkwattanachai C, Aksilp C, Chatchatee P, Jirapongsananuruk O, Kamalaporn H, Kamchaisatian W, et al. Practical considerations of nebulized corticosteroid in children with acute asthmatic exacerbation: a consensus. *Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol.* (2019). doi: 10.12932/AP-170918-0407. [Epub ahead of print].
- Health effects of outdoor air pollution. Committee of the environmental and occupational health assembly of the american thoracic society. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1996) 153:3–50. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.153.1.8542133
- 62. Li R, Jiang N, Liu Q, Huang J, Guo X, Liu F, et al. Impact of air pollutants on outpatient visits for acute respiratory outcomes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2017) 14:47. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14010047
- Wang X, Nelson A, Weiler ZM, Patil A, Sato T, Kanaji N, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of budesonide in human lung fibroblast are independent of histone deacetylase 2. J Inflamm Res. (2013) 6:109–19. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S43736
- 64. Stellato C, Matsukura S, Fal A, White J, Beck LA, Proud D, et al. Differential regulation of epithelial-derived C-C chemokine expression by IL-4 and the glucocorticoid budesonide. *J Immunol*. (1999) 163:5624–32.
- Bozinovski S, Uddin M, Vlahos R, Thompson M, Mcqualter JL, Merritt AS, et al. Serum amyloid A opposes lipoxin A(4) to mediate glucocorticoid refractory lung inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:935–40. doi: 10.1073/pnas.11093 82109
- 66. Mattes J, Yang M, Siqueira A, Clark K, Mackenzie J, Mckenzie AN, et al. IL-13 induces airways hyperreactivity independently of the IL-4R alpha chain in the allergic lung. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:1683–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.3.1683
- Zijlstra GJ, Fattahi F, Rozeveld D, Jonker MR, Kliphuis NM, Van Den Berge M, et al. Glucocorticoids induce the production of the chemoattractant CCL20 in airway epithelium. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 44:361–70. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00209513
- Fahy JV. Eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma: insights from clinical studies. Proc Am Thorac Soc. (2009) 6:256–9. doi: 10.1513/pats.200808-087RM
- Pelaia G, Vatrella A, Busceti MT, Gallelli L, Calabrese C, Terracciano R, et al. Cellular mechanisms underlying eosinophilic and neutrophilic airway inflammation in asthma. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2015) 2015:879783. doi: 10.1155/2015/879783
- Benfante A, Battaglia S, Principe S, Di Mitri C, Paterno A, Spatafora M, et al. Asthmatics with high levels of serum surfactant protein D have more severe disease. *Eur Respir J.* (2016) 47:1864–7. doi: 10.1183/13993003. 02142-2015
- Mackay RM, Grainge CL, Lau LC, Barber C, Clark HW, Howarth PH. Airway surfactant protein D deficiency in adults with severe asthma. *Chest.* (2016) 149:1165–72. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2015.11.012
- 72. Sims MW, Tal-Singer RM, Kierstein S, Musani AI, Beers MF, Panettieri RA, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

and inhaled steroids alter surfactant protein D (SP-D) levels: a cross-sectional study. *Respir Res.* (2008) 9:13. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-9-13

- Guo CJ, Atochina-Vasserman EN, Abramova E, Foley JP, Zaman A, Crouch E, et al. S-nitrosylation of surfactant protein-D controls inflammatory function. *PLoS Biol.* (2008) 6:e266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 0060266
- 74. Fei X, Zhang PY, Zhang X, Zhang GQ, Bao WP, Zhang YY, et al. IL-17A monoclonal antibody partly reverses the glucocorticoids insensitivity in mice exposed to ozonec. *Inflammation*. (2017) 40:788–97. doi: 10.1007/s10753-017-0523-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Flayer, Ge, Hwang, Kokalari, Redai, Jiang and Haczku. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Acute Respiratory Barrier Disruption by Ozone Exposure in Mice

Milena Sokolowska^{1,2}, Valerie F. J. Quesniaux³, Cezmi A. Akdis^{1,2}, Kian Fan Chung⁴, Bernhard Ryffel^{3*} and Dieudonnée Togbe^{3,5*}

¹ Swiss Institute of Allergy and Asthma Research, University of Zurich, Davos, Switzerland, ² Christine Kühne – Center for Allergy Research and Education (CK-CARE), Davos, Switzerland, ³ Laboratory of Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics (INEM), UMR 7355 CNRS-University of Orleans, Orléans, France, ⁴ Airways Disease, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁵ ArtImmune SAS, Artinem, Orléans, France

Ozone exposure causes irritation, airway hyperreactivity (AHR), inflammation of the airways, and destruction of alveoli (emphysema), the gas exchange area of the lung in human and mice. This review focuses on the acute disruption of the respiratory epithelial barrier in mice. A single high dose ozone exposure (1 ppm for 1 h) causes first a break of the bronchiolar epithelium within 2 h with leak of serum proteins in the broncho-alveolar space, disruption of epithelial tight junctions and cell death, which is followed at 6 h by ROS activation, AHR, myeloid cell recruitment, and remodeling. High ROS levels activate a novel PGAM5 phosphatase dependent cell-death pathway, called oxeiptosis. Bronchiolar cell wall damage and inflammation upon a single ozone exposure are reversible. However, chronic ozone exposure leads to progressive and irreversible loss of alveolar epithelial cells and alveoli with reduced gas exchange space known as emphysema. It is further associated with chronic inflammation and fibrosis of the lung, resembling other environmental pollutants and cigarette smoke in pathogenesis of asthma, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Here, we review recent data on the mechanisms of ozone induced injury on the different cell types and pathways with a focus on the role of the IL-1 family cytokines and the related IL-33. The relation of chronic ozone exposure induced lung disease with asthma and COPD and the fact that ozone exacerbates asthma and COPD is emphasized.

Keywords: inflammation, cell death, interleukins, mucus, tight junctions, innate immunity

INTRODUCTION

Human ozone (O3) exposure represents a major health issue (1, 2) playing an important role in the pathogenesis of chronic respiratory diseases such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Ozone causes acute epithelial airway wall injury, inflammation, and airway hyperreactivity (AHR). Ozone elicits irritation of the airways with cough, bronchoconstriction, and inflammatory cell infiltration with loss of respiratory function. AHR represents a complex response of the airways to the release of bronchoconstrictive mediators and cholinergic stimulation, and is a hallmark of ozone exposure which is shared with allergic asthma. Furthermore, increased ozone exposure, especially occurring during thunderstorms, provokes severe exacerbations of asthma and may even contribute to the asthma-related deaths (3–7). A recent epidemiologic study revealed that even a short-term exposure to ambient air pollution such as PM2.5, O₃, and NO₂ significantly

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rudolf Lucas, Augusta University, United States

Reviewed by:

Juerg Hamacher, Lindenhofspital, Switzerland Dong Li, Jilin University, China

*Correspondence:

Bernhard Ryffel bryffel@cnrs-orleans.fr Dieudonnée Togbe dtogbe@cnrs-orleans.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 May 2019 Accepted: 28 August 2019 Published: 13 September 2019

Citation:

Sokolowska M, Quesniaux VFJ, Akdis CA, Chung KF, Ryffel B and Togbe D (2019) Acute Respiratory Barrier Disruption by Ozone Exposure in Mice. Front. Immunol. 10:2169. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02169 increased the risk of asthma mortality (8). Chronic ozone exposure leads to a progressive loss of the gas exchanging alveoli, a phenomenon known as emphysema, usually associated with chronic inflammation, fibrosis, and terminal respiratory failure, observed in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and severe asthma (9). Of note, the pathogenesis of chronic lung diseases is complex and comprises the effects of various environmental particulates, toxins, chemical sand pollutants, detergents, respiratory viruses, microbial dysbiosis as well as allergen exposure, and is influenced by diverse genetic and epigenetic factors (10–15).

The respiratory airway epithelium forms a physical barrier and first line of defense of mucosal immunity (16, 17). Tight junctions (TJ) and adherens junctions (AJ), fluid, mucus, surfactant proteins, and motility of cilia are critical for the barrier control and innate response (18). Ozone impairs the function of critical proteins of the epithelial barrier (19), which will be discussed later. In addition, there is increased proliferation of the airway epithelial cells following exposure to ozone, likely as a result of direct oxidative epithelial damage (20).

Inflammatory cytokines such as members of the IL-1 family, including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-18, IL-33, and IL-36 (21–23) as well others and several chemokines are upregulated upon ozone exposure and play major roles in the inflammatory and pathogenic response. IL-1 is involved in the inflammatory response (24), while IL-33 may have protective effects in ozone-induced inflammation as discussed below. We review here the most recent findings on ozone involvement in bronchiolar epithelial barrier dysfunction, acute lung injury, inflammation, resolution, and defective repair (20).

RESPIRATORY BARRIER INTEGRITY

The integrity of the epithelial barrier depends on tight junctions (TJ) and adherens junctions (AJ), which insure apicobasal cell polarity, but also mucus, fluid, and function of the cilia (18, 25–27). Tight junctions comprise the claudin family, occluding, and tricellulin. In addition, several scaffolding proteins, such as zonulae occludens (ZO)-1, ZO-2, ZO-3, multi-PDZ domain protein 1, and others have been identified in the tight junctions (28, 29). E-cadherin, as well as TJs were reduced in patients with asthma (30–32). Common respiratory viruses, such as human rhinovirus (HRV) (33, 34) or respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) (35) disrupt and impair airway epithelial barrier and delay healing of infected epithelium (36), through NADPH oxidase-1

and ROS-dependent mechanisms (33, 37, 38). Disruption of tight junctions with leak of the epithelium allows systemic access of irritants, pathogen, and allergens (15, 39), as well as the drainage of host proteins, lipid mediators, or cells into the airway lumen, where they may perpetuate inflammatory response, acting back on epithelium. Depending on the dose of allergen and airway inflammation, the Zo-1 and Cld-18 proteins expression are decreased in eosinophilic asthma, but it is even more pronounced in mixed and neutrophilic asthma phenotype (27). Epithelial barrier is impaired not only in the lower airways of patients with asthma (32), but also in the nasal mucosa of allergic rhinitis due to house dust mite (HDM) (40) displaying reduced occludin and ZO-1 levels. Ozone exposure disrupts tight junction proteins and hence the function of the respiratory barrier as reported recently (27, 41, 42).

DIRECT DISRUPTION OF EPITHELIAL BARRIER BY OZONE

Ozone causes immediate damage of the bronchiolar epithelial cell barrier with cell stress, desquamation, and death with leak of protein and DNA into the airspace within 1-2 h. Since several mediators of inflammation are not yet detectable at this time, we postulate that ozone induced ROS has a direct effect on essential components of the bronchiolar cell integrity with reduced cilia function, tight junctions, mucus, and surfactant protein production (43). This first phase of ozone induced damage of the airway epithelium is followed by a second phase at of bronchiolar epithelial injury and cell death with protein leak and influx of neutrophils, ROS expressing myeloid cells, IL-1a and IL-33 production by epithelial and myeloid cells. Thus, the data suggest that ozone causes a biphasic response, an immediate direct injury via ROS and a second damage by myeloid cells, moving to and exacerbating epithelial cell damage. Indeed, neutrophil depletion by antibody against granulocytes attenuates the second phase. Similar disruptions of the respiratory barrier as shown for ozone has been described before by other air pollutants such nitrogen dioxide, disulfide, particle, chemicals, and cigarette smoke- all of which can cause chronic pulmonary diseases, but usually require longer exposure time and at higher concentrations than ozone (38, 44). A schematic view of the initial events at the respiratory barrier and early repair process is given in Figure 1.

DISRUPTION OF TIGHT JUNCTIONS

Upon a single ozone exposure, we found enhanced expression of E-cadherin, ZO-1, and claudin-4 using immunofluorescence (43). By contrast, the epithelial E-cadherin, ZO-1, and Cld-4 expression are reduced in the absence of IL-33 (43). Epithelial E-cadherin expression is also reduced in IL-33/ST2 receptor deficient mice, suggesting a protective effect of IL-33. At the transcriptional level, an increased Cld-4 level (4–6 h) or Ecadherin (4–8 h) expression were found. Therefore, the data suggest that IL-33/ST2 signaling has a protective effect. This IL-33-dependant epithelial protection is probably an early defense mechanism in physiological condition. However, in

Abbreviations: AHR, airways hyperreactivity; AIFM1, mitochondrial apoptosis inducing factor 1; AJ, adherens junctions; AREG, amphiregulin; BAL, broncho alveolar lavage to quantify cell counts; BALF, broncho alveolar lavage fluid to detect protein levels; GR1, Ly-6G antibody depleting neutrophils; IL-33, interleukin-33; IL-33R/ST2, interleukin-33 receptor/ suppression of tumorigenicity 2; CXCL1/KC, keratinocyte chemoattractant; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ICN-2, lipocalin 2; CCL1/MCP-1, chemokine ligand 2; CCL2/MIP-2, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 2; MMP-9, matrix metalloproteinase 9; MPO, myeloperoxidase; PGAM5, mitochondrial serine/threonine-protein phosphatase; mIL-33, recombinant mouse IL-33; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; TIMP-1, tissue inhibitor metalloproteinase 1; TJ, tight junctions; WT, wild type mice.



the settings of allergic inflammation, excess of pathogenic Th2 cells and ILC2 in the epithelial wall, reacting to IL-33, lead to increased inflammation, and symptoms of the disease. Interestingly, in the chronic airway inflammation impairment of the barrier consists of decreased expression of several TJ proteins, but also a subsequent increase of TJs, such as CLD-4 (27). Recent reports confirm that ozone exposure impairs the function of epithelial barrier tight junction proteins (27, 41, 42).

Within 24 h after ozone exposure basal cells proliferate and at 48 h the bronchiolar epithelium is restored with firm tight junctions, mucus, and cilia (43). The mechanisms of inflammation including resolution of inflammation, remodeling of airways, and repair mechanisms are an area of intense research (13, 37, 45–47).

AIRWAY HYPERREACTIVITY

Ozone exposure causes bronchoconstriction measured by the pulmonary function tests in humans and airway hyperreactivity (AHR) in rodents and humans as assessed by increased reactivity of the airways to cholinergic stimulation (44, 48). Mice exposed to ozone display a dose-dependent increased of airway resistance (RL) to methacholine aerosol as measured by invasive plethysmograph (**Figure 1C**). This has also been demonstrated in humans (48).

The underlying mechanisms of AHR are due to the complex response of the airway wall including effect of oxidative stress (49, 50) activation of kinase pathways, the release of chemokines, cytokines (51, 52), and lipid mediators, increased sensitivity of bronchial smooth muscle cells either directly or through an effect

on innervation and neuropeptides (53), which is beyond the scope of this review.

The transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member1 (TRPV1) is upregulated by ozone in experimental asthma, which is sensitive to a TRPV1 antagonist. The TRPV1 antagonist suppresses the neuropeptide calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (54). Thus, TRPV1 expression may be an important mechanism for asthma exacerbation upon exposure to ozone and other environmental pollutants. Ozone induced AHR and lung inflammation is characterized by increased neutrophils recruitment in the airways and lung (54), although the role of neutrophils in inducing AHR is controversial (55, 56). Interestingly, NKT cell-deficient (CD1d^{-/-} and J α 18^{-/-}) mice are resistant to ozone-induced AHR and have reduced neutrophils. Further, anti-CD1d antibody blockade of NKT cell activation prevented ozone-induced AHR. NKT cells producing IL-17 causes AHR, which was prevented in IL-17A deficient mice or by anti-IL-17 antibody blockade (57, 58). ROS mediated AHR and inflammation further depends on danger activated proteins such as HMGB1, HSPs, RAGE, and others activating the molecular pattern recognition receptors Toll-Like Receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 and the adaptor protein, MyD88 (59). However, the list of endogenous mediators activating AHR includes lipid mediators, prostaglandins and leukotrienes in response to ozone is incomplete (51, 60, 61).

These effects of ozone on bronchoconstriction and AHR raise the possibility that ozone may be involved in underlying a specific type of asthma, namely the neutrophilic inflammatory phenotype of asthma (62, 63). However, the evidence linking neutrophilic asthma to exposure to ozone as a constituent of pollution is unclear, although an increase in exacerbations of asthma in patients with asthma following a peak increase in levels of environmental ozone has been reported (64).

REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES AND CELL DEATH VIA OXEIPTOSIS

Ozone generates reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial damage with oxidant stress activating the NLRP3 inflammasome and contributes to AHR, airflow obstruction, and emphysema (2, 65). ROS has a dual effect on cell integrity: at low concentration, it has a beneficial, cytoprotective effect, while at high concentration it is cytotoxic causing cell death. KEAP1 acts as a ROS sensor, which triggers at high ROS levels as found upon ozone exposure a novel caspase-independent celldeath pathway known as oxeiptosis (66, 67) (Figure 2). We found that ROS-induced cell-death depends on interactions of cellular ROS sensor KEAP1 and the phosphatase PGAM5 with antioxidant function and AIFM1, a pro-apoptotic factor. At high ROS concentration PGAM5 is released from the complex and activates the pro-apoptotic factor AIFM1 inducing apoptotic pathway. PGAM5 deficient mice have enhanced lung inflammation with proinflammatory cytokines upon ozoneexposure. Furthermore, in Influenza A virus infection, viral load and lung inflammation were increased in PGAM5 deficient mice, which succumbed to infection (68, 69). Oxeiptosis represents a different, non-canonical cell-death pathway, which is novel, ROS-sensitive, caspase independent, cell-death pathway important for protection against inflammation induced by ROS or viral pathogens (69). The molecular events of oxeiptosis are depicted in **Figure 2**. Other cell-death pathways include inflammasome-mediated apoptosis and pyroptosis, but also necroptosis and ferroptosis. Their relative roles of these pathways need to be further investigated in the ozone model.

INFLAMMATORY CELLS RECRUITED IN THE LUNG

Cell and tissue damage induce inflammatory cell recruitment including neutrophils, macrophages, innate lymphoid cells, and more. Neutrophils play a critical role in acute and chronic inflammation (70). Neutrophils migrate within and through the vessels depending polarization within activated venules activate platelets present in the bloodstream (71). Neutrophils scan for activated platelets resulting in the redistribution of receptors via the selectin ligand PSGL-1 that drive neutrophil migration allowing the interaction with the endothelium and the circulation before inflammation proceeds. Thus, a close interaction between neutrophils and platelets drives neutrophil migration to sites of injury or cell death. We have described the inflammatory response upon ozone exposure (24). Upon a single ozone exposure at 1 ppm for 1 h the analysis at 4 h after ozone exposure revealed desquamation of epithelial cells with increased CXCL1, CCL2/MIP-2, and IL-6 production, which was followed by increased macrophages and neutrophils in BALF at 6 h. At 24 h, the inflammatory response was further enhanced in the absence of ST2 or IL-33 with predominant neutrophils and interstitial macrophages in the lung. We investigated the role in the second inflammatory phase by GR-1 antibody depletion of neutrophils and other myeloid cells. GR-1 cell depletion with anti-GR1 antibody reduced protein leak, myeloid and epithelial cell in BALF and reduced parenchymal injury and inflammation with reduced MMP9 and increased amphiregulin expression as sign of tissue repair. Therefore, neutrophils contribute to tissue injury and repair as reported in other inflammatory models (72).

Besides T lymphocytes not discussed here, innate lymphocytes (ILC) are involved in the early immune response (54, 73, 74). Tissue-resident ILC-2 is involved in both physiologic and pathologic responses, yet their physical tissue niches are poorly described (75). ILC2 are recruited upon ozone exposure, but there is little information available on their roles in inflammation and airway hyperreactivity (6, 43, 76, 77).

Natural killer T cells expressing IL-17 may induce airway hyperreactivity, which depended on IL-17 expression as mentioned before (57). Platelets are likely involved in ozone induced neutrophilic inflammation, but no studies address their role in ozone induced tissues injury. The role of platelets has been recently studied in allergic inflammation (78).



Fibroblast, stromal cells, pericytes, and endothelial cells are potential targets of ozone (79, 80), which is an area for further investigations. A recent study defined a perivascular fibroblast-like stromal cells producing IL-33 and TSLP which regulate ILC2s and type 2 immunity (75).

Two major previous morphological investigations on the effects of a 4 h exposure to 3 ppm ozone on rat lungs are worth mentioning (81, 82). The epithelial damage was located centrally showing cell death of bronchiolar epithelium and alveolar pneumonocytes. Lesions in capillary endothelium with endothelial swelling were widespread with ring-like formations of endothelial membranes peripherally with alveolar and interstitial edema. These results show that ozone damage is in the centro-acinar regions and affects both endothelial and epithelial cells.

INTERLEUKINS WITH INFLAMMATORY OR PROTECTIVE ROLES

Upon ozone exposure, several interleukins (IL) are increased and may regulate inflammation. Here we focus on two IL-1 family members, IL-1a and IL-33 (23, 83–85), which are known as alarmins, released upon cell stress and death. An overview of IL1 members and IL-33 and their receptors is shown in **Figure 3**.

INTERLEUKIN-1 ENHANCING INFLAMMATION

A role of interleukin-1 (IL-1)-associated cytokines has been reviewed recently (24). We investigated inflammation after a single ozone exposure (1 ppm for 1 h) using IL-1a-, IL-1β-, and IL-18-deficient mice or neutralizing anti-IL-1a antibody to investigate their role in epithelial cell death. IL-1 α was increased within 1h after ozone exposure. Epithelial injury, inflammation and AHR were IL-1a-dependent. Further, we found that IL-1a signaling via IL-1R1/MyD88 was type I alveolar epithelial cell dependent as demonstrated by cell specific MyD88 deletion in mice (86). By contrast, inflammation and epithelial injury were less reduced in absence of IL-1ß and IL-18. In conclusion, the IL-1 α induced tissue damage and inflammation is mediated by IL-1R/MyD88 signaling in epithelial cells. Interestingly, in more chronic disease settings, IL-1ß is increased in the lungs of mice with neutrophilic phenotype of asthma and in patients with neutrophilic asthma (27). Additionally, in humans IL-1β may lead to impairment of epithelial barrier function and increase of mucus production (27). Therefore, IL-1a or IL-1 receptor may represent a therapeutic target to attenuate ozone-induced lung inflammation and airway hyperreactivity. The use of neutralizing IL-1β antibody and IL1-RA antagonist is in fact used for different experimental conditions.



binding, the recruitment of IL-1RACP and the activation of intracellular signaling pathways. IL-1R2 acts as a decoy receptor on the cell surface to IL-1RACP. **(B)** Interleukin–33 (IL–33) binds to its transmembrane receptor suppression of tumorigenicity 2 (ST2) and induces a conformational change that allows ST2 to interact with IL–1 receptor accessory protein (IL–1RACP). Activation of ST2 and IL–1RACP leads to the Toll/IL–1 receptor (TIR) domains clustering and the recruitment of signaling adaptor myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88 (MYD88) (23).

INTERLEUKIN-33 ATTENUATING INFLAMMATION

IL-33 is another alarmin released rapidly upon ozone and may have a protective role. IL-33 has homeostatic functions and is involved in injury and repair. The alarmin IL-33 is expressed at steady state in tissue cells and released upon airway epithelial injury and repair during inflammatory process (87, 88). IL-33 has functions in both innate and adaptive immune response (85). IL-33 binds to ST2 chain known as IL-33R or IL-1RL1 (89) which associates with IL-1RAcP (23). The full length, 35 kDa IL-33 is cleaved by different proteases and is produced by neutrophils, macrophages, or mast cells that full length IL-33 to several active moieties that are about 30-fold more active than the full length form (84, 90, 91). IL-33 receptor ST2 is was first detected in high endothelial venules in lymphoid tissues in mice (92), but is found in most innate immune cells including mast cells (85), innate lymphoid cells (85), myeloid and dendritic cells (93), and to a lesser extent on Th2 cells (85). Further, nuclear IL-33 may associate with chromatin in vivo, but the function of nuclear IL-33 is still unresolved.

IL-33 expression was increased in epithelial and macrophages and other myeloid cells in mice upon ozone exposure. In the absence of IL-33 or IL-33R/ST2, epithelial cell injury with protein leak and myeloid cell recruitment and inflammation was further increased, while tight junction proteins E-cadherin and ZO-1, ROS expression in neutrophils, and AHR were diminished (43). ST2 antibody neutralization recapitulated the enhanced ozone induced neutrophilic inflammation, while the administration of rmIL-33 reduced neutrophil recruitment in IL-33 deficient mice (69). These data demonstrate that ozone causes an immediate barrier injury, which precedes myeloid cell mediated inflammatory injury under the control of the IL-33/ST2 axis. Thus, IL-33/ST2 signaling appears to be critical for the maintenance of intact epithelial barrier and inflammation.

SURFACTANT PROTEINS AND MUCUS

Surfactant proteins mucus are the first line protection protecting the respiratory epithelium. Surfactant protein-D (SP-D), produced by the airway epithelium, is multimeric protein sensitive to oxidative stress. SP-D directly inhibits extracellular DNA trap formation by eosinophils. Allergic airway sensitization and ozone exposure augmented eosinophilia and nos2 mRNA (iNOS) activation in the lung tissue with modification of SP-D in the airways. Thus, the regulatory feedback between SP-D and eosinophils appears to be destroyed by the NO-rich oxidative lung tissue environment in asthma exacerbations (94).

THERAPEUTIC TARGETS

The protective role of antioxidants against ROS/RNS induced injury and inflammation environmental pollutants has been reviewed (38, 95). A comprehensive analysis of oxidative stress in ozone induced lung injury and mitochondrial dysfunction allowed to identify potential druggable pathways (2, 38, 95, 96). Indeed, several interventions attenuate ozone induced inflammation such N-acetylcysteine (97), hydrogen disulfide (98), MIF antagonist (99) as well as blockade of IL-1a (86) or IL-17A (100), recombinant IL-33 (69), L-arginine promoting DNA repair (101), Taurine (102). Also, blocking ROS-induced airway inflammation by apocynin, an NADPH inhibitor has been targeted in asthma and COPD in human clinical trials (47, 103). Furthermore, DNA released upon cell death and is highly inflammatory. In particle-induced lung injury, enzymatic degradation of DNA by DNase I reduced inflammation (10, 11). The list therapeutic targets are not exhaustive, but new mechanistic insights may lead to antagonists that are more efficacious. However, reduction of airborne pollution, especially high levels of ozone and smog, would be the most efficacious measure to prevent chronic respiratory disease.

CONCLUSIONS

Chronic ozone exposure causes chronic lung inflammation, emphysema, and interstitial fibrosis with progressive loss of lung function in man and rodents. Furthermore, ozone enhances the development of chronic lung diseases such as allergic and non-allergic asthma, COPD, and emphysema. Recent studies demonstrated the importance of IL-1 α , IL-33, and IL-17A axis in ozone induced lung injury and inflammation, and a role of PGAM5 emerged, which defines a novel cell death pathway known as oxeiptosis. Understanding the fundamental mechanisms of injury and defective repair likely related to DNA damage, and defining critical targets require further investigations including clinical and epidemiological studies. Chronic progressive lung diseases

REFERENCES

- Al-Hegelan M, Tighe RM, Castillo C, Hollingsworth JW. Ambient ozone and pulmonary innate immunity. *Immunol Res.* (2011) 49:173–91. doi: 10.1007/s12026-010-8180-z
- Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE, et al. Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:769–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.046
- 3. D'Amato G, Annesi-Maesano I, Cecchi L, D'Amato M. Latest news on relationship between thunderstorms and respiratory allergy, severe asthma, and deaths for asthma. *Allergy.* (2019) 74:9–11. doi: 10.1111/all.13616
- Hew M, Lee J, Susanto NH, Prasad S, Bardin PG, Barnes S, et al. The 2016 Melbourne thunderstorm asthma epidemic: Risk factors for severe attacks requiring hospital admission. *Allergy*. (2019) 74:122–30. doi: 10.1111/all.13609
- Ji M, Cohan DS, Bell ML. Meta-analysis of the association between shortterm exposure to ambient ozone and respiratory hospital admissions. *Environ Res Lett.* (2011) 6:024006. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/6/2/0 24006
- Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Wurmbrand AP, Ribeiro L, et al. IL-33 drives augmented responses to ozone in obese mice. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2017) 125:246–53. doi: 10.1289/EHP272
- Miller RL, Peden DB. Environmental effects on immune responses in patients with atopy and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2014) 134:1001–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014. 07.064
- Liu Y, Pan J, Zhang H, Shi C, Li G, Peng Z, et al. Short-term exposure to ambient air pollution and asthma mortality. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019) 200:24–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201810-1823OC
- Shah PL, Herth FJ, van Geffen WH, Deslee G, Slebos DJ. Lung volume reduction for emphysema. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2017) 5:147–56. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)30221-1
- Benmerzoug S, Rose S, Bounab B, Gosset D, Duneau L, Chenuet P, et al. STING-dependent sensing of self-DNA drives silica-induced lung inflammation. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5226. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-0 7425-1
- Benmerzoug S, Ryffel B, Togbe D, V.Quesniaux FJ. Self-DNA sensing in lung inflammatory diseases. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:719–34. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.06.001
- Kurai D, Saraya T, Ishii H, Takizawa H. Virus-induced exacerbations in asthma and COPD. Front Microbiol. (2013) 4:293. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013. 00293
- Sokolowska M, Chen LY, Liu Y, Martinez-Anton A, Logun C, Alsaaty S, et al. Dysregulation of lipidomic profile and antiviral immunity in response to

could be prevented to a great extent by reducing environmental air pollution, tobacco, and wood fire smoke and smog containing ozone exposure.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, BR, and DT wrote the review. KC, VQ, and CA inspired the work and corrected. All authors read the contribution.

FUNDING

This work was supported by le Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), European Regional Development Fund (FEDER) (N $^{\circ}$ 2016-00110366 and EX005756), and Respir Ozone (n $^{\circ}$ 2014-00091905).

hyaluronan in patients with severe asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 139:1379–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.09.031

- Sokolowska M, Frei R, Lunjani N, Akdis CA, O'Mahony L. Microbiome and asthma. Asthma Res Pract. (2018) 4:1. doi: 10.1186/s40733-017-0037-y
- Wang M, Tan G, Eljaszewicz A, Meng Y, Wawrzyniak P, Acharya S, et al. Laundry detergents and detergent residue after rinsing directly disrupt tight junction barrier integrity in human bronchial epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2019) 143:1892–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.11.016
- Georas SN, Rezaee F. Epithelial barrier function: at the front line of asthma immunology and allergic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2014) 134:509–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.049
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. Allergens and the airway epithelium response: gateway to allergic sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2014) 134:499–507. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014. 06.036
- Price ME, Sisson JH. Redox regulation of motile cilia in airway disease. *Redox Biol.* (2019) 2019:101146. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101146
- Rothenberg ME, Saito H, Peebles RS, Jr. Advances in mechanisms of allergic disease in 2016. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:1622–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.029
- Salmon M, Koto H, Lynch OT, Haddad EB, Lamb NJ, Quinlan GJ, et al. Proliferation of airway epithelium after ozone exposure: effect of apocynin and dexamethasone. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1998) 157:970–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.3.97 04067
- 21. Akdis M, Aab A, Altunbulakli C, Azkur K, Costa RA, Crameri R, et al. Interleukins (from IL-1 to IL-38), interferons, transforming growth factor β , and TNF- α : Receptors, functions, and roles in diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 138:984–1010. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.033
- 22. Borthwick LA. The IL-1 cytokine family and its and fibrosis in lung. Semin role in inflammation the (2016) 38:517-34. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0 Immunopathol. 559-z
- Palomo J, Dietrich D, Martin P, Palmer G, Gabay C. The interleukin (IL)-1 cytokine family-balance between agonists and antagonists in inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine*. (2015) 76:25–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.06.017
- Michaudel C, Couturier-Maillard A, Chenuet P, Maillet I, Mura C, Couillin I, et al. Inflammasome, IL-1 and inflammation in ozone-induced lung injury. *Am J Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 5:33–40.
- Ivanov AI, Naydenov NG. Dynamics and regulation of epithelial adherens junctions: recent discoveries and controversies. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.* (2013) 303:27–99. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407697-6.00 002-7
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. The immunology of asthma. Nat Immunol. (2015) 16:45–56. doi: 10.1038/ni.3049

- 27. Tan HT, Hagner S, Ruchti F, Radzikowska U, Tan G, Altunbulakli C, et al. Tight junction, mucin, and inflammasome-related molecules are differentially expressed in eosinophilic, mixed, and neutrophilic experimental asthma in mice. *Allergy.* (2019) 74:294–307. doi: 10.1111/all.13619
- De Benedetto A, Rafaels NM, McGirt LY, Ivanov AI, Georas SN, Cheadle C, et al. Tight junction defects in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2011) 127:773–86.e1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010. 10.018
- Sugita K, Steer CA, Martinez-Gonzalez I, Altunbulakli C, Morita H, Castro-Giner F, et al. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells disrupt bronchial epithelial barrier integrity by targeting tight junctions through IL-13 in asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:300–10.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017. 02.038
- Hackett TL, Warner SM, Stefanowicz D, Shaheen F, Pechkovsky DV, Murray LA, et al. Induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in primary airway epithelial cells from patients with asthma by transforming growth factor-beta1. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 180:122–33. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200811-1730OC
- Looi K, Buckley AG, Rigby PJ, Garratt LW, Iosifidis T, Zosky GR, et al. Effects of human rhinovirus on epithelial barrier integrity and function in children with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2018) 48:513–24. doi: 10.1111/cea.13097
- 32. Wawrzyniak P, Wawrzyniak M, Wanke K, Sokolowska M, Bendelja K, Ruckert B, et al. Regulation of bronchial epithelial barrier integrity by type 2 cytokines and histone deacetylases in asthmatic patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 139:93–103. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016. 03.050
- Comstock AT, Ganesan S, Chattoraj A, Faris AN, Margolis BL, Hershenson MB, et al. Rhinovirus-induced barrier dysfunction in polarized airway epithelial cells is mediated by NADPH oxidase 1. J Virol. (2011) 85:6795–808. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02074-10
- 34. Sajjan U, Wang Q, Zhao Y, Gruenert DC, Hershenson MB. Rhinovirus disrupts the barrier function of polarized airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 178:1271–81. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200801-136OC
- Kast JI, McFarlane AJ, Globinska A, Sokolowska M, Wawrzyniak P, Sanak M, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection influences tight junction integrity. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2017) 190:351–9. doi: 10.1111/cei. 13042
- 36. Faris AN, Ganesan S, Chattoraj A, Chattoraj SS, Comstock AT, Unger BL, et al. Rhinovirus delays cell repolarization in a model of injured/regenerating human airway epithelium. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 55:487–99. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0243OC
- 37. Jakiela B, Gielicz A, Plutecka H, Hubalewska-Mazgaj M, Mastalerz L, Bochenek G, et al. Th2-type cytokine-induced mucus metaplasia decreases susceptibility of human bronchial epithelium to rhinovirus infection. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2014) 51:229–41. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0 395OC
- Wieczfinska J, Sokolowska M, Pawliczak R. NOX modifiers-just a step away from application in the therapy of airway inflammation? *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2015) 23:428–45. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5783
- Mattila P, Joenvaara S, Renkonen J, Toppila-Salmi S, Renkonen R. Allergy as an epithelial barrier disease. *Clin Transl Allergy.* (2011) 1:5. doi: 10.1186/2045-7022-1-5
- Steelant B, Farre R, Wawrzyniak P, Belmans J, Dekimpe E, Vanheel H, et al. Impaired barrier function in patients with house dust miteinduced allergic rhinitis is accompanied by decreased occludin and zonula occludens-1 expression. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 137:1043–53.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.10.050
- Kim BG, Lee PH, Lee SH, Park CS, Jang AS. Impact of ozone on claudins and tight junctions in the lungs. *Environ Toxicol.* (2018) 33:798–806. doi: 10.1002/tox.22566
- Van Itallie CM, Anderson JM. Phosphorylation of tight junction transmembrane proteins: many sites, much to do. *Tissue Barriers*. (2018) 6:e1382671. doi: 10.1080/21688370.2017.13 82671
- 43. Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Akdis C, Sokolowska M, et al. Ozone exposure induces respiratory barrier biphasic injury and

inflammation controlled by Interleukin-33. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 142:942–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.044

- 44. Chitano P, Hosselet JJ, Mapp CE, Fabbri LM. Effect of oxidant air pollutants on the respiratory system: insights from experimental animal research. *Eur Respir J.* (1995) 8:1357–71. doi: 10.1183/09031936.95.08081357
- 45. Martinez-Anton A, Sokolowska M, Kern S, Davis AS, Alsaaty S, Taubenberger JK, et al. Changes in microRNA and mRNA expression with differentiation of human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2013) 49:384–95. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2012-0 368OC
- Sokolowska M, Stefanska J, Wodz-Naskiewicz K, Pawliczak R. Cytosolic phospholipase A2 group IVA influence on GM-CSF expression in human lung cells: a pilot study. *Med Sci Monit.* (2010) 16:BR300-6.
- Stefanska J, Sarniak A, Wlodarczyk A, Sokolowska M, Pniewska E, Doniec Z, et al. Apocynin reduces reactive oxygen species concentrations in exhaled breath condensate in asthmatics. *Exp Lung Res.* (2012) 38:90–9. doi: 10.3109/01902148.2011.649823
- Seltzer J, Bigby BG, Stulbarg M, Holtzman MJ, Nadel JA, Ueki IF, et al. O3-induced change in bronchial reactivity to methacholine and airway inflammation in humans. *J Appl Physiol.* (1986) 60:1321–6. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1986.60.4.1321
- Tsukagoshi H, Haddad EB, Sun J, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Ozoneinduced airway hyperresponsiveness: role of superoxide anions, NEP, and BK receptors. J Appl Physiol. (1995) 78:1015–22. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1995.78.3.1015
- Williams AS, Issa R, Leung SY, Nath P, Ferguson GD, Bennett BL, et al. Attenuation of ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness by c-Jun NH2 terminal kinase inhibitor SP600125. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2007) 322:351–9. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.1 21624
- Aizawa H, Chung KF, Leikauf GD, Ueki I, Bethel RA, O'Byrne PM, et al. Significance of thromboxane generation in ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in dogs. J Appl Physiol. (1985) 59:1918–23. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1985.59.6.1918
- Koto H, Salmon M, Haddad el B, Huang TJ, Zagorski J, Chung KF. Role of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC) in ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1997) 156:234–9. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.1.9606095
- 53. Li F, Zhang M, Hussain F, Triantaphyllopoulos K, Clark AR, Bhavsar PK, et al. Inhibition of p38 MAPK-dependent bronchial contraction after ozone by corticosteroids. *Eur Respir J.* (2011) 37:933–42. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00021110
- 54. Li S, Morita H, Sokolowska M, Tan G, Boonpiyathad T, Opitz L, et al. Gene expression signatures of circulating human type 1, 2, and 3 innate lymphoid cells. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2019) 143:2321–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.01.047
- O'Byrne PM, Walters EH, Gold BD, Aizawa HA, Fabbri LM, Alpert SE, et al. Neutrophil depletion inhibits airway hyperresponsiveness induced by ozone exposure. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1984) 130:214–9. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1984.13 0.2.214
- Evans TW, Brokaw JJ, Chung KF, Nadel JA, McDonald DM. Ozone-induced bronchial hyperresponsiveness in the rat is not accompanied by neutrophil influx or increased vascular permeability in the trachea. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1988) 138:140–4. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/138.1.140
- Pichavant M, Goya S, Meyer EH, Johnston RA, Kim HY, Matangkasombut P, et al. Ozone exposure in a mouse model induces airway hyperreactivity that requires the presence of natural killer T cells and IL-17. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:385–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071507
- Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Hussain F, Zhu J, Wiegman C, et al. IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e58452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058452
- Williams AS, Leung SY, Nath P, Khorasani NM, Bhavsar P, Issa R, et al. Role of TLR2, TLR4, and MyD88 in murine ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and neutrophilia. J Appl Physiol. (2007) 103:1189–95. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.001 72.2007
- 60. Nakano H, Aizawa H, Matsumoto K, Fukuyama S, Inoue H, Hara N. Cyclooxygenase-2 participates in the late phase of airway

hyperresponsiveness after ozone exposure in guinea pigs. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2000) 403:267–75. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(00)0 0524-0

- Wagner JG, Jiang Q, Harkema JR, Illek B, Patel DD, Ames BN, et al. Ozone enhancement of lower airway allergic inflammation is prevented by gamma-tocopherol. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2007) 43:1176–88. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.07.013
- 62. Chung KF. Neutrophilic asthma: a distinct target for treatment? *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:765–7. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)30232-6
- 63. Qiu R, Xie J, Chung KF, Li N, Yang Z, He M, et al. Asthma phenotypes defined from parameters obtained during recovery from a hospital-treated exacerbation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract.* (2018) 6:1960–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.02.012
- Halonen JI, Lanki T, Yli-Tuomi T, Kulmala M, Tiittanen P, Pekkanen J. Urban air pollution, and asthma and COPD hospital emergency room visits. *Thorax.* (2008) 63:635–41. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.091371
- Li F, Xu M, Wang M, Wang L, Wang H, Zhang H, et al. Roles of mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 inflammasome in multiple ozoneinduced lung inflammation and emphysema. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:230. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0931-8
- Scaturro P, Pichlmair A. Oxeiptosis-a cell death pathway to mitigate damage caused by radicals. *Cell Death Differ*. (2018) 25:1191–3. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0134-3
- Scaturro P, Pichlmair A. Oxeiptosis: a discreet way to respond to radicals. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2019) 56:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018. 10.006
- Kesavardhana S, Kanneganti TD. Stressed-out ROS take a silent death route. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:103–5. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0034-6
- Holze C, Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Haas DA, Benda C, Hubel P, et al. Oxeiptosis, a ROS-induced caspase-independent apoptosis-like cell-death pathway. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:130–40. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0013-y
- Soehnlein O, Steffens S, Hidalgo A, Weber C. Neutrophils as protagonists and targets in chronic inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:248–61. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.10
- Sreeramkumar V, Adrover JM, Ballesteros I, Cuartero MI, Rossaint J, Bilbao I, et al. Neutrophils scan for activated platelets to initiate inflammation. *Science.* (2014) 346:1234–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1256478
- 72. Pain M, Bermudez O, Lacoste P, Royer PJ, Botturi K, Tissot A, et al. Tissue remodelling in chronic bronchial diseases: from the epithelial to mesenchymal phenotype. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2014) 23:118–30. doi: 10.1183/09059180.00004413
- Cording S, Medvedovic J, Lecuyer E, Aychek T, Dejardin F, Eberl G. Mouse models for the study of fate and function of innate lymphoid cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2018) 48:1271–80. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747388
- Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate lymphoid cells: 10 years on. *Cell.* (2018) 174:1054–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.017
- Dahlgren MW, Jones SW, Cautivo KM, Dubinin A, Ortiz-Carpena JF, Farhat S, et al. Adventitial stromal cells define group 2 innate lymphoid cell tissue niches. *Immunity*. (2019) 50:707–22.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019. 02.002
- Kumagai K, Lewandowski R, Jackson-Humbles DN, Li N, Van Dyken SJ, Wagner JG, et al. Ozone-induced nasal type 2 immunity in mice is dependent on innate lymphoid cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54:782–91. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-01180C
- 77. Ong CB, Kumagai K, Brooks PT, Brandenberger C, Lewandowski RP, Jackson-Humbles DN, et al. Ozone-induced type 2 immunity in nasal airways. development and lymphoid cell dependence in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54:331–40. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0165OC
- Obeso D, Mera-Berriatua L, Rodriguez-Coira J, Rosace D, Fernandez P, Martin-Antoniano IA, et al. Multi-omics analysis points to altered platelet functions in severe food-associated respiratory allergy. *Allergy.* (2018) 73:2137–49. doi: 10.1111/all.13563
- Gross KB, White HJ, Sargent NE. The effect of ozone inhalation on metabolic functioning of vascular endothelium and on ventilatory function. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (1991) 109:336–51. doi: 10.1016/0041-008X(91)90180-M
- Robertson S, Colombo ES, Lucas SN, Hall PR, Febbraio M, Paffett ML, et al. CD36 mediates endothelial dysfunction downstream of

circulating factors induced by O3 exposure. *Toxicol Sci.* (2013) 134:304–11. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kft107

- Plopper CG, Dungworth DL, Tyler WS. Morphometric evaluation of pulmonary lesions in rats exposed to ozone. Am J Pathol. (1973) 71:395–408.
- Plopper CG, Dungworth DL, Tyler WS. Pulmonary lesions in rats exposed to ozone. A correlated light and electron microscopic study. *Am J Pathol.* (1973) 71:375–94.
- Dinarello CA. Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2018) 281:8–27. doi: 10.1111/imr.12621
- Liew FY, Girard JP, Turnquist HR. Interleukin-33 in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:676–89. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.95
- Molofsky AB, Savage AK, Locksley RM. Interleukin-33 in tissue homeostasis, injury, and inflammation. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:1005–19. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.006
- Michaudel C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Quesniaux V, Chung KF, Wiegman C, et al. Interleukin-1alpha mediates ozone-induced myeloid differentiation factor-88-dependent epithelial tissue injury and inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:916. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00916
- Cayrol C, Girard JP. IL-33: an alarmin cytokine with crucial roles in innate immunity, inflammation and allergy. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2014) 31:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.09.004
- Martin NT, Martin MU. Interleukin 33 is a guardian of barriers and a local alarmin. Nat Immunol. (2016) 17:122–31. doi: 10.1038/ni.3370
- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity*. (2005) 23:479–90. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- Lefrancais E, Duval A, Mirey E, Roga S, Espinosa E, Cayrol C, et al. Central domain of IL-33 is cleaved by mast cell proteases for potent activation of group-2 innate lymphoid cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:15502–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1410700111
- Lefrancais E, Roga S, Gautier V, Gonzalez-de-Peredo A, Monsarrat B, Girard JP, et al. IL-33 is processed into mature bioactive forms by neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2012) 109:1673–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1115884109
- Carriere V, Roussel L, Ortega N, Lacorre DA, Americh L, Aguilar L, et al. IL-33, the IL-1-like cytokine ligand for ST2 receptor, is a chromatinassociated nuclear factor *in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:282–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606854104
- Besnard AG, Togbe D, Guillou N, Erard F, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B. IL-33activated dendritic cells are critical for allergic airway inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1675–86. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041033
- 94. Yousefi S, Sharma SK, Stojkov D, Germic N, Aeschlimann S, Ge MQ, et al. Oxidative damage of SP-D abolishes control of eosinophil extracellular DNA trap formation. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2018) 104:205–14. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3AB1117-455R
- Poljsak B, Fink R. The protective role of antioxidants in the defence against ROS/RNS-mediated environmental pollution. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2014) 2014:671539. doi: 10.1155/2014/671539
- Wiegman CH, Li F, Clarke CJ, Jazrawi E, Kirkham P, Barnes PJ, et al. A comprehensive analysis of oxidative stress in the ozoneinduced lung inflammation mouse model. *Clin Sci.* (2014) 126:425–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20130039
- Li F, Wiegman C, Seiffert JM, Zhu J, Clarke C, Chang Y, et al. Effects of N-acetylcysteine in ozone-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease model. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e80782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080782
- Zhang P, Li F, Wiegman CH, Zhang M, Hong Y, Gong J, et al. Inhibitory effect of hydrogen sulfide on ozone-induced airway inflammation, oxidative stress, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 52:129–37. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0415OC
- 99. Russell KE, Chung KF, Clarke CJ, Durham AL, Mallia P, Footitt J, et al. The MIF antagonist ISO-1 attenuates corticosteroid-insensitive inflammation and airways hyperresponsiveness in an ozone-induced model of COPD. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146102
- 100. Zhang M, Fei X, Zhang GQ, Zhang PY, Li F, Bao WP, et al. Role of neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody on chronic ozone-induced airway inflammation in mice. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2016) 83:247–56. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2016.06.041

- 101. Cui Y, Gao CQ, Sun G, Zhou Y, Qu F, Tang C, et al. L-arginine promotes DNA repair in cultured bronchial epithelial cells exposed to ozone: involvement of the ATM pathway. *Cell Biol Int.* (2011) 35:273–80. doi: 10.1042/CBI200 90252
- 102. Schuller-Levis GB, Gordon RE, Park E, Pendino KJ, Laskin DL. Taurine protects rat bronchioles from acute ozone-induced lung inflammation and hyperplasia. *Exp Lung Res.* (1995) 21:877–88. doi: 10.3109/019021495090 31768
- 103. Stefanska J, Sokolowska M, Sarniak A, Wlodarczyk A, Doniec Z, Nowak D, et al. Apocynin decreases hydrogen peroxide and nitrate concentrations in exhaled breath in healthy subjects. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther.* (2010) 23:48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2009. 09.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: DT is employee at ArtImmune.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sokolowska, Quesniaux, Akdis, Chung, Ryffel and Togbe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ozone Pollution: A Major Health Hazard Worldwide

Junfeng (Jim) Zhang^{1,2,3*}, Yongjie Wei^{4,5*} and Zhangfu Fang³

¹ Nicholas School of the Environment and Duke Global Health Institute, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ² Global Health Research Center, Duke Kunshan University, Kunshan, China, ³ Guangzhou Institute of Respiratory Health, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ State Key Laboratory of Environmental Criteria and Risk Assessment & Environmental Standards Institute, Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, Beijing, China, ⁵ Center for Global Health, School of Public Health, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bernahrd Ryffel, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

Reviewed by:

Juerg Hamacher, Lindenhofspital, Switzerland Manoussa Ethel Fanny, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, United States François Erard, University of Orléans, France

*Correspondence:

Junfeng (Jim) Zhang junfeng.zhang@duke.edu Yongjie Wei weiyj@craes.org.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 August 2019 Accepted: 09 October 2019 Published: 31 October 2019

Citation:

Zhang J, Wei Y and Fang Z (2019) Ozone Pollution: A Major Health Hazard Worldwide. Front. Immunol. 10:2518. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02518

Oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) released into the atmosphere can react in the presence of solar irradiation, leading to ozone formation in the troposphere. Historically, before clean air regulations were implemented to control NO_x and VOCs, ozone concentrations were high enough to exert acute effects such as eye and nose irritation, respiratory disease emergencies, and lung function impairment. At or above current regulatory standards, day-to-day variations in ozone concentrations have been positively associated with asthma incidence and daily non-accidental mortality rate. Emerging evidence has shown that both short-term and long-term exposures to ozone, at concentrations below the current regulatory standards, were associated with increased mortality due to respiratory and cardiovascular diseases. The pathophysiology to support the epidemiologic associations between mortality and morbidity and ozone centers at the chemical and toxicological property of ozone as a strong oxidant, being able to induce oxidative damages to cells and the lining fluids of the airways, and immune-inflammatory responses within and beyond the lung. These new findings add substantially to the existing challenges in controlling ozone pollution. For example, in the United States in 2016, 90% of non-compliance to the national ambient air quality standards was due to ozone whereas only 10% was due to particulate matter and other regulated pollutants. Climate change, through creating atmospheric conditions favoring ozone formation, has been and will continue to increase ozone concentrations in many parts of world. Worldwide, ozone is responsible for several hundreds of thousands of premature deaths and tens of millions of asthma-related emergency room visits annually. To combat ozone pollution globally, more aggressive reductions in fossil fuel consumption are needed to cut NO_x and VOCs as well as greenhouse gas emissions. Meanwhile, preventive and therapeutic strategies are needed to alleviate the detrimental effects of ozone especially in more susceptible individuals. Interventional trials in humans are needed to evaluate the efficacy of antioxidants and ozone-scavenging compounds that have shown promising results in animal studies.

Keywords: ozone, climate change, air quality standards, cardiovascular health effects, respiratory health effects, mitigation strategies

57

SOURCES AND CHEMISTRY

Ozone, the triplet oxygen (O_3) , is formed from the reaction between dioxygen (O2, the normal oxygen molecule) and a singlet oxygen (O, oxygen atom) in the presence of a third-body molecule able to absorb the heat of the reaction. The highly reactive and short-lived singlet oxygen (O) can be generated via the photolysis of nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) or ionization of O₂. Background ozone is present in both the stratosphere and the troposphere. Stratospheric ozone is concentrated in the tropopause (~between 8 and 15 km above the ground), a region that is called ozone layer. Stratospheric ozone is nicknamed "good" ozone, because the ozone layer plays a vital role in absorbing ultraviolet (UV-B) rays that are harmful to living beings on the earth. Since direct contact with ozone at the ground level can cause damages to living cells, organs, and species including humans, animals, and plants, tropospheric or ground-level ozone is nicknamed "bad" ozone.

There is a natural influx of ozone from the stratosphere to the troposphere, peaking normally in the spring months when the vertical air movement reaches its maximum in the northern hemisphere. This influx contributes to background levels of ground-level ozone. The predominant source of tropospheric ozone, however, is the photochemical reactions involving volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and oxides of nitrogen (NOx), mainly comprised of NO₂ and nitric oxide (NO). In the absence of or at very low concentrations of VOCs or carbon monoxide (CO), ozone reaches a steady-state concentration depending on solar intensity, ambient temperature, and the ratio of NO₂ concentration to NO concentration. Under this condition, one NO2 molecule is converted via photolysis into one O3 molecule and one NO molecule; and ozone is, in turn, consumed by NO to regenerate a NO₂ molecule. This cycle results in zero accumulation of ozone concentration. However, VOCs or CO participate in a series of complex photochemical reactions to produce free radicals that compete with ozone to react with NO. The net effects include the accumulation of ozone, the oxidation of VOCs into oxygenated organic compounds, and the formation of nitrogen-containing compound, and the oxidation of CO into CO2. Because many of the oxygenated and nitrogencontaining organic compounds are present in the condensed phase due to their low volatility, they are called secondary organic aerosols (SOAs). The whole mixture composed of ozone, SOAs, and their gaseous precursors is called photochemical smog. The production of ozone in the troposphere is depicted in Figure 1.

This ozone formation mechanism (**Figure 1**) explains why elevated ozone concentrations are found in an increasing number of places around the world where anthropogenic emissions of NO_x , VOCs, and CO have been increasing. The combustion of fossil fuels occurs at a high temperature favorable for NO_x formation, and worldwide increases in fossil-fuel derived energy (for electricity generation, transportation, and household cooking and heating) are responsible for increasing emissions of NO_x . Major anthropogenic sources of VOCs include vehicular exhaust, fugitive evaporation of gasoline and other gaseous fuels (e.g., natural gas and propane), biomass and fossil fuel combustion, and industrial solvent use. A recent study found



FIGURE 1 | Ozone in the stratosphere can move downward to the troposphere, contributing to the "background" level of ground-level ozone. However, high levels of ozone in the troposphere are due to photochemical reactions involving volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and oxides of nitrogen (NO_x: NO, and NO₂). Anthropogenic emissions (e.g., fossil fuel combustion) are responsible for NO_x and mainly responsible for VOCs and CO. Trees also emit certain VOCs (e.g., isoprene). PM_{2.5} from primary emission sources can react with (consume) free radicals (e.g., HO₂) responsible for ozone formation, which partly explains the observations in certain areas where ozone level increased while PM_{2.5} level decreased. *hv*, photon; VOCs, volatile organic compounds; CO, carbon monoxide; NO, nitric oxide; NO₂, nitrogen dioxide; NO_x, NO and NO₂; HO, the hydroxyl radical; HO₂, The hydroperoxy radical; PM_{2.5}, Particulate matter with a diameter of 2.5 μ m or less.

that volatile chemicals released from consumer products (e.g., pesticides, coatings, printing inks, adhesives, cleaning agents, and personal care products) have emerged as a large urban source of VOCs (1). Natural vegetation emissions of certain VOCs (e.g., isoprene) also contribute to ozone formation especially at the regional scale (2–5).

Ozone formation depends on solar intensity that is directly associated with atmospheric temperature. Ironically, with a decrease in ambient concentrations of carbonaceous aerosols (e.g., soot), emitted from combustion of coal, diesel, and biomass, atmospheric visibility increases, and consequently solar intensity increases, favoring ozone formation. More importantly, particulate matter (e.g., particles with an aerodynamic diameter equal to or smaller than 2.5 μ m, noted as PM_{2.5}) can serve as a sink of free radicals responsible for ozone formation. A recent study showed that a 40% reduction in PM_{2.5} from 2013 to 2017 in the North China Plain was partly responsible for an increasing ozone trend (at 1–3 ppb per year) during the period of 2013–2017 observed in megacity clusters of eastern China (6).

IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON GROUND-LEVEL OZONE

Ozone itself is a greenhouse gas in the atmosphere. Hence, increasing ground-level ozone contributes to global warming. On the other hand, a warming climate favors the formation and accumulation of ozone in the atmosphere mainly through

two physicochemical mechanisms. First, in certain parts of the world, a warming climate changes humidity and wind conditions, leading to decreases in the frequency of surface cyclones. The resulting more stagnant atmospheric condition decreases the dispersion of NO_x and VOCs and prolongs the time for the reactions to produce ozone. Second, ozone-forming reactions are typically enhanced by increased atmospheric temperatures. Based on these climate-induced changes in the atmospheric stability (air stagnation) and temperature, it is predicted that by the year 2050, warming alone may increase by 68% the number of ozone-standard exceedance days across the eastern United States (7). Another study predicted that changes in regional climate and globally enhanced ozone would increase ground-level ozone over most of the United States. More specially, it is predicted that the 95th percentile for daily 8-h maximum ozone would increase from 79 ppb in 2012 to 87 ppb in 2050 (8). Similarly, another predictive analysis, through integrating data from climate model outputs and historical meteorology and ozone observations across 19 urban communities in southeastern United States, estimated an increase of 0.43 ppb (95% CI: 0.14-0.75) in average ozone concentration during the 2040s compared to 2000 due to climate change alone (9).

Climate change can also prolong the ozone season. For example, high ozone concentrations usually occur in the summer in the United States. However, ozone during the fall reached the summer level in several Octobers in the 2000s and in 2010 over the southeastern United States. This was attributed to enhanced emissions of biogenic isoprene (a VOC precursor of ozone) from water-stressed plants under a drying and warming condition (10). This finding suggests that occurrences of a drying and warming fall in the future may lead to an extension of the ozone season from summer to fall in the regions with significant biogenic VOC emissions.

AMBIENT CONCENTRATIONS IN REFERENCE OF AIR QUALITY STANDARDS

Ozone is in gas phase under typical atmospheric conditions (temperature and pressure) and is commonly measured as mixing ratio, i.e., parts per million (ppm) or parts per billion (ppb). At the standard conditions for temperature (25°C) and pressure (1 atmosphere), 1 ppb ozone equals 1.97 μ g/m³. Based on its commonly recognized health effects, including causing breathing problems, triggering asthma attacks, reducing lung function, and increasing incidence of respiratory diseases, ozone is one of the regulated air pollutants in many countries and has a recommended limit by the World Health Organization (WHO). The current WHO Air Quality Guidelines for ambient (outdoor) ozone is 100 μ g/m³ (~50 ppb) measured as 8-h maximum moving average within a day¹. In the United States, the current National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for ozone include a 1-h standard (1-h maximum within a day)

at 120 ppb and an 8-h standard (8-h daily max) at 70 ppb. The rationales for having two standards with different averaging times are as follows.

Historically, the NAAQS only had a 1-h standard, as a sharp peak of ozone concentration typically lasted for 1 h or a bit longer during the afternoon and evening hours in Los Angeles, California, and other large cities. This peak concentration was high enough to cause acute effects such as irritation to the eyes and the respiratory tract, lung function reduction, difficulty to breathe, and increased emergency room visits. However, this feature does not occur in most areas of the United States, because the regional transport of ozone precursors prolonged the hours of elevated ozone concentrations. Epidemiological studies have found that ozone concentrations averaged over a longer period (such as 8 h instead of 1 h) within a day are a more health-relevant indicator of ozone exposure. In fact, as of June 15, 2005, the 1h ozone standard is no longer applied to areas designated with respect to the 8-h ozone standard, which includes most of the United States, except for portions of 10 states².

Since the enaction of the U.S. Clean Air Act Amendment in 1970, remarkable efforts were made to control the emissions of the two ozone precursors (and other criteria pollutants). From 1980 to 2017, total national emissions of NO_X and VOCs were reduced by 61 and 54%, respectively. Consequently, there was a 32% decrease in national average of daily maximum 8h averages of ozone measured at 200 monitoring sites across the United States³. Despite this nationwide decrease and more drastic decrease in some ozone "hot spots" such as Los Angeles and Atlanta, Georgia^{4,5}, 100.6 million people nationwide (or nearly one in every three people) lived in U.S. counties where ozone levels exceeded the NAAQS standard of 70 ppb in 2017 (In contrast, much fewer people, 58 million in total lived in counties where $PM_{2.5}$, PM_{10} , SO_2 , or lead exceeded the NAAQS)³. If the WHO-recommended 8-h limit of 50 ppb is used, there would be even more people living in places with ozone exceeding the health-based limit.

Although ambient ozone concentrations have showed a declining trend in the United States and similarly in Western Europe and Japan in the past decades⁶, evidence suggests that global average ozone concentrations are increasing. For example, ozone measured at Mt Waliguan Observatory (a global "background" site) on the Tibetan Plateau over the period of 1994–2013 has shown an increasing trend at 0.2–0.3 ppb per year during spring and autumn (11). The springtime ozone increase was partly (~60%) attributed to increased stratosphere-to-troposphere transport, whereas rising Asian anthropogenic emissions of ozone precursors were the key driver of increasing autumnal ozone at this site. This finding is alarming, because ozone is generally considered too reactive to be transported afar. However, this demonstrates that NO_x and VOCs emitted in more

 $^{^{1}} https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health$

²https://www.epa.gov/criteria-air-pollutants/naaqs-table

³https://www.epa.gov/air-trends/ozone-trends

⁴https://calepa.ca.gov/

⁵https://www.epa.gov/ga

⁶http://www.futureearth.org/blog/2018-feb-5/powerful-new-dataset-reveals-patterns-global-ozone-pollution

populous regions can undergo long-range transport and affect "background" ozone level. More importantly, this finding also suggests an increasing ozone trend not only in places where NO_x and VOCs were originally emitted but also along the air trajectories from precursor sources to the background site.

Although the air quality focus has been on particulate matter, especially PM2.5, in rapidly developing economies such as China and India in the recent years, the "invisible" ozone pollution is increasingly recognized as a major health hazard. While annual PM2.5 average concentrations showed a decreasing trend in many cities of China (12), ground-level ozone concentrations measured in some monitoring sites in China showed an increasing trend in the past several years. For example, observations made at a rural site (Dadianzi) 100 km northeast Beijing showed a steady increase in annual averages of the 8-h daily max ozone concentrations from 2004 to 2015 (13). Consistently, a recent analysis of ground-level ozone concentrations measured at nearly 1,000 sites across China also found an increasing trend of summertime ozone in northeastern China from 2013 to 2017 (6). This increase was attributed to changes in anthropogenic emissions of ozone precursors as well as reductions in PM2.5 concentrations as described earlier. Due to the strong governmental efforts to primarily control PM_{2.5} in China, anthropogenic emissions of NO_x have decreased substantially in most urban areas of China (a 21% nationwide reduction) from 2013 to 2017 (6). However, VOC emissions have remained relatively unchanged. Typically decreasing NO_x would increase ozone under VOC-limited conditions, which has been the case for many urban areas of China. All these explain that in summer months, daily air quality reports released to the public in recent years have often shown more days when the ozone standard was exceeded than when PM2.5 or other regulated pollutants exceeded the standards in many cities of China. This trend in China appears to follow the pattern of the United States where non-compliance to ozone standard has been more frequently observed in more places than that to PM2.5 or other pollutants.

HUMAN EXPOSURE AND DOSIMETRY

It is the fundamental principle of toxicology that "dose makes poison." It is common in air pollution epidemiologic studies to use ambient concentrations as a proxy for exposure or, more strictly speaking, dose. This approach omits interand intra-person differences in breathing rate and does not consider concentration differences between indoor and outdoor environments. Among common or the criteria pollutants defined by the US EPA, ozone has unique characteristics that can lead to substantial errors for using ambient ozone concentration as a proxy for dose.

First, ozone is chemically reactive and can be more effectively scavenged by building surfaces. In airtight buildings with doors and windows closed, indoor ozone levels are typically smaller than 20% of outdoor levels. In contrast, for leaky buildings and for building with windows frequently open, indoor concentrations can reach >70% outdoor concentrations. Because typically people spend the majority of time indoors, using outdoor concentration as a surrogate for ozone exposure would

lead to greater overestimation of exposure for people living or working in more airtight buildings than for those living in less airtight buildings. This systematic exposure assessment error was used to explain a difference in ozone effect estimates in U.S populations living in buildings with different indoor–outdoor air exchange rates¹. Recent advancement in small and low-cost ozone sensors makes personal monitoring or indoor monitoring more affordable and feasible. More accurate ozone monitoring can be used in future studies of ozone epidemiology and can also aid data-based personal prevention actions.

Second, outdoor ozone concentrations exhibit a substantial seasonal variation in most of the places. This adds challenges to assess the health effect of long-term exposure in epidemiological studies. Unlike using annual averages for other pollutants such as PM_{2.5}, warm-season averages have often been used (14, 15), assuming that the health risk associated with lowerlevel ozone in cold months is negligible. Accordingly, certain ozone control policies have been implemented only during photochemical smog months. In the United States, for example, gasoline is formulated with higher oxygen content (typically with increased fraction of ethanol) in warmer months to reduce VOC emissions that contribute to ozone formation. However, accumulating evidence suggests that there may not exist a threshold ozone concentration below which the risk is "zero." Therefore, completely ignoring cold months in ozone control strategy may need to be revisited.

Third, outdoor ozone typically exhibits a distinct diurnal pattern with high concentrations during afternoon and early evening hours. Hourly concentrations of ozone are usually reported at ambient monitoring stations. For regulatory purposes, these hourly data are computed as moving averages to identify maximum 1- and 8-h concentrations (based on moving averages) within a day. In epidemiological studies, using concentrations with different averaging times has different toxicological assumptions. Using 1-h max concentration is to assess the acute effect of peak exposure, whereas using 8-h daily max concentration assumes that lower concentrations during the rest of 16h do not contribute to an adverse effect. It is also possible that either 1- or 8-h max concentrations were simply used due to the data availability in previous epidemiologic studies of short-term ozone effects (16-20). In addressing exposure to low-level concentrations (such as concentrations below the current air quality standard), however, 24-h average may be another relevant measure of daily exposure, at least for certain outcomes (21-24).

HEALTH EFFECTS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT OZONE REGULATIONS

Following a formal process of an extensive literature review and a critical analysis, the US EPA summarized its evaluation of available evidence in the 2013 US EPA Integrated Science Assessment for Ozone⁷. Based on this assessment, the national ambient air quality standard for 8-h daily max ozone was revised from 75 to 70 ppb in 2015. The health effects evidence used to

⁷https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/isa/recordisplay.cfm?deid=247492

support these revisions include mainly the following, which has been well-demonstrated in recent reviews (25, 26).

- Ozone can cause adverse respiratory effects such as difficulty of breathing (e.g., shortness of breath and pain when taking a deep breath) and inflammation of the airways in the general population. These effects can aggravate lung diseases such as asthma, emphysema, and chronic bronchitis [chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)].
- Long-term exposure to ozone is likely to be one of many causes of asthma development.
- Ozone exposure is likely to cause premature deaths, and the evidence is stronger for mortality due to respiratory illnesses than for that due to other diseases.
- Children are at increased risk from ozone exposure, as children have a relatively higher dose per body mass and children's lung is still developing.

Does this revised standard imply that the effects listed above would not occur when 8-h daily max ozone concentrations are below 70 ppb? Although from a regulatory standard point, the public may be informed that it is "safe" to breathe the air when air quality meets the standards, it is easy to see that the standards are set somewhat arbitrary. For example, the WHO guideline for 8-h daily max ozone of 100 μ g/m³ (~50 ppb) is lower than the EPA standard, but the evidence to support this lower limit is similar to that in supporting a higher limit by the US EPA, with additional effects presented by the WHO as follows¹:

- Ozone can cause coughing and sore or scratchy throat.
- Ozone exposure makes the lungs more susceptible to infection.
- Ozone continues to damage the lungs even when the symptoms have disappeared.

Although WHO also considers that ozone is a cause of COPD, this evidence was not strong enough in the 2013 EPA integrated science assessment. Other effects of ozone reported include the following. On high ozone days, there have been increased school absences, increased visits to emergency rooms, and increased hospital admissions (27–30). Long-term exposures to ozone have been associated with lower lung function and deteriorated or abnormal lung development in children (31, 32). In both the WHO guideline and the EPA ozone standard, more susceptible populations are considered. In addition to people with preexisting respiratory diseases such as asthma and COPD, children, older adults, and people who are active outdoors (especially outdoor workers) are more vulnerable to ozone exposure.

IMMUNE-INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES AND EMERGING EFFECTS

As a potent oxidizing gas, ambient ozone is well-known to cause oxidative damages to the cells and the lining fluids of the airways, thereby inducing immune-inflammatory responses in the lung. Recent findings have shown that innate immunity is implicated in ozone-induced airway inflammation, such as the involvement of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) in mice (33, 34). Ozone exposure contributes to the increased expression of mRNA of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and interleukin-8 (IL-8) in human alveolar macrophages (35) and increased concentrations of IL-6, IL-8, and fibrinogenic proteins in human airway epithelial cells (36). A seminal work by Koren et al. demonstrated that an acute exposure to ozone (0.4 ppm for 2 h) resulted in 8.2-fold increase of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) in bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and enhanced level of inflammatory mediators in the lower airways of humans (37). Krishna et al. further confirmed that ozone-induced neutrophil influx in human peripheral airways was partly mediated by IL-8 (38). Ozone exposure resulted in significant neutrophilic inflammation, reflected with increased levels of myeloperoxidase (MPO) in the supernatant of induced sputum samples from healthy subjects (39, 40).

These immune-inflammatory responses to ozone may "spill over" to the circulatory system, which may help explain emerging evidence on the cardiovascular and neuronal effects of ozone. Since the 2013 EPA assessment was released, several studies conducted in North America further confirmed significant positive associations, robust to controlling for co-pollutants, between short-term ozone exposure and one or more of the following mortality classifications: cardiovascular, dysrhythmia, cardiometabolic, and ischemic heart disease. A meta-analysis of 53 studies showed a weak but significant association between ozone and hospital admission and mortality from stroke (41). Significant associations of ozone were found with ischemic stroke occurrence in Seoul (42) and with non-myocardial infarction out-of-hospital cardiac arrests in Helsinki (43). Although Jerrett et al. (44) in the original analysis of an American Cancer Society cohort found that ozone exposure was associated with respiratory but not cardiovascular mortality, in the followup study using the same cohort, Turner et al. (14) found a significant association of long-term exposure to ozone with cardiovascular mortality. A recent cohort study by Lim et al. further confirmed this association between long-term exposure to ozone and increased cardiovascular mortality (45). However, there have also been epidemiological studies reporting null findings between long-term ozone exposure and cardiovascular mortality in Europe (46, 47).

Initiated in the lung, the immune-inflammatory responses to ozone may ultimately contribute to increased cardiovascular mortality and morbidity via two major pathways affecting hemostasis and autonomic tone. Increased exposure to ambient ozone has been associated with increased levels of hemostatic markers, including fibrinogen (48-50), von Willebrand factor (49), and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (48). Xia et al. revealed that short-term exposure to ambient ozone can elevate serum levels of ACE and ET-1, decrease their DNA methylation, and alter the lipid metabolism, which may be partly responsible for increased blood pressure and vascular endothelial disfunction (51). Day et al. found that an increase in 24-h or 2-week average exposure to ozone was associated with increased p-selectin (a soluble plasma marker of platelet activation), suggesting that ozone exposure increases the risk of thrombosis (21). Wang et al. found that increased ambient ozone exposure was associated with increased rate of carotid wall thickness progression and risk of

new plaque formation in healthy adults (52). Jia et al. showed that ambient ozone exposure within several minutes can decrease heart rate variability in the healthy elderly subjects, suggesting that a dysfunction of cardiac autonomic nervous system may be involved (53). In controlled human exposure studies, a few hours of ozone exposure resulted in changes in markers of inflammation and fibrinolysis at 300 ppb and changes in cardiac autonomic function at 110-300 ppb (54, 55). Although one study found a blunting of exercise-induced blood pressure increases (56) and another found increased systolic blood pressure in response to ozone exposure (57), other such studies found increases in diastolic blood pressure to a co-exposure of ozone and concentrated ambient PM but not to ozone alone (58, 59). In contrast, animal studies with high ozone exposures have generated more consistent findings on cardiovascular effects of ozone through altering vascular tone (60-62), mRNA for genes encoding thrombogenic factors (63), and atherogenesis (60).

Additionally, deleterious effects of ozone exposure on the central nervous system (CNS) are emerging (64, 65). Neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease, have been linked to ozone exposures in recent epidemiologic studies (66, 67). The following toxicological studies in rodents have demonstrated the CNS effects of ozone, shedding light on biological mechanisms to support the link between ozone exposure and outcomes related to CNS. Rodríguez et al. showed that ozone exposure resulted in the activation of apoptotic death in rat hippocampus mediated by endoplasmic reticulum stress (68). Bello-Medina et al. found that rats chronically exposed to ozone exhibited deficits in learning and memory loss associated with deafferentation in hippocampus-related neurons (69). Chronic exposure to low-dose ozone, on the other hand, could enhance systemic and hippocampal Th17/IL-17A immune responses, which may be partly responsible for neurodegenerative effects in rats (70).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Ozone pollution is a worldwide health hazard. In many parts of the world, as described above, ozone concentrations are projected to increase, leading to increases in ozone-associated mortalities and morbidities. A study reported a 6% increase in premature deaths attributable to ozone globally from 1990 to 2010 (71), although the estimates (143,000 deaths in 1990 and 152,000 deaths in 2010) seem to be substantially lower than the estimated reported in other studies. In one study, for example, anthropogenic ozone was associated with an estimated 700,000 \pm 300,000 respiratory mortalities in 2000 (72). In another study, exposure to ozone was responsible for 254,000 deaths from COPD alone in 2015 (73). Other ozone-associated mortality estimates include 316,000 respiratory deaths in China (15) and \sim 23,500 in the European Union⁸. The relatively large gap in the estimates across studies is due to uncertainties associated with and inconsistence in concentration-effect relationship and ozone exposure assessment. These estimates were based on respiratory effects alone, due to uncertainties associated with the current evidence on the cardiovascular effects. It is expected that the impact would be larger when other ozone effects were considered.

Ozone exposure was associated with large morbidity estimates. An estimated 9–23 million (8–20% of total) asthmarelated emergency room visits globally were attributable to ozone (74). A large multicity study in China showed that shortterm exposure to ambient ozone was associated with higher non-accidental and cardiovascular mortality (20). In addition, an estimated 23.0–40.3 million respiratory-related deaths were attributable to long-term O₃ exposure in 2016 (15). In the European Union, ozone in 2010 was responsible for 19,200 cases of respiratory hospital admissions, 86,000 cases of cardiovascular hospital admissions, and over 109,000,000 minor restricted activity days⁷. Disability adjust life years (DALY) lost attributable to ozone were estimated to be 6.3 ± 3.0 million years in 2000 (58) and 4.1 (95% CI: 1.6–6.8) million years from COPD alone in 2015 (73).

Disease burden attributable to ozone is expected to continue to rise in the future for two reasons. The first is the fact that ozone concentration is on the rise in many parts of the world as described earlier. For example, an estimated increase of 0.43 ppb in average ozone concentration, during the 2040s compared to 2000 due to climate change alone, would correspond to a 0.01% increase in mortality rate in 19 urban communities in southeastern United States (9). Relative to that in 2000, there will be a 14% increase in global ozone-related mortality (75). The second is anticipated improvement in our understanding of the ozone effects beyond the lung and improved characterization of the chronic effects of long-term exposure. The improved knowledge will likely add to ozone-associated disease burden that is currently uncounted for.

There remain significant challenges in ascertaining chronic ozone exposure and effects that are currently inconclusive. Epidemiological evidence is limited to support a causal relationship between the chronic exposure and mortality or morbidity, although progresses have been made in recent years by using large datasets. For example, an analysis of national databases found a positive association between increase in long-term ozone concentrations and an increased risk of respiratory diseases and death (44). Di et al. (76) analyzed the entire US Medicare population of 60 million older adults from the years 2000 through 2012 and found a positive association between annual averages of ozone and all-cause mortality rate. Using large hospital records, increased chronic ozone exposure was associated with increased asthma hospital admissions in children (27). Long-term ozone exposure (3year averages) has been associated with development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in at-risk critically ill patients, particularly in trauma patients and current smokers (77). By examining life expectancy at birth in 3,109 counties of the conterminous U.S. during 2002 to 2008 in relation to county-specific mean levels and rates of change in ozone concentrations, a study found that a 5 ppb $(10 \ \mu g/m^3)$ increase in long-term ozone concentration was associated with 0.25 year (95% CI: -0.30 to -0.19) lower life expectancy in males and 0.21 year (95% CI: -0.25 to -0.17) in females (78).

⁸http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/pdf/TSAP%20CBA.pdf

One of the challenges is to determine what is the best measure for long-term ozone exposure, given that ozone has distinct diurnal, and seasonal variations. A relevant question is whether repeated episodes of short-term high-level exposures can result in lasting health effects beyond the observed acute effects. Answering this question is not easy as some of the acute ozone effects are known to be reversible. What remains unknown is how much of the acute effects can be repaired or reversed between the episodes. At the meantime, people are constantly exposed to other air pollutants such as PM2.5. The co-exposure may affect the ability to repair the damage caused by acute ozone exposures. The natural fluctuation in ambient ozone concentration hence makes it challenging to examine chronic effects of short-term and long-term exposures. However, it is imperative to address such challenges in future studies of novel study design incorporating promising technologies in monitoring and computing ozone exposures with unprecedented accuracy and precision.

The large disease burden resulting from ozone pollution warrants persistent calls for control polices worldwide, but this is more urgent in developing countries where most of the attention is paid toward PM_{2.5} reductions. Based on the history of ozone control in the United States, aggregative regulatory actions to cut down anthropogenic emissions of NOx and VOCs have not necessarily resulted in sufficient reductions in ozone concentrations in certain areas of the United States. Part of the challenges is the "non-linear" relationship of ozone production with its precursors, as reducing one of the precursors may not necessarily lead to ozone reduction. Even within a metropolitan area, the optimal ratio of NO_x to VOCs associated with minimal ozone formation changes from day to day (even hour to hour) and from upwind to downwind. Sources of VOCs can be numerous and hard to characterize. Some known sources, such as household use of consumer chemicals and biogenic emissions, are difficult to control through regulatory actions. Although the fundamental chemistry of ozone formation is clear, ozone concentrations, and spatiotemporal distributions are specific to local meteorological conditions, local sources of NO_x and VOCs, and long-range transport of ozone and associated chemical species. For all these challenges, ozone pollution in developing countries is expected to be a long-term problem, and local and national polices should be developed or strengthened to persistently combat ozone pollution.

In the United States and developed countries with relatively better air quality, following decades of controls for NO_x and VOCs emissions, further controls of anthropogenic emissions via policy, and technological tools are becoming increasingly limited. Meanwhile, predictions of ozone levels in response to changing NO_x and VOC concentrations get harder with ozone concentrations approaching their "background" level. Yet, emerging evidence does not support a threshold for adverse effects of ozone (79, 80). Or if a threshold exists, it would have to be substantially lower than the current health-based regulatory standards or guidelines.

Considering all these challenges, it is imperative to use other means to reduce the health impact of ozone. During high ozone

hours, the public, especially children and those with preexisting health problems, is advised to avoid outdoor activities. Schools may be advised to cancel outdoor sports activities. Because indoor ozone levels are a small fraction of outdoor levels in airtight buildings with door/windows closed, this strategy can effectively reduce individuals' exposure to ozone. To further reduce outdoor exposure, individuals may consider wearing a face mask that can effectively scavenge ozone. Face masks rated N95 or higher can filter out $PM_{2.5}$ effectively and are widely available in the market worldwide. However, few models of face masks are designed to remove ozone. Making ozone forecasting available to the general public will enhance the effectiveness of such personal protection methods to reduce ozone exposure (81).

A wealth of data from animal studies and human studies are available in the literature to help understand pathophysiologic mechanisms by which ozone affects the lung. Relatively less is known to understand how ozone affects the cardiovascular health outcomes, although the immune-inflammatory responses initiated in the lung are thought to be the key in more downstream systemic effects. The mechanistic understanding appears to be sufficient to support the use of antioxidants or ozone scavenger to alleviate the ozone effects. For example, rodent studies confirmed that the use of N-acetylcysteine and sulfide salt can help prevent or recover the lung impairment caused by ozone (82, 83). Limited studies in humans have shown promising results. A randomized trial found that a daily supplement of vitamins C and E might provide some protection against acute nasal inflammatory response to ozone in asthmatic children (84). In a control human exposure study (2-h exposure to 400 ppb ozone vs. filtered air), healthy adults who had received a dietary antioxidant supplementation of a mixture of vitamin C, alpha-tocopherol, and vegetable cocktail exhibited a significantly smaller ozone-induced reduction in pulmonary function (85). Cohort and population-based interventional trials should be conducted in real-world settings to develop more targeted preventive or therapeutic strategies especially in vulnerable populations and individuals. This should be part of the overall strategy, along with air pollution control polices, to combat ozone pollution, a lasting worldwide health hazard.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ and YW: conception. JZ, YW, and ZF: drafting the manuscript, editing and revising the manuscript. All authors gave final approval for publishing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JZ wishes to thank Dr. Drew Day for compiling the evidence related to cardiovascular effects of ozone exposure, as part of his Ph.D. dissertation research at Duke University Nicholas School of the Environment, partly supported by Grant 51420105010 from the National Natural Science Foundation of China.

REFERENCES

- McDonald BC, de Gouw JA, Gilman JB, Jathar SH, Akherati A, Cappa CD, et al. Volatile chemical products emerging as largest petrochemical source of urban organic emissions. *Science*. (2018) 359:760–4. doi: 10.1126/science.aaq0524
- Fehsenfeld F, Calvert J, Fall R, Goldan P, Guenther AB, Hewitt CN, et al. Emissions of volatile organic compounds from vegetation and the implications for atmospheric chemistry. *Glob Biogeochem Cycles*. (1992) 6:389–430. doi: 10.1029/92GB02125
- Guenther A, Geron C, Pierce T, Lamb B, Harley P, Fall R. Natural emissions of non-methane volatile organic compounds, carbon monoxide, and oxides of nitrogen from North America. *Atmosph Environ.* (2000) 34:2205–30. doi: 10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00465-3
- Calfapietra C, Fares S, Loreto F. Volatile organic compounds from Italian vegetation and their interaction with ozone. *Environ Pollut*. (2009) 157:1478– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2008.09.048
- Calfapietra C, Fares S, Manes F, Morani A, Sgrigna G, Loreto F. Role of Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds (BVOC) emitted by urban trees on ozone concentration in cities: a review. *Environ Pollut*. (2013) 183:71– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.03.012
- Li K, Jacob DJ, Liao H, Shen L, Zhang Q, Bates KH. Anthropogenic drivers of 2013–2017 trends in summer surface ozone in China. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:422–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1812168116
- Bell ML, Goldberg R, Hogrefe C, Kinney PL, Knowlton K, Lynn B, et al. Climate change, ambient ozone, and health in 50 US cities. *Clim Change*. (2007) 82:61–76. doi: 10.1007/s10584-006-9166-7
- Pfister G, Walters S, Lamarque JF, Fast J, Barth M, Wong J, et al. Projections of future summertime ozone over the US. JGR: atmospheres (2014) 119:5559– 82. doi: 10.1002/2013JD020932
- Chang HH, Zhou J, Fuentes M. Impact of climate change on ambient ozone level and mortality in southeastern United States. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2010) 7:2866–80. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7072866
- Zhang Y, Wang Y. Climate-driven ground-level ozone extreme in the fall over the Southeast United States. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:10025– 30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1602563113
- Xu W, Xu X, Lin M, Lin W, Tarasick D, Tang J, et al. Long-term trends of surface ozone and its influencing factors at the Mt Waliguan GAW station, China-Part 2: the roles of anthropogenic emissions and climate variability. *Atmos Chem Phys.* (2018) 18:773–98. doi: 10.5194/acp-18-773-2018
- Ma Z, Hu X, Sayer AM, Levy R, Zhang Q, Xue Y, et al. Satellite-based spatiotemporal trends in PM2. 5 concentrations: China, 2004–2013. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2015) 124:184–92. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409481
- Ma Z, Xu J, Quan W, Zhang Z, Lin W, Xu X. Significant increase of surface ozone at a rural site, north of eastern China. *Atmos Chem Phys.* (2016) 16:3969–77. doi: 10.5194/acp-16-3969-2016
- Turner MC, Jerrett M, Pope III CA, Krewski D, Gapstur SM, Diver WR, et al. Long-term ozone exposure and mortality in a large prospective study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:1134–42. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201508-1633OC
- Malley CS, Henze DK, Kuylenstierna JCI, Vallack HW, Davila Y, Anenberg SC, et al. Updated global estimates of respiratory mortality in adults >/=30 years of age attributable to long-term ozone exposure. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2017) 125:087021. doi: 10.1289/EHP1390
- Strosnider HM, Chang HH, Darrow LA, Liu Y, Vaidyanathan A, Strickland MJ. Age-specific associations of ozone and PM_{2.5} with respiratory emergency department visits in the US. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019) 199:882–90. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201806-1147OC
- Lin M, Chen Y, Villeneuve PJ, Burnett RT, Lemyre L, Hertzman C, et al. Gaseous air pollutants and asthma hospitalization of children with low household income in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2004) 159:294–303. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwh043
- Neidell M, Kinney PL. Estimates of the association between ozone and asthma hospitalizations that account for behavioral responses to air quality information. *Environ Sci Policy*. (2010) 13:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2009.12.006
- 19. Nhung NTT, Schindler C, Dien TM, Probst-Hensch N, Perez L, Kunzli N. Acute effects of ambient air pollution on lower respiratory infections in

Hanoi children: an eight-year time series study. *Environ Int.* (2018) 110:139–48. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2017.10.024

- Yin P, Chen R, Wang L, Meng X, Liu C, Niu Y, et al. Ambient ozone pollution and daily mortality: a nationwide study in 272 Chinese cities. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2017) 125:117006. doi: 10.1289/EHP1849
- Day D, Xiang J, Mo J, Li F, Chung M, Gong J, et al. Association of ozone exposure with cardiorespiratory pathophysiologic mechanisms in healthy adults. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2017) 177:1344–53. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.2842
- Di Q, Dai L, Wang Y, Zanobetti A, Choirat C, Schwartz JD, et al. Association of short-term exposure to air pollution with mortality in older adults. *JAMA*. (2017) 318:2446–56. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.17923
- Dai Y, Qiu H, Sun S, Yang Y, Lin H, Tian L. Age-dependent effect of ambient ozone on emergency asthma hospitalizations in Hong Kong. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1532–4.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.006
- Sun Q, Wang W, Chen C, Ban J, Xu D, Zhu P, et al. Acute effect of multiple ozone metrics on mortality by season in 34 Chinese counties in 2013–2015. J Intern Med. (2018) 283:481–8. doi: 10.1111/joim.12724
- Nuvolone D, Petri D, Voller F. The effects of ozone on human health. *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* (2018) 25:8074–88. doi: 10.1007/s11356-017-9239-3
- Koman PD, Mancuso P. Ozone exposure, cardiopulmonary health, and obesity: a substantive review. *Chem Res Toxicol.* (2017) 30:1384–95. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrestox.7b00077
- Lin S, Liu X, Le LH, Hwang SA. Chronic exposure to ambient ozone and asthma hospital admissions among children. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2008) 116:1725–30. doi: 10.1289/ehp.11184
- Strickland MJ1, Darrow LA, Klein M, Flanders WD, Sarnat JA, Waller LA, et al. Short-term associations between ambient air pollutants and pediatric asthma emergency department visits. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:307–16. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200908-12010C
- Malig BJ, Pearson DL, Chang YB, Broadwin R, Basu R, Green RS, et al. A timestratified case-crossover study of ambient ozone exposure and emergency department visits for specific respiratory diagnoses in California (2005-2008). *Environ Health Perspect.* (2016) 124:745–53. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409495
- 30. Tian Y, Liu H, Zhao Z, Xiang X, Li M, Juan J, et al. Association between ambient air pollution and daily hospital admissions for ischemic stroke: a nationwide time-series analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2018) 15:e1002668. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002668
- Gauderman WJ, Avol E, Gilliland F, Vora H, Thomas D, Berhane K, et al. The effect of air pollution on lung development from 10 to 18 years of age. N Engl J Med. (2004) 351:1057–67. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa040610
- 32. Gauderman WJ, Gilliland GF, Vora H, Avol E, Stram D, McConnell R, et al. Association between air pollution and lung function growth in southern California children: results from a second cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2002) 166:76–84. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2111021
- 33. Kumagai K, Lewandowski RP, Jackson-Humbles DN, Buglak N, Li N, White K, et al. Innate lymphoid cells mediate pulmonary eosinophilic inflammation, airway mucous cell metaplasia, and type 2 immunity in mice exposed to ozone. *Toxicol pathol.* (2017) 45:692–704. doi: 10.1177/0192623317728135
- 34. Yang Q, Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Wang X, Kemeny DM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells mediate ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 137:571– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.037
- 35. Arsalane K, Gosset P, Vanhee D, Voisin C, Hamid Q, Tonnel AB, et al. Ozone stimulates synthesis of inflammatory cytokines by alveolar macrophages *in vitro*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (1995) 13:60–8. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.13.1.7598938
- Devlin R, McKinnon K, Noah T, Becker S, Koren H. Ozone-induced release of cytokines and fibronectin by alveolar macrophages and airway epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol.* (1994) 266:L612–9. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1994.266.6.L612
- Koren HS, Devlin RB, Graham DE, Mann R, McGee MP, Horstman DH, et al. Ozone-induced inflammation in the lower airways of human subjects. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1989) 139:407–15. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/139.2.407
- Krishna MT, Madden J, Teran LM, Biscione GL, Lau LC, Withers NJ, et al. Effects of 0.2 ppm ozone on biomarkers of inflammation in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and bronchial mucosa of healthy subjects. *Eur Respir J*. (1998) 11:1294.

- Fahy JV, Wong HH, Liu JT, Boushey HA. Analysis of induced sputum after air and ozone exposures in healthy subjects. *Environ Res.* (1995) 70:77– 83. doi: 10.1006/enrs.1995.1051
- Holz O, Khalilieh S, Ludwig-Sengpiel A, Watz H, Stryszak P, Soni P, et al. SCH527123, a novel CXCR2 antagonist, inhibits ozoneinduced neutrophilia in healthy subjects. *Eur Respir J.* (2010) 35:564-70. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00048509
- Shah AS, Lee KK, McAllister DA, Hunter A, Nair H, Whiteley W, et al. Short term exposure to air pollution and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2015) 350:h1295. doi: 10.1136/bmj.h1295
- Han MH, Yi HJ, Kim YS, Ko Y, Kim YS. Association between Diurnal Variation of Ozone concentration and stroke occurrence: 24-hour time series study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0152433. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152433
- 43. Rosenthal FS, Kuisma M, Lanki T, Hussein T, Boyd J, Halonen JI, et al. Association of ozone and particulate air pollution with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Helsinki, Finland: evidence for two different etiologies. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol. (2013) 23:281–8. doi: 10.1038/jes.2012.121
- Jerrett M, Burnett RT, Pope III CA, Ito K, Thurston G, Krewski D, et al. Long-term ozone exposure and mortality. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:1085– 95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0803894
- Lim CC, Hayes RB, Ahn J, Shao Y, Silverman DT, Jones RR, et al. Long-term exposure to ozone and cause-specific mortality risk in the U.S. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019) 200:1022–31. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201806-1161OC
- Bentayeb M, Wagner V, Stempfelet M, Zins M, Goldberg M, Pascal M, et al. Association between long-term exposure to air pollution and mortality in France: a 25-year follow-up study. *Environ Int.* (2015) 85:5–14. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.08.006
- Carey IM, Atkinson RW, Kent AJ, Van Staa T, Cook DG, Anderson HR. Mortality associations with long-term exposure to outdoor air pollution in a national English cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187:1226– 33. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201210-1758OC
- Chuang KJ, Chan CC, Su TC, Lee CT, Tang CS. The effect of urban air pollution on inflammation, oxidative stress, coagulation, and autonomic dysfunction in young adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2007) 176:370– 6. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200611-1627OC
- Liao D, Heiss G, Chinchilli VM, Duan Y, Folsom AR, Lin H-M, et al. Association of criteria pollutants with plasma hemostatic/inflammatory markers: a population-based study. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol. (2005) 15:319–28. doi: 10.1038/sj.jea.7500408
- Steinvil A, Kordova-Biezuner L, Shapira I, Berliner S, Rogowski O. Short-term exposure to air pollution and inflammation-sensitive biomarkers. *Environ Res.* (2008) 106:51–61. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2007.08.006
- 51. Xia Y, Niu Y, Cai J, Lin Z, Liu C, Li H, et al. Effects of personal shortterm exposure to ambient ozone on blood pressure and vascular endothelial function: a mechanistic study based on DNA methylation and metabolomics. *Environ Sci Technol.* (2018) 52:12774–82. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b03044
- Wang M, Sampson PD, Sheppard LE, Stein JH, Vedal S, Kaufman JD. Long-term exposure to ambient ozone and progression of subclinical arterial disease: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis and air pollution. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2019) 127:57001. doi: 10.1289/EHP3325
- Jia X, Song X, Shima M, Tamura K, Deng F, Guo X. Acute effect of ambient ozone on heart rate variability in healthy elderly subjects. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol.* (2011) 21:541–7. doi: 10.1038/jes.2011.18
- Devlin RB, Duncan KE, Jardim M, Schmitt MT, Rappold AG, Diaz-Sanchez D. Controlled exposure of healthy young volunteers to ozone causes cardiovascular effects. *Circulation.* (2012) 126:104–11. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.094359
- Fakhri AA, Ilic LM, Wellenius GA, Urch B, Silverman F, Gold DR, et al. Autonomic effects of controlled fine particulate exposure in young healthy adults: effect modification by ozone. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2009) 117:1287–92. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0900541
- Frampton MW, Pietropaoli A, Dentler M, Chalupa D, Little EL, Stewart J, et al. Cardiovascular effects of ozone in healthy subjects with and without deletion of glutathione-S-transferase M1. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2015) 27:113– 9. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2014.996272.
- 57. Sivagangabalan G, Spears D, Masse S, Urch B, Brook RD, Silverman F, et al. The effect of air pollution on spatial dispersion of myocardial

repolarization in healthy human volunteers. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2011) 57:198–206. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.08.625

- Brook RD, Brook JR, Urch B, Vincent R, Rajagopalan S, Silverman F. Inhalation of fine particulate air pollution and ozone causes acute arterial vasoconstriction in healthy adults. *Circulation*. (2002) 105:1534–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000013838.94747.64
- Urch B, Silverman F, Corey P, Brook JR, Lukic KZ, Rajagopalan S, et al. Acute blood pressure responses in healthy adults during controlled air pollution exposures. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2005) 113:1052–5. doi: 10.1289/ehp.7785
- Chuang GC, Yang Z, Westbrook DG, Pompilius M, Ballinger CA, White CR, et al. Pulmonary ozone exposure induces vascular dysfunction, mitochondrial damage, and atherogenesis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2009) 297:L209–16. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00102.2009
- Paffett ML, Zychowski KE, Sheppard L, Robertson S, Weaver JM, Lucas SN, et al. Ozone inhalation impairs coronary artery dilation via intracellular oxidative stress: evidence for serum-borne factors as drivers of systemic toxicity. *Toxicol Sci.* (2015) 146:244–53. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfv093
- Robertson S, Colombo ES, Lucas SN, Hall PR, Febbraio M, Paffett ML, et al. CD36 mediates endothelial dysfunction downstream of circulating factors induced by O3 exposure. *Toxicol Sci.* (2013) 134:304–11. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kft107
- Kodavanti UP, Thomas R, Ledbetter AD, Schladweiler MC, Shannahan JH, Wallenborn JG, et al. Vascular and cardiac impairments in rats inhaling ozone and diesel exhaust particles. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2010) 119:312– 8. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1002386
- 64. Martínez-Lazcano JC, Gonzalez-Guevara E, del Carmen Rubio M, Franco-Perez J, Custodio V, Hernandez-Ceron M, et al. The effects of ozone exposure and associated injury mechanisms on the central nervous system. *Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 24:337–52. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2012-0084
- Croze ML, Zimmer L. Ozone atmospheric pollution and Alzheimer's disease: from epidemiological facts to molecular mechanisms. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2018) 62:503–22. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170857.
- Jung C-R, Lin Y-T, Hwang B-F. Ozone, particulate matter, and newly diagnosed Alzheimer's disease: a population-based cohort study in Taiwan. J Alzheimers Dis. (2015) 44:573–84. doi: 10.3233/JAD-140855.
- 67. Kirrane EF, Bowman C, Davis JA, Hoppin JA, Blair A, Chen H, et al. Associations of ozone and PM2. 5 concentrations with Parkinson's disease among participants in the agricultural health study. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2015) 57:509–17. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000000451.
- Rodriguez-Martinez E, Nava-Ruiz C, Escamilla-Chimal E, Borgonio-Perez G, Rivas-Arancibia S. The effect of chronic ozone exposure on the activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in rat hippocampus. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016) 8:245. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00245.
- Bello-Medina PC, Prado-Alcala RA, Rivas-Arancibia S. Effect of ozone exposure on dendritic spines of CA1 pyramidal neurons of the dorsal hippocampus and on object-place recognition memory in rats. *Neuroscience*. (2019) 402:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.01.018.
- Solleiro-Villavicencio H, Rivas-Arancibia S. Systemic Th17/IL-17A response appears prior to hippocampal neurodegeneration in rats exposed to low doses of ozone. *Neurología*. (2019) 34:503–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nrleng.2019.03.003.
- 71. Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H, et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:2224–60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61766-8
- Anenberg SC, Horowitz LW, Tong DQ, West JJ. An estimate of the global burden of anthropogenic ozone and fine particulate matter on premature human mortality using atmospheric modeling. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2010) 118:1189–95. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0901220
- 73. Cohen AJ, Brauer M, Burnett R, Anderson HR, Frostad J, Estep K, et al. Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: an analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:1907–18. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30505-6
- 74. Anenberg SC, Henze DK, Tinney V, Kinney PL, Raich W, Fann N, et al. Estimates of the global burden of ambient PM_{2.5}, ozone, and NO₂ on asthma incidence and emergency room visits. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2018) 126:107004. doi: 10.1289/EHP3766

- Silva RA, West JJ, Lamarque JF, Shindell DT, Collins WJ, Faluvegi G, et al. Future global mortality from changes in air pollution attributable to climate change. *Nat Clim Change*. (2017) 7:647–51. doi: 10.1038/nclimate3354
- Di Q, Wang Y, Zanobetti A, Wang Y, Koutrakis P, Choirat C, et al. Air pollution and mortality in the Medicare population. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:2513–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1702747
- 77. Ware LB, Zhao Z, Koyama T, May AK, Matthay MA, Lurmann FW, et al. Long-term ozone exposure increases the risk of developing the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:1143–50. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201507-1418OC
- Li C, Balluz LS, Vaidyanathan A, Wen X-J, Hao Y, Qualters JR. Long-term exposure to ozone and life expectancy in the United States, 2002 to 2008. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e2474. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000002474
- Bell ML, Peng RD, Francesca D. The exposure-response curve for ozone and risk of mortality and the adequacy of current ozone regulations. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2006) 114:532–6. doi: 10.1289/ehp.8816
- Chen K, Zhou L, Chen X, Bi J, Kinney PL. Acute effect of ozone exposure on daily mortality in seven cities of Jiangsu Province, China: no clear evidence for threshold. *Environ Res.* (2017) 155:235–41. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.02.009
- Zhang J. Low-level air pollution associated with death: policy and clinical implications. JAMA. (2017) 318:2431–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.18948
- Li F, Zhang P, Zhang M, Liang L, Sun X, Li M, et al. Hydrogen sulfide prevents and partially reverses ozone-induced features of lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 55:72– 81. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0014OC

- Li F, Wiegman C, Seiffert JM, Zhu J, Clarke C, Chang Y, et al. Effects of N-acetylcysteine in ozone-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease model. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e80782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0080782
- 84. Sienra-Monge JJ, Ramirez-Aguilar M, Moreno-Macias H, Reyes-Ruiz NI, Del Río-Navarro BE, Ruiz-Navarro MX, et al. Antioxidant supplementation and nasal inflammatory responses among young asthmatics exposed to high levels of ozone. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 138:317–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02606.x
- Samet JM, Hatch GE, Horstman D, Steck-Scott S, Arab L, Bromberg PA, et al. Effect of antioxidant supplementation on ozone-induced lung injury in human subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 164:819– 25. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.5.2008003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Wei and Fang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Metabolic Response to Ozone

Stephanie A. Shore*

Department of Environmental Health, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

The respiratory effects of O_3 are well established. High ambient O_3 concentrations are associated with respiratory symptoms, declines in pulmonary function, asthma exacerbations, and even mortality. The metabolic effects of O_3 are less well appreciated. Here we review data indicating that O_3 exposure leads to glucose intolerance and hyperlipidemia, characteristics of the metabolic syndrome. We also review the role of stress hormones in these events. We describe how the metabolic effects of O_3 , including effects within the lungs, are exacerbated in the setting of the metabolic derangements of obesity and we discuss epidemiological data indicating an association between ambient O_3 exposure and diabetes. We conclude by describing the role of the gut microbiome in the regulation of metabolism and by discussing data indicating a link between the gut microbiome and pulmonary responses to O_3 .

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Heiko Mühl, Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jack Robert Harkema, Michigan State University, United States Bernahrd Ryffel, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France Pietro Ghezzi, Brighton and Sussex Medical School, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Stephanie A. Shore sshore@hsph.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 October 2018 Accepted: 25 November 2019 Published: 06 December 2019

Citation:

Shore SA (2019) The Metabolic Response to Ozone. Front. Immunol. 10:2890. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02890

INTRODUCTION

Ozone (O_3) is an air pollutant produced by exposure of automobile exhaust to sunlight. The respiratory effects of O_3 are well established. O_3 causes peroxidation of lipids in the nasal and airway lining liquid and epithelial cell membranes, leading to epithelial cell damage and subsequent sterile inflammation (1, 2). The inflammatory response to ozone includes production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines as well as activation of innate lymphoid cells type 2 and subsequent release of type 2 cytokines (3-5). The details of these events vary with the concentration of O3 and with the chronicity of exposure and the reader is referred to other reviews (1, 2) for an in depth description of these events. The net effect is that O3 causes respiratory symptoms including cough, shortness of breath, and wheezing, as well as declines in pulmonary function. O3 also increases the risk of pulmonary infections, of asthma exacerbations, and even of mortality, the latter mostly in patients with pre-existing cardiorespiratory conditions (6-10). What is less well-appreciated is that O_3 also has pronounced metabolic effects. Here we review data indicating that O_3 exposure impacts the function of the primary organs regulating metabolism leading to glucose intolerance and hyperlipidemia, characteristics of the metabolic syndrome. We describe how the effects of O₃, including effects on the lungs, are exacerbated in the setting of the metabolic derangements of obesity. We conclude by describing the next frontier. The gut microbiome is a key player in the regulation of metabolism. There is increasing evidence of a role for the microbiome in pulmonary responses to O_3 . Whether the microbiome also contributes to the metabolic responses to O_3 remains to be established.

ACUTE EXPOSURE TO O_3 DECREASES THE METABOLIC RATE IN RODENTS

Almost four decades ago, Clemons and Garcia reported that acute O_3 exposure reduces plasma concentrations of thyroid hormones (11). Consistent with the role of thyroid hormones in setting

Keywords: obesity, metabolome, microbiome, fatty acids, hyperglycemia

the metabolic rate, acute O_3 exposure also reduces core body temperature, heart rate, activity level, food consumption, and minute ventilation (12–16). These changes are proportional to the O_3 concentration administered and wane over time with repeated exposure. The reduction in minute ventilation that accompanies the reduction in metabolic rate would be expected to reduce the inhaled dose of O_3 and has consequently been viewed as protective against the toxic effects of O_3 . Indeed, conditions that increase thyroid hormones, and thus increase the metabolic rate, including reductions in the ambient temperature and exogenous administration of thyroid hormones, and conditions that increase the metabolic rate, such as immaturity, increase the pulmonary inflammation and injury induced by acute O_3 exposure (14, 15, 17).

The torpor-like state described above is similar to what is observed in rodents during acute fasting (18), and acute O3 exposure also has metabolic consequences similar to those observed during fasting: the adipose tissue initiates lipolysis mobilizing fatty acids that provide a source of energy, and the liver alters its handling of glucose. A metabolomic analysis of serum harvested from rats exposed to air or to O_3 (1 ppm) indicates that short and long-chain free fatty acids (FFAs) are uniformly elevated after O₃ exposure (19). Gene expression analysis on the livers from these rats indicated that O3 exposure alters many genes involved in fatty acid metabolism and insulin signaling. Last et al. (20) also reported changes in genes related to lipid and fatty acid metabolism and to carbohydrate metabolism in livers from air vs. O₃ exposed mice. In addition, glucose tolerance tests performed on rats immediately after exposure to O₃ indicate hyperglycemia and impaired glucose clearance (19, 21, 22). Similarly, serum 1,5-anhydroglucitol, which is inversely related to long-term glucose control, is decreased in O₃-exposed rats (19). The effects of O₃ are concentration dependent: little effect is observed at 0.25 ppm, glucose intolerance is observed after 0.5 ppm, and both fasting hyperglycemia and glucose intolerance are observed after 1 ppm exposure (23). The latter concentration is higher than would be experienced by humans even in the most polluted of cities, but there are differences in O₃ dosimetry between rodents and humans (24). Importantly, glucose intolerance is also observed when rats are exposed to lower concentrations of O3 for more extended periods of time (25). Serum insulin is also elevated after O₃ suggesting insulin resistance rather than impaired insulin release and experiments using euglycemic clamps verify insulin resistance (22). Acute O_3 exposure also causes reduced insulin sensitivity in liver and skeletal muscle but not adipose tissue harvested from O3-exposed rats, as assessed by phosphorylation of AKT (21, 22).

There are sex differences in the metabolic response to acute O_3 exposure. Gordon et al. (26) reported that male rats developed the same fasting hyperglycemia and glucose intolerance after acute O_3 as described above, whereas females that were littermates of these males did not. In addition, although glucose tolerance tests performed after O_3 exposure indicated some glucose intolerance in females, the effect was much smaller than was observed in males. Interestingly, markers of O_3 -induced pulmonary injury and inflammation were also lower in the female than male

rats suggesting a link between the metabolic and inflammatory responses to O_3 .

EVIDENCE OF METABOLIC EFFECTS OF O₃ IN HUMANS

The metabolic effects of acute O3 exposure are not restricted to rodents. Miller et al. (27) performed a metabolomic analysis of serum collected 1 h after exposure of human subjects to filtered air or to O_3 (0.3 ppm) with a 15-min on-off exercise cycle. The results indicated O₃-induced increases in medium and long chain fatty acids and glycerol indicative of lipid mobilization from adipose tissue stores similar to what is observed in rats (19). Epidemiological studies also provide increasing evidence of an association between O3 exposure and diabetes. For example, in a large study from Italy that included 376,157 individuals, the authors noted a positive association between average annual ambient O₃ concentrations and the risk of diabetes (28). A large (45,231 women) longitudinal analysis of African American women conducted over 16 years also indicated an association between ambient O3 concentrations and the risk of incident diabetes (29). The association remained unaltered even after controlling for particulate air pollution, which is also associated with diabetes (30). No association between O3 and hyperglycemia was observed in a study from the Framingham Heart cohort, even though associations were observed with PM_{2.5} and NO₂, but the study was much smaller (5958 participants) and may not have been adequately powered to detect an association.

MECHANISTIC BASIS FOR THE METABOLIC EFFECTS OF O_3

Stress hormones likely account for the metabolic effects of O₃ (Figure 1). In rodents, serum corticosterone levels increase immediately following acute O3 exposure (19, 31). A similar increase in cortisol is observed in human subjects after acute O₃ exposure (27). Serum concentrations of epinephrine are also increased following O₃ (19, 21, 31) and remain elevated even 18 h after cessation of exposure (21). These changes in stress hormones are thought to arise from O3-induced stimulation of sensory afferents within the lungs and nose (32). These afferents have been shown to terminate in stress responsive regions of the brain (33). Importantly, the hyperglycemia and impaired glucose clearance observed after acute O₃ exposure are virtually abolished in rats in which either the adrenal medulla or the entire adrenal gland is surgically removed bilaterally (31). Acute O3-induced increases in serum lipids are also ablated by removal of either the adrenal medulla or the whole adrenal gland. The data are consistent with the known effects of epinephrine and cortisol in promoting gluconeogenesis, insulin resistance, and lipolysis in the liver and adipose tissue during fasting.

It is has been reported that adrenalectomy and drugs that block either beta adrenergic receptors or glucocorticoid signaling attenuate the pulmonary inflammation and injury that occur with O_3 exposure (31, 34, 35). The genes whose expression in the lungs are impacted by O_3 are similar to



the genes whose expression changes with glucocorticoids or with agents that, like epinephrine, induce cAMP activation (34). Furthermore, adrenalectomy substantially reduces O3induced changes in gene expression within the lungs (34). O3 exposure causes activation of NF-KB in the lungs and subsequent induction of a variety of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that contribute to neutrophil recruitment (2, 36) and these events are inhibited by exogenous administration of dexamethasone (37, 38). Therefore, it is unlikely that the effects of adrenalectomy on O₃-induced changes in gene expression (34) are the result of loss of the effects of stress hormones on activation of inflammatory genes by O₃. Instead, the observed reductions in O3-induced neutrophil recruitment that occur after adrenalectomy or after inhibition of endogenous stress hormones (31, 34, 35) may be the result of inhibition of the effects of stress hormones on metabolic pathways. Inhibition of O3-induced NF-KB by corticosteroids occurs at higher concentrations of these steroids than are typically released endogenously following O3. In this context, it is interesting to note that fatty acids that are released in a stresshormone dependent manner following O₃ (31) should have the capacity activate neutrophils via the fatty acid receptor, FFAR1 (39).

Other events may also contribute to the metabolic effects of O_3 . O_3 causes an inflammatory response in the lung characterized by release of acute phase cytokine and cytokines and increases in BAL neutrophils and macrophages (5). Lung specific overexpression of a constitutively active inhibitor of κB kinase (IKK2) not only causes a similar inflammatory response in the lungs, but also induces insulin resistance, perhaps by inducing systemic and adipose tissue inflammation (40), which are thought to mediate the insulin resistance associated with obesity (41). However, in mice, inhalation of another air pollutant, PM_{2.5}, also causes inflammation with adipose tissue and liver, and leads to insulin resistance but the insulin resistance is not attenuated when the hepatic and adipose tissue inflammation are ameliorated by genetic deficiency in CCR2, the receptor for the macrophage chemotactic cytokines, CCL2 (42).

EFFECTS OF O₃ IN ANIMALS WITH METABOLIC SYNDROME

Given the effects of acute O_3 exposure on lipid and carbohydrate metabolism, it is interesting to consider differences in the response to O_3 under circumstances in which lipid and

carbohydrate metabolism are already compromised: metabolic syndrome and obesity. In Goto-Kakizaki rats, a model of nonobese type 2 diabetes, exposure to approximately 0.4 ppm O3 for 4h results in decreased LDL cholesterol and neither hyperglycemia nor glucose intolerance (43). Unfortunately, no normal rats were included in the study and the concentration used was lower than the 0.5-1.0 ppm concentrations that evoked hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, and glucose intolerance in normal rats (19, 21–23), so it is difficult to determine whether the differences are the result of the diabetic state or the nature of the exposure. In contrast, chronic O₃ exposure does appear to affect glucose metabolism in insulin-resistant, diabetes-prone KK mice (44). When these mice are repeatedly exposed to O₃ (0.5 ppm, 4 h a day for 13 days), the mice develop even greater insulin resistance. There is marked fasting hyperglycemia even in air-exposed KK mice and O3 does not cause any further increases in baseline glucose but does decrease fasting insulin, suggesting impaired insulin release. Injection of insulin gradually reduces blood glucose in air-exposed KK mice, but after O3 exposure, no such reduction is observed. Increased insulin resistance is also observed in rats and mice with diet-induced obesity as well as in normal weight mice after chronic pulmonary exposure to another air pollutant, PM_{2.5} (45-47). Adipose tissue inflammation and systemic inflammation are typically observed in obese mice, and repeated exposure to O_3 exacerbates this inflammation (44): the number of activated macrophages within adipose tissue and the number of circulating inflammatory monocytes are both elevated in O₃- vs. air-exposed KK mice. Expression of adipose tissue inflammatory genes linked to insulin resistance, including TNF α , is also elevated in O₃ vs. air exposed KK mice. Pulmonary exposure to another type of air pollution, silicon dioxide nanoparticles, also augments mRNA expression of proinflammatory genes within adipose tissue (48). The effects of repeated O₃ exposure on adipose tissue inflammation and insulin release but not insulin sensitivity were also observed in another model of obese type 2 diabetes, KKAy mice (49). The mechanistic basis for the effects of exposure to air pollution on adipose tissue gene expression, including inflammatory gene expression are not well-understood, but it is conceivable that changes in the gut microbiome may contribute (see below).

We have established that the pulmonary inflammation and injury induced by acute O3 exposure are also increased in obese mice. This effect of obesity was observed in *ob/ob* and *db/db* mice which are obese because of a genetically deficiency in leptin or the leptin receptor, in mice obese because of a genetic deficiency in carboxypeptidase E (Cpe), an enzyme involved in processing neuropeptides related to eating behavior, and in mice diet-induced obesity (5, 50-54). These mice are also diabetic to varying degrees. There are marked effects of obesity on the serum and urinary metabolomes of humans, rats, and mice including changes in carbohydrate, lipid, and branched chain amino acid (BCAA) metabolism (55-57). Lungs of naive obese mice also exhibit metabolic changes, including changes in lipid, phospholipid, and cholesterol metabolism (58). As described above, O₃ has substantive metabolic effects that may be linked to effects of O₃ on the lung. To determine whether O₃ also affects metabolic processes within the lungs and whether these effects

of O₃ were modified by obesity, we performed a metabolomic analysis of lung tissue from db/db and wildtype (WT) female mice exposed acutely to air or O₃ (54). Our results indicated substantial differences in the lung metabolomes of air-exposed db/db and WT mice including increases in lipids and lung carbohydrates. It is possible that increases in these substances in the lungs are due to corresponding increases in the blood (57) and subsequent diffusion into the lung extracellular fluid. Acute O₃ exposure also affected the lung metabolome and there were differential effects of O₃ in *db/db* and WT mice. For example, we observed effects of O_3 on the substrates used for energy production in the lungs and these effects differed in *db/db* and WT mice. In WT mice, O3 exposure reduced BCAA metabolites consistent with increased reliance upon BCAA catabolism for energy, but no such effect was observed in *db/db* mice. Instead, in db/db mice, O₃ resulted in decreased long chain acylcarnitines consistent with increased reliance upon β -oxidation for energy after O₃ exposure. Changes in lung lipids are also observed in monkeys after chronic exposure to lower concentrations of O₃ (59, 60).

As discussed above, O₃-induced increases in stress hormones appear to mediate the hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia that occur with acute O₃ exposure. Corticosteroids also promote β oxidation (61) and attenuate BCAA catabolism (62), similar to the effects of O₃ in *db/db* mice. In our metabolomic analysis, lung corticosterone was greater in O₃- than air-exposed mice, presumably as a result of increases in serum corticosterone, but the effect of O₃ on corticosterone was only significant in *db/db* mice (54). Thus, greater O₃-induced increases in corticosterone in *db/db* than WT mice might account for the different effects of O₃ on lung β -oxidation and BCAA metabolism observed in *db/db* vs. WT mice.

O₃ AND THE MICROBIOME: THE NEXT FRONTIER

Data from animal models indicate that the gut microbiome contributes to variety of metabolic conditions including insulin resistance and also affects metabolic processes within the liver (63-68). For example, treatment with oral antibiotics attenuates both the glucose intolerance and the adipose tissue inflammation observed in obese mice (65). Germ free mice consuming a Western style diet are protected against the development of obesity and have changes in skeletal muscle and liver that promote fatty acid metabolism (64). One way that gut microbiota regulate metabolism is via the production of metabolites that can impact their host. For example, gut microbiota modify bile acids which signal in the intestines and liver to regulate lipid metabolism (68). Hence, it is possible that the gut microbiome also contributes to the changes in metabolism as well as to the changes in hepatic gene transcription observed following acute O₃ exposure.

Data from our lab also indicate a role for the microbiome in the metabolic changes observed in the lungs after O_3 exposure. Among the lung metabolites identified in the metabolomic

profiling experiment described above were several that require bacteria for their generation in mammals (54). Notably, each of these bacterial-mammalian co-metabolites was affected by obesity, by O₃ exposure, or by the combination of obesity and O₃ exposure. It is perhaps not surprising that obesity affects metabolites of bacterial origin. The community structure of the gut microbiome is altered by obesity both in rodents and in humans [see (69) for review] and there are differences in the metabolomic profile of tissues and blood harvested from germ free vs. conventionally housed mice and from antibiotictreated vs. control mice (70-72). Thus, gut bacteria-derived metabolites can enter the blood and most are small enough to diffuse from the blood into the lungs. It is more surprising that O₃ also affects these metabolites. One potential explanation is the effects of O₃ on the liver (19, 20), since generation of many of the bacterial-mammalian co-metabolites identified in the lungs requires a metabolic step that occurs in the liver. However, it is also conceivable that O₃ alters either the gut or the lung microbiome. O_3 also affects the nose (3), and O3-induced changes to the nasal microbiome could also contribute to responses to O₃ by altering metabolites that stimulate nasal afferents and contribute to activation of the HPA axis (Figure 1).

Our data indicate that bacteria also contribute to pulmonary responses to acute O₃ exposure (73). O₃-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and O3-induced neutrophil recruitment are reduced in male C57BL/6 mice treated with antibiotics, as well as in germ free mice. Since these changes are observed both with antibiotics that can cross the intestines and enter the blood and with antibiotics that cannot, the data suggest that the origin of the bacteria involved in these events is the gut and not the lungs. Gut bacteria generate short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) from dietary fiber and our data suggest a role for SCFAs in the effects of the microbiome on responses to O3. We observed reductions in serum SCFAs only in mice treated with those antibiotics that attenuated responses to O3. Furthermore, exogenous administration of SCFAs via the drinking water and diets high in fermentable fiber that increased serum SCFAs also augmented responses to O₃ (73). Together, our data support a role for the gut microbiome in pulmonary responses to O3. Whether the gut microbiome also contributes to the metabolic changes observed after O3 exposure and whether O₃ itself has the capacity to alter the gut microbiome remains to be established.

REFERENCES

- Bromberg PA. Mechanisms of the acute effects of inhaled ozone in humans. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1860:2771–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.07.015
- Mumby S, Chung KF, Adcock IM. Transcriptional effects of ozone and impact on airway inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1610. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01610
- Kumagai K, Lewandowski R, Jackson-Humbles DN, Li N, Van Dyken SJ, Wagner JG, et al. Ozone-induced nasal type 2 immunity in mice is dependent on innate lymphoid cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 54:782–91. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0118OC

SUMMARY

In rodents, acute O₃ exposure causes endocrine and metabolic changes similar to those observed during fasting: stress hormones are released and act on the liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle countering the effects of insulin and promoting lipolysis, thus providing a ready source of energy. However, O₃ also lowers the metabolic rate, reducing the need for energy. The net effects of these changes are hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia, characteristics of the metabolic syndrome. Similar, albeit attenuated effects are observed in rodents after repeated exposures at lower concentrations of O₃, an exposure paradigm that perhaps better reflects human exposures to ambient O₃. Humans do not experience the torpor-like state that characterizes rodents exposed to O₃, but hyperlipidemia is also observed after acute exposure of human subjects to O3 and there is an increasing body of epidemiological data indicating an association between O3 exposure and diabetes. Indeed, in certain types of obese diabetic rodents, O3 exacerbates their already compromised insulin sensitivity and also induces adipose tissue and systemic inflammation, other characteristics of the metabolic syndrome. O3 also differentially affects both energy metabolism and inflammation within the lungs of obese diabetic vs. normal lean mice. Better understanding of the mechanistic basis for the effects of O₃ on the liver and adipose tissue is needed to protect populations already at risk of metabolic disease.

There is increasing evidence that the gut microbiome contributes to energy regulation. It remains to be established whether the gut microbiome also contributes to the derangements in energy regulation that occur after O_3 exposure, but there is evidence of a link between the gut microbiome and pulmonary responses to O_3 . Better understanding of this link could result in strategies to prevent or mitigate the deleterious effects of O_3 not only on the lungs, but also on metabolic health.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants ES013307 and ES000002.

- Yang Q, Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Wang X, Kemeny DM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells mediate ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 137:571–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.037
- Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Wurmbrand AP, Ribeiro L, et al. IL-33 drives augmented responses to ozone in obese mice. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2017) 125:246–53. doi: 10.1289/E HP272
- Gent JF, Triche EW, Holford TR, Belanger K, Bracken MB, Beckett WS, et al. Association of low-level ozone and fine particles with respiratory symptoms in children with asthma. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:1859–67. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.14.1859
- Bell ML, Dominici F, Samet JM. A meta-analysis of time-series studies of ozone and mortality with comparison to the national morbidity, mortality, and air pollution study. *Epidemiology*. (2005) 16:436–45. doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000165817.40152.85
- Ito K, De Leon SF, Lippmann M. Associations between ozone and daily mortality: analysis and meta-analysis. *Epidemiology*. (2005) 16:446–57. doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000165821.90114.7f
- Stanek LW, Brown JS, Stanek J, Gift J, Costa DL. Air pollution toxicology-a brief review of the role of the science in shaping the current understanding of air pollution health risks. *Toxicol Sci.* (2011) 120(Suppl 1):S8–27. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfq367
- Turner MC, Jerrett M, Pope CA III, Krewski D, Gapstur SM, Diver WR, et al. Long-term ozone exposure and mortality in a large prospective study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2016) 193:1134–42. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201508-1633OC
- Clemons GK, Garcia JF. Changes in thyroid function after short-term ozone exposure in rats. J Environ Pathol Toxicol. (1980) 4:359–69.
- Umezu T, Suzuki AK, Miura T, Koizumi A. Effects of ozone and nitrogen dioxide on drinking and eating behaviors in mice. *Environ Res.* (1993) 61:51– 67. doi: 10.1006/enrs.1993.1049
- Jimba M, Skornik WA, Killingsworth CR, Long NC, Brain JD, Shore SA. Role of C fibers in physiological responses to ozone in rats. J Appl Physiol. (1995) 78:1757–63. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1995.78.5.1757
- Watkinson WP, Wiester MJ, Highfill JW. Ozone toxicity in the rat. I Effect of changes in ambient temperature on extrapulmonary physiological parameters. *J Appl Physiol.* (1995) 78:1108–20. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1995.78.3.1108
- Shore SA, Abraham JH, Schwartzman IN, Murthy GG, Laporte JD. Ventilatory responses to ozone are reduced in immature rats. *J Appl Physiol.* (2000) 88:2023–30. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2000.88.6.2023
- Gordon CJ, Johnstone AF, Aydin C, Phillips PM, MacPhail RC, Kodavanti UP, et al. Episodic ozone exposure in adult and senescent Brown Norway rats: acute and delayed effect on heart rate, core temperature and motor activity. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2014) 26:380–90. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2014.905659
- Huffman LJ, Beighley CM, Frazer DG, McKinney WG, Porter DW. Increased susceptibility of the lungs of hyperthyroid rats to oxidant injury: specificity of effects. *Toxicology*. (2006) 225:119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2006.05.008
- Swoap SJ, Weinshenker D. Norepinephrine controls both torpor initiation and emergence via distinct mechanisms in the mouse. *PLoS ONE*. (2008) 3:e4038. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004038
- Miller DB, Karoly ED, Jones JC, Ward WO, Vallanat BD, Andrews DL, et al. Inhaled ozone (O3)-induces changes in serum metabolomic and liver transcriptomic profiles in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2015) 286:65–79. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2015.03.025
- Last JA, Gohil K, Mathrani VC, Kenyon NJ. Systemic responses to inhaled ozone in mice: cachexia and down-regulation of liver xenobiotic metabolizing genes. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2005) 208:117–26. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2005.02.001
- Bass V, Gordon CJ, Jarema KA, MacPhail RC, Cascio WE, Phillips PM, et al. Ozone induces glucose intolerance and systemic metabolic effects in young and aged Brown Norway rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2013) 273:551–60. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2013.09.029
- Vella RE, Pillon NJ, Zarrouki B, Croze ML, Koppe L, Guichardant M, et al. Ozone exposure triggers insulin resistance through muscle c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation. *Diabetes*. (2015) 64:1011–24. doi: 10.2337/db13-1181
- Gordon CJ, Phillips PM, Ledbetter A, Snow SJ, Schladweiler MC, Johnstone AF, et al. Active vs. sedentary lifestyle from weaning to adulthood and susceptibility to ozone in rats. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2017) 312:L100–9. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00415.2016
- 24. Hatch GE, Slade R, Harris LP, McDonnell WF, Devlin RB, Koren HS, et al. Ozone dose and effect in humans and rats. A comparison using oxygen-18 labeling and bronchoalveolar lavage. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1994) 150:676–83. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.150.3.8087337
- Miller DB, Snow SJ, Henriquez A, Schladweiler MC, Ledbetter AD, Richards JE, et al. Systemic metabolic derangement, pulmonary effects, and insulin insufficiency following subchronic ozone exposure in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2016) 306:47–57. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2016. 06.027
- Gordon CJ, Phillips PM, Johnstone AFM, Schmid J, Schladweiler MC, Ledbetter A, et al. Effects of maternal high-fat diet and sedentary lifestyle on

susceptibility of adult offspring to ozone exposure in rats. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2017) 29:239–54. doi: 10.1080/08958378.2017.1342719

- Miller DB, Ghio AJ, Karoly ED, Bell LN, Snow SJ, Madden MC, et al. Ozone exposure increases circulating stress hormones and lipid metabolites in humans. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:1382–91. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201508-1599OC
- Orioli R, Cremona G, Ciancarella L, Solimini AG. Association between PM10, PM2.5, NO2, O3 and self-reported diabetes in Italy: a cross-sectional, ecological study. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0191112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191112
- Jerrett M, Brook R, White LF, Burnett RT, Yu J, Su J, et al. Ambient ozone and incident diabetes: a prospective analysis in a large cohort of African American women. *Environ Int.* (2017) 102:42–7. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.12.011
- Eze IC, Hemkens LG, Bucher HC, Hoffmann B, Schindler C, Kunzli N, et al. Association between ambient air pollution and diabetes mellitus in Europe and North America: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2015) 123:381–9. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307823
- Miller DB, Snow SJ, Schladweiler MC, Richards JE, Ghio AJ, Ledbetter AD, et al. Acute ozone-induced pulmonary and systemic metabolic effects are diminished in adrenalectomized rats. *Toxicol Sci.* (2016) 150:312–22. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfv331
- Henriquez AR, House JS, Snow SJ, Miller CN, Schladweiler MC, Fisher A, et al. Ozone-induced dysregulation of neuroendocrine axes requires adrenal-derived stress hormones. *Toxicol Sci.* (2019) 172:38–50. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfz182
- Gackiere F, Saliba L, Baude A, Bosler O, Strube C. Ozone inhalation activates stress-responsive regions of the CNS. J Neurochem. (2011) 117:961–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07267.x
- Henriquez A, House J, Miller DB, Snow SJ, Fisher A, Ren H, et al. Adrenal-derived stress hormones modulate ozone-induced lung injury and inflammation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2017) 329:249–58. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2017.06.009
- Henriquez AR, Snow SJ, Schladweiler MC, Miller CN, Dye JA, Ledbetter AD, et al. Adrenergic and glucocorticoid receptor antagonists reduce ozoneinduced lung injury and inflammation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2018) 339:161–71. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2017.12.006
- Devlin RB, McDonnell WF, Mann R, Becker S, House DE, Schreinemachers D, et al. Exposure of humans to ambient levels of ozone for 6.6 hours causes cellular and biochemical changes in the lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1991) 4:72–81. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/4.1.72
- Haddad EB, Salmon M, Koto H, Barnes PJ, Adcock I, Chung KF. Ozone induction of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC) and nuclear factor-kappa b in rat lung: inhibition by corticosteroids. *FEBS Lett.* (1996) 379:265–8. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(95)01524-8
- Salmon M, Koto H, Lynch OT, Haddad EB, Lamb NJ, Quinlan GJ, et al. Proliferation of airway epithelium after ozone exposure: effect of apocynin and dexamethasone. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1998) 157(3 Pt 1):970–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.3.9704067
- Manosalva C, Mena J, Velasquez Z, Colenso CK, Brauchi S, Burgos RA, et al. Cloning, identification and functional characterization of bovine free fatty acid receptor-1 (FFAR1/GPR40) in neutrophils. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0119715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119715
- 40. Chen M, Zhou H, Xu Y, Qiu L, Hu Z, Qin X, et al. From the cover: lung-specific overexpression of constitutively active IKK2 induces pulmonary and systemic inflammations but not hypothalamic inflammation and glucose intolerance. *Toxicol Sci.* (2017) 160:4–14. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfx154
- Arkan MC, Hevener AL, Greten FR, Maeda S, Li ZW, Long JM, et al. IKKbeta links inflammation to obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:191–8. doi: 10.1038/nm1185
- Liu C, Xu X, Bai Y, Zhong J, Wang A, Sun L, et al. Particulate Air pollution mediated effects on insulin resistance in mice are independent of CCR2. *Part Fibre Toxicol.* (2017) 14:6. doi: 10.1186/s12989-017-0187-3
- McGee Hargrove M, Snow SJ, Luebke RW, Wood CE, Krug JD, Krantz QT, et al. Effects of simulated smog atmospheres in rodent models of metabolic and immunologic dysfunction. *Environ Sci Technol.* (2018) 52:3062–70. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.7b06534
- 44. Zhong J, Allen K, Rao X, Ying Z, Braunstein Z, Kankanala SR, et al. Repeated ozone exposure exacerbates insulin resistance and activates innate immune

response in genetically susceptible mice. Inhal Toxicol. (2016) 28:383-92. doi: 10.1080/08958378.2016.1179373

- 45. Sun Q, Yue P, Deiuliis JA, Lumeng CN, Kampfrath T, Mikolaj MB, et al. Ambient air pollution exaggerates adipose inflammation and insulin resistance in a mouse model of diet-induced obesity. *Circulation*. (2009) 119:538–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.799015
- 46. Xu X, Liu C, Xu Z, Tzan K, Zhong M, Wang A, et al. Long-term exposure to ambient fine particulate pollution induces insulin resistance and mitochondrial alteration in adipose tissue. *Toxicol Sci.* (2011) 124:88–98. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr211
- Yan YH, Chou CC, Lee CT, Liu JY, Cheng TJ. Enhanced insulin resistance in diet-induced obese rats exposed to fine particles by instillation. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2011) 23:507–19. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2011.587472
- Zhang Y, Lin Y, Li X, Zhang L, Pan W, Zhu H, et al. Silica dioxide nanoparticles combined with cold exposure induce stronger systemic inflammatory response. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2017) 24:291–8. doi: 10.1007/s11356-016-7649-2
- Ying Z, Allen K, Zhong J, Chen M, Williams KM, Wagner JG, et al. Subacute inhalation exposure to ozone induces systemic inflammation but not insulin resistance in a diabetic mouse model. *Inhal Toxicol.* (2016) 28:155–63. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2016.1146808
- Shore SA, Rivera-Sanchez YM, Schwartzman IN, Johnston RA. Responses to ozone are increased in obese mice. J Appl Physiol. (2003) 95:938–45. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00336.2003
- Johnston RA, Theman TA, Shore SA. Augmented responses to ozone in obese carboxypeptidase E-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2006) 290:R126–33. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00306.2005
- Johnston RA, Theman TA, Lu FL, Terry RD, Williams ES, Shore SA. Dietinduced obesity causes innate airway hyperresponsiveness to methacholine and enhances ozone-induced pulmonary inflammation. *J Appl Physiol.* (2008) 104:1727–35. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00075.2008
- Williams AS, Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Chen L, Wurmbrand AP, Si H, et al. Augmented pulmonary responses to acute ozone exposure in obese mice: roles of TNFR2 and IL-13. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2013) 121:551–7. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205880
- Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Bell LN, Gunst PR, Karoly ED, et al. Effect of acute ozone exposure on the lung metabolomes of obese and lean mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0181017. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181017
- 55. Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Lien LF, et al. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2009) 9:311–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2009.02.002
- Won EY, Yoon MK, Kim SW, Jung Y, Bae HW, Lee D, et al. Gender-specific metabolomic profiling of obesity in leptin-deficient ob/ob mice by 1H NMR spectroscopy. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e75998. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075998
- 57. Giesbertz P, Padberg I, Rein D, Ecker J, Hofle AS, Spanier B, et al. Metabolite profiling in plasma and tissues of ob/ob and db/db mice identifies novel markers of obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2015) 58:2133–43. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3656-y
- Milner JJ, Rebeles J, Dhungana S, Stewart DA, Sumner SC, Meyers MH, et al. Obesity increases mortality and modulates the lung metabolome during pandemic H1N1 influenza virus infection in mice. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:4846–59. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402295
- Rao GA, Larkin EC, Harkema JR, Dungworth DL. Changes in lipids of lung lavage in monkeys after chronic exposure to ambient levels of ozone. *Toxicol Lett.* (1985) 29:207–14. doi: 10.1016/0378-4274(85)90043-8
- Rao GA, Larkin EC, Harkema JR, Dungworth DL. Changes in the levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the lung and lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase

activity in plasma of monkeys exposed to ambient levels of ozone. *Toxicol Lett.* (1985) 24:125–9. doi: 10.1016/0378-4274(85)90047-5

- Morgan SA, Gathercole LL, Simonet C, Hassan-Smith ZK, Bujalska I, Guest P, et al. Regulation of lipid metabolism by glucocorticoids and 11beta-HSD1 in skeletal muscle. *Endocrinology*. (2013) 154:2374–84. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-2214
- Nawabi MD, Block KP, Chakrabarti MC, Buse MG. Administration of endotoxin, tumor necrosis factor, or interleukin 1 to rats activates skeletal muscle branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase. J Clin Invest. (1990) 85:256–63. doi: 10.1172/JCI114421
- Dumas ME, Barton RH, Toye A, Cloarec O, Blancher C, Rothwell A, et al. Metabolic profiling reveals a contribution of gut microbiota to fatty liver phenotype in insulin-resistant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:12511–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601056103
- Backhed F, Manchester JK, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI. Mechanisms underlying the resistance to diet-induced obesity in germ-free mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:979–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605374104
- Cani PD, Delzenne NM, Amar J, Burcelin R. Role of gut microflora in the development of obesity and insulin resistance following high-fat diet feeding. *Pathol Biol.* (2008) 56:305–9. doi: 10.1016/j.patbio.2007.09.008
- 66. Compare D, Coccoli P, Rocco A, Nardone OM, De Maria S, Carteni M, et al. Gut-liver axis: the impact of gut microbiota on non alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2012) 22:471-6. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2012.02.007
- Kimura I, Ozawa K, Inoue D, Imamura T, Kimura K, Maeda T, et al. The gut microbiota suppresses insulin-mediated fat accumulation via the short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR43. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:1829. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2852
- Wahlstrom A, Sayin SI, Marschall HU, Backhed F. Intestinal crosstalk between bile acids and microbiota and its impact on host metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:41–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.05.005
- Shore SA, Cho Y. Obesity and asthma: microbiome-metabolome interactions. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2016) 54: 609–17. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0052PS
- Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, et al. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:3698–703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812874106
- Holmes E, Li JV, Marchesi JR, Nicholson JK. Gut microbiota composition and activity in relation to host metabolic phenotype and disease risk. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:559–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.007
- El Aidy S, Derrien M, Merrifield CA, Levenez F, Dore J, Boekschoten MV, et al. Gut bacteria-host metabolic interplay during conventionalisation of the mouse germfree colon. *ISME J.* (2013) 7:743–55. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2012.142
- Cho Y, Abu-Ali G, Tashiro H, Kasahara DI, Brown TA, Brand JD, et al. The microbiome regulates pulmonary responses to ozone in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2018) 59:346–54. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2017-0 404OC

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shore. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ozone-Induced Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation Controls Lung Inflammation via Interleukin-22 Modulation

Chloé Michaudel¹, Florent Bataille¹, Isabelle Maillet¹, Louis Fauconnier², Cyril Colas^{3,4}, Harry Sokol⁵, Marjolène Straube⁵, Aurélie Couturier-Maillard¹, Laure Dumoutier⁶, Jacques van Snick⁷, Valérie F. Quesniaux¹, Dieudonnée Togbe^{1,2} and Bernhard Ryffel^{1*}

¹ Laboratory of Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, UMR 7355 CNRS-University of Orleans, Orléans, France, ² ArtImmune SAS, Orléans, France, ³ University of Orléans, CNRS ICOA, UMR7311, F-45067, Orléans, France, ⁴ CNRS, CBM, UPR4301, University Orléans, Orléans, France, ⁵ Avenir Team Gut Microbiota and Immunity, Equipe de Recherche Labélisée 1157, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, Paris, France, ⁶ Institut de Duve, Université Catholique de Louvain, Brussels, Belgium, ⁷ Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, Université Catholique de Louvain, Brussels, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Takayuki Yoshimoto, Tokyo Medical University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Feng Li, Shanghai Jiaotong University, China David Kasahara, Harvard University, United States

> *Correspondence: Bernhard Ryffel bernhard.ryffel@cnrs-orleans.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 27 October 2019 Accepted: 20 January 2020 Published: 25 February 2020

Citation:

Michaudel C, Bataille F, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Colas C, Sokol H, Straube M, Couturier-Maillard A, Dumoutier L, van Snick J, Quesniaux VF, Togbe D and Ryffel B (2020) Ozone-Induced Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation Controls Lung Inflammation via Interleukin-22 Modulation. Front. Immunol. 11:144. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00144 Airborne ozone exposure causes severe lung injury and inflammation. The aryl hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) (1), activated in pollutant-induced inflammation, is critical for cytokine production, especially IL-22 and IL-17A. The role of AhR in ozone-induced lung inflammation is unknown. We report here that chronic ozone exposure activates AhR with increased tryptophan and lipoxin A4 production in mice. AhR^{-/-} mice show increased lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, and tissue remodeling with an increased recruitment of IL-17A and IL-22-expressing cells in comparison to control mice. IL-17A- and IL-22-neutralizing antibodies attenuate lung inflammation in AhR^{-/-} and control mice. Enhanced lung inflammation and recruitment of ILC3, ILC2, and T cells were observed after T cell-specific AhR depletion using the AhR^{CD4cre}-deficient mice. Together, the data demonstrate that ozone exposure activates AhR, which controls lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, and tissue remodeling via the reduction of IL-22 expression.

Keywords: ozone, AhR, ILC3, T cells, inflammation, IL-17, IL-22

INTRODUCTION

Ozone is an abundant air pollutant that causes respiratory inflammation. Peaks of ozone correlate with severe respiratory disease, morbidity, mortality (2, 3), and hospital admissions (4–6). An increase of $10 \,\mu$ g/m³ of ozone exposure for 1 h daily induces an increase of 0.26% in mortality rate (7). The consequences of ozone exposure are especially deleterious for vulnerable populations with asthma or COPD (8, 9) and exacerbate asthma (10, 11). Ozone causes severe lung tissue damage, with inflammation and emphysema, loss of lung function, and airway hyperresponsiveness in human and mice (12–14).

The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (1) is broadly expressed in immune cells and non-hematopoietic cells (e.g., epithelial cells). AhR is implicated in pollutant metabolism and/or degradation in response to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. At steady state, AhR is cytoplasmic. In the absence of ligands, AhR resides in the cytoplasm under the control of a chaperone protein complex. Upon ligand binding, the AhR complex translocates into the nucleus, the chaperones are



IL-22 expression and inflammation.

released, and AhR heterodimerizes with AhR Nuclear Translocator (ARNT) (15). This complex binds to Dioxin Response Elements (14) on the DNA and induces gene transcription, including P450 cytochrome and cytokines (e.g., IL-17A, IL-22). Non-canonical AhR signaling pathways have also been reported, either at the genomic level, through association with other transcription factors (e.g., NF-KB), or at the nongenomic level (e.g., through the release of the Src kinase) (16, 17). AhR is known to mediate several aspects of immune response and homeostatic maintenance, and its action is dependent on the context. For example, AhR can interact with NF-KB and STAT1 to inhibit IL-6 production after LPS treatment (18). AhR activation affects different pathways, such as T cell differentiation and antioxidant response. Furthermore, AhR induces ILC3 maintenance in the gut via Cyp1a1 (19) and triggers T_H17 cells differentiation, promoting IL-17 and IL-22 production by inhibiting IFN- γ (20). The AhR activity is dependent on context, but also ligands. AhR ligands can be of endogenous (e.g., tryptophan metabolism derivatives from the microbiota) or of exogenous origin (e.g., Benzo[a]pyren, environmental pollutants, and dietary-derived compounds) (21). The response of AhR activation depends on the nature of the ligand. For example, AhR in PBMCs stimulated by TCDD (2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxine) induces IL-22 and IL-17A production, while stimulation by prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) has the opposite effect (22). AhR's effect on T cell polarization also depends on the nature of the ligand, as it can either promote $T_H 17$ or Treg cell differentiation (23). Taken together, the literature reported that AhR could have a principally protective effect, for example during major depressive disorder, multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis (24), and intestinal disease (16).

IL-17A has a pro-inflammatory role in several models of inflammation, such as asthma or colitis (25, 26). IL-17A could be produced by T cells, iNKT, NK, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and ILC3 and could modulate the production of other pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-6 and IL-8), chemokines, and molecules involved in tissue remodeling, such as MMPs (27). During acute ozone exposure, IL-17A is produced by $\gamma\delta$ T cells and iNKT (28, 29) and induces neutrophil recruitment and airway hyperresponsiveness. Upon chronic ozone exposure, IL-17A

Abbreviations: AhR, Aryl hydrocarbon receptor; AhRR, AhR repressor; AREG, Amphiregulin; ARNT, Aryl hydrocarbon nuclear translocator; BAL, Broncho alveolar lavage; IDO, Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase; ILC, Innate lymphoid cells; iNKT, invariant NK T cells; MPO, Myeloperoxidase; NK, Natural killer; PGE2, Prostaglandin E2; PBMC, Peripheral blood mononuclear cells; WT, Wild type (C57BL/6).

also induces inflammation, neutrophil recruitment, and airway hyperresponsiveness (30, 31). Furthermore, IL-17A induces M2 macrophage polarization and promotes apoptotic cell clearance (32). Similarly to IL-17A, IL-22 is produced by $\alpha\beta$ T cells (T_H17, T_H22), $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK, and ILC3, after stimulation with IL-1 β , TGF- β , or IL-23 and the transcription factor ROR γ t (23, 33, 34). IL-22 is a pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokine, depending on the inflammatory context. IL-22 plays a protective role when produced during epithelial or tissue damage, while IL-17A/IL-22 collaboration promotes IL-22 pro-inflammatory activity (35, 36).

In the current study, we identified an AhR ligand, the lipoxin A4, a tryptophan metabolite, which is produced after chronic exposure to ozone and induces AhR activation in the lung. AhR-deficient mice showed an increased lung inflammation and an increased cytokine production, including IL-17A and IL-22. Consistent with previous observations, we hypothesized that the protective effect of AhR is linked to the indirect repression of IL-17A and IL-22 by the reduction of cell recruitment of NK, T cells, and ILC3. Using T cell-specific AhR-deficient mice (CD4^{cre} AhR^{f/f}), we showed that AhR present in T cells induces the indirect repression of IL-22 and IL-17A by mediation of the recruitment of T cells of IL-22⁺ or IL-17⁺ and ILC3 of IL-22⁺ or IL-17⁺. Using IL-22^{-/-}, IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$, and IL-22xIL-17R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, we demonstrate the pro-inflammatory role of IL-22 during chronic ozone-induced inflammation (Graphical Abstract). IL-22 blockade in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice restores WT mouse phenotype. Altogether, these findings suggest that AhR activation during ozone exposure may be beneficial for the host, and thus, AhR agonists or IL-22 blockade may represent potential therapeutic strategies in ozone-induced lung inflammation.

METHODS

Mice and Reagents

AhR^{-/-} (from Frank Gonzalez) (37), AhR^{flox/flox} (from Christopher Bradford), AhR^{CD4cre}, IL-22^{-/-} (38), and IL-22×IL-17Ra^{-/-} (38) mice and littermate controls of 7-9 weeks of age were used for the study. IL22Ra1^{tm1a(EUCOMM)Wtsi} mice were obtained from the International Mouse Phenotyping Consortium via EMMA network. Generation of mice carrying the Il22Ra1^{tm1c(KOMP)Wtsi} and Il22Ra1^{tm1d(KOMP)Wtsi} alleles was achieved by breeding to StellaCre mice expressing Cre (Dppa3^{tm1(cre)Peli}) (39) and/or Flp (ROSA26Fki) recombinases. Colonies were maintained on a C57BL/6 genetic background.

All gene-deficient mice and WT (40) controls (C57BL/6J background) were bred and housed in our specific pathogenfree animal facility at Transgenose Institute (TAMM-CNRS, UPS 44 under agreement D-45-234-6, 2014, Orleans, France). In all experiments, 5–6 female mice per group were used, were maintained in a temperature controlled (23° C) facility with a strict 12h light/dark cycles, and were given free access to food and water. Animal experiments were performed according to the French Institutional Committee under agreement CLE CCO 2015-1088.

Anti-IL-22 antibody (AM22.1, mouse anti-mouse, 14 μ g/mouse, from Laure Dumoutier) and anti-IL-17A antibody (MM17AF3, mouse anti-mouse, 20 μ g/mouse, from Jacques van Snick) were administered intranasally, once a week for 6 weeks.

Ozone Induced Airway Inflammation

Mice were exposed to ozone in a plexiglass chamber (*EMB 104*, *EMMS*[®]) at 1.5 ppm for 2 h, two times a week for 6 weeks. Ozone was created by an ozonisator (*Ozonisator Ozoniser S 500 mg, Sander*[®]) and a level of 1.5 ppm was controlled by a sensor (*ATI 2-wire transmitter, Analytical Technology*[®]). Mice were euthanized by progressive CO₂ inhalation, 24 h after last ozone exposure and BAL was collected. After a cardiac perfusion with ISOTON II (*acid-free balanced electrolyte solution Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany*), lung was collected and sampled for analyses.

Broncho Alveolar Lavage (11)

After ozone exposure, BAL was performed by four lavages of lung with 500 μ L of saline solution (NaCl 0.9%) each time, via a cannula introduced into mice trachea. BAL fluids were centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min at 4°C, the supernatants were stored at -20° C for ELISA analysis, and cell pellets were recovered to prepare cytospin (*Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA*) on glass slides, followed by a staining with Diff-Quik solution (*Merz & Dade A.G., Dudingen, Switzerland*). Differential cell counts were performed with at least 400 cells.

DNA Measurement

DNA release was measured to evaluate the tissue damage in the BAL supernatant using the Quant- iT^{TM} PicoGreenTM dsDNA assay kit (*ThermoFisher*), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Measurement of Cytokines, Collagen, and Total Proteins

IL-22, IL-17A, MPO, and AREG in BALF were determined by ELISA (R & D systems, Abingdon, UK), while IL-4, IL-5 in lung, and TGF-β1 from BAL were measured by Luminex immunoassay using MagPix reader (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were analyzed with Bio-Plex Manager software (Bio-Rad). Total protein levels in BALF were analyzed with the Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay. Collagen was measured with Soluble Collagen Assay SircolTM (*biocolor*), according to the manufacturer's instructions on BAL and lung supernatants. For the protein measurement on the lung supernatant, the same part of the lung was harvested and gridded in 1 mL of PBS with proteases inhibitor cocktail (Roche). After centrifugation, supernatant was collected and frozen.

AhR Ligand Determination

Lung supernatants were mixed with DPBS up to a total volume of 3 mL. SPE (solid-phase extraction) was then performed on Supelclean LC-8 SPE cartridges (*Supelco*) conditioned with methanol and water. The sample was loaded then washed with 3 mL of ultrapure water and dried for 15 min under vacuum (10 mmHg) before being eluted with 5 mL of an 80:20 dichloromethane:isopropyl alcohol mixture. The exudate was evaporated to dryness under a nitrogen flow and reconstituted in 200 μ L of a 50:50 acetonitrile:water mixture.

LC-HRMS analyses were performed on a maXis Q-TOF mass spectrometer (*Bruker, Bremen, Germany*) coupled to an Ultimate 3000 RSLC system (*Dionex, Germering, Germany*). The column TABLE 1 | Lung inflammation histological scoring.

Score	Cell infiltration
0	No cell infiltration
1	Moderate infiltration around vessels
2	Moderate infiltration around vessels and bronchi
3	High infiltration around vessels and bronchi

was a Kinetex C18 (150 × 2.1 mm) with a particle size of 1.7 μ m (Phenomenex, Le Pecq, France), equipped with a C18 SecurityGuard Ultra (2.1 mm) guard filter (*Phenomenex*, Le Pecq, France). The mobile phase consisted of a gradient of water with 0.1% of formic acid (solvent A) and acetonitrile with 0.08% of formic acid (solvent B) as follows: 0–0.3 min 3% B, 0.3–10 min 3–90% B, 10–10.5 min 90% B, and finally, 10.5–10.6 min 90–3% B, maintained for 1.5 min before each new injection. The column was thermostated at 40°C, and the flow rate was 500 μ L/min. The injection volume was 2.5 μ L. The mass spectra were acquired with an ESI (electrospray Ionization) source in positive mode in the range of 50–1,650 *m/z* at a frequency of 1 Hz. The capillary voltage was set at 4.5 kV, the pressure of nebulizing gas was 2.0 bar, and the flow rate of drying gas was 9 L/min, heated at 200°C.

Histology

The left lung tissue was fixed in 4% buffered formaldehyde and paraffin embedded under standard conditions. Tissue sections $(3 \mu m)$ were stained with Periodic acid Schiff (41). Histological changes were determined by a semi-quantitative severity score (0-3) for inflammatory cell infiltration (**Table 1**). The slides (one mouse per slide) were blindly examined by two independent investigators with a Nikon microscope (Nikon eclipse 80i, United States). All mice were scored (1 big and 3 small bronchi per mice).

FACS Analysis

Lungs were collected from mice, minced, digested with DNase (Sigma, 1 mg/mL) and Liberase (Roche, 5 mg/mL) during 1 h at 37°C, and red bloods cells were lysed with Lysing buffer (BD Pharm LyseTM, BD Pharmingen). Stimulation was performed with PMA (50 ng/ml, Sigma) and ionomycin (750 ng/ml, Sigma), for 2h and 30 min. Cells were incubated with the antibodies for 25 min at 4°C in FACS buffer (PBS, 2% FCS, 2 mM EDTA). For intracellular staining, BD Cytofix/CytopermTM was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were washed with FACS buffer and fixed by lysing buffer $1 \times$ (BD Pharmingen). The antibodies used were against mouse molecules and described in the Table S1. The gating strategy is presented in Supplemental Figure 1 and was conducted as follows: epithelial cells (CD45⁻EpCam⁺), NK cells (CD45⁺NKp46⁺NK1.1⁺), interstitial macrophages (CD45⁺F4/80⁺CD11c⁻), alveolar macrophages $(CD45^{+}F4/80^{+}CD11c^{+}),$ neutrophils (CD45+GR1+), CD4+ T cells (CD45⁺CD3 ϵ ⁺CD4⁺), $\gamma\delta$ T cells (CD45⁺CD3 ε ⁺TCR $\gamma\delta$ ⁺), ILC2 (CD45⁺lin⁻ICOS⁺ST2⁺), and ILC3 (CD45⁺lin⁻RORyt⁺CD127⁺). The lineage staining used was composed of CD11b, CD3ɛ, CD45R/B220, Siglec-F, and Fc ϵ RI α . Data were acquired (~2 million cells) with a flow cytometer (*BD FacsCanto II*) and analyzed with FlowJo software (*TreeStar, Mountain View, CA*).

Ex vivo Stimulation of Lung Cells

Lung cells were collected from mice as described above. Stimulation was performed on 10^6 cells with PMA (50 ng/ml, *Sigma*) and ionomycin (750 ng/ml, *Sigma*) for 24 h. After stimulation, supernatant was harvested and frozen at -20° C.

Immunofluorescence

Lungs were treated with paraformaldehyde (42) perfusion, and tissues were fixed for 3 days in PFA 4% and transferred in sucrose 20% for 2 weeks. Half of right lung was included in tissue-tek[®] O.C.T (4583, *tissue-tek*[®]) and 10 μ m frozen tissue were sectioned by using a cryomicrotome (Leica) at -20° C. For immunofluorescence staining, slides were incubated 30 min in citrate buffer at 80°C. Slides were washed with PBS $1 \times$ after each step, followed by 45-min incubation in saturation medium (TBS 1×, 1% BSA, 10% SVF, 0.3% triton X100). The primary antibody, an anti-AhR (10µg/mL, ab2769, Abcam), was incubated overnight at 4°C. After washing, slides were treated with pontamin (0.05%, Chicago sky Blue 6B, Sigma) for 15 min. After washing (TBS $1 \times$), slides were incubated with a secondary antibody, a goat-anti-mouse (4 µg/mL, ab150113, Abcam) during 1 h at room temperature. After washing, slides were incubated with DAPI (1/5,000 dilution) for 10 min, washed, and mounted in mowiol[®] (Sigma). Lung sections were observed under a fluorescence microscope Leica (Leica[®], CTR6000) at $400 \times$ magnification for microphotography.

Lung Function Determined by Invasive Plethysmography

Airway hyperresponsiveness was measured by using increasing concentrations of methacholine (25–200 mg/mL) using the FinePointe system (Buxco, DSI) as previously described (43).

AhR/Luciferase Reporter Assay

The H1L1.1c2 cell line was used as described before (16). Control (10% NaCl), supernatant of BAL and lung were used and incubated with the H1L1.1c2 cell line. AhR activity was calculated by subtracting the luminescence of the control (10% NaCl) from the luminescence obtained with the samples multiplied by the cytotoxicity value.

CD4+ T Cells Isolation

CD4+ T cell were isolated from the spleens of WT, AhR^{CD4cre} , and $AhR^{-/-}$ mice with DynabeadsTM UntouchedTM Mouse CD4 Cells Kit (*ThermoFisher*). 6–7 × 10⁶ CD4+ T cells were extracted from each spleen, and RNA was extracted as described below.

RNA Extraction, Reverse Transcription and Quantitative Real-Time PCR

Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent (*Sigma*) followed by a phenol/chloroform extraction. Total RNA (1 μ g) was reverse-transcribed using GoScriptTM Reverse Transcription System (*Promega*). The mRNA levels for the genes of interest were examined by quantitative RT-PCR using the GoTaq[®] qPCR Master Mix according to the manufacturer's protocol. The primer used were obtained from *Qiagen*: AhR (QT00174251), Cyp1a1 (QT00105756), and AhRR (QT00161693). Relative levels of mRNA expression were normalized to HPRT1 (QT00166768) mRNA levels using a comparative method $(2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct})$. Nonreverse-transcribed RNA samples and water were included as negative controls.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using Prism version 6 (*Graphpad Software, San Diego, USA*). The non-parametric Mann Whitney test or parametric one-way ANOVA tests with multiple Bonferroni's comparison tests were performed. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was defined at a *p*-value **** < 0.0001, *** < 0.001, ** < 0.01, and * < 0.05. Statistical differences between air and ozone mice in the same genotypes were represented by a star (or ns) just on the top of column of ozone mice, other comparisons are represented with bar between the groups compared.

RESULTS

Chronic Ozone Exposure Induces Tryptophan Metabolites Release and AhR Activation

First, we asked whether AhR is activated upon chronic respiratory ozone exposure. Thus, we investigated the expression of associated AhR genes after chronic ozone exposure (twice weekly to 1.5 ppm for 2h for 6 weeks). We observed an increased mRNA expression of the AhR repressor (AhRR) and P450 cytochrome (Cyp1A1) in the lung homogenate (**Figure 1A**). Furthermore, an increased number of AhR⁺ cells in the lung tissue by immunofluorescence (**Figure 1B**) and by flow cytometry analysis (**Figure 1C, Table S1, Supplemental Figures 1, 2**) were observed.

Since ozone activates AhR expression, we performed functional tests on the BAL supernatant and lung homogenate from mice exposed to ozone using the H1L1.1c2 luciferase reporter cell line (16) and found an activation of the reporter cell line in the lung homogenate (**Figure 1D**). These data therefore demonstrate the presence of an AhR-activating moiety in lung supernatant of ozone-exposed mice.

Endogenous metabolites from the host and commensals are involved in AhR activation (15, 16, 22). To identify potential metabolites in our model, lungs from mice exposed to ozone were homogenized, and the supernatants were analyzed by LC-MS. Several known ligands of AhR were assessed (**Table S2**). Two peaks were observed, the first one corresponding to tryptophan, suggesting an increase of tryptophan metabolism and metabolites that activate AhR, and a second peak corresponding to the lipoxin A4 (LXA4), an anti-inflammatory molecule (44–46) (**Figure 1E**).

Therefore, ozone exposure induced AhR ligand production in the lung, and we identified LXA4 as a candidate activating AhR.

AhR Regulates Lung Inflammation, Injury, and Airway Hyperreactivity Upon Chronic Ozone Exposure

To investigate the role of AhR in ozone induced lung inflammation model, AhR-deficient mice (AhR^{-/-}) were exposed to ozone (1.5 ppm for 2 h over 6 weeks). Increased cell infiltration in the lung of $AhR^{-/-}$ mice was observed after ozone exposure in comparison to WT mice (Figures 2A,B). Indeed, in the BAL, an increased number of macrophages, neutrophils, and T cells were detected (Figure 2A) with augmented MPO, AREG, and collagen levels (Supplemental Figure 3A). More particularly, increased absolute numbers of interstitial macrophages, ILC2, ILC3, $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and NK were found in the lung of AhR^{-/-} in comparison to WT mice after ozone exposure (Figure 2B, Supplemental Figure 1). Furthermore, the T_H2 cytokines and IL-4 and IL-5 levels were higher in the lung from AhR-deficient mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 2C) with an increased recruitment of IL-5⁺ ILC2 and/or IL-13⁺ ILC2 (Supplemental Figure 3B).

Considering the known effect of ozone on airway hyperresponsiveness, we investigated whether chronic ozone exposure exacerbates airway hyperresponsiveness. Compared to air-exposed mice, ozone-exposed WT mice exhibit a significantly increased lung resistance (RI) in response to methacholine (Figure 2D), which is significantly increased in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2D). Since ozone disrupts the epithelial barrier (41, 47-49), we analyzed the desquamation of epithelial cells by microscopic assessment of the lung integrity. DNA release was used as a marker of cell death in the alveolar space, and TGF- β (50) and collagen deposition were used as indicators of repair with fibrosis in the lung. An increased number of epithelial cells, DNA, and TGF- β levels in BALF were observed (Figure 2E). Collagen was also augmented in the lung homogenate of WT mice, which was further increased in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2E). The microscopic investigations indicated a chronic inflammatory cell infiltration, which was enhanced in the lung of $AhR^{-/-}$ mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 2F). Mucus-producing cells were increased after ozone exposure, but not different in absence of AhR (data not shown).

Taken together, these data show an increased cell recruitment, airway hyperreactivity, epithelial cell injury, inflammation, and fibrosis in AhR-deficient mice, suggesting that AhR regulates lung inflammation and epithelial damage after ozone exposure.

AhR Expressed by T Cells Is Critical to Control Ozone Induced Lung Inflammation

The effect of AhR on T cell differentiation and plasticity of $T_{\rm H}17$ and Treg cells has been reported (23). To understand whether AhR solely expressed by T cells is sufficient to regulate ozone induced lung inflammation, AhR-deficient mice in T lymphocytes (AhR^{CD4cre}) were generated by crossing AhR^{flox/flox} with CD4^{cre} mice (WT^{CD4cre}), and T cell-specific AhR depletion was checked in these mice (**Supplemental Figure 4**).

Increases of ILC2, ILC3, and CD4⁺ T cells were observed in the lung (**Figure 3B**) to same extent as in both AhR^{CD4cre} and the $AhR^{-/-}$ mice, in comparison to the $AhR^{flox/flox}$ control mice and



experiments with n = 5-6 mic ** < 0.01, and * < 0.05.

WT mice, after ozone exposure, but not for BAL (**Figure 3A**). In contrast, interstitial macrophages and neutrophils were lower in the BAL in AhR CD4cre mice in comparison to AhR^{-/-} mice, as well as ILC2 and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lung (**Figures 3A,B**). Moreover with regards to T_H2 cytokine level, IL-4 from AhR^{CD4cre} mice was similar to WT mice, but not for IL-5 (**Figure 3C**).

In addition, the increased epithelial barrier damage observed in the AhR^{CD4cre} mice was similar to $AhR^{-/-}$ mice, as shown by

increased DNA release in the BAL and the collagen deposition in the lung (**Figure 3D**). The epithelial cell desquamation level in the BAL was reduced in the AhR^{CD4cre} mice compared to the AhR^{-/-} mice (**Figure 3D**). Microscopic observation revealed that inflammatory cell infiltration was comparable in AhR^{-/-} and AhR^{CD4cre} mice (**Figures 3E,F**). To exclude any dysfunction of AhR by introducing loxP sites in the control AhR^{flox/flox} mice, AhR^{flox/flox} mice were compared with WT



group. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

mice (**Figures 3A–F**) and no relevant differences were observed between them, suggesting no impact from genetic modification.

Therefore, the data obtained from AhR^{CD4cre} mice suggest that AhR deficiency in T cells recapitulates partially the data from $AhR^{-/-}$ mice (notably in lung cells recruitment), and hence, AhR expressed in T cells is partially necessary to control ozone-induced inflammation in lung.

AhR Activation During Chronic Ozone Exposure Suppresses the Recruitment of IL-17A and IL-22 Producing Cells

AhR has a broad-spectrum of biological activity including on the production of IL-17A and IL-22 (22, 51–53). IL-17A is involved in the inflammatory process after acute (28, 29) and chronic ozone exposure (31). IL-22, in view of its protective role in the epithelial barrier, might be involved in ozone injury. Therefore, we assessed the role of AhR on IL-17A and IL-22 production during chronic ozone exposure.

First, the capacity of cells deficient for AhR to produce IL-17A and IL-22 was assessed. With *ex vivo* stimulation of isolated lung cells from WT or $AhR^{-/-}$ mice, enhanced IL-22 production was observed in WT mice, which is abrogated in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice, while the production IL-17A was increased (**Figure 4A**). These findings suggest that IL-22 and IL-17A may be differentially regulated by AhR. Moreover, increased levels of IL-17A and IL-22 were detected in the lung homogenate of the $AhR^{-/-}$ exposed mice in comparison to ozone exposed WT mice (**Figure 4B**). After 6 weeks of ozone exposure, IL-17A and IL-22 production was higher in the lung when AhR gene was missing, suggesting an impact of AhR on the recruitment of IL-22-producing cells. This increase was lost for IL-17A in $AhR^{flox/flox}$ and AhR^{CD4cre} mice, but conserved in AhR^{CD4cre} mice for IL-22 (**Figure 4B**).

To understand the mechanism involved in IL-22 and IL-17 increase, we identified the cell types expressing IL-17A and IL-22 in mononuclear cells isolated from the lungs of ozone-exposed mice. NK, ILC3, $\alpha\beta$, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed IL-17A or IL-22 or both IL-17A/IL-22 upon ozone exposure (Figure 4C). IL-17A expression was increased in NK cells, ILC3, $\alpha\beta$, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in AhR^{-/-} mice, in comparison to WT mice, and an increased IL-22 expression was observed in T cells and ILC3 (Figure 4C). In addition, a lower expression of IL-22 in T cells and a slight decrease of IL-17A expression in NK and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in AhR^{CD4cre} mice were observed in comparison to $AhR^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 4C). For double positive cells for IL-17A and IL-22, we observed an increase of NK, $\gamma\delta$, and $\alpha\beta$ T cells in the AhR^{-/-} mice in comparison to WT mice. A similar phenotype to the one observed in the AhR^{-/-} mice was found for AhR^{CD4cre} mice for the $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Therefore, the presence of AhR in CD4⁺ cells is necessary for the recruitment of the IL-17A⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells and the IL-22⁺ and IL-17A⁺ ILC3 and partially for the IL-22⁺ and of IL-17A⁺/IL-22⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (**Figure 4C**).

Thus, the data suggest that AhR downregulates indirectly IL-22 production via IL-22-producing cells recruitment, like NK, ILC3, and T cells, after chronic ozone exposure. For IL-17A, AhR acts directly on cell production and indirectly on cell recruitment as for IL-22.

Role of IL-17A and IL-22 Axis Upon Ozone Exposure and AhR Dependence

The possible involvement of IL-17A and IL-22 in dampening the lung inflammation in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice was then investigated. IL-22^{-/-} (Supplemental Figures 6A–F), IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$, and IL-22 × IL-17R $\alpha^{-\tilde{l}-}$ mice (Figure 5, Supplemental Figure 5) were exposed to ozone, and different lung inflammation parameters were evaluated. Reduced cell infiltration in all gene deficient mice used was observed after chronic exposure (Figures 5A,B, Supplemental Figures 6A,B), with diminished macrophages and neutrophils recruitment in the BAL (Figure 5A), and NK and ILC2 cells in the lung, but not significantly (Figure 5B). Moreover, T_H2 cytokines, including IL-4 and IL-5, were reduced after chronic ozone exposure in IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$ and in IL-22 \times IL-17R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 5C). Airway hyperresponsiveness was reduced in the IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$ and IL- $22^{-/-}$ mice in comparison to WT mice (Figure 5D, Supplemental Figure 6D). Epithelial cells desquamation in the BAL, DNA, and TGF-β levels in BALF, as well as collagen in the lung were reduced in IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$ and IL-22 \times IL- $17R\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 5E). Histological analysis of the lung tissue revealed reduced cell infiltration in parenchyma, in the IL-22^{-/-}, IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$, and IL-22 × IL-17R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice after chronic ozone exposure, in comparison to WT mice (Figures 5F,G). Anti-IL-22 alone is sufficient to recapitulate the phenotype, the anti-IL-17A does not increase the effect observed with the anti-IL-22 (Supplemental Figure 7A). A decrease in interstitial macrophages and $\gamma \delta T$ cells recruitment was observed in the BAL (Supplemental Figure 7A), as well as decreased T and NK cells in the lung (Supplemental Figure 7B). Lung remodeling parameters, such as epithelial cells desquamation, DNA release, and collagen production, were reduced in comparison to WT mice (Supplemental Figures 7C,D). Moreover, using the same neutralizing antibodies in AhRdeficient mice, we showed that the increased inflammatory parameters were dependent on IL-22/IL-17A signaling. In the BAL, IL-22 antibody neutralization was sufficient to reduce interstitial macrophages, neutrophils, and T cells, in comparison to what was observed in the AhR deficient mice (Figure 6A). Similar reductions of the T cells, ILC2, ILC3, and NK were observed in the lung (Figure 6B). Moreover, desquamation, DNA release, collagen production, and inflammatory score were reduced in AhR-deficient mice that were treated by anti-IL22 and anti-IL-17A antibodies weekly (Figures 6C-E).

Therefore, the data demonstrated that the absence of IL-22 reduced inflammation, suggesting a pro-inflammatory effect of this cytokine in this model. Since IL-22 expression is enhanced in absence of AhR, we hypothesized that AhR modulate inflammation including the recruitment of IL-22producing cells, which play a major role in ozone induced lung injury.







FIGURE 4 Influence of AhR on IL-17A and IL-22 production. IL-22 and IL-17A release after *ex vivo* stimulation of lung cells (**A**). Levels of IL-17A and IL-22 in WT and AhR deficient mice (**B**). Absolute number (**C**) of NK (NK1.1⁺NKp46⁺), ILC3 (CD45⁺Lin⁻CD127⁺Roryt⁺), $\alpha\beta$ T cells (CD45⁺CD3 ϵ^+ CD4⁺), $\gamma\delta$ T cells (CD3 ϵ^+ pany δ^+), IL-17A⁺, IL-22⁺, and IL-17A⁺IL-22⁺ producing cells. The data are representative for one of independent experiments with *n* = 5–6 mice per group. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistical significance was defined at a *p*-value **** < 0.0001, *** < 0.001, ** < 0.01, and * < 0.05.



FIGURE 5 | Inflammatory parameters in IL-22R and IL-22/17R α deficient mice. BAL cells recruitment (total cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and T cells) (**A**). Lung cell recruitment (total cells, neutrophils, macrophages, ILC2, ILC3, $\alpha\beta$, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells) (**B**), T_H2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5) (**C**), AHR (**D**), and remodeling parameters (epithelial cells, DNA and TGF- β in BAL; collagen in lung) (**E**); lung histology (400× magnification, asterisk show cell infiltration) (**F**) and cell infiltration score (**G**) after ozone exposure in WT and AhR-deficient mice. The data are representative of one from two independent experiments with n = 5-6 mice per group. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.





DISCUSSION

Environmental air pollution plays an important role in chronic respiratory diseases (54). Ozone is a major air pollutant contributing to the development of allergic and non-allergic asthma and chronic lung diseases, such as COPD and emphysema.

Here, we report that tryptophan produced upon ozone exposure leads to AhR activation and IL-22 and IL-17A production in the lung, probably through the production of tryptophan metabolites. AhR plays a protective role on lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, and tissue remodeling after chronic ozone exposure (1.5 ppm, twice a week for 2 h). The protection via AhR had previously been described in several models of lung inflammation including the COPD model induced by cigarette smoke (55, 56) and idiopathic pneumonia syndrome (1) or in the DSS-induced colitis model (57). AhR acts on several pathways, including cell cycle, cytokine production (51, 58), metabolism (20), and the maintenance of ILC3 (19). The type of immune response induced by AhR activation depends on the nature of the ligand. Several studies showed differential cytokine production due to AhR activation after PBMC stimulation with TCDD or PGE2 (22) supporting this hypothesis.

After ozone exposure, we identified two molecules released in the lung: tryptophan and LXA4, which potentially activate AhR. AhR plays a key role of tryptophan metabolism. Since the 1980s, several studies reported a role of tryptophan metabolites in the lung, including in cancer (59) and chronic inflammatory lung diseases affecting the parenchyma, such as sarcoidosis and idiopathic fibrosis (1, 60). The indole/tryptamine pathway could induce the production of several indole from tryptophan that may activate AhR. For example, in the intestine, IAld is known to induce the activation of AhR and the production of IL-22 (53). In such conditions, IAld is produced by microbiota, in particular the Lactobacilli. Lung/gut microbiota in the context of ozone exposure had been recently studied (61); moreover, ozone is commonly used in sterilization protocols, and it has an impact on plants (62), suggesting an impact of ozone on microbiota. Stress of the lung microbiome (63) induced by inflammatory cells and epithelial cells desquamation after ozone exposure may lead to an increased release of tryptophan in the lung that can be converted in various metabolites, but we cannot exclude an initial synthesis in gut. Moreover, we identified another AhR ligand, the lipoxin A4. The amount of lipoxin A4 was five times higher than the tryptophan itself in the lung tissue after chronic ozone exposure. This class of ligand has been described for the first time in 1999 (64). Lipoxin 44 could be produced in different cell types, as neutrophils, eosinophils, alveolar macrophages, and epithelial cells (65). Lipoxin A4 effects are mediated through its binding to FPR2/ALX membrane receptor or to AhR. Lipoxins are known to participate to inflammation resolution. In experimental asthma, lipoxins regulate NK or ILC2 activation (66), and in experimental psoriasis model induced by imiquimod, they reduce IL-17A and IL-22 production via HMGB1 modulation (67).

Here, we show that, AhR activation induced the recruitment of several immune cells, including macrophages, γδ T cells, αβ T cells, NK, ILC2, and ILC3 (Graphical Abstract). Upon chronic ozone exposure in AhR-deficient mice, we observed a type 2 response, as demonstrated by the production of T_H2 cytokines (IL-4 and IL-5). This response is associated with an increased IL-6 production. Airway hyperresponsiveness after chronic ozone exposure, a key feature of ozone exposure (28), is significantly enhanced in absence of AhR, as expected in a TH2 response. In the intestine, AhR maintenance is involved in the recruitment (19) of ILC3; however, the link between AhR and the ILC3 have not been investigated in the lung yet. Compared to the ILC2, ILC3 cells are very few in the lungs. But after ozone exposure, the quantity of ILC2 and ILC3 are very similar. Thus, we hypothesize that ILC3 had migrated from intestine to other tissues, particularly in the lung tissue after chronic ozone exposure. The deletion of AhR, in the CD4⁺ cells, controls the recruitment of the ILC3 and CD4⁺ T cells and is partly involved in the recruitment of the ILC2. Various direct or indirect mediators can drive this effect on different cell populations. Moreover, AhR may act on iNKT function (68), on the generation of Treg (69) or $T_H 17$ cells (23), and in the balance between T_H1 and T_H2 (70) as AhR activation suppresses the T_H2 differentiation.

Furthermore, AhR regulates IL-17A and IL-22 production (Graphical Abstract). Here, in AhR-deficient mice, IL-17A, and IL-22 levels were increased as well as the amount of NK, ILC3, and γδ T cells expressing IL-17A and IL-22. By using AhR^{CD4cre} mice we observed that the AhR-specific deficiency in T cells influenced ILC3 numbers and increased their capability to produce IL-17A and IL-22. IL-17A is known to be a pro-inflammatory cytokine that can collaborate with IL-22 to induce inflammation (71, 72). We hypothesized that the protective effect of AhR is related to its capacity to repress the recruitment of the cells secreting IL-17A and IL-22 likely mediated the production of an endogenous ligand induced by ozone. This repression could be driven by the LXA4. Indeed, AhR deficient mice present a reduced LXA4 expression (73). As shown by Zhang et al. (31), IL-17A is pro-inflammatory in the context of chronic exposure to ozone, confirmed in our lab with utilization of IL-17R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (data not shown). In the IL-22R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, we observed a reduction of cell infiltration and T_H2 cytokines production. Moreover, airway hyperresponsiveness and tissue remodeling parameters (epithelial cells, DNA release, and collagen deposition) were reduced. Thus, our data confirm the pro-inflammatory role of both IL-17A and IL-22 in this model, but our data suggest that the phenotype observed in $AhR^{-/-}$ mice is only dependent of IL-22.

In conclusion, ozone exposure induces tryptophan metabolites and LXA4 that activates AhR. This activation likely control cell recruitment, $T_{\rm H2}$ and $T_{\rm H17/22}$ response, airway hyperresponsiveness and tissue remodeling. Altogether, our data show that AhR plays a protective role upon chronic exposure to ozone by modulating IL-22-producing

cells recruitment leading to the control inflammation (Graphical Abstract).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by The French Institutional Committee under agreement CLE CCO 2015-1088.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CM, FB, LF, IM, CC, and MS conducted the experiments. CM, BR, and DT designed the experiments. CM, BR, DT, CC, JS, VQ, HS, AC-M, and LD wrote the paper or had a critical regard on manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by le Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), by French Institute of Health and

REFERENCES

- Lee SM, Park HY, Suh YS, Yoon EH, Kim J, Jang WH, et al. Inhibition of acute lethal pulmonary inflammation by the IDO-AhR pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E5881–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.16152 80114
- Katsouyanni K, Samet JM, Anderson HR, Atkinson R, Le Tertre A, Medina S, et al. Air pollution and health: a European and North American approach (APHENA). *Res Rep Health Eff Inst.* (2009) 5–90.
- Stafoggia M, Forastiere F, Faustini A, Biggeri A, Bisanti L, Cadum E, et al. Susceptibility factors to ozone-related mortality: a population-based case-crossover analysis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:376–84. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200908-1269OC
- Ji M, Cohan DS, Bell ML. Meta-analysis of the Association between Short-Term Exposure to Ambient Ozone and Respiratory Hospital Admissions. *Environ Res Lett.* (2011) 6:024006. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/6/2/024006
- Miller RL, Peden DB. Environmental effects on immune responses in patients with atopy and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2014) 134:1001–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.07.064
- Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Wurmbrand AP, Ribeiro L, et al. IL-33 drives augmented responses to ozone in obese mice. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2017) 125:246–53. doi: 10.1289/EHP272
- Peng RD, Samoli E, Pham L, Dominici F, Touloumi G, Ramsay T, et al. Acute effects of ambient ozone on mortality in Europe and North America: results from the APHENA study. *Air Qual Atmos Health.* (2013) 6:445–53. doi: 10.1007/s11869-012-0180-9
- Al-Hegelan M, Tighe RM, Castillo C, Hollingsworth JW. Ambient ozone and pulmonary innate immunity. *Immunol Res.* (2011) 49:173–91. doi: 10.1007/s12026-010-8180-z
- Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE, et al. Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2015) 136:769–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.046
- 10. Kasahara DI, Kim HY, Williams AS, Verbout NG, Tran J, Si H, et al. Pulmonary inflammation induced by subacute ozone is augmented in

Medical Research (INSERM), European Regional Development Fund (FEDER $n^{\circ}2016-00110366$), and la Région Centre (Respir_Ozone, $n^{\circ}2014-00091905$).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Marc Le Bert for advice and technical support. Thanks to EUCOM for Il22Ra1^{tm1a(EUCOM)Wtsi} mice, Pr Liu for Dppa3^{tm1(cre)Peli} mice and the TAAM for ROSA26Fki mice. We thank Claire Mackowiak, Quentin Marquant, Delphine Sedda, Mégane Nascimento, and Ana Espino for technical support. We thank Nathalie Froux, Caroline Bertrand, Tamara Durand, and ML Dessain for the excellent technical support of the staff of the animal unit including. The graphical abstract was created and adapted with Servier Medical Art by Servier and is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00144/full#supplementary-material

adiponectin-deficient mice: role of IL-17A. J Immunol. (2012) 188:4558–67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102363

- Ledford DK, Burks AW, Ballow M, Cox L, Wood RA, Casale TB. Statement regarding "The public health benefits of air pollution control". J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 130:24. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012. 02.055
- Michaudel C, Couturier-Maillard A, Chenuet P, Maillet I, Mura C, Couillin I, et al. Inflammasome, IL-1 and inflammation in ozone-induced lung injury. *Am J Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 5:33–40.
- Michaudel C, Fauconnier L, Jule Y, Ryffel B. Functional and morphological differences of the lung upon acute and chronic ozone exposure in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:10611. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28261-9
- Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Akdis CA, Sokolowska M, et al. Ozone exposure induces respiratory barrier biphasic injury and inflammation controlled by IL-33. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 142:942–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.044
- Stockinger B, Di Meglio P, Gialitakis M, Duarte JH. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: multitasking in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2014) 32:403–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120245
- Lamas B, Richard ML, Leducq V, Pham HP, Michel ML, Da Costa G, et al. CARD9 impacts colitis by altering gut microbiota metabolism of tryptophan into aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:598– 605. doi: 10.1038/nm.4102
- Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Quintana FJ. Regulation of the immune response by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:19–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.12.012
- Kimura A, Naka T, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor in combination with Stat1 regulates LPS-induced inflammatory responses. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:2027–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090560
- Schiering C, Wincent E, Metidji A, Iseppon A, Li Y, Potocnik AJ, et al. Feedback control of AHR signalling regulates intestinal immunity. *Nature*. (2017) 542:242–5. doi: 10.1038/nature21080
- 20. Kalthoff S, Ehmer U, Freiberg N, Manns MP, Strassburg CP. Interaction between oxidative stress sensor Nrf2 and xenobiotic-activated aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the regulation of the human phase II detoxifying

UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 1A10. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:5993-6002. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.075770

- Zelante T, Iannitti RG, Fallarino F, Gargaro M, De Luca A, Moretti S, et al. Tryptophan Feeding of the IDO1-AhR Axis in Host-Microbial Symbiosis. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:640. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00640
- Ramirez JM, Brembilla NC, Sorg O, Chicheportiche R, Matthes T, Dayer JM, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor reveals distinct requirements for IL-22 and IL-17 production by human T helper cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:2450–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040461
- Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, Korn T, Farez MF, Bettelli E, et al. Control of T(reg) and T(H)17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature*. (2008) 453:65–71. doi: 10.1038/nature06880
- Neavin DR, Liu D, Ray B, Weinshilboum RM. The role of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AHR) in immune and inflammatory diseases. *Int J* Mol Sci. (2018) 19:E3851. doi: 10.3390/ijms19123851
- 25. Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Di Padova F. Th 17 Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmune Disease. (2013). Available online at: https://books.google.fr/books?id=9TzX882x0X4C&pg=PA48& dq=Quesniaux+V,+Ryffel+B,+Di+Padova++Th17+cell&hl=fr&sa=X&ved= 0ahUKEwj0i6rxsNvnAhVCxIUKHaL3As4Q6AEIMzAB#v=onepage&q= Quesniaux%20V%2C%20Ryffel%20B%2C%20Di%20Padova%20%20Th17 %20cells&f=false
- Gurczynski SJ, Moore BB. IL-17 in the lung: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2018) 314:L6–16. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00344.2017
- Miossec P, Kolls JK. Targeting IL-17 and TH17 cells in chronic inflammation. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2012) 11:763–76. doi: 10.1038/nr d3794
- Pichavant M, Goya S, Meyer EH, Johnston RA, Kim HY, Matangkasombut P, et al. Ozone exposure in a mouse model induces airway hyperreactivity that requires the presence of natural killer T cells and IL-17. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:385–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071507
- Mathews JA, Williams AS, Brand JD, Wurmbrand AP, Chen L, Ninin FM, et al. gammadelta T cells are required for pulmonary IL-17A expression after ozone exposure in mice: role of TNFalpha. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e97707. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097707
- Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Hussain F, Zhu J, Wiegman C, et al. IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e58452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058452
- Zhang M, Fei X, Zhang GQ, Zhang PY, Li F, Bao WP, et al. Role of neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody on chronic ozone-induced airway inflammation in mice. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2016) 83:247–56. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2016.06.041
- Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Ribeiro L, Wurmbrand AP, Ninin FM, Shore SA. gammadelta T cells are required for M2 macrophage polarization and resolution of ozone-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0131236. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131236
- Ribot JC, deBarros A, Pang DJ, Neves JF, Peperzak V, Roberts SJ, et al. CD27 is a thymic determinant of the balance between interferon-gamma- and interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:427–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.1717
- Omenetti S, Pizarro TT. The Treg/Th17 Axis: a dynamic balance regulated by the gut microbiome. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:639. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00639
- Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O, Fujino S, Deguchi Y, Araki Y, et al. Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. *Gastroenterology*. (2005) 129:969–84. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.06.071
- Boniface K, Bernard FX, Garcia M, Gurney AL, Lecron JC, Morel F. IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:3695–702. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.6.3695
- 37. Fernandez-Salguero P, Pineau T, Hilbert DM, McPhail T, Lee SS, Kimura S, et al. Immune system impairment and hepatic fibrosis in mice lacking the dioxin-binding Ah receptor. *Science*. (1995) 268:722–6. doi: 10.1126/science.7732381
- Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, et al. IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not

required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:8098–104. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8098

- Liu H, Wang W, Chew SK, Lee SC, Li J, Vassiliou GS, et al. Stella-Cre mice are highly efficient Cre deleters. *Genesis*. (2011) 49:689–95. doi: 10.1002/dvg.20741
- Couch C, Franxman T, Greenhawt M. The economic effect and outcome of delaying oral food challenges. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2016) 116:420– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2016.02.016
- Reddy AS, Reddy N, Dinapadu S, Reddy M, Pasari S. Role of ozone therapy in minimal intervention dentistry and endodontics - a review. *J Int Oral Health*. (2013) 5:102–8.
- 42. Demyanets S, Konya V, Kastl SP, Kaun C, Rauscher S, Niessner A, et al. Interleukin-33 induces expression of adhesion molecules and inflammatory activation in human endothelial cells and in human atherosclerotic plaques. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:2080–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.231431
- Madouri F, Guillou N, Fauconnier L, Marchiol T, Rouxel N, Chenuet P, et al. Caspase-1 activation by NLRP3 inflammasome dampens IL-33-dependent house dust mite-induced allergic lung inflammation. J Mol Cell Biol. (2015) 7:351–65. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjv012
- Chandrasekharan JA, Sharma-Walia N. Lipoxins: nature's way to resolve inflammation. J Inflamm Res. (2015) 8:181–92. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S90380
- Marginean A, Sharma-Walia N. Lipoxins exert antiangiogenic and antiinflammatory effects on Kaposi's sarcoma cells. *Transl Res.* (2015) 166:111–33. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2015.02.009
- Romano M, Cianci E, Simiele F, Recchiuti A. Lipoxins and aspirin-triggered lipoxins in resolution of inflammation. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2015) 760:49–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.083
- Barr BC, Hyde DM, Plopper CG, Dungworth DL. A comparison of terminal airway remodeling in chronic daily versus episodic ozone exposure. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (1990) 106:384–407. doi: 10.1016/0041-008X(90)90335-R
- Hyde DM, Miller LA, McDonald RJ, Stovall MY, Wong V, Pinkerton KE, et al. Neutrophils enhance clearance of necrotic epithelial cells in ozone-induced lung injury in rhesus monkeys. *Am J Physiol.* (1999) 277(Pt 1):L1190–8. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1999.277.6.L1190
- Song H, Tan W, Zhang X. Ozone induces inflammation in bronchial epithelial cells. J Asthma. (2011) 48:79–83. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2010.529224
- Makinde T, Murphy RF, Agrawal DK. The regulatory role of TGF-beta in airway remodeling in asthma. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2007) 85:348–56. doi: 10.1038/sj.icb.7100044
- Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links TH17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. *Nature*. (2008) 453:106–9. doi: 10.1038/nature06881
- Monteleone I, Rizzo A, Sarra M, Sica G, Sileri P, Biancone L, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-induced signals up-regulate IL-22 production and inhibit inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology.* (2011) 141:237–48, 248.e231. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.007
- Zelante T, Iannitti RG, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Pieraccini G, et al. Tryptophan catabolites from microbiota engage aryl hydrocarbon receptor and balance mucosal reactivity via interleukin-22. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:372–85. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.003
- Kurt OK, Zhang J, Pinkerton KE. Pulmonary health effects of air pollution. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* (2016) 22:138–43. doi: 10.1097/MCP.00000000000248
- 55. Rogers S, de Souza AR, Zago M, Iu M, Guerrina N, Gomez A, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR)-dependent regulation of pulmonary miRNA by chronic cigarette smoke exposure. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:40539. doi: 10.1038/srep40539
- Zago M, Sheridan JA, Traboulsi H, Hecht E, Zhang Y, Guerrina N, et al. Low levels of the AhR in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)-derived lung cells increases COX-2 protein by altering mRNA stability. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0180881. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180881
- 57. Islam J, Sato S, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Ardiansyah, Hirahara K, et al. Dietary tryptophan alleviates dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis through aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mice. J Nutr Biochem. (2017) 42:43–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.12.019
- 58. Kimura A, Naka T, Nohara K, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Kishimoto T. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates Stat1 activation and participates in the

development of Th17 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2008) 105:9721-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804231105

- Yasui H, Takai K, Yoshida R, Hayaishi O. Interferon enhances tryptophan metabolism by inducing pulmonary indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase: its possible occurrence in cancer patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:6622–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.17.6622
- Meyer KC, Arend RA, Kalayoglu MV, Rosenthal NS, Byrne GI, Brown RR. Tryptophan metabolism in chronic inflammatory lung disease. J Lab Clin Med. (1995) 126:530–40.
- Kasahara DI, Wilkinson JE, Cho Y, Cardoso AP, Huttenhower C, Shore SA. The interleukin-33 receptor contributes to pulmonary responses to ozone in male mice: role of the microbiome. *Respir Res.* (2019) 20:197. doi: 10.1186/s12931-019-1168-x
- Ueda Y, Frindte K, Knief C, Ashrafuzzaman M, Frei M. Effects of elevated tropospheric ozone concentration on the bacterial community in the phyllosphere and rhizoplane of rice. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0163178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163178
- Huffnagle GB, Dickson RP, Lukacs NW. The respiratory tract microbiome and lung inflammation: a two-way street. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:299–306. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.108
- Schaldach CM, Riby J, Bjeldanes LF. Lipoxin A4: a new class of ligand for the Ah receptor. *Biochemistry*. (1999) 38:7594–600. doi: 10.1021/bi982861e
- Higgins G, Ringholz F, Buchanan P, McNally P, Urbach V. Physiological impact of abnormal lipoxin A(4) production on cystic fibrosis airway epithelium and therapeutic potential. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:781087. doi: 10.1155/2015/781087
- Barnig C, Cernadas M, Dutile S, Liu X, Perrella MA, Kazani S, et al. Lipoxin A4 regulates natural killer cell and type 2 innate lymphoid cell activation in asthma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:174ra126. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. 3004812
- 67. Liu X, Wang X, Duan X, Poorun D, Xu J, Zhang S, et al. Lipoxin A4 and its analog suppress inflammation by modulating HMGB1 translocation and expression in psoriasis. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:7100. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-07485-1
- Moreira-Teixeira L, Resende M, Coffre M, Devergne O, Herbeuval JP, Hermine O, et al. Proinflammatory environment dictates the IL-17-producing

capacity of human invariant NKT cells. J Immunol. (2011) 186:5758-65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003043

- 69. Funatake CJ, Marshall NB, Steppan LB, Mourich DV, Kerkvliet NI. Cutting edge: activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin generates a population of CD4+ CD25+ cells with characteristics of regulatory T cells. J Immunol. (2005) 175:4184–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.7.4184
- Negishi T, Kato Y, Ooneda O, Mimura J, Takada T, Mochizuki H, et al. Effects of aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling on the modulation of TH1/TH2 balance. J Immunol. (2005) 175:7348–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7348
- Sonnenberg GF, Nair MG, Kirn TJ, Zaph C, Fouser LA, Artis D. Pathological versus protective functions of IL-22 in airway inflammation are regulated by IL-17A. J Exp Med. (2010) 207:1293–305. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092054
- 72. Cho KA, Kim JY, Woo SY, Park HJ, Lee KH, Pae CU. Interleukin-17 and interleukin-22 induced proinflammatory cytokine production in keratinocytes via inhibitor of nuclear factor kappaB kinase-alpha expression. *Ann Dermatol.* (2012) 24:398–405. doi: 10.5021/ad.2012.24.4.398
- Elizondo G, Rodriguez-Sosa M, Estrada-Muniz E, Gonzalez FJ, Vega L. Deletion of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor enhances the inflammatory response to Leishmania major infection. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2011) 7:1220–9. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.7.1220

Conflict of Interest: DT and LF are employees at ArtImmune.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Michaudel, Bataille, Maillet, Fauconnier, Colas, Sokol, Straube, Couturier-Maillard, Dumoutier, van Snick, Quesniaux, Togbe and Ryffel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Oxidative Stress in Ozone-Induced Chronic Lung Inflammation and Emphysema: A Facet of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Coen H. Wiegman^{1*†}, Feng Li^{2†}, Bernhard Ryffel³, Dieudonnée Togbe^{3,4} and Kian Fan Chung¹

¹ Section of Airways Disease, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ² Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ³ Laboratory of Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics (INEM), UMR 7355 CNRS-University of Orleans, Orléans, France, ⁴ ArtImmune SAS, Orléans, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Takayuki Yoshimoto, Tokyo Medical University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Min-Jong Kang, Yale University, United States Tomonori Kaifu, Tohoku Medical and Pharmaceutical University, Japan Brian Gregory George Oliver, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

> *Correspondence: Coen H. Wiegman c.wiegman@imperial.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 March 2020 Accepted: 20 July 2020 Published: 02 September 2020

Citation:

Wiegman CH, Li F, Ryffel B, Togbe D and Chung KF (2020) Oxidative Stress in Ozone-Induced Chronic Lung Inflammation and Emphysema: A Facet of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Front. Immunol. 11:1957. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01957

Oxidative stress plays an important role in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) caused by cigarette smoke and characterized by chronic inflammation, alveolar destruction (emphysema) and bronchiolar obstruction. Ozone is a gaseous constituent of urban air pollution resulting from photochemical interaction of air pollutants such as nitrogen oxide and organic compounds. While acute exposure to ozone induces airway hyperreactivity and neutrophilic inflammation, chronic ozone exposure in mice causes activation of oxidative pathways resulting in cell death and a chronic bronchial inflammation with emphysema, mimicking cigarette smoke-induced COPD. Therefore, the chronic exposure to ozone has become a model for studying COPD. We review recent data on mechanisms of ozone induced lung disease focusing on pathways causing chronic respiratory epithelial cell injury, cell death, alveolar destruction, and tissue remodeling associated with the development of chronic inflammation and AHR. The initial oxidant insult may result from direct effects on the integrity of membranes and organelles of exposed epithelial cells in the airways causing a stress response with the release of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS), DNA, and proteases. Mitochondrial ROS and mitochondrial DNA activate NLRP3 inflammasome and the DNA sensors cGAS and STING accelerating cell death pathways including caspases with inflammation enhancing alveolar septa destruction, remodeling, and fibrosis. Inhibitors of mitochondrial ROS, NLRP3 inflammasome, DNA sensor, cell death pathways, and IL-1 represent novel therapeutic targets for chronic airways diseases underlined by oxidative stress.

Keywords: ozone, oxidative stress, inflammation, empyema, model, COPD

INTRODUCTION

Ozone is a gaseous constituent of urban air pollution that is generated by interaction of rising constituents of air pollution such as nitrogen oxide and organic compounds, induced by sunlight. Early studies have documented the effects of a short acute exposure to ozone in inducing airway inflammation and bronchial hyperreactivity in humans and in various species including mice, rats,

90

TABLE 1 | Mean ozone concentration targets and thresholds in Europe.

Ozone target, threshold, and mean annual values	μ g/m ³	ppm	
EU target (8 h mean)	120	0.060	
EU information threshold	180	0.090	
EU alert threshold	240	0.120	
Level in United Kingdom	80	0.040	
Level in France	90	0.045	
Level in Germany	100	0.050	
Level in Italy	130	0.065	

Adapted from: Air quality in Europe – 2019 report. EU, European Union; ppm, parts per million. (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2019).

guinea pigs, and dogs, at levels of ozone that were much higher than those measured in a highly polluted traffic-dense environment during the summer months.

More than 92% of the world's population are regularly exposed to unhealthy levels of ozone and among the world's 11 most populous countries, population-weighted seasonal ozone concentrations range from about 45 ppb in Brazil to 68 ppb in China. In Europe, the average ozone levels are reported to be highest in Italy with an annual average of 65 ppb (https://www. eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2019). Ozone concentration EU targets for the protection of human health has been set not to exceed 60 ppb but these targets are very often exceeded in several EU countries (**Table 1**). The European Air

Quality Report highlights that 17 EU member states and six other reporting countries registered concentrations of ozone above the target value more than 25 times.

Over the recent years, there has been growing evidence from epidemiological and human exposure studies of the detrimental effects of ozone on respiratory health. Thus, short-term changes in ozone levels have been associated with increased mortality (1, 2), and a positive association between ozone and hospital admissions for asthma and COPD in the elderly and between ozone levels and asthma emergency visits in children (3, 4). Indeed, more recent studies have linked long-term exposure to ozone with reduced lung function and an increasing risk of developing emphysema irrespective of being a cigarette smoker (5, 6).

The effects of ozone on inflammation have already been reviewed although these have usually looked at mainly acute exposures (7). One of the long-term interests of the effect of ozone has been to determine whether exposure to ozone can represent a good model for airways disease. Acute exposure to ozone in rats or mice and later in humans have been used as a model of bronchial hyperresponsiveness underlined by a neutrophilic inflammation, the mechanisms of this effect having been reviewed (7). However, it is the chronic exposure to ozone that led to a model of emphysema and chronic airway inflammation that has been of the most interest in recent years (8). This represented the most direct proof that oxidative stress could induce features similar to that seen in the condition labeled as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

In this review, we will consider by what mechanisms this oxidant stress can lead to chronic bronchial inflammation and lung destruction of emphysema, and how models of oxidative stress such as exposure to ozone particularly on a long term basis can inform us on the nature of COPD and can be used to examine potentially new treatments.

CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE (COPD)

COPD is defined as a common, preventable, and treatable disease that is characterized by persistent respiratory symptoms and airflow obstruction that is due to airway and/or alveolar abnormalities usually caused by significant exposure to noxious particles or gases (9, 10). This is a disease with high degree of morbidity and mortality throughout the world. While initially, this was considered to be a disease mainly found or caused by cigarette smoking, it is now agreed that exposure to biomass fuel and increasingly to environmental pollution can also contribute to the pathogenesis of COPD (11).

Some of the pathological features of smoking-induced COPD consist of severe airflow obstruction which is associated partly to the inflammation in the small airways particularly by neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes (12). In addition, there is airway wall remodeling of the small airways, which involves all the components of the airway wall including epithelium, lamina propria, and airway smooth muscle (13, 14). Finally, there is the presence of emphysema, with the destruction of

Abbreviations: 16HBE, human bronchial epithelial cell line; AHR, airways hyperreactivity; AIFM1, mitochondrial apoptosis inducing factor 1; AP-1, activator protein 1; ASMC, airway smooth muscle cell; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; cGAS, cyclic GMP-AMP synthase; CBS, cystathioninebeta-synthetase; CCL2, C-C motif chemokine ligand 2; CGL, cystathioninegamma-lyase; CLDN, claudin; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CS, corticosteroid; CSM, cigarette smoke medium; CXCL1, chemokine (C-X-C) ligand 1; $\Delta \Psi m$, mitochondrial membrane potential; DRP1, dynaminrelated protein 1; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; ETC, electron transport chain; GR, glucocorticoid receptor; H2O2, hydrogen peroxide; H2S, hydrogen sulfide; HDAC2, histone deacetylase 2; HIF-1a, hypoxia inducible factor subunit 1a; ICAM1, intracellular adhesion molecule 1; IFNy, interferon gamma; IL, interleukin; ILC2, innate lymphoid cells type 2; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; iPSC-MSC, induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell; ISO-1, (S,R)3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4,5-dihydro-5-isoxazole acetic acid methyl ester; JNK, c-jun NH2 terminal kinase; KEAP1, Kelch-like ECH associated protein 1; MAPK, mitogen activated kinase; MFF, mitochondrial fission factor; MFN2, mitofusin 2; MIF, macrophage migration inhibitory factor; MIP-2, macrophage inflammatory protein 2; MKP-1, mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1; MMP-12, matrix metalloproteinase 12; MPST, 3mercaptypyruvate sulfurtransferase; MyD88, myeloid differentiation marker 88; NAC, N-acetylcysteine; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NaHS, sodium hydrosulfide; NET, neutrophil extracellular trap; NFKB, nuclear factor KB; NK, natural killer cell; NLRP3, NACHT, LRR, and PYD domainscontaining protein 3; Nrf2, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2; OVA, ovalbumin; PAF, platelet-activating factor; PGAM5, phosphoglycerate mutase family, member 5; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; ppm, parts per million; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SS-31, d-Arg-2',6'-dimethyltyrosine-Lys-Phe-NH2 mitochondrial antioxidant; STING, stimulator of interferon genes; TIRAP, Toll-Interleukin 1 receptor (TIR) domain containing adaptor protein; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF-a, tumor necrosis factor-α; TRPC6, canonical transient receptor potential channel 6; TSLP, thymic stromal lymphopoietin; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

alveolar airspaces, which has been attributed to an imbalance of protease and anti-protease activity with enhanced protease activity associated with neutrophil activation (15). Airway hyperreactivity (AHR) prevalence and pathology in COPD was found to be present in one out of two COPD patients with its presence influenced by decline in lung function and smoking status (16). As such, AHR can be seen as an independent predictor and a contributing factor to COPD development.

Various pathological pathways have been proposed including increased apoptosis mechanisms (17, 18) in addition to inflammageing and autoimmunity (19). There is growing evidence that COPD may represent a cellular senescence program associated with secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that cause chronic inflammation, that leads to the increased levels of reactive oxygen species that can induce oxidative stress (20). Oxidative stress mechanisms can also lead to activation of pro-inflammatory pathways in addition to causing DNA damage (21).

An increasing body of evidence has been accumulating linking COPD with the process of autoimmunity, with the presence of autoantibodies in the sera of COPD patients, and with some of the antibodies correlating with particular disease phenotypes (19). Thus, it has been proposed that autoimmunity may play an important role in the pathogenesis of COPD. Interestingly, ozone-exposed mice for 6 weeks exhibited increased antibody titres to carbonyl-modified protein, as well as activated antigenpresenting cells in lung tissue and splenocytes sensitized to activation of carbonyl-modified protein (22). This is evidence of oxidative stress induced antibodies supporting an auto-immune component, as has been described in COPD with the elevation of carbonyl-modified self-protein that correlated with the severity of disease. Cigarette smoke models have also supported this effect of ozone as has been shown in matrix metalloproteinase 12 (MMP12)-generated elastin fragments serving as a selfantigen and driving the cigarette smoke-induced autoimmune processes in mice that result in a bronchitis-like phenotype and airspace enlargement (23). These elastin autoantibodies and others have been described in advanced COPD (24). The fact that autoantibodies in animal models of COPD such as after ozone exposure are capable of inducing a COPD-like disease phenotype indicate an autoimmune mechanisms perhaps involving B cells, plasma cells, and B cell-rich lymphoid follicles that are present in COPD (25).

MECHANISMS OF OZONE-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS ON INFLAMMATION AND AIRWAY REMODELING

It is quite clear that ozone reacts with cellular membranes and with the epithelial lung lining fluid to generate bioactive mediators that cause oxidative stress, innate immune responses, and signaling (26, 27). When inhaled, there is direct contact between ozone and the first level of cells in the airway surface such as airway and alveolar epithelial cells, and airway macrophages. These cells release reactive oxygen species and various other inflammatory mediators including cytokines and lipids from oxidative damage to the airway epithelium (28, 29). In addition, ozone exposure has been shown to impair macrophage phagocytic and efferocytosis function (28, 30) which can cause prolonged injury and inflammation. The mechanisms underlying these changes have been previously reviewed in terms of the transcriptional effects of ozone in the lungs and airways (31, 32).

Effects of Ozone Exposure on Oxidative Stress and Intracellular Signaling Pathways

The increased oxidative stress as a direct effect of ozone is often investigated in relation to cellular dysfunction. Ozone affects several intracellular pathways in different cell types, but not always in the same way. Ozone exposure in cultured alveolar epithelial cells results in cytotoxicity but does not always affect the production of cytokines (33). However, when conditioned medium from ozone-exposed alveolar macrophages is added to alveolar epithelial cells, the cytokines chemokine (C-X-C) ligand 1 (CXCL1) and C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) were induced, mediated through interleukin-1 α (IL-1 α) (34). On the other hand, it has been reported that, although human alveolar macrophages are much more sensitive to ozone than epithelial cells, they do not produce increased amounts of IL-6, IL-8, or fibronectin following ozone exposure. This increased sensitivity of alveolar macrophages was observed in the form of increased cell death with a third of the cells lost after a low ozone exposure dose. However, whether macrophages are more sensitive to ozone in vivo is not known, but bronchial airway epithelial cells produce substantially more of all three proteins following ozone exposure, and both IL-6 and fibronectin are secreted vectorially toward the apical side at least in the first 4 and 24 h after ozone exposure (29). Ozone exposure has been shown to induce the expression of intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and neutrophil adhesion to human airway epithelial cells, which is mediated through the Canonical Transient Receptor Potential Channel 6 (TRPC6) (35). TRPC6 also impacts neutrophilic inflammation by nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB) activation and therefore promoting transcription of inflammatory mediators (35). Therefore, cellular interactions such as those between alveolar macrophages and, airway and alveolar epithelial cells which are the initial airway cells encountered by ozone may be important in the induction of its effects. The role of TRPC6 during oxidative stress conditions has been investigated in several cell types. Oxidative stress induces TRPC6 expression and function in podocytes (36), HEK293T cells (37), vascular myocytes (38), neutrophils (35), and macrophages (39). In a recent study, TRPC6 in bronchial epithelium cells, was shown to act as an oxidative stress sensor where the TRPC6-mediated calcium cascade leads to the activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway and inflammation (40). This could be a possible inflammatory response pathway in several cell types in response to ozone, but this has yet to be described in COPD.

Ozone exposure activates several types of innate immune cells which play a role in both the Th1 and Th2 inflammatory responses. While the role of neutrophils as part of the Th1 response is well-established, other innate cell such NK cells (41) and innate lymphoid type 2 (ILC2) cells (42) may also contribute.

Surfactant protein D released by exposure to ozone has been shown to stimulate interferon (IFN)-y by NK cells to initiate IFNγ, IL-12 feedback circuit (41). Continuous exposure to ozone has been shown to result in the conversion of an initial neutrophilic inflammation to an eosinophilic inflammation in the nasal mucosa of mice (43). This was accompanied by an overexpression of type-2 cytokines in the nasal epithelium. The role of ILC2 cells was confirmed by showing that the epithelial-derived alarmins, IL-33, IL-25, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) that were increased in the nasal epithelium was dependent on ILC-2 cells, but not on adaptive T or B lymphoid cells (44). The involvement of ILC2 cells is also supported by the observation that IL-13, a product of such cells, can augment the effects of single ozone exposure, namely AHR and inflammation (45). In addition, ovalbumin sensitization and challenge can also augment ozone exposure effects (46).

Several intracellular pathways are involved in the effects of ozone exposure. Prolonged exposure to ozone induced gene expression levels of several hypoxia inducible factor- 1α (HIF- 1α) target genes including histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1), and Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), in addition to a decrease in the antioxidative stress response as indicated by an increase in nuclear erythroidrelated factor 2 (Nrf2) activity and protein level (47). The Toll like receptors (TLRs) and downstream adaptor proteins myeloid differentiation marker 88 (MyD88) and toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein (TIRAP) appear to be involved in the inflammation response to ozone (48, 49). Ozone is able to induce TLR4 signaling through MyD88 in normal Tlr4 expressing C3H/HeOuJ mice. This in contrast to C3H/HeJ mice that express a defective dominant negative mutant Tlr4 gene (50). TLR4 can be activated by ligand binding and subsequently recruits adapter proteins including MyD88. The MyD88-dependant pathway signals through several signal transduction pathways including MAPK, NF-KB, and AP-1 to induce cytokine gene expression contributing to the inflammation response toward ozone. Heath shock protein 70 (HSP70) was identified as a downstream mediator to have a role the TLR4 mediated effects by ozone (50). The ozoneinduced oxidative stress response might be involved in the activation of the NACHT, LRR, and PYD domains-containing protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome complex (51). Both the acute and chronic exposure of mice to ozone induces lung inflammation through activation of ROS and of the NLRP3 inflammasome with caspase activation (52, 53) and release of the highly inflammatory mediator IL-1 β , but also IL-1 α (54), which are involved in the ozone injury response (55). Uric acid crystals cause NLRP3-dependent lung inflammation upon injury (56) and therefore it is not excluded that crystals formed during injury may contribute to ozone induced inflammation (57).

How this cytoplasmic multiprotein complex is activated upon ozone exposure remains to be determined. One of the mechanisms might involve reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative stress induced danger signals as reviewed recently (58). The transcriptional effects of ozone and the subsequent impact on airway inflammation have recently been reviewed in an article in this series (31).

Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated Barrier Disruption, Inflammation, and Emphysema

Ozone reacts with cellular membranes and with the epithelial lung lining fluid to generate bioactive mediators that cause oxidative stress, innate immune responses, and signaling (26, 27). Ozone-induced ROS at the cell membrane influences membrane integrity with the disruption of tight junction, cell stress, and death with leak of the respiratory barrier within 1-2 h. This first phase is independent of cellular ROS, inflammatory mediators, and inflammatory cells (58). These effects might be the result of ozone exposure induced changes in the expression of claudin (CLDN) proteins which are protein components of tight junctions. In mice exposed to ozone an increased expression levels of CLDN3 and CLDN4 while a reduction in CLDN14 was reported (59). These workers also showed that bronchial epithelial cell integrity was disrupted and that the trans-electrical resistance between cells was decreased leading to cell disintegration. These changes were associated with elevated ROS and increased expression of antioxidant defense system involving Nrf2 and Keap1 (59). Another potential mechanism is lipid peroxidation, which is induced by ozone in human alveolar epithelial cells (60) and in lung surfactant (61). Phospholipids and cholesterol in cell membranes and surfactant can react with ozone to form cytotoxic products which activate second messenger systems involving free arachidonic acid (62), plateletactivating factor (PAF) (63) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (64). Ozone exposure induced changes to cell membrane integrity might involve several pathways, dependent on dose and duration of exposure.

The acute respiratory barrier disruption by ozone has been recently reviewed in an accompanying review in this series (65). This first phase is followed by a robust barrier injury with cell death, protein leak, and influx of ROS expressing myeloid cells including neutrophils, IL-1a and IL-33 production by epithelial and myeloid cells within 6-12 h. Thus, a biphasic response is observed, an immediate direct membrane damage by ROS and a second phase mediated by myeloid cells, which aggravates the damage of the epithelium and inflammation. In support of this hypothesis is the fact that neutrophil depletion attenuates the second phase (58). Oxidative stress peaks at \sim 18 h after a single ozone exposure during the second phase with increased ROS positive neutrophils and epithelial cells (66). This increase in ROS subsequently causes cell injury, mitochondrial dysfunction, formation, and release of toxic metabolites and even DNA damage. These events have been associated with and contribute to the development of tissue destruction leading to emphysema and lung remodeling.

The toxic effect of ozone was also observed in the distal part of the lung, the alveoli, with death of alveolar epithelial cells with defective repair resulting in enlarged air spaces and emphysema (8). Emphysema upon chronic ozone exposure is commonly found in mice and is dependent on ROS-dependent inflammation (8), but this does not involve IL-17 (67). TABLE 2 | Dose, duration, and effect of ozone exposures at different ages of rodents.

Dose	Duration	Species	Age	Effect
Acute oz	zone exposure			
2 ppm	8h	Rat	Adult	Decrease ATP synthesis and mtO_2 consumption, increase lung mitochondria permeability (77)
3 ppm	8h	Rat	Adult	Decreased mitochondrial respiration, decrease mtO ₂ consumption (78)
3 ppm	8h	Rat	Old	Decreased mitochondrial respiration, decrease mtO ₂ consumption (78)
3 ppm	3h	Mouse	Adult	Increased mitochondrial ROS, reduced membrane potential, ETC I, III, V proteins, and ATP content (79)
4 ppm	4 h	Rat	Adult	Decrease mtO_2 consumption (77)
Chronic	ozone exposure			
0.5 ppm	12 h per day for 7 days	Rat	Young	Increased ROS, decreased ventilatory function (80)
0.5 ppm	12 h per day for 7 days	Rat	Adult	No effects on mitochondria O2 consumption (80)
0.5 ppm	12 h per day for 7 days	Rat	Old	Increased ROS and decreased mitochondria O2 consumption, increased ROS (80)
0.8 ppm	10–20 days	Rat	Adult	Increase number of mitochondria, increase O2 consumption rates (81)
2.5 ppm	3 h, twice a week for 6 weeks	Mouse	Adult	Increased mitochondrial ROS, reduced membrane potential, increased ETC protein II, and IV (82)
3 ppm	3 h, twice a week for 6 weeks	Mouse	Adult	Increased mitochondrial ROS, reduced membrane potential, ETC protein and ATP content (79)

Young = <2 months age, Adult = 2–6 months of age, Old = >6 months of age. ATP, adenosine triphosphate; ETC, electron transport chain; mtO₂, mitochondrial oxygen consumption; ppm, parts per million; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

Understanding the initial physico-chemical and molecular events of ozone-induced cell membrane injury *in vitro* and *in vivo* is an area of intense research leading to cell death will be important. Inflammation and cell death are also associated with neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation with chromatin externalization (68) and release of extracellular DNA, which are inflammatory activating the DNA sensing pathways cGAS/STING as reviewed for lung inflammation (69). Aerosol particles such as silica and likely others including ozone cause extracellular release of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA from dying cells, which drive cGAS/STING-type I interferon dependent inflammation, which is inhibited by DNase administration or blockade of STING (70).

In ozone-exposed mice, ROS-induced cell-death was dependent on interactions of Keap1, the cellular ROS sensor and the phosphatase phosphoglycerate mutase family member 5 (PGAM5) with antioxidant function and apoptosis inducing factor mitochondria associated 1 (AIFM1), a pro-apoptotic factor. At high ROS concentration PGAM5 is released from the complex and activates the pro-apoptotic factor AIFM1 inducing apoptotic pathway resulting in a new form of cell death known as oxeiptosis (71–73). However, the contribution of the different cell death pathways such as necroptosis, apoptosis, and efferocytosis by ozone is yet resolved (74). These cell death pathways are likely to be responsible for the emphysematous process seen on oxidant-induced emphysema.

EFFECT OF OZONE EXPOSURE ON OXIDATIVE STRESS AND MITOCHONDRIAL DYSFUNCTION

Ozone exposure in *ex vivo* and *in vivo* experimental models has focussed recently on the mitochondrial effects of ozone. Mitochondria are double membrane bound organelles that exist in most eukaryotic organisms. Mitochondria play an important role in production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and mitochondrial ROS production (75). Dysfunctional mitochondria influence airway contractility, gene expression, oxidative stress, cell proliferation, apoptosis and metabolism, and immune and inflammatory responses that are all implicated in airway diseases including COPD (76).

Influence of Age on Acute and Chronic Ozone Exposure

The toxic effects of ozone on mitochondria are closely dependent upon the dose and duration of ozone exposure and age of animals (Table 2). Short-term ozone exposure (2 ppm for 8 h or 4 ppm for 4 h) to adult rats caused decreases in mitochondrial O₂ consumption, mitochondrial ATP synthesis and oxidation of thiol groups in mitochondria in lung, and an increase in lung mitochondrial permeability (77). In vitro mitochondrial respiration in lung homogenates and in lung mitochondria from adult rats (2-3 months) was decreased after acute ozone exposure (15 ppm, 20 min). Subacute ozone exposure (0.8 ppm, for 10-20 days) to adult rats led to increased mitochondrial O2 consumption in lung homogenates, increased mitochondrial number and mitochondrial respiratory activity in alveolar type II cells in the lung (81). Acute ozone exposure (3 ppm for 8 h) in both adult (4-6 months) and old rats (24-26 months) decreased mitochondrial respiration and mitochondrial O2 consumption in isolated lung mitochondria (78). In young (3 weeks) and adult rats (6 months), a more chronic ozone exposure (0.5 ppm, 12 h, 7 days) did not affect lung mitochondrial O₂ consumption. However, in aged rats (20 months), ozone increased the mitochondrial O2 consumption and H2O2 release, which means increased mitochondrial ROS activity (80). This indicates that ozone may accelerate senescence process in the elderly.

In mice, a single ozone exposure (3 ppm for 3 h) resulted in enhanced cellular and mitochondrial ROS levels and a reduced mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m$) in lung.

Ozone-Induced Oxidative Stress in COPD

(83). Upon acute and chronic ozone exposures, increased mitochondrial ROS levels, decreased ATP content, decreased electron transport chain (ETC) complex I enzyme activity, and reduced expression of ETC complex I, complex III, and complex V in the lungs of 1- and 6-week ozone-exposed mice (3 ppm, 3 h, twice a week) have been observed. Furthermore, ozoneinduced inflammation, airway hyperreactivity, mitochondrial dysfunction, and ROS levels were reduced when mice were administered the mitochondrial antioxidant MitoQ (79). In addition, ozone induced inflammation, increased mitochondrial ROS, and expression of ETC complex II and IV in lung mitochondria in 6-week ozone exposed mice (2.5 ppm, 3 h, twice a week) was reduced by treatment with MitoTEMPO, another mitochondria-targeting antioxidant (82). Therefore, targeting the mitochondrial dysfunction to prevent or treat the ozoneinduced associated inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, and oxidative stress could be a promising treatment strategy.

AHR is a hallmark of ozone effects on the airways (66, 67) and is exacerbated in allergen-sensitized mice (84-86). AHR is due to a direct effect of ROS on bronchial smooth muscle cells (79), but also neuronal cells (87). The effect of ROS on cell membrane integrity is likely due to a direct disruption of the cell membrane structure which needs further studies (88). This is further supported by the effect of N-acetylcysteine (NAC) in reversing established AHR after chronic exposure to ozone (89). Studies of the airway smooth muscle from mice exposed to ozone showed that the hyperresponsiveness to cholinergic contractile agents can be reproduced in vitro and that this oxidant stressinduced hyperresponsiveness was dependent on the activation of the p38 mitogen-activated kinase (MAPK) and inhibited by corticosteroids (52). The AHR induced by chronic ozone exposure was also dependent on IL-17 (67), as was also shown by Pichavant et al. who reported that NK cells producing IL-17 was important for the maintenance of ozone-induced AHR (86). The pulmonary inflammation induced by subacute ozone exposure has been reported to require $\gamma\delta$ T cells and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α)-dependent recruitment of IL-17A + $\gamma\delta$ T cells to the lung (90).

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TARGETING INFLAMMATION, OXIDATIVE STRESS, AND MITOCHONDRIA

Several studies have investigated the effects of novel treatment strategies relating to the effects of ozone exposure in animal models (**Table 3**). Targeting inflammation, oxidative stress, and mitochondria could be part of future treatment strategies for COPD.

Corticosteroids and ISO-1

Corticosteroids can attenuate the single exposure effects of ozone including AHR and lung inflammation (95–97). This includes the inhibition of expression of macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (MIP-2), inducible nitric oxidase synthase (iNOS) (98, 99) and NF κ B (96), and the increased proliferation of the airway epithelium (91). However, chronic exposure to ozone itself can

TABLE 3 | Effect of different treatment strategies in ozone-exposed animal models.

Compound	Target	Effect	References
Apocynin	Cellular ROS	Inhibition epithelial cell proliferation	(91)
Corticosteroid	Is MAPK	Inhibition of inflammation, AHR	(67)
H ₂ S	Cellular and mitochondrial ROS	Inhibition of inflammation, ROS, and emphysema	(92, 93)
iPSC- MSC	Lung	Inhibition of cellular and mitochondrial ROS, normal membrane potential	(83)
ISO-1	MIF cytokine	Inhibition of inflammation and AHR	(94)
MitoTEMPO	Mitochondria	Inhibition mitochondrial ROS, normal complex protein expression	(82)
MitoQ	Mitochondria	Inhibition of inflammation, AHR, mitochondrial ROS and mitochondrial dysfunction	(79)
VX-765	NLRP3 inflammasome	Inhibition of inflammation and AHR Inhibition of inflammation, AHR, emphysema	(53, 82)

AHR, airway hyperreactivity; H₂S, hydrogen sulfide; iPSC-MSC, induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell; ISO-1, (S,R)3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4,5-dihydro-5-isoxazole acetic acid methyl ester; MAPK, mitogen activated kinase; MIF, macrophage migration inhibitory factor; NLRP3, NACHT, LRP, and PYD domains-containing protein 3; ROS, reactive oxygen species; VX-765, Belnacasan, caspase-1 inhibitor.

induce a state of corticosteroid insensitivity similar to what has been observed in COPD with reduced or little effect in preventing AHR, inflammation, and emphysema (94, 100). Corticosteroid insensitivity occurs in COPD through mechanisms induced by reactive oxygen species (101, 102). Several such mechanisms have been postulated, including a reduction in HDAC2 activity and expression, impaired corticosteroid activation of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and increased pro-inflammatory signaling pathways. Therefore, the chronic model of ozone exposure represents a good model of COPD to study the mechanisms of corticosteroid insensitivity.

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) has been implicated as a driver of inflammation in COPD, and possibly as a driver of corticoidsteroid insensitivity in COPD. Using (S,R)3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4,5-dihydro-5-isoxazole acetic acid methyl ester (ISO-1) which inhibits MIF tautomerase activity, the corticosteroid-insensitive lung inflammation and AHR after chronic ozone exposure was blocked (94). Thus, inhibition of MIF which is elevated in COPD may provide a novel antiinflammatory approach in COPD. However, the contribution of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1) that has been proposed to underlie CS insensitivity in COPD was found to be negligible in the chronic ozone model (100). Single ozone exposure aggravated airway inflammation, airway remodeling, activation of p38 MAPK, and downregulation of MKP-1 in ovalbumin (OVA)-sensitized and -challenged mice, an effect that was ineffectively controlled by corticosteroids (46), this also supported the role of p38 MAPK activation as a likely pathway involved in corticosteroid insensitivity (103).

Hydrogen Sulfide (H₂S)

Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), a metabolic product of methionine, is synthesized from L-cysteine primarily by three key enzymes: cystathionine-c-lyase (CGL), cystathionine-b-synthetase (CBS) and 3-mercaptypyruvate sulfurtransferase (MPST). Identified as the third gasotransmitter, along with nitric oxide and carbon monoxide, H₂S modulates a variety of physiological functions including anti-oxidative stress, anti-senescence/aging, and anti-apoptotic effects (104–106). H₂S has been proposed as serving as a potent antioxidant through reactive oxygen species/reactive nitrogen species scavenging, or through posttranslational modification of proteins by addition of a thiol (-SH) group onto reactive cysteine residues (107). In the lungs, H₂S suppresses the airway smooth muscle proliferation and cytokine release, an effect that is less effective in muscle from COPD patients (108).

In addition, H₂S content is reduced in the lungs of smokers and COPD patients (109), and H₂S attenuates nicotineinduced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in bronchial epithelial 16HBE cells (110). H₂S is able to prevent and treat the development of inflammation, AHR, and oxidative stress in acute ozone-exposed mice (92). In addition, the ozone-induced increase in p38 MAK signaling was reduced in mice treated with H₂S indicating that this intracellular signaling pathway might be involved (92). In chronic ozone-exposed mice, H₂S is also able to prevent the inflammation, AHR, and remodeling of the lung but is not able to reverse these hallmarks of the model (93). Induction of p38 MAPK signaling is also reversed in both treatment strategies in the chronic ozone exposure model. In addition to this, the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and the ratio between cleaved caspase-1 to pro-caspase-1 were positively correlated with changes in lung function parameters and structural changes in the lung. H₂S was able to prevent and treat the changes observed in NLRP3 activation (93). Taken together, the main difference between the acute and chronic ozone exposure models on the treatment effects of H₂S on the ozone-induced changes suggests that H₂S treatment only affects the damage inducing pathways (oxidative stress) and not the regenerative pathways of the lung (92, 93). It is of interest that H₂S donor NaHS significantly inhibits cigarette smoke-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative damage, cell senescence, and apoptosis in alveolar epithelial A549 cells (111). These findings provide novel mechanisms underlying the protection of H₂S against ozone and cigarette smoke-induced COPD and suggest that H₂S donors targeted toward mitochondria may be beneficial in the treatment of COPD.

NLRP3 Inflammasome Inhibitor, Belnacasan (VX-765)

In addition to H_2S , Belnacasan or VX-765 inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome activation effects by inhibiting caspase-1. In acute ozone exposed mice VX-765 is able to prevent bronchoalveolar

lavage (BAL) inflammatory markers, and AHR. Mitochondrial oxidative stress was reduced and this was associated with lower expression levels of dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1) and mitochondrial fission factor (MFF), and increased expression of Mitofusin 2 (MFN2) proteins involved in mitochondrial fission and fusion, respectively (53). Similar effects were observed in chronic ozone exposed mice were VX-765 is able to prevent inflammation, emphysema, airway remodeling, and oxidative stress while it decreased the expression of the fission protein DRP1 and MFF with affecting proteins involved in fusion dynamics. (82). Mitochondrial oxidative stress and NLRP3 inflammasome were driving ozone-induced inflammation processes and targeting these specifically might have therapeutic value in COPD.

Mitochondrial-Targeted Antioxidants

Apocynin, reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase inhibitor decreased the proliferation in bronchial epithelium after an acute exposure to ozone but not the inflammation (91). Ozoneinduced inflammation, airway hyperreactivity, mitochondrial dysfunction, and ROS levels were reduced when chronicallyexposed mice were pre-administered the mitochondrial directed antioxidant, MitoQ (79). Similarly, ozone-induced inflammation, increased mitochondrial ROS, and expression of ETC complex II and IV in lung mitochondria in 6-week ozone exposed mice was reduced by treatment with mitoTEMPO, another mitochondriatargeting antioxidant (82). However, airway remodeling and airflow obstruction were not (82). Similarly, in single exposure to ozone, mitoTEMPO inhibited mitochondrial ROS without affecting inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness (53).

Mucolytic/antioxidant agents such as erdosteine, carbocysteine, and NAC reduced the risk of acute exacerbations in patients with COPD (112). In the chronic ozone exposure model, preventive NAC reduced the number of BAL macrophages and airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass while therapeutic NAC reversed AHR, and reduced ASM mass and apoptotic cells (89). Thus, NAC could represent a treatment for protecting against the oxidative effects of ozone and other pollutants, as well as an agent for reducing exacerbations of COPD.

Downstream Signaling Pathways

As documented above, several intracellular pathways have been implicated in the effects of single or multiple exposures to ozone in the mouse. These pathways are related to the control of several key transcription regulatory factors including NF- κ B, antioxidant factors such as Nrf2, the p38 MAPK, and priming of the immune system by up-regulating toll-like receptor expression. Thus, in the single ozone exposure model, AHR and inflammation was inhibited by a c-jun NH2 terminal kinase (JNK) inhibitor (SP600125) (113), p38 MAPK inhibitor (SD282) (46, 114) and NF- κ B inhibitor (115). VX-765, an inhibitor of NLRP3 inflammasome, prevented lung inflammation and AHR caused by acute exposure to ozone (53), and also inhibited lung inflammation and emphysema from chronic exposure (82).



FIGURE 1 | Ozone-mediated effects on intracellular pathways involved in cell injury and inflammation. Overview of the effects of ozone in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. The biphasic response to ozone starts with an immediate intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammation independent phase that is induced by (Continued) FIGURE 1 | extracellular oxidative stress. ROS induces membrane damage with changes in cell membrane integrity, disruption of tight junctions, epithelial cell stress, and death. Inflammatory mediators including IL-25 and IL-33 are released and attract innate immune cells such as natural killer (NK) cells and innate lymphoid type 2 (ILC2) cells. Cell death and release of dsDNA can induce an interferon (IFN) inflammation response via the cGAS/STING pathway. Processes activated during the intracellular ROS and inflammation-dependent phase of the effects of ozone include transcription factor-mediated inflammatory response and the activation of the antioxidant defense mechanism. Several inhibitors have been shown to prevent or treat the pro-inflammatory gene expression and subsequently inhibit the inflammatory response, including the JNK inhibitor, SP600125, and the p38 MAPK inhibitor, SD282. In addition, activation of the endogenous antioxidant defense system involving HADC2, Keap1, and Nrf2 may be sufficient to counteract the oxidant stress during acute ozone exposure but may be overwhelmed during chronic ozone exposure. Treatment with the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine (NAC) also reduces the inflammatory response, by scavenging of intracellular ROS with subsequent reduction of cytokine and chemokine production. Mitochondrial oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction contribute to apoptotic processes and the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome further enhancing the inflammatory response. Several treatment strategies targeting the mitochondria have been able to reduce or prevent the mitochondrial oxidative-induced dysfunction. These include several mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants such as MitoQ, MitoTEMPO, and SS-31. In addition, stem cell therapy with induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells (iPSC-MSCs) prevented ozone-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation which may result from direct interaction and mitochondrial transfer between the iPSC-MSCs and airway cells. Treatment with the caspase-1 inhibitor VX765 and hydrogen sulfide (H2S) prevent the activation of the inflammasome and reduces inflammation and mitochondrial oxidative stress. The MIF inhibitor ISO-1 blocks the ozone exposure induced inflammation and airway hyperreactivity and might have an impact on the corticosteroid insensitivity present in chronic ozone exposed lungs. Corticosteroids reduce inflammation induced by acute ozone exposures but fail to affect these processes in the steroid insensitive chronic ozone exposed lung. The ozone exposure driven intracellular processes contribute to the inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production, immune cell recruitment, and eventually the development of airway hyperreactivity, airway obstruction, airway remodeling, emphysema, autoimmunity, and steroid insensitivity which are hallmarks of COPD. cGAS, cyclic GMP-AMP synthase; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; dsDNA, double stranded DNA; H2S, hydrogen sulfide; HDAC2, histone deacetylase 2; HIF-1a, hypoxia inducible factor subunit 1a; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; ILC2, innate lymphoid cells type 2; iPSC-MSC, induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell; ISO-1, (S,R)3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4,5-dihydro-5-isoxazole acetic acid methyl ester; Keap1, Kelch-like ECH associated protein 1; MAPK, mitogen activated kinase; MKP-1, mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1; MIF, macrophage migration inhibitory factor; MKP-1, mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1; NAC, N-acetylcysteine; NF KB, nuclear factor KB; NK, natural killer cell; NLRP3, NACHT, LRR, and PYD domains-containing protein 3; Nrf2, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SD282, p38 MAPK inhibitor; SP600125, c-jun NH2 terminal kinase (JNK) inhibitor; SS-31, d-Arg-2', 6'-dimethyltyrosine-Lys-Phe-NH2 mitochondrial antioxidant; STING, stimulator of interferon genes; TNF-a, tumor necrosis factor -a; VX765, Belnacasan, caspase 1 inhibitor.

iPSC-MSC Mitochondrial Transfer

Mitochondrial transfer from induced pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cell (iPSC-MSC) offered protection against oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in human airway smooth muscle cells (ASMC) and in mouse lungs exposed to ozone while reducing airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness (83). Direct co-culture of ASMCs with iPSC-MSCs protected the former from cigarette smoke-induced mitochondrial ROS production, mitochondrial depolarization, and apoptosis. When ASMCs were exposed to supernatants from iPSC-MSCs or transwell inserts with iPSC-MSCs, only cigarette smoke-induced mitochondrial ROS, but not mitochondrial depolarization and apoptosis in ASMCs, were improved, indicating that soluble factors from iPSC-MSCs reduced production of mitochondrial ROS. When there was direct contact between iPSC-MSCs and ASMCs, mitochondria were transferred from iPSC-MSCs to ASMCs, possibly through formation of tunneling nanotubes, an effect that was enhanced by cigarette smoke medium (CSM) treatment. iPSC-MSCs prevented, but did not reverse, ozone-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, AHR, and airway inflammation in the mouse model of single ozone exposure, an effect resulting from direct interaction and mitochondrial transfer between iPSC-MSCs and airway cells. Therefore, transfer of mitochondria from IPSC-MSC cells to replace damaged mitochondria by oxidative stress may present a novel approach to treating conditions such as COPD.

CONCLUSION

As an important component of air pollution, ozone has been closely related to the development of COPD. The link comes from two sides: on the one hand, chronic exposure to ozone in murine model of lung inflammation and emphysema and on the other, long-term exposure to ambient air pollutant such as ozone, has been associated with increases in emphysema evaluated by computed tomographic imaging with chronic airflow obstruction. The mechanisms of ozone-induced lung and airway changes are the release of inflammatory factors such as IL-1a, IL-6, IL-8, CXCL-12, CCL2, ICAM-1, KEAP-1, and MIF, the activation of intracellular pathways such as the MAPK pathway, TLR, cell death pathways, NLRP3 inflammasome, and NF- κ B, the induction of oxidative stress through a decrease in the antioxidative response and an increase in the production of ROS, with a detrimental effect on mitochondrial function such as increased mitochondrial ROS, decreased ATP content and abnormal ETC complex (Figure 1). Other mechanisms include the disruption of airway epithelial barrier, the development of AHR and emphysema and the state of CS insensitivity. Inhibitors of mitochondrial ROS, NLRP3 inflammasome, DNA sensor, cell death pathways and IL-1, including hydrogen sulfide, apocynin, mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants such as MitoQ and MitoTEMPO, mucolytic/antioxidant agents such as NAC, VX765, and iPS-MSCs mitochondrial transfer represent novel therapeutic options for treating oxidative stress-induced COPD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CW, FL, DT, and KC wrote the review. KC and BR inspired the work and corrected the manuscript. All authors have read the contribution.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Center National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), European Regional Development Fund (FEDER) (N 2016-00110366 and EX005756), Respir Ozone (N 2014-00091905), The Wellcome Trust (KC), the Key International (Regional) Cooperative Project of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 51420105010), the project of the National Natural Science Foundation of

REFERENCES

- Bell ML, McDermott A, Zeger SL, Samet JM, Dominici F. Ozone and shortterm mortality in 95 US urban communities, 1987-2000. JAMA. (2004) 292:2372–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.19.2372
- Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Sera F, Liu C, Armstrong B, Milojevic A, Guo Y, et al. Short term association between ozone and mortality: global two stage time series study in 406 locations in 20 countries. *BMJ.* (2020) 368:m108. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m108
- Gao H, Wang K, Au WW, Zhao W, Xia ZL. A systematic review and metaanalysis of short-term ambient ozone exposure and COPD hospitalizations. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2130. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17062130
- Halonen JI, Lanki T, Yli-Tuomi T, Kulmala M, Tiittanen P, Pekkanen J. Urban air pollution, and asthma and COPD hospital emergency room visits. *Thorax.* (2008) 63:635–41. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.091371
- Paulin LM, Gassett AJ, Alexis NE, Kirwa K, Kanner RE, Peters S, et al. Association of long-term ambient ozone exposure with respiratory morbidity in smokers. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2020) 180:106–15. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.5498
- Wang M, Aaron CP, Madrigano J, Hoffman EA, Angelini E, Yang J, et al. Association between long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and change in quantitatively assessed emphysema and lung function. *JAMA*. (2019) 322:546–56. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.10255
- Bromberg PA. Mechanisms of the acute effects of inhaled ozone in humans. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2016) 1860:2771–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.07.015
- Triantaphyllopoulos K, Hussain F, Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Adcock I, et al. A model of chronic inflammation and pulmonary emphysema after multiple ozone exposures in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2011) 300:L691–700. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00252.2010
- Agusti A, Hogg JC, Singh D, Agusti A, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, et al. Update on the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive lung disease: the GOLD science committee report 2019. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 381:1248–56. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1900475
- Chung KF, Adcock IM. Multifaceted mechanisms in COPD: inflammation, immunity, and tissue repair and destruction. *Eur Respir J.* (2008) 31:1334–56. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00018908
- Salvi SS, Barnes PJ. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in non-smokers. Lancet. (2009) 374:733–43. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61303-9
- Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, Woods R, Elliott WM, Buzatu L, et al. The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2004) 350:2645–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032158
- Koo HK, Vasilescu DM, Booth S, Hsieh A, Katsamenis OL, Fishbane N, et al. Small airways disease in mild and moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a cross-sectional study chronic cough as a novel phenotype of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:591–602. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30196-6
- McDonough JE, Yuan R, Suzuki M, Seyednejad N, Elliott WM, Sanchez PG, et al. Small-airway obstruction and emphysema in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:1567–75. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106955
- Barnes PJ. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med. (2000) 343:269–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200007273430407
- Scichilone N, Battaglia S, La Sala A, Bellia V. Clinical implications of airway hyperresponsiveness in COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. (2006) 1:49–60. doi: 10.2147/copd.2006.1.1.49
- 17. Tuder RM, Zhen L, Cho CY, Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Kasahara Y, Salvemini D, et al. Oxidative stress and apoptosis interact and cause emphysema due to

China (Grant No. 81870031), and the STAR Project from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (YG2019ZDA24). LF was supported by the National Nature Science Foundation of China (81870031).

vascular endothelial growth factor receptor blockade. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2003) 29:88–97. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2002-0228OC

- Tan WSD, Shen HM, Wong WSF. Dysregulated autophagy in COPD: a pathogenic process to be deciphered. *Pharmacol Res.* (2019) 144:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.04.005
- Caramori G, Ruggeri P, Di Stefano A, Mumby S, Girbino G, Adcock IM, et al. Autoimmunity and COPD: clinical implications. *Chest.* (2018) 153:1424–31. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.10.033
- Zuo L, Prather ER, Stetskiv M, Garrison DE, Meade JR, Peace TI, et al. Inflammaging and oxidative stress in human diseases: from molecular mechanisms to novel treatments. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:4472. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184472
- Chung KF, Marwick JA. Molecular mechanisms of oxidative stress in airways and lungs with reference to asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2010) 1203:85–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05600.x
- 22. Kirkham PA, Caramori G, Casolari P, Papi AA, Edwards M, Shamji B, et al. Oxidative stress-induced antibodies to carbonyl-modified protein correlate with severity of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:796–802. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201010-1605OC
- Zhou JS, Li ZY, Xu XC, Zhao Y, Wang Y Chen HP, et al. Cigarette smoke-initiated autoimmunity facilitates sensitisation to elastininduced COPD-like pathologies in mice. *Eur Respir J.* (2020). doi: 10.1183/13993003.00404-2020. [Epub ahead of print].
- Byrne R, Todd I, Tighe PJ, Fairclough LC, Caramori G, Ruggeri P, et al. Autoantibodies in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review autoimmunity and COPD: clinical implications. *Immunol Lett.* (2019) 214:8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2019.08.007
- Wen L, Krauss-Etschmann S, Petersen F, Yu X. Autoantibodies in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:66. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00066
- Mudway IS, Kelly FJ. Ozone and the lung: a sensitive issue. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2000) 21:1–48. doi: 10.1016/S0098-2997(00)00003-0
- Pryor WA. Mechanisms of radical formation from reactions of ozone with target molecules in the lung. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (1994) 17:451–65. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(94)90172-4
- Becker S, Madden MC, Newman SL, Devlin RB, Koren HS, Devlin RB, et al. Modulation of human alveolar macrophage properties by ozone exposure *in vitro*. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*. (1991) 110:403–15. doi: 10.1016/0041-008X(91)90042-D
- Devlin RB, McKinnon KP, Noah T, Becker S, Koren HS. Ozoneinduced release of cytokines and fibronectin by alveolar macrophages and airway epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol.* (1994) 266:L612–9. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1994.266.6.L612
- Devlin RB, Folinsbee LJ, Biscardi F, Hatch G, Becker S, Maden MC, et al. Inflammation and cell damage induced by repeated exposure of humans to ozone. *Inhal Toxicol.* (1997) 9:211–2325. doi: 10.1080/089583797198222
- Mumby S, Chung KF, Adcock IM. Transcriptional effects of ozone and impact on airway inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1610. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01610
- Tovar A, Smith GJ, Thomas JM, Crouse WL, Harkema JR, Kelada SNP. Transcriptional profiling of the murine airway response to acute ozone exposure. *Toxicol Sci.* (2020) 173:114–30. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfz219
- Manzer R, Wang J, Nishina K, McConville G, Mason RJ. Alveolar epithelial cells secrete chemokines in response to IL-1beta and lipopolysaccharide but not to ozone. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2006) 34:158–66. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2005-0205OC
- 34. Manzer R, Dinarello CA, McConville G, Mason RJ. Ozone exposure of macrophages induces an alveolar epithelial chemokine response

through IL-1alpha. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2008) 38:318–23. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0250OC

- 35. Chen QZ, Zhou YB, Zhou LF, Fu ZD, Wu YS, Chen Y, et al. TRPC6 modulates adhesion of neutrophils to airway epithelial cells via NF-kappaB activation and ICAM-1 expression with ozone exposure. *Exp Cell Res.* (2019) 377:56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2019.02.013
- Anderson M, Roshanravan H, Khine J, Dryer SE. Angiotensin II activation of TRPC6 channels in rat podocytes requires generation of reactive oxygen species. J Cell Physiol. (2014) 229:434–42. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24461
- 37. Gibon J, Tu P, Bohic S, Richaud P, Arnaud J, Zhu M, et al. The overexpression of TRPC6 channels in HEK-293 cells favours the intracellular accumulation of zinc. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2011) 1808:2807–18. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.08.013
- Ding Y, Winters A, Ding M, Graham S, Akopova I, Muallem S, et al. Reactive oxygen species-mediated TRPC6 protein activation in vascular myocytes, a mechanism for vasoconstrictor-regulated vascular tone. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:31799–809. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.248344
- Finney-Hayward TK, Popa MO, Bahra P, Li S, Poll CT, Gosling M, et al. Expression of transient receptor potential C6 channels in human lung macrophages. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2010) 43:296–304. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2008-0373OC
- 40. Chen Q, Zhou Y, Zhou L, Fu Z, Yang C, Zhao L, et al. TRPC6dependent Ca(2+) signaling mediates airway inflammation in response to oxidative stress via ERK pathway. *Cell Death Dis.* (2020) 11:170. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2678-7
- Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Flayer CH, Killingbeck SS, Redai IG, MacFarlane AW, et al. Cutting edge: role of NK cells and surfactant protein D in dendritic cell lymph node homing: effects of ozone exposure. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:553–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403042
- Harkema JR, Wagner JG. Innate lymphoid cell-dependent airway epithelial and inflammatory responses to inhaled ozone: a new paradigm in pathogenesis. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2019) 47:993–1003. doi: 10.1177/0192623319873872
- 43. Ong CB, Kumagai K, Brooks PT, Brandenberger C, Lewandowski RP, Jackson-Humbles DN, et al. Ozone-induced type 2 immunity in nasal airways. Development and lymphoid cell dependence in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54:331–40. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0165OC
- 44. Kumagai K, Lewandowski RP, Jackson-Humbles DN, Buglak N, Li N, White K, et al. Innate lymphoid cells mediate pulmonary eosinophilic inflammation, airway mucous cell metaplasia, and type 2 immunity in mice exposed to ozone. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2017) 45:692–704. doi: 10.1177/0192623317728135
- 45. Williams AS, Nath P, Leung SY, Khorasani N, McKenzie AN, Adcock IM, et al. Modulation of ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation by interleukin-13. *Eur Respir J.* (2008) 32:571–8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00121607
- 46. Liang L, Li F, Bao A, Zhang M, Chung KF, Zhou X. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in ovalbumin and ozoneinduced mouse model of asthma. *Respirology.* (2013) 18 (Suppl. 3):20–9. doi: 10.1111/resp.12189
- Wiegman CH, Li F, Clarke CJ, Jazrawi E, Kirkham P, Barnes PJ, et al. A comprehensive analysis of oxidative stress in the ozoneinduced lung inflammation mouse model. *Clin Sci.* (2014) 126:425–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20130039
- Li Z, Potts-Kant EN, Garantziotis S, Foster WM, Hollingsworth JW. Hyaluronan signaling during ozone-induced lung injury requires TLR4, MyD88, and TIRAP. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e27137. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027137
- 49. Williams AS, Leung SY, Nath P, Khorasani NM, Bhavsar P, Issa R, et al. Role of TLR2, TLR4, and MyD88 in murine ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and neutrophilia. *J Appl Physiol.* (2007) 103:1189–95. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00172.2007
- Bauer AK, Rondini EA, Hummel KA, Degraff LM, Walker C, Jedlicka AE, et al. Identification of candidate genes downstream of TLR4 signaling after ozone exposure in mice: a role for heat-shock protein 70. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2011) 119:1091–7. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10 03326

- Michaudel C, Couturier-Maillard A, Chenuet P, Maillet I, Mura C, Couillin I, et al. Inflammasome, IL-1 and inflammation in ozone-induced lung injury. *Am J Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 5:33–40.
- Li F, Zhang M, Hussain F, Triantaphyllopoulos K, Clark AR, Bhavsar PK, et al. Inhibition of p38 MAPK-dependent bronchial contraction after ozone by corticosteroids. *Eur Respir J.* (2011) 37:933–42. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00021110
- Xu M, Wang L, Wang M, Wang H, Zhang H, Chen Y, et al. Mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 inflammasome in acute ozone-induced murine model of airway inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Free Radic Res.* 53:780–90. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2019.1630735
- Dinarello CA. Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2018) 281:8–27. doi: 10.1111/imr.12621
- Michaudel C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Quesniaux V, Chung KF, Wiegman C, et al. Interleukin-1alpha mediates ozone-induced myeloid differentiation factor-88-dependent epithelial tissue injury and inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:916. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00916
- 56. Gasse P, Riteau N, Charron S, Girre S, Fick L, Petrilli V, et al. Uric acid is a danger signal activating NALP3 inflammasome in lung injury inflammation and fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 179:903–13. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200808-1274OC
- Franklin BS, Mangan MS, Latz E. Crystal formation in inflammation. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2016) 34:173–202. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-041015-055539
- Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Akdis CA, Sokolowska M, et al. Ozone exposure induces respiratory barrier biphasic injury and inflammation controlled by IL-33. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 142:942– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.044
- Kim BG, Lee PH, Lee SH, Park CS, Jang AS. Impact of ozone on claudins and tight junctions in the lungs. *Environ Toxicol.* (2018) 33:798–806. doi: 10.1002/tox.22566
- Kosmider B, Loader JE, Murphy RC, Mason RJ. Apoptosis induced by ozone and oxysterols in human alveolar epithelial cells. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2010) 48:1513–24. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.02.032
- Pulfer MK, Taube C, Gelfand E, Murphy RC. Ozone exposure *in vivo* and formation of biologically active oxysterols in the lung. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. (2005) 312:256–64. doi: 10.1124/jpet.104.073437
- McKinnon KP, Madden MC, Noah TL, Devlin RB. *In vitro* ozone exposure increases release of arachidonic acid products from a human bronchial epithelial cell line. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (1993) 118:215–23. doi: 10.1006/taap.1993.1027
- Wright DT, Adler KB, Akley NJ, Dailey LA, Friedman M. Ozone stimulates release of platelet activating factor and activates phospholipases in guinea pig tracheal epithelial cells in primary culture. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (1994) 127:27–36. doi: 10.1006/taap.1994.1135
- Madden MCF, Dailey LA, Samet JM. Inhibition of arachidonic acid esterification in human airway epithelial cells exposed to ozone *in vitro*. *Inhal Toxicol*. (1998) 10:795–811. doi: 10.1080/089583798197466
- Sokolowska M, Quesniaux VFJ, Akdis CA, Chung KF, Ryffel B, Togbe D. Acute respiratory barrier disruption by ozone exposure in mice. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2169. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02169
- Michaudel C, Fauconnier L, Jule Y, Ryffel B. Functional and morphological differences of the lung upon acute and chronic ozone exposure in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:10611. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28261-9
- Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Hussain F, Zhu J, Wiegman C, et al. IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e58452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058452
- Sollberger G, Tilley DO, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil extracellular traps: the biology of chromatin externalization. *Dev Cell.* (2018) 44:542–53. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2018.01.019
- Benmerzoug S, Ryffel B, Togbe D, Quesniaux VFJ. Self-DNA sensing in lung inflammatory diseases. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:719–34. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.06.001
- Benmerzoug S, Rose S, Bounab B, Gosset D, Duneau L, Chenuet P, et al. STING-dependent sensing of self-DNA drives silicainduced lung inflammation. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5226. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07425-1

- Holze C, Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Haas DA, Benda C, Hubel P, et al. Oxeiptosis, a ROS-induced caspase-independent apoptosis-like cell-death pathway. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:130–40. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0013-y
- Scaturro P, Pichlmair A. Oxeiptosis-a cell death pathway to mitigate damage caused by radicals. *Cell Death Differ*. (2018) 25:1191–3. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0134-3
- Scaturro P, Pichlmair A. Oxeiptosis: a discreet way to respond to radicals. Curr Opin Immunol. (2019) 56:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.10.006
- Paludan SR, Reinert LS, Hornung V. DNA-stimulated cell death: implications for host defence, inflammatory diseases and cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2019) 19:141–53. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0117-0
- Bialas AJ, Sitarek P, Milkowska-Dymanowska J, Piotrowski WJ, Gorski P. The role of mitochondria and oxidative/antioxidative imbalance in pathobiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2016) 2016;7808576. doi: 10.1155/2016/7808576
- Prakash YS, Pabelick CM, Sieck GC. Mitochondrial dysfunction in airway disease. *Chest.* (2017) 152:618–26. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.03.020
- Mustafa MG, Cross CE. Effects of short-term ozone exposure on lung mitochondrial oxidative and energy metabolism. Arch Biochem Biophys. (1974) 162:585–94. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(74)90219-7
- Zychlinski L, Raska-Emery P, Balis JU, Montgomery MR. Agerelated difference in bioenergetics of lung and heart mitochondrial from rats exposed to ozone. J Biochem Toxicol. (1989) 4:251–4. doi: 10.1002/jbt.2570040408
- Wiegman CH, Michaeloudes C, Haji G, Narang P, Clarke CJ, Russell KE, et al. Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction drives inflammation and airway smooth muscle remodeling in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:769–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.046
- Servais S, Boussouar A, Molnar A, Douki T, Pequignot JM, Favier R. Agerelated sensitivity to lung oxidative stress during ozone exposure. *Free Radic Res.* (2005) 39:305–16. doi: 10.1080/10715760400011098
- Mustafa MG, DeLucia AJ, York GK, Arth C, Cross CE. Ozone interaction with rodent lung. II effects on oxygen consumption of mitochondria. J Lab Clin Med. (1973) 82:357–65.
- Li F, Xu M, Wang M, Wang L, Wang H, Zhang H, et al. Roles of mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 inflammasome in multiple ozoneinduced lung inflammation and emphysema. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:230. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0931-8
- Li X, Michaeloudes C, Zhang Y, Wiegman CH, Adcock IM, Lian Q, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in the airways. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1634– 45.e1635. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.017
- 84. Bao W, Zhang Y, Zhang M, Bao A, Fei X, Zhang X, et al. Effects of ozone repeated short exposures on the airway/lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness and mucus production in a mouse model of ovalbumin-induced asthma. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2018) 101:293–303. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.02.079
- Kierstein S, Krytska K, Sharma S, Amrani Y, Salmon M, Panettieri RA Jr, et al. Ozone inhalation induces exacerbation of eosinophilic airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in allergen-sensitized mice. *Allergy*. (2008) 63:438– 46. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01587.x
- Pichavant M, Goya S, Meyer EH, Johnston RA, Kim HY, Matangkasombut P, et al. Ozone exposure in a mouse model induces airway hyperreactivity that requires the presence of natural killer T cells and IL-17. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:385–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071507
- Lee LY, Kwong K, Lin YS, Gu Q. Hypersensitivity of bronchopulmonary Cfibers induced by airway mucosal inflammation: cellular mechanisms. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther.* (2002) 15:199–204. doi: 10.1006/pupt.2002.0338
- Bhalla DK. Ozone-induced lung inflammation and mucosal barrier disruption: toxicology, mechanisms, and implications. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev. (1999) 2:31–86. doi: 10.1080/109374099281232
- Li F, Wiegman C, Seiffert JM, Zhu J, Clarke C, Chang Y, et al. Effects of N-acetylcysteine in ozone-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease model. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e80782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080782
- 90. Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Ribeiro L, Wurmbrand AP, Ninin FM, Shore SA. $\gamma\delta$ T cells are required for M2 macrophage polarization and resolution

of ozone-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0131236. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131236

- Salmon M, Koto H, Lynch OT, Haddad EB, Lamb NJ, Quinlan GJ, et al. Proliferation of airway epithelium after ozone exposure: effect of apocynin and dexamethasone. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1998) 157:970–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.3.9704067
- Zhang P, Li F, Wiegman CH, Zhang M, Hong Y, Gong J, et al. Inhibitory effect of hydrogen sulfide on ozone-induced airway inflammation, oxidative stress, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 52:129–37. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0415OC
- 93. Li F, Zhang P, Zhang M, Liang L, Sun X, Li M, et al. Hydrogen sulfide prevents and partially reverses ozone-induced features of lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 55:72–81. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0014OC
- 94. Russell KE, Chung KF, Clarke CJ, Durham AL, Mallia P, Footitt J, et al. The MIF antagonist ISO-1 attenuates corticosteroid-insensitive inflammation and airways hyperresponsiveness in an ozone-induced model of COPD. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 146102
- 95. Alexis NE, Lay JC, Haczku A, Gong H, Linn W, Hazucha MJ, et al. Fluticasone propionate protects against ozone-induced airway inflammation and modified immune cell activation markers in healthy volunteers. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2008) 116:799–805. doi: 10.1289/ehp. 10981
- Chung KF, Adcock IM. Induction of nuclear factor-kappa B by exposure to ozone and inhibition by glucocorticoids. *Meth Enzymol.* (2000) 319:551–62. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(00)19052-4
- Haddad EB, Salmon M, Koto H, Barnes PJ, Adcock I, Chung KF. Ozone induction of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC) and nuclear factor-kappa b in rat lung: inhibition by corticosteroids. *FEBS Lett.* (1996) 379:265–8. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(95)01524-8
- Haddad EB, Liu SF, Salmon M, Robichaud A, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA in brown norway rats exposed to ozone: effect of dexamethasone. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (1995) 293:287–90. doi: 10.1016/0926-6917(95)00032-1
- 99. Haddad EB, Salmon M, Sun J, Liu S, Das A, Adcock I, et al. Dexamethasone inhibits ozone-induced gene expression of macrophage inflammatory protein-2 in rat lung. *FEBS Lett.* (1995) 363:285–8. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(95)00333-5
- 100. Pinart M, Hussain F, Shirali S, Li F, Zhu J, Clark AR, et al. Role of mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatase-1 in corticosteroid insensitivity of chronic oxidant lung injury. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2014) 744:108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.10.003
- 101. Adcock IM, Marwick J, Casolari P, Contoli M, Chung KF, Kirkham P, et al. Mechanisms of corticosteroid resistance in severe asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Curr Pharm Des.* (2010) 16:3554–73. doi: 10.2174/138161210793797889
- 102. Chung KF, Marwick JA, Chung KF, Adcock IM. Molecular mechanisms of oxidative stress in airways and lungs with reference to asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease multifaceted mechanisms in COPD: inflammation, immunity, and tissue repair and destruction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2010) 1203:85–91.
- Chung KF. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in asthma and COPD. Chest. (2011) 139:1470-9. doi: 10.1378/chest.10-1914
- Perridon BW, Leuvenink HG, Hillebrands JL, van Goor H, Bos EM. The role of hydrogen sulfide in aging and age-related pathologies. *Aging.* (2016) 8:2264–89. doi: 10.18632/aging.101026
- 105. Xu D, Jin H, Wen J, Chen J, Chen D, Cai N, et al. Hydrogen sulfide protects against endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial injury in nucleus pulposus cells and ameliorates intervertebral disc degeneration. *Pharmacol Res.* (2017) 117:357–69. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.01.005
- 106. Zheng J, Zhao T, Yuan Y, Hu N, Tang X. Hydrogen sulfide (H2S) attenuates uranium-induced acute nephrotoxicity through oxidative stress and inflammatory response via Nrf2-NF-κB pathways. *Chem Biol Interact.* (2015) 242:353–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2015.10.021
- Chung KF. Hydrogen sulfide as a potential biomarker of asthma. Expert Rev Respir Med. (2014) 8:5–13. doi: 10.1586/17476348.2014.856267

- 108. Perry MM, Tildy B, Papi A, Casolari P, Caramori G, Rempel KL, et al. The anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory response of COPD airway smooth muscle cells to hydrogen sulfide. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:85. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0788-x
- 109. Sun Y, Wang K, Li MX, He W, Chang JR, Liao CC, et al. Metabolic changes of H2S in smokers and patients of COPD which might involve in inflammation, oxidative stress and steroid sensitivity. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:14971. doi: 10.1038/srep14971
- 110. Lin F, Liao C, Sun Y, Zhang J, Lu W, Bai Y, et al. Hydrogen sulfide inhibits cigarette smoke-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in bronchial epithelial cells. *Front Pharmacol.* (2017) 8:675. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00675
- 111. Guan R, Cai Z, Wang J, Ding M, Li Z, Xu J, et al. Hydrogen sulfide attenuates mitochondrial dysfunction-induced cellular senescence and apoptosis in alveolar epithelial cells by upregulating sirtuin 1. *Aging*. (2019) 11:11844–64. doi: 10.18632/aging.102454
- 112. Rogliani P, Matera MG, Page C, Puxeddu E, Cazzola M, Calzetta L. Efficacy and safety profile of mucolytic/antioxidant agents in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a comparative analysis across erdosteine, carbocysteine, and N-acetylcysteine. *Respir Res.* (2019) 20:104. doi: 10.1186/s12931-019-1078-y
- 113. Williams AS, Issa R, Leung SY, Nath P, Ferguson GD, Bennett BL, et al. Attenuation of ozone-induced airway inflammation and

hyper-responsiveness by c-Jun NH2 terminal kinase inhibitor SP600125. *JPharmacol ExpTher*. (2007) 322:351–9. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.121624

- 114. Williams AS, Issa R, Durham A, Leung SY, Kapoun A, Medicherla S, et al. Role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation. *EurJPharmacol.* (2008) 600:117–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.09.031
- 115. Hisada T, Adcock IM, Nasuhara Y, Salmon M, Huang TJ, Barnes PJ, et al. Inhibition of ozone-induced lung neutrophilia and nuclear factor-kappaB binding activity by vitamin A in rat. *EurJPharmacol.* (1999) 377:63–8. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(99)00405-7

Conflict of Interest: DT was employed by the company ArtImmune SAS.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Wiegman, Li, Ryffel, Togbe and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ozone-Induced Oxidative Stress, Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, and Glucocorticoid Resistance in Asthma

Chioma Enweasor¹, Cameron H. Flayer² and Angela Haczku^{1*}

¹ UC Davis Lung Center, University of California, Davis, CA, United States, ² Center for Immunology and Inflammatory Diseases, Division of Rheumatology, Allergy and Immunology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bernahrd Ryffel, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

Reviewed by:

Chloé Michaudel, INRA Centre Jouy-en-Josas, France Garry M. Walsh, University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Angela Haczku haczku@ucdavis.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 November 2020 Accepted: 18 January 2021 Published: 26 February 2021

Citation:

Enweasor C, Flayer CH and Haczku A (2021) Ozone-Induced Oxidative Stress, Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, and Glucocorticoid Resistance in Asthma. Front. Immunol. 12:631092. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.631092 Despite recent advances in using biologicals that target Th2 pathways, glucocorticoids form the mainstay of asthma treatment. Asthma morbidity and mortality remain high due to the wide variability of treatment responsiveness and complex clinical phenotypes driven by distinct underlying mechanisms. Emerging evidence suggests that inhalation of the toxic air pollutant, ozone, worsens asthma by impairing glucocorticoid responsiveness. This review discusses the role of oxidative stress in glucocorticoid resistance in asthma. The underlying mechanisms point to a central role of oxidative stress pathways. The primary data source for this review consisted of peer-reviewed publications on the impact of ozone on airway inflammation and glucocorticoid responsiveness indexed in PubMed. Our main search strategy focused on cross-referencing "asthma and glucocorticoid resistance" against "ozone, oxidative stress, alarmins, innate lymphoid, NK and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, dendritic cells and alveolar type II epithelial cells, glucocorticoid receptor and transcription factors". Recent work was placed in the context from articles in the last 10 years and older seminal research papers and comprehensive reviews. We excluded papers that did not focus on respiratory injury in the setting of oxidative stress. The pathways discussed here have however wide clinical implications to pathologies associated with inflammation and oxidative stress and in which glucocorticoid treatment is essential.

Keywords: asthma, oxidative stress, air pollution, ozone, glucocorticoid resistance, IL-17A, neutrophils

INTRODUCTION: ASTHMA PHENOTYPES, GLUCOCORTICOID RESISTANCE, AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

Asthma is a highly heterogenous disease that can be classified into subsets by a number of different categories. Establishment of the appropriate subsets determines treatment approaches (1, 2). According to severity, asthma has mild, moderate, and severe forms (3-5). Asthma severity worsens during exacerbations associated with oxidative stress, the most common causes of which are viral respiratory infections and indoor/outdoor air pollution, including exposure to O₃ (6–11). Severe asthma is often more difficult to treat than the moderate or mild form of the disease (12, 13).

According to the predominant inflammatory cell type in the airways, asthma can be classified as eosinophilic, neutrophilic, mixed, or paucigranulocytic (3-5). Airway epithelial damage leads to oxidative stress, release of pro-inflammatory mediators and influx of both eosinophils and neutrophils (10). Neutrophils are the predominant inflammatory cells in severe asthma exacerbations (2, 5, 14). These cells are poorly controlled by glucocorticoids (15). Whether a causative allergen can be identified, asthma is also categorized as either allergic or non-allergic (16). Allergic (atopic) asthma is characterized by increased levels of IgE, eosinophilia, exhaled nitric oxide (NO), and Th2-type cytokines (16). Such "Th2 high" asthma can generally be treated with glucocorticoids and biologicals targeting the Th2 cytokine pathways (17). Approximately half of asthmatics however suffer from "Th2 low" asthma in which these pathogenic features cannot be identified. Thus, although Th2 low asthma patients are often resistant to corticosteroids, they cannot benefit from biologic treatment targeting the Th2 pathway either (18, 19). Especially in Th2 low asthma, corticosteroid resistance (the inability to increase FEV1 by 15% after a 7-day course of oral corticosteroids at 20 mg/day) (20) remains a significant clinical problem that continues to increase asthma morbidity and mortality (21-23).

The underlying molecular pathways of glucocorticoid resistant asthma are complex and generally associated with impaired expression and function of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR). GR- α , the classical glucocorticoid receptor isoform (24–27) has a dominant-negative inhibitor, GR- β , that does not bind corticosteroids. Overexpression of GR- β is due to abnormal activation of proinflammatory signaling pathways with emerging evidence for a contribution of oxidative stress (8, 10, 28–31). Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between reactive oxygen species and the capability of the biological system to detoxify the reactive intermediates or to repair the damage caused by oxidative free radicals (32, 33).

The common causes of oxidative stress potentially linked to glucocorticoid resistance in asthma are summarized in Table 1. Amongst the environmental causes our review is focused on inhalational exposure to the toxic air pollutant, ozone (O₃) as it was found to be a significant contributor to respiratory illness. Specifically, O₃ induces airway hyperreactivity in mouse models of asthma (6, 86, 87, 89, 91, 98-107), in Th2 low asthma in rhesus macaques (94, 108) and in healthy human subjects and patients with asthma and COPD (6, 7, 59, 109-116). Ground-level (tropospheric) O₃ is generated by the action of sunlight's UV rays from precursors (mostly air pollutants containing hydrocarbons, volatile organic compounds [VOC] and nitrogen oxides emitted during fossil fuel combustion). In cities with high O₃ levels people had an over 30% increased risk of dying from lung disease (117) and children playing outdoor sports had a three times greater chance of developing asthma (118, 119).

Against O_3 -induced inflammatory injury, the lung mounts immuno-protective mechanisms such as production of the

 TABLE 1 | Common causes of oxidative stress linked to glucocorticoid resistance in asthma.

Environmental exposures	
oAllergen exposure (8, 34, 35)	
oInfections	
■bacterial (36–39)	
∎fungal (34)	
∎viral:	
•influenza (40-43),	
•RSV (44-47)	
•Rhinovirus (14, 48–52)	
•COVID-19 (53–56)	
olnhalation of toxic indoor and outdoor air pollutants (57)	
•O ₃ (7, 58–60)	
 Diesel exhaust (7) 	
•Wildfire smoke (59, 61–63)	
•Tobacco smoke (30)	
•Comorbidities	
oObesity (64)	
oMicrobiome dysbiosis (65, 66)	
oPsychosocial stress (67–72)	
oCircadian rhythm disturbance (Shift work/jet lag) (73–81)	
Cellular pathologies	
oCancer (82, 83)	
oEndoplasmic reticulum stress (84)	
oMitochondrial dysfunction (85)	
Molecular abnormalities	
oNRF2 pathway dysfunction (29, 86, 87)	
 Decreased expression and function of antioxidant enzymes (eg: superoxide dismutase and catalase) (31, 35) 	
oDecreased concentration of antioxidant scavenger molecules	
•Glutathione (84)	
•Surfactant protein A and D (88–91)	
oDeficiency of nonenzymatic/nutritional antioxidants (92)	
•vitamin A, C (92), E, beta-carotene	
●selenium	
•phytochemicals (66)	
•lycopene and lutein, resveratrol, flavonoids (64, 93)	
•secoisolariciresinol digluconate (94)	
olncreased production of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (eg: ROS, (31, 35)	RNS
Proinflammatory signaling cascade (NF-kB, AP-1, PI3K) (58, 95–97)	

O₃, ozone; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa B; AP-1, activator protein 1; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3 kinase.

epithelial-cell derived collectin, surfactant protein D (SP-D) (101). Constitutive expression of this molecule in airway epithelial cells is promoted by glucocorticoid dependent transcription (120–122). O₃-induced oxidative stress not only destroys the biologically active tertiary molecular structure of SP-D (91, 123–125) but it also diminishes glucocorticoid responsiveness and SP-D expression in airway epithelial cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* (122). Below we discuss the potential significance of O₃-induced oxidative stress in glucocorticoid responsiveness in asthma.

O₃-INDUCED AIRWAY INFLAMMATION AND GLUCOCORTICOID RESISTANCE

O₃ exposure results in accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) most likely through lipid peroxidation processes of the pulmonary surfactant phospholipids (60) and cell membranes (126-128). ROS in turn rapidly activate the release of alarmins IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-23, IL-33, TNF- α , and TSLP (**Figure 1A**) leading to a cascade of proinflammatory changes in structural and immune cells in the respiratory mucosal tissue (106, 116, 122, 129, 131-136). Activation of the RORyt proinflammatory signaling pathway leads to mRNA transcription of the IL-17A and IL-22 genes (Figure 1B) (131, 137-146). The IL-1 family of cytokines together with IL-17A and IL-22 induce influx and activation of neutrophils (129, 130). IL-33 has also been implicated in O3 -induced airway inflammation (106, 129, 132-136). IL-33 transcription as well as release is upregulated by O_3 in the lung in a time dependent manner (106, 134). In the absence of IL-33 or the IL-33 receptor (ST2) acute O₃-exposure induced epithelial cell injury with protein leak and myeloid cell recruitment and inflammation were enhanced (134). While Ecadherin and zonula occludens 1 and reactive oxygen species

expression in neutrophils and airway hyperreactivity were diminished in knockout mice. The enhancement of neutrophil influx was abolished by administration of recombinant IL-33 suggesting a protective role of IL-33 in O_3 -induced epithelial barrier injury in mice.

Activated neutrophils in the airway mucosal tissue will release more ROS. Release of alarmins and influx of inflammatory cells into the airways are the pathological hallmark of severe asthma exacerbations (2, 5, 10, 14). In the healthy lung, the primary inflammatory cells recruited to the airways following O₃ inhalation are the neutrophilic granulocytes (147, 148). These cells appear in the airways within minutes and accumulate in significant numbers as early as 1-2 h after exposure (89, 106, 149). In healthy human subjects exposed to O₃ under experimental conditions, a significant airway neutrophilia was associated with a decrease in lung function (7, 147, 150) indicating the pathological significance of these cells. Interestingly, when O₃ exposure is combined with allergic sensitization in mouse models, asthmatic non-human primates (rhesus macaques) and in allergic human subjects, a marked influx of both eosinophilic and neutrophilic granulocytes is observed (10, 94, 101, 106). While neutrophilia in healthy



FIGURE 1 | Oxidative stress leads to impaired GR function through proinflammatory signaling. (A) Ozone inhalation generates ROS inducing release of alarmins through lipid peroxidation and proinflammatory activation of immune cells in the respiratory mucosal tissue. (B) IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23 activate the RORγt proinflammatory signaling pathway that leads to mRNA activation of the IL-17A and IL-22 genes. The IL-1 family of cytokines and the related IL-33 together with IL-17A and IL-22 induce influx and activation of neutrophils (129, 130). In turn, activated neutrophils in the airway mucosal tissue will release more ROS. (C) Proinflammatory signaling activates NF-kB that in turn inhibits expression and function of the GR. Diminished GR function further activates NF-kB forming a vicious proinflammatory cycle. (D) The GR uses non-canonical transactivation of the surfactant protein D gene (*sftpd*) through STAT3. GR function impairment in alveolar type II epithelial cells leads to inhibition of the immunoprotective SP-D. (E) NF-kB inhibits expression of the GR and interferes with GR function through a.) inhibition of GR nuclear translocation b.) steric hindrance of nGRE binding, and c.) interference with transcription factor "tethering".

volunteers could be attenuated by fluticasone propionate (147), studies on mice (107), dogs (151) rhesus macaques (152), and asthma patients (153, 154) showed controversial results on the effectiveness of glucocorticoids in inhibiting O₃-induced exacerbation of asthmatic airway inflammation. Because asthmatic patients respond to O₃ with an enhanced airway neutrophilic influx compared with non-asthmatic controls (155), the observation that neutrophils are poorly responsive to glucocorticoids (15) raises a serious concern related to asthma treatment. Indeed, recent studies demonstrated that O₃ impaired the effects of glucocorticoid treatment in a mouse model of allergen-induced asthma *in vivo* as well as in human cell lines and primary epithelial cells *in vitro* (58, 122, 156). What are the underlying molecular mechanisms of O₃-induced glucocorticoid resistant neutrophilic airway inflammation in asthma?

ROLE OF ARYL HYDROCARBON RECEPTOR (AHR) SIGNALING, IL-17A, AND IL-22 IN GLUCOCORTICOID RESISTANT ASTHMA

The AhR is an intracellular, small molecule ligand-activated transcription factor that regulates gene expression of inflammation-related genes for myeloid and structural cells. AhR is a sensor of xenobiotic chemicals (such as aromatic hydrocarbons) or endogenous indole derivatives [such as kynureine (157)]. AhR mediates environmental signals and is involved in cell differentiation, cell adhesion, mucus and cytokine production (158–160). Upon ligand binding, the AhR complex translocates into the nucleus and heterodimerizes with AhR Nuclear Translocator (ARNT) to induce gene transcription. AhR is an important activator of the genes encoding cytochrome P450 and the cytokines IL-17A and IL-22. The effects of AhR on cell differentiation (including Th17 or Treg polarization) depend on the nature of the ligand and the local cytokine milieu (161, 162).

There are a number of potential mechanisms through which AhR may contribute to glucocorticoid resistance either as a promoter or as an inhibitor. First, glucocorticoid responsiveness of airway neutrophilia is regulated by the circadian clock molecule BMAL1 (Brain and Muscle ARNT-Like 1 or aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like protein 1 [ARNTL]) (163, 164). BMAL1 function is strongly affected by environmental stressors (165) that can be mediated by AhR: Following agonist-induced activation, AhR enters the nucleus, where it can form a heterodimer with BMAL1 impairing its normal transcriptional activities (166) and promoting glucocorticoid resistance. Second, AhR interferes with the action of NF-KB, a pro-inflammatory transcription factor and antagonist of glucocorticoid action (see discussion below). For example, NF-KB induces AhR expression, but AhR then regulates NF- κ B signaling (159) thereby enabling the glucocorticoid action. Third, by interacting with the function of other transcription factors, AhR promotes IL-22 (RORyt), IL-

10, and IL-21 (cMaf) as well as aiolos and its own expression (through STAT3). Through aiolos, AhR inhibits expression of IL-2 (159), an inducer of glucocorticoid resistance (167). Thus, on the one hand AhR promotes Th17 cell differentiation, on the other, it induces Th17 cell plasticity into IL-10 producing protective Tr1 cells. While both IL-17A and IL-22 can elicit airway neutrophilia, IL-22 can also play a protective role when produced during epithelial or tissue damage. Recently, chronic ozone exposure induced lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness and tissue remodeling was reported to be associated with increased tryptophan and lipoxin A4 (activators of AhR), and recruitment of IL-17A and IL-22-expressing cells. T cell-specific AhR deletion enhanced lung inflammation indicating that O_3 exposure activates AhR, to control airway inflammation by reduction of IL-22 expression (168).

IL-17A has been identified as a central player in the pathogenesis of severe asthma exacerbations (169). In human severe asthma patients high levels of IL-17A were found in induced sputum and bronchial biopsies (170). IL-6, the cytokine most prominently induced by O₃ in the lung (89, 171), and IL-23 (131) directly activate ROR-yt leading to IL-17A expression upon O₃ inhalation (Figure 1B). IL-17A signaling controls neutrophilic airway inflammation (172) mainly through stimulating the release of IL-8 and other pro-neutrophilic factors in the airways (131, 137–146) (Figure 1B). The importance of this cytokine in O_3 exposure-induced exacerbation of allergic airway inflammation was supported in a mouse model in which significant inhibition of IL-17A gene expression by the combined targeting of p38 MAPK activation and oxidative stress was critical in synergistically attenuating airway hyperresponsiveness, eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation (107).

IL-17A was also implicated in glucocorticoid resistant asthma (169, 173). For instance, Th17 cells, the main cellular source of this cytokine, were refractory to inhibition with glucocorticoids in asthma, especially, when IL-17A and IL-22 were co-expressed in these cells (169). Increased counts of dual-positive Th2/Th17 cells detected in the BAL fluid of severe asthma patients, were resistant to dexamethasone-induced cell death (169). Glucocorticoid resistance of IL-17 producing cells may be elicited by an elevated expression level of the mitogen-activated protein-extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 (MEK1) as the MEK-ERK1/2 signaling pathway was shown to interfere with glucocorticoids (174). In a mouse model of airway inflammation, co-administration of dexamethasone with an anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody significantly inhibited pro-neutrophilic cytokines and the p38 MAPK, NF-kB signaling pathway and reversed O₃-induced glucocorticoid insensitivity (144).

While Th17 cells were identified as the main producers of IL-17A, O₃-induced asthma exacerbation in mice did not show T cell activation or migration of T cells into the lung prior to the O₃- prompted neutrophil influx (106). These results implied that Th17 cells don't participate in IL-17A release in the early phases of the O₃-response. Mathews et al. proposed that the source of IL-17A in response to acute O₃ exposure is the $\gamma\delta$ T cell (140). In addition, innate lymphoid cells were shown to be essential and sufficient to elicit development of O₃-induced neutrophilia (106) and the ensuing airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. These studies suggest the importance of innate immune players in O₃-induced IL-17A pathways. Interestingly, when compared with Th2 cells ILC2s were found to be relatively steroid resistant in severe asthmatics (51, 156), although they were responsive to steroids in eosinophilic respiratory conditions (175). Increased IL-17A expression was associated with a reduction in GR- α but induced expression of GR- β in asthmatic airway epithelial cells indicating that the steroid insensitivity in severe asthmatics may be a result of a reciprocal regulation of GR- α and GR- β by IL-17 cytokines. Thus, in addition to Th cells, both IL-17A and IL-22 can be produced by ILC3, $\gamma\delta$ T and NK cells, after stimulation with IL-1β, TGF-β, IL-6, or IL-23 and the transcription factor RORyt (168). Figure 1B illustrates that IL-17A-mediated neutrophilia in response to oxidative stress feeds back to a vicious cycle by releasing additional ROS into the lung tissue. Further, neutrophils have high constitutive GR- β expression that may help them resist apoptosis in response to corticosteroid treatment (25). Taken together, oxidative stress-induced IL-17A contributes to glucocorticoid resistance due to an increased activation of phosphokinase signaling pathways, reduction of GR- α , increase of GR- β in IL-17A producing innate immune and T cells thereby promoting neutrophilia.

ROLE OF THE GLUCOCORTICOID RECEPTOR (GR) IN O₃-INDUCED GLUCOCORTICOID RESISTANCE

Glucocorticoids have significant anti-inflammatory, immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory effects and remain the mainstay of asthma treatment (176). A subset of patients however is refractory to glucocorticoids (12, 177, 178), making their asthma difficult to control (179). Glucocorticoid insensitivity in rare cases, can be a primary genetic trait, but more commonly, it is acquired during inflammatory exacerbations (176). Constitutive GR expression is essential for an adequate glucocorticoid action. Corticosteroid insensitivity can be mediated by decreased function and expression of the GR. Expression of the GR gene (NR3C1) is regulated by complex transcriptional and post translational processes that are modified by airway inflammation (169, 180, 181).

How does the GR work? Glucocorticoids go through the cell membrane and bind to the GR that rearranges the stable GRheat-shock protein (HSP)90 complex into an activated glucocorticoid-GR complex that translocates to the nucleus (**Figure 1E**). When two of these complexes form homodimers, they bind to specific glucocorticoid response elements (GRE) in the DNA sequence. GRE are located in the promoter regions of glucocorticoid-responsive genes (176). After the recruitment of co-activators or co-repressors, the GR modulates the rate of gene transcription by transactivation or transrepression. Transactivation is triggered by GRE which acts in "trans", i.e., intermolecularly (this may be considered the opposite of "cis"acting i.e., intramolecular). On the other hand, transrepression (i.e., inhibition) is the activity of a second transcription factor through protein-protein interaction [reviewed by (182, 183)] (Figure 1E). The repressed molecule is usually a transcription factor whose function is to up-regulate gene transcription. Transrepression was first observed in the action of the GR to inhibit the transcriptional promoting activity of the proinflammatory transcription factors AP-1 and NF-KB. Transactivation and transrepression are both important in mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids. Transactivation GRE up-regulates anti-inflammatory genes such as the NF- κ B inhibitor I κ B α , the AP-1 inhibitor glucocorticoid-inducible leucine zipper (GILZ) and IL-10. In a mechanism called "tethering" the GR can also interact with other transcription factors (NF-KB, AP-1, signal transducers, and activators of transcription [STAT] or CAAT Enhancer Binding Protein (C/EBP)], and modulate activation of target genes in a monomeric form (184-186). The activated monomeric GR binds to HDAC (histone deacetylase) and interferes with the activation of the κB responsive element (κB -RE) by p65 and p50 heterodimer subunits of NF-kB. Although the main function of HDACs is to modify histones and chromatin structure, HDAC isoforms can have different regulatory functions in the cytoplasm and nucleus. For instance, HDAC1 is considered to be a transcriptional co-activator (187). On the other hand, impairment of HDAC2 function is implicated in corticosteroid resistance of asthmatic and COPD patients (58, 97). Oxidative stress can lead to the reduction of HDAC2 via activation of phosphoinositide 3 (PI3K). PI3K induces nitric oxide levels in the asthmatic airways that further hinders the functional ability of HDAC2, as reported in asthmatic smokers (178). Moreover, treatment with theophylline, a medication that restores HDAC2 activity, glucocorticoid sensitivity is also restored (178).

GR expression levels are regulated by transcriptional and post translational mechanisms such as kinase-dependent phosphorylation as well as by homologous ligand downregulation (by GR agonists) that can be significantly modified by increased NF- κ B expression during O₃-induced oxidative stress (180). Phosphorylation-dephosphorylation is also important in the function of the transcription regulator enzyme, RNA polymerase II. The GR inhibits transcription activation through dephosphorylating RNA polymerase II (188).

Enhanced expression of NF-KB in the nuclear fraction of immune cells paralleled with an impairment of GR nuclear translocation, DNA binding and a decrease in the expression of GR (70). Mutual transrepression has been demonstrated between the GR and NF-κB as well as AP-1. In the highly inflamed airways during oxidative-stress related asthma exacerbation excessive NFκB and AP-1 activation could be responsible for impaired GR function (27, 176, 189-191). NF-kB not only hinders GR nuclear translocation and directly interferes with GRE-mediated gene transactivation but it can also indirectly "tether" to the GR transcription complex. Importantly, while GR expression is ubiquitous, it is differentially regulated in individual cell types (192). For example cell type-specific increases in NF-κB, in airway epithelial and dendritic cells (Figures 1C, D), upon O₃ inhalation, may significantly inhibit GR expression and modulate allergic airway inflammation [reviewed in (72)].

Glucocorticoid resistance linked to oxidative stress through defective nuclear translocation and GRE binding (**Figure 1E**) (reviewed by Spiers et al. (28, 193, 194). That nuclear translocation of the GR is susceptible to highly pro-oxidative environments was shown by a cultured, fluorescently labeled chimeric GR. Okamoto and colleagues (193) demonstrated that nuclear translocation of GR following acute dexamethasone treatment was impaired in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. This effect was reduced by administration of exogenous antioxidants or by replacing serine for a redox-sensitive cysteine residue. The dissociation of heat shock proteins from the cytosolic GR is also impaired in a pro-oxidative environment, indicating that there may be multiple pathways involved in the cellular response to glucocorticoids (193, 194). Thus, a balanced oxidative state is critical for normal function of the GR.

GR function is also reduced when the molecule is phosphorylated. For example, the proinflammatory signaling molecule, p38MAPK can phosphorylate the GR that blocks nuclear translocation and the ability to bind to DNA leading to decreased ability of the GR to regulate transcription of antiinflammatory genes (178). Similarly, activation of the MEK-ERK1/2 pathway was shown to antagonize the inhibitory action of glucocorticoids in Th17 cells (174).

Additional mechanisms involve increased expression of GRβ, an isomer of GR α that suppresses the ability of GR α to bind to GRE and induce anti-inflammatory genes. Increase in GRB is caused by a rise in pro-inflammatory cytokines or through superantigen such as staphylococcus enterotoxin-induced activation of T lymphocytes (176). Reduced GR expression was reported in asthmatic and COPD patients with insensitivity to corticosteroid treatment (189-191). GR expression can be reduced by homologous ligand down-regulation (upon administration of GR agonists) or other pathways such as transrepression of the GR α isoform by NF- κ B in the inflamed tissue (27). It is unclear whether low levels of GR mRNA are due to suppression of promoter activation, decreased mRNA stability, or both (27) during oxidative stress. Importantly, the expression and function of the human GR is distinct from other species. For example, it is unclear whether transrepression of the GRa by NF-KB plays a role in corticosteroid resistance in mice as existence of the dominant negative GRB isoform [responsible for glucocorticoid resistance (195)] could not be demonstrated in these rodents. Ligand-induced GR down regulation is seen in various tissues and cell types except in T cells (27) suggesting that innate immune and tissue cells may be more susceptible for glucocorticoid resistance. Further studies are still needed to identify the cell types ultimately responsible for mediating the effects of corticosteroid insensitivity in the lung.

AIRWAY EPITHELIAL CELL FUNCTION IS CONSTITUTIVELY REGULATED BY ENDOGENOUS GLUCOCORTICOIDS

Alveolar type II epithelial cells are the major source of pulmonary surfactant, as well as the immunoprotective lung collectins, surfactant protein (SP)-A and SP-D. SP-D, a glucocorticoiddependent airway epithelial cell product is critical in the maintenance of pulmonary immune homeostasis (196-203). Individual susceptibility to the effects of O₃ exposure suggests that inflammatory responsiveness is genetically regulated (204). This is supported by strain dependence of the inflammatory response to O₃ observed in mice (205-207). A failure of protective immune mechanisms likely plays an important role in shaping the O₃ effects in the lung. A differential ability of Balb/c and C57BL/6 mice to respond to allergen (208) or O3 (89), was inversely proportionate to the amount of SP-D in the lung of these mouse strains (89, 209). Further, when compared to wild-type C57BL/6 mice, the naturally low SP-D producer Balb/c or the SP-D knockout (C67BL/6) animals displayed increased susceptibility to and a prolonged recovery period from airway inflammation after allergen or O_3 exposure (89, 210–212).

In addition, O3-induced exacerbation of Th2-type airway inflammation in allergen challenged mice was associated with the appearance of abnormal, lower order oligomeric molecular formations of SP-D. Interestingly, in asthmatic rhesus macaques, O3 induced de-oligomerization of SP-D was restored by treatment with a flaxseed derivative anti-oxidant (94). Thus, oxidative damage can cause conformational change in the SP-D molecule resulting in a potential loss of its immunoprotective function (91, 213). Glucocorticoids were shown to be necessary for expression of SP-D in epithelial cells (120, 121, 214, 215). Interestingly however, there is no glucocorticoid response elements in the promoter region of the SP-D gene (sftpd). This DNA region however contains an evolutionarily conserved STAT3/6 response element in a prominent proximal location. IL-4/IL-13 (activators of STAT6) as well as IL-6 (activator of STAT3) directly upregulated SP-D synthesis in airway epithelial cells in vitro and in mice in vivo (89, 210). Between SP-D and the STAT3/6-activating IL-6 (89) as well as Th2 cytokines IL-4/IL-13 (216), respectively, negative regulatory feedback mechanisms were identified. In these, inflammatory transcriptional signaling by STAT3/6 would upregulate SP-D synthesis and release. In turn, increased amounts of this protein in the airways would suppress further inflammation through inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine transcription. Lastly, there are indications that STAT3 can be directly phosphorylated by H₂O₂ (the molecular product of O3 when mixed in water) in airway epithelial cells in vitro (217). O3 and glucocorticoid treatment had antagonistic effects on SP-D expression and function in the lung, with O₃ inhibiting glucocorticoid-induced sftpd transcription in vivo in mice and in vitro, in human airway epithelial cell cultures. These results indicated that glucocorticoids sustain vital functions in airway epithelium such as SP-D production, aimed at promoting immune homeostasis. This function is directly perturbed by O3induced oxidative stress.

ANTIOXIDANT APPROACH FOR ASTHMA TREATMENT

As we discussed, there is a marked role for oxidative stress in asthma, especially in severe exacerbations associated with

glucocorticoid resistance. Although this fact has been well established, and according to a WHO estimate, more than 80% of the Earth's inhabitants used Traditional Medicine/ Complementary and Alternative Medicine (TCAM) for their primary healthcare needs (218), a large variety of nutritional, pharmacological, and environmental antioxidant clinical approaches to asthma treatment have been controversial and generally disappointing (33).

Emerging evidence from experimental models shows that successful targeting of oxidative stress in asthma is dependent on activation of NRF2 (Nuclear factor-erythroid 2 related factor 2). NRF2 is an ubiquitous master transcription factor that works through antioxidant response elements (AREs) to induce antioxidant enzyme and cytoprotective protein mRNA expression. Under baseline, "unstressed" conditions, the Kelchlike ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) inhibits cellular NRF2 in the cytoplasm and promotes its proteasomal degradation. NRF2 is activated by diverse stimuli such as oxidants, pro-oxidants, antioxidants, and chemopreventive agents (219). NRF2 induces cellular rescue pathways against oxidative injury, abnormal inflammatory and immune responses, apoptosis, and carcinogenesis (219). In a mouse model of asthma Sussan and colleagues used cell-specific activation of NRF2 in club cells of the airway epithelium and found a significantly reduced allergeninduced airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, mucus, Th2 cytokine secretion, oxidative stress, and airway leakiness and increased airway levels of tight junction proteins zonula occludens-1 and E-cadherin on the epithelial cell surface. Pharmacological activation of NRF2 during allergen challenge reduced allergic inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness (220). Administration of the ROS inhibitors, N-acetyl cysteine or apocynin in a mouse model, had no effect on acute injury and lung inflammation but GR-1 antibody depletion of neutrophils significantly reduced ROS production in neutrophils, epithelial cells, interstitial macrophages, and eosinophils (134). In the same study, administration of IL-33 attenuated, while absence of IL-33/ST2 signaling enhanced O₃-induced airway inflammation and oxidative stress, and diminished zonula occludens-1 and E-cadherin expression highlighting the complex role this cytokine plays during lung injury (134).

In a different study, activation of NRF2 decreased the viability of the wild-type but not of the NRF2-deficient ILC2s resembling the pro-apoptotic effect of glucocorticoids albeit without the involvement of caspase 3-dependent apoptosis or necroptosis. In mice NRF2 activation decreased the number of pulmonary ILC2s and eosinophils suggesting NRF2 activation as a potential alternative strategy for steroid-resistant allergic inflammation (29). Lack of NRF2 in the lung exacerbates oxidative insults including supplemental respiratory therapy (e.g., hyperoxia, mechanical ventilation), cigarette smoke, allergen, virus, bacterial endotoxin and other inflammatory agents (e.g., carrageenin), environmental pollution (e.g., particles, O₃), and bleomycin (219, 221). Bioinformatic studies elucidated functional AREs and NRF2-directed genes that are critical components of signaling mechanisms in pulmonary protection by NRF2. Association of loss of function with promoter

polymorphisms in NRF2 or somatic and epigenetic mutations in KEAP1 and NRF2 has been found in cohorts of patients with acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome or lung cancer (219).

The role of non-enzymatic antioxidants was studied in a multiple linear regression analysis that revealed significant associations of vitamin C, vitamin E, beta-cryptoxanthin, lutein/ zeaxanthin, beta-carotene, and retinol with FEV1% in a large population study (93). Since removal of ROS and RNS from the cells by antioxidants could impair the action of NRF2, one might speculate that antioxidant vitamin administration with simultaneous NRF2 activation could be beneficial in oxidative stress-induced asthma exacerbation, which is a highly proinflammatory condition. To this effect, a dietary flaxseed compound (LGM2605) a synthetic form of the lignan secoisolariciresinol digluconate (SDG) was identified as both an antioxidant and an activator of NRF2. SDG demonstrated strong protective actions against different sources of oxidative damage (222, 223) supporting the potential for antioxidant approaches for asthma treatment. A cohort of asthmatic macaques from the California National Primate Research Center was identified to naturally develop airway hyperresponsiveness (224). These animals display no overt airway inflammation or Th2 cell activation and their peripheral blood mononuclear cells are unresponsive to glucocorticoids (224). Thus, these animals represent "Th2 low" glucocorticoid resistant asthmatic patients and are therefore uniquely poised for investigation of novel alternative or adjuvant approaches to glucocorticoid treatment. A 7-days treatment with LGM2605 of these macaques that received a single exposure to O₃ or air (as control) not only prevented the O₃-induced exacerbation of airway hyperresponsiveness but also significantly improved baseline lung function (94). These studies highlight the significance of oxidative stress in the effect of O₃ on airway hyperresponsiveness and support the idea that anti-oxidant treatment may be beneficial in glucocorticoid resistant, Th2 low asthma.

CONCLUSIONS

Severe glucocorticoid resistant asthma continues to increase morbidity and mortality despite the advent of new powerful biological treatments that target proinflammatory cytokines. Scientific and clinical evidence is emerging that alternative and adjuvant therapeutic approaches could significantly contribute to reducing and/or controlling severe asthmatic symptoms. Harnessing antioxidant mechanisms may have a special importance in this effort as oxidative stress has been clearly demonstrated to worsen steroid resistance in severe asthma. The pathways we discussed here are however widely applicable to clinical conditions associated with inflammation and oxidative stress and in which glucocorticoid treatment is essential. One recent example of this is the wide variability of effectiveness observed by dexamethasone treatment of severe COVID-19 patients (225-227). Our assessment of the literature raised a number of interesting questions that require future clarifications.

For example, what is the importance of the different cell types in mediating glucocorticoid resistance in asthma? Does the nature of oxidative stress depend on its etiology? What role do AhRrelated mechanisms play and how does transcriptional regulation of the circadian clock figure into glucocorticoid responsiveness? Is it possible to increase expression and the protective function of molecules like SP-D? What are the effects of simultaneous molecular targeting of oxidative stress, inflammation, and NRF2 pathways? How feasible it is to translate experimental data to human studies and ultimately to clinical application? Greater understanding of how oxidative stress affects asthma and steroid resistance may lead to novel therapies that could improve the lives of millions.

REFERENCES

- Lefaudeux D, De Meulder B, Loza MJ, Peffer N, Rowe A, Baribaud F, et al. U-BIOPRED clinical adult asthma clusters linked to a subset of sputum omics. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 139(6):1797–807. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2016.08.048
- Barnes PJ. Targeting cytokines to treat asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2018) 18(7):454–66. doi: 10.1038/ s41577-018-0006-6
- Chung KF, Wenzel SE, Brozek JL, Bush A, Castro M, Sterk PJ, et al. International ERS/ATS guidelines on definition, evaluation and treatment of severe asthma. *Eur Respir J* (2014) 43(2):343–73. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00202013
- Chung KF. Managing severe asthma in adults: lessons from the ERS/ATS guidelines. Curr Opin Pulm Med (2015) 21(1):8–15. doi: 10.1097/ MCP.00000000000116
- Chung KF. Asthma phenotyping: a necessity for improved therapeutic precision and new targeted therapies. J Intern Med (2016) 279(2):192– 204. doi: 10.1111/joim.12382
- Peden DB. The role of oxidative stress and innate immunity in O(3) and endotoxin-induced human allergic airway disease. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 242 (1):91–105. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01035.x
- Alexis NE, Carlsten C. Interplay of air pollution and asthma immunopathogenesis: a focused review of diesel exhaust and ozone. Int Immunopharmacol (2014) 23(1):347–55. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2014.08.009
- Jesenak M, Zelieskova M, Babusikova E. Oxidative Stress and Bronchial Asthma in Children-Causes or Consequences? *Front Pediatr* (2017) 5:162. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00162
- Chau-Etchepare F, Hoerger JL, Kuhn BT, Zeki AA, Haczku A, Louie S, et al. Viruses and non-allergen environmental triggers in asthma. J Invest Med (2019) 67(7):1029–41. doi: 10.1136/jim-2019-001000
- Bontinck A, Maes T, Joos G. Asthma and air pollution: recent insights in pathogenesis and clinical implications. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* (2020) 26 (1):10–9. doi: 10.1097/MCP.00000000000644
- Feddema JJ, Claassen E. Prevalence of viral respiratory infections amongst asthmatics: Results of a meta-regression analysis. *Respir Med* (2020) 173:106020. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106020
- Barnes PJ. Therapeutic approaches to asthma-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease overlap syndromes. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2015) 136 (3):531–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.05.052
- Nabe T. Steroid-Resistant Asthma and Neutrophils. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2020) 43(1):31–5. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b19-00095
- Busse WW. A role for neutrophils in asthma exacerbations. Nat Med (2017) 23(6):658–59. doi: 10.1038/nm.4351
- Bruijnzeel PL, Uddin M, Koenderman L. Targeting neutrophilic inflammation in severe neutrophilic asthma: can we target the diseaserelevant neutrophil phenotype? J Leukoc Biol (2015) 98(4):549–56. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3VMR1214-600RR
- Pakkasela J, Ilmarinen P, Honkamaki J, Tuomisto LE, Andersen H, Piirila P, et al. Age-specific incidence of allergic and non-allergic asthma. *BMC Pulm Med* (2020) 20(1):9. doi: 10.1186/s12890-019-1040-2

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF drafted the ozone-related sections. CE drafted the glucocorticoid resistance-related sections. AH revised the draft, edited, and finalized the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

T32ES007059 (CF) and T32 HL007013 (CF); P30ES023513 Pilot Grant (AH), R21AI116121 (AH), R41AI132012, and 2R42AI132012 (AH); T32HL116275 (CF).

- Peters MC, Wenzel SE. Intersection of biology and therapeutics: type 2 targeted therapeutics for adult asthma. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10221):371–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)33005-3
- Fahy JV. Type 2 inflammation in asthma-present in most, absent in many. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(1):57–65. doi: 10.1038/nri3786
- Fajt ML, Wenzel SE. Asthma phenotypes and the use of biologic medications in asthma and allergic disease: the next steps toward personalized care. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 135(2):299–310; quiz 11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2014.12.1871
- Nimmagadda SR, Spahn JD, Leung DY, Szefler SJ. Steroid-resistant asthma: evaluation and management. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (1996) 77 (5):345–55; quiz 55-6. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)63332-7
- 21. Liang TZ, Chao JH. *Inhaled Corticosteroids*. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing (2020).
- Tripple JW, Ameredes BT, Calhoun WJ. Outpatient Management of Chronic Asthma in 2020. JAMA J Am Med Assoc (2020) 323(6):561–62. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.19986
- Vervloet M, van Dijk L, Spreeuwenberg P, Price D, Chisholm A, Van Ganse E, et al. The Relationship Between Real-World Inhaled Corticosteroid Adherence and Asthma Outcomes: A Multilevel Approach. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2020) 8(2):626–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.09.003
- Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Yudt MR, Bofetiado DM, Cidlowski JA. The dominant negative activity of the human glucocorticoid receptor beta isoform. Specificity and mechanisms of action. J Biol Chem (1999) 274 (39):27857–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.39.27857
- Strickland I, Kisich K, Hauk PJ, Vottero A, Chrousos GP, Klemm DJ, et al. High constitutive glucocorticoid receptor beta in human neutrophils enables them to reduce their spontaneous rate of cell death in response to corticosteroids. J Exp Med (2001) 193(5):585–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.5.585
- 26. Webster JC, Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA. Proinflammatory cytokines regulate human glucocorticoid receptor gene expression and lead to the accumulation of the dominant negative beta isoform: a mechanism for the generation of glucocorticoid resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(12):6865–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121455098
- Schaaf MJ, Cidlowski JA. Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid action and resistance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2002) 83(1-5):37–48. doi: 10.1016/S0960-0760(02)00263-7
- Spiers JG, Chen HJ, Sernia C, Lavidis NA. Activation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal stress axis induces cellular oxidative stress. *Front Neurosci* (2014) 8:456. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00456
- Nagashima R, Kosai H, Masuo M, Izumiyama K, Noshikawaji T, Morimoto M, et al. Nrf2 Suppresses Allergic Lung Inflammation by Attenuating the Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Response. *J Immunol* (2019) 202(5):1331–39. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801180
- Decrue F, Gorlanova O, Usemann J, Frey U. Lung functional development and asthma trajectories. *Semin Immunopathol* (2020) 42(1):17–27. doi: 10.1007/s00281-020-00784-2
- Fuertes E, van der Plaat DA, Minelli C. Antioxidant genes and susceptibility to air pollution for respiratory and cardiovascular health. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2020) 151:88–98. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.01.181

- Betteridge DJ. What is oxidative stress? *Metabolism* (2000) 49(2 Suppl 1):3– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0026-0495(00)80077-3
- Sahiner UM, Birben E, Erzurum S, Sackesen C, Kalayci O. Oxidative stress in asthma: Part of the puzzle. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2018) 29(8):789–800. doi: 10.1111/pai.12965
- Castanhinha S, Sherburn R, Walker S, Gupta A, Bossley CJ, Buckley J, et al. Pediatric severe asthma with fungal sensitization is mediated by steroidresistant IL-33. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2015) 136(2):312–22.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.016
- Erzurum SC. New Insights in Oxidant Biology in Asthma. Ann Am Thorac Soc (2016) 13 Suppl 1:S35–9. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201506-385MG
- Van Cauwenberge P, Van Zele T, Bachert C. Chronic rhinonsinusitis and nasal polyposis: the etiopathogenesis revealed? *Verh K Acad Geneeskd Belg* (2008) 70(5-6):305–22.
- Liang Z, Zhang Q, Thomas CM, Chana KK, Gibeon D, Barnes PJ, et al. Impaired macrophage phagocytosis of bacteria in severe asthma. *Respir Res* (2014) 15:72. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-15-72
- Schroeder BO, Ehmann D, Precht JC, Castillo PA, Kuchler R, Berger J, et al. Paneth cell alpha-defensin 6 (HD-6) is an antimicrobial peptide. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(3):661–71. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.100
- Harrison OJ, Linehan JL, Shih HY, Bouladoux N, Han SJ, Smelkinson M, et al. Commensal-specific T cell plasticity promotes rapid tissue adaptation to injury. *Science* (2019) 363(6422):eaat6280. doi: 10.1126/science.aat6280
- Mileva M, Bakalova R, Tancheva L, Galabov S. Effect of immobilization, cold and cold-restraint stress on liver monooxygenase activity and lipid peroxidation of influenza virus-infected mice. *Arch Toxicol* (2002) 76 (2):96–103. doi: 10.1007/s00204-001-0306-6
- Mileva M, Marazova K, Galabov AS. Gastric mucosal lesions in influenza virus infected mice: role of gastric lipid peroxidation. *Methods Findings Exp Clin Pharmacol* (2003) 25(7):521–4. doi: 10.1358/mf.2003.25.7.778090
- 42. Garcia GL, Valenzuela A, Manzoni T, Vaughan AE, Lopez CB. Distinct Chronic Post-Viral Lung Diseases upon Infection with Influenza or Parainfluenza Viruses Differentially Impact Superinfection Outcome. Am J Pathol (2020) 190(3):543–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.11.003
- Mattos MS, Ferrero MR, Kraemer L, Lopes GAO, Reis DC, Cassali GD, et al. CXCR1 and CXCR2 Inhibition by Ladarixin Improves Neutrophil-Dependent Airway Inflammation in Mice. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:566953. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.566953
- 44. Castro SM, Guerrero-Plata A, Suarez-Real G, Adegboyega PA, Colasurdo GN, Khan AM, et al. Antioxidant treatment ameliorates respiratory syncytial virus-induced disease and lung inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2006) 174(12):1361–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200603-319OC
- Mochizuki H, Todokoro M, Arakawa H. RS virus-induced inflammation and the intracellular glutathione redox state in cultured human airway epithelial cells. *Inflammation* (2009) 32(4):252–64. doi: 10.1007/s10753-009-9128-0
- Mata M, Martinez I, Melero JA, Tenor H, Cortijo J. Roflumilast inhibits respiratory syncytial virus infection in human differentiated bronchial epithelial cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e69670. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0069670
- Yoshida S, Noguchi A, Kikuchi W, Fukaya H, Igarashi K, Takahashi T. Elevation of Serum Acid Sphingomyelinase Activity in Children with Acute Respiratory Syncytial Virus Bronchiolitis. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (2017) 243 (4):275–81. doi: 10.1620/tjem.243.275
- Koziol-White CJ, Cooper PR, Lee W, Gern JE, Haczku A, Panettieri RA. Rhinovirus 16 (RV16) Induces Airway Hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and Differential Mediator Release in Human lung slices ex vivo. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2011) 127(2):Ab55–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.228
- 49. Korfhagen TR, Kitzmiller J, Chen G, Sridharan A, Haitchi HM, Hegde RS, et al. SAM-pointed domain ETS factor mediates epithelial cell-intrinsic innate immune signaling during airway mucous metaplasia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(41):16630–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1208092109
- Han M, Hong JY, Jaipalli S, Rajput C, Lei J, Hinde JL, et al. IFN-gamma Blocks Development of an Asthma Phenotype in Rhinovirus-Infected Baby Mice by Inhibiting Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2017) 56(2):242–51. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0056OC
- 51. Liu S, Verma M, Michalec L, Liu W, Sripada A, Rollins D, et al. Steroid resistance of airway type 2 innate lymphoid cells from patients with severe

asthma: The role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141(1):257–68.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.03.032

- 52. Ortega H, Nickle D, Carter L. Rhinovirus and asthma: Challenges and opportunities. *Rev Med Virol* (2020) 20:e2193. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2193
- Bakadia BM, Boni BOO, Ahmed AAQ, Yang G. The impact of oxidative stress damage induced by the environmental stressors on COVID-19. *Life Sci* (2020) 26:118653. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118653
- Laforge M, Elbim C, Frere C, Hemadi M, Massaad C, Nuss P, et al. Tissue damage from neutrophil-induced oxidative stress in COVID-19. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20(9):515–16. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0407-1
- Mrityunjaya M, Pavithra V, Neelam R, Janhavi P, Halami PM, Ravindra PV. Immune-Boosting, Antioxidant and Anti-inflammatory Food Supplements Targeting Pathogenesis of COVID-19. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:570122. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.570122
- Thomas T, Stefanoni D, Reisz JA, Nemkov T, Bertolone L, Francis RO, et al. COVID-19 infection alters kynurenine and fatty acid metabolism, correlating with IL-6 levels and renal status. *JCI Insight* (2020) 5(14): e140327. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.140327
- Holguin F. Oxidative stress in airway diseases. Ann Am Thorac Soc (2013) 10 Suppl:S150–7. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201305-116AW
- Milara J, Navarro A, Almudever P, Lluch J, Morcillo EJ, Cortijo J. Oxidative stress-induced glucocorticoid resistance is prevented by dual PDE3/PDE4 inhibition in human alveolar macrophages. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2011) 41 (4):535–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2011.03715.x
- Reid CE, Considine EM, Watson GL, Telesca D, Pfister GG, Jerrett M. Associations between respiratory health and ozone and fine particulate matter during a wildfire event. *Environ Int* (2019) 129:291–98. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.04.033
- 60. da Costa Loureiro L, da Costa Loureiro L, Gabriel-Junior EA, Zambuzi FA, Fontanari C, Sales-Campos H, et al. Pulmonary surfactant phosphatidylcholines induce immunological adaptation of alveolar macrophages. *Mol Immunol* (2020) 122:163-72. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2020.04.010
- Reid CE, Brauer M, Johnston FH, Jerrett M, Balmes JR, Elliott CT. Critical Review of Health Impacts of Wildfire Smoke Exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* (2016) 124(9):1334–43. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409277
- 62. Pratt JR, Gan RW, Ford B, Brey S, Pierce JR, Fischer EV, et al. A national burden assessment of estimated pediatric asthma emergency department visits that may be attributed to elevated ozone levels associated with the presence of smoke. *Environ Monit Assess* (2019) 191(Suppl 2):269. doi: 10.1007/s10661-019-7420-5
- Reid CE, Maestas MM. Wildfire smoke exposure under climate change: impact on respiratory health of affected communities. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* (2019) 25(2):179–87. doi: 10.1097/MCP.00000000000552
- 64. Li XN, Ma LY, Ji H, Qin YH, Jin SS, Xu LX. Resveratrol protects against oxidative stress by activating the Keap-1/Nrf2 antioxidant defense system in obese-asthmatic rats. *Exp Ther Med* (2018) 16(6):4339–48. doi: 10.3892/ etm.2018.6747
- Lynch SV, Boushey HA. The microbiome and development of allergic disease. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 16(2):165–71. doi: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000255
- Martinez Y, Mas D, Betancur C, Gebeyew K, Adebowale T, Hussain T, et al. Role of the Phytochemical Compounds like Modulators in Gut Microbiota and Oxidative Stress. *Curr Pharm Des* (2020) 26(22):2642–56. doi: 10.2174/ 1381612826666200515132218
- 67. Wright RJ, Cohen RT, Cohen S. The impact of stress on the development and expression of atopy. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* (2005) 5(1):23–9. doi: 10.1097/00130832-200502000-00006
- Chida Y, Sudo N, Sonoda J, Hiramoto T, Kubo C. Early-life psychological stress exacerbates adult mouse asthma via the hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal axis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2007) 175(4):316–22. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200607-8980C
- 69. Haczku A, Tong E, Krytska K, Kierstein S, Panettieri RA. Combination of stress and asthma inhibits the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and CAAT Enhancer binding protein (C/EBP)-mediated production of the immunoprotective surfactant protein D (SP-D) in the lung. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2008) 177:A64.

- Bailey MT, Kierstein S, Sharma S, Spaits M, Kinsey SG, Tliba O, et al. Social stress enhances allergen-induced airway inflammation in mice and inhibits corticosteroid responsiveness of cytokine production. *J Immunol* (2009) 182 (12):7888–96. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800891
- Miller GE, Gaudin A, Zysk E, Chen E. Parental support and cytokine activity in childhood asthma: the role of glucocorticoid sensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 123(4):824–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008. 12.019
- Haczku A, Panettieri RAJr. Social stress and asthma: the role of corticosteroid insensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 125(3):550–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.11.005
- Barnes P, FitzGerald G, Brown M, Dollery C. Nocturnal asthma and changes in circulating epinephrine, histamine, and cortisol. *N Engl J Med* (1980) Jul 31303(5):263–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198007313030506
- Skloot GS. Nocturnal asthma: mechanisms and management. Mt Sinai J Med (2002) May69(3):140–7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.288.6428.1397
- Sutherland ER. Nocturnal asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 116 (6):1179–86; quiz 87. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.09.028
- Buttgereit F, Gibofsky A. Delayed-release prednisone a new approach to an old therapy. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* (2013) 14(8):1097–106. doi: 10.1517/ 14656566.2013.782001
- Kadmiel M, Cidlowski JA. Glucocorticoid receptor signaling in health and disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2013) 34(9):518–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.tips.2013.07.003
- Sundar IK, Yao H, Sellix MT, Rahman I. Circadian molecular clock in lung pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2015) 309(10):L1056– 75. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00152.2015
- Truong KK, Lam MT, Grandner MA, Sassoon CS, Malhotra A. Timing Matters: Circadian Rhythm in Sepsis, Obstructive Lung Disease, Obstructive Sleep Apnea, and Cancer. Ann Am Thorac Soc (2016) 13(7):1144–54. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201602-125FR
- Zaslona Z, Case S, Early JO, Lalor SJ, McLoughlin RM, Curtis AM, et al. The circadian protein BMAL1 in myeloid cells is a negative regulator of allergic asthma. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2017) 312(6):L855–L60. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00072.2017
- Sundar IK, Sellix MT, Rahman I. Redox regulation of circadian molecular clock in chronic airway diseases. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2018) 119:121–28. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.10.383
- Wilkinson ST, Tome ME, Briehl MM. Mitochondrial adaptations to oxidative stress confer resistance to apoptosis in lymphoma cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2012) 13(8):10212–28. doi: 10.3390/ijms130810212
- Estrela JM, Salvador R, Marchio P, Valles SL, Lopez-Blanch R, Rivera P, et al. Glucocorticoid receptor antagonism overcomes resistance to BRAF inhibition in BRAF(V600E)-mutated metastatic melanoma. *Am J Cancer Res* (2019) 9(12):2580–98. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(20)31182-5
- Janssen-Heininger Y, Reynaert NL, van der Vliet A, Anathy V. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and glutathione therapeutics in chronic lung diseases. *Redox Biol* (2020) 33:101516. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2020.101516
- 85. Ederle C, Charles AL, Khayath N, Poirot A, Meyer A, Clere-Jehl R, et al. Mitochondrial Function in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) Is Enhanced, Together with Increased Reactive Oxygen Species, in Severe Asthmatic Patients in Exacerbation. J Clin Med (2019) 8(10):1613–26. doi: 10.3390/jcm8101613
- 86. Li F, Xu M, Wang M, Wang L, Wang H, Zhang H, et al. Roles of mitochondrial ROS and NLRP3 inflammasome in multiple ozone-induced lung inflammation and emphysema. *Respir Res* (2018) 19(1):230. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0931-8
- 87. Xu M, Wang L, Wang M, Wang H, Zhang H, Chen Y, et al. and NLRP3 inflammasome in acute ozone-induced murine model of airway inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Free Radical Res* (2019) 53(7):780–90. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2019.1630735
- Hansen S, Holmskov U. Lung surfactant protein D (SP-D) and the molecular diverted descendants: conglutinin, CL-43 and CL-46. *Immunobiology* (2002) 205(4-5):498–517. doi: 10.1078/0171-2985-00150
- Kierstein S, Poulain FR, Cao Y, Grous M, Mathias R, Kierstein G, et al. Susceptibility to ozone-induced airway inflammation is associated with decreased levels of surfactant protein D. *Respir Res* (2006) 7(1):85. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-7-85

- Starosta V, Griese M. Oxidative damage to surfactant protein D in pulmonary diseases. *Free Radical Res* (2006) 40(4):419–25. doi: 10.1080/ 10715760600571248
- Yousefi S, Sharma SK, Stojkov D, Germic N, Aeschlimann S, Ge MQ, et al. Oxidative damage of SP-D abolishes control of eosinophil extracellular DNA trap formation. J Leukoc Biol (2018) 104(1):205–14. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.3AB1117-455R
- Vandewalle J, Libert C. Glucocorticoids in Sepsis: To Be or Not to Be. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1318. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01318
- 93. Schunemann HJ, Grant BJ, Freudenheim JL, Muti P, Browne RW, Drake JA, et al. The relation of serum levels of antioxidant vitamins C and E, retinol and carotenoids with pulmonary function in the general population. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2001) 163(5):1246–55. doi: 10.1164/ ajrccm.163.5.2007135
- 94. Flayer CH, Larson ED, Joseph A, Kao S, Qu W, Van Haren A, et al. Ozoneinduced enhancement of airway hyperreactivity in rhesus macaques: Effects of antioxidant treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2020) 145(1):312–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.08.034
- Barnes PJ, Adcock IM, Ito K. Histone acetylation and deacetylation: importance in inflammatory lung diseases. *Eur Respir J* (2005) 25(3):552– 63. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00117504
- 96. Dozor AJ. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis and treatment of asthma. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2010) 1203:133–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05562.x
- Barnes PJ. Corticosteroid resistance in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131(3):636– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.1564
- Michalec L, Choudhury BK, Postlethwait E, Wild JS, Alam R, Lett-Brown M, et al. CCL7 and CXCL10 orchestrate oxidative stress-induced neutrophilic lung inflammation. J Immunol (2002) 168(2):846–52. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.168.2.846
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR. Genetic mechanisms of susceptibility to oxidative lung injury in mice. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2007) 42(4):433–45. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2006.11.021
- 100. Kierstein S, Cao Y, Krytska K, Sharma S, Keslacy S, Amrani Y, et al. Exacerbation of Allergen-Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness after Ozone Exposure Is Associated with Prolonged Survival of Eosinophils and Inhibition of Fas and FasL. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2007) 175:A463.
- 101. Kierstein S, Krytska K, Sharma S, Amrani Y, Salmon M, Panettieri RAJr., et al. Ozone inhalation induces exacerbation of eosinophilic airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in allergen-sensitized mice. *Allergy* (2008) 63(4):438–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01587.x
- 102. Yang IA, Fong KM, Zimmerman PV, Holgate ST, Holloway JW. Genetic susceptibility to the respiratory effects of air pollution. *Thorax* (2008) 63 (6):555–63. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.079426
- 103. Yang IA, Fong KM, Zimmerman PV, Holgate ST, Holloway JW. Genetic susceptibility to the respiratory effects of air pollution. *Postgrad Med J* (2009) 85(1006):428–36. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.079426
- 104. Kirkham PA, Caramori G, Casolari P, Papi AA, Edwards M, Shamji B, et al. Oxidative stress-induced antibodies to carbonyl-modified protein correlate with severity of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2011) 184(7):796–802. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201010-1605OC
- 105. Wiegman CH, Li F, Clarke CJ, Jazrawi E, Kirkham P, Barnes PJ, et al. A comprehensive analysis of oxidative stress in the ozone-induced lung inflammation mouse model. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2014) 126(6):425–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20130039
- 106. Yang Q, Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Wang X, Kemeny DM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells mediate ozone-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 137(2):571–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.037
- 107. Bao A, Yang H, Ji J, Chen Y, Bao W, Li F, et al. Involvements of p38 MAPK and oxidative stress in the ozone-induced enhancement of AHR and pulmonary inflammation in an allergic asthma model. *Respir Res* (2017) 18(1):216. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0697-4
- 108. Murphy SR, Schelegle ES, Edwards PC, Miller LA, Hyde DM, Van Winkle LS. Postnatal exposure history and airways: oxidant stress responses in airway explants. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2012) 47(6):815–23. doi: 10.1165/ rcmb.2012-01100C

- 109. Moore BD, Hyde D, Miller L, Wong E, Frelinger J, Schelegle ES. Allergen and ozone exacerbate serotonin-induced increases in airway smooth muscle contraction in a model of childhood asthma. *Respiration* (2012) 83(6):529– 42. doi: 10.1159/000336835
- 110. Moore BD, Hyde DM, Miller LA, Wong EM, Schelegle ES. Persistence of serotonergic enhancement of airway response in a model of childhood asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2014) 51(1):77–85. doi: 10.1165/ rcmb.2013-0387OC
- 111. Ciencewicki JM, Verhein KC, Gerrish K, McCaw ZR, Li J, Bushel PR, et al. Effects of mannose-binding lectin on pulmonary gene expression and innate immune inflammatory response to ozone. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2016) 311(2):L280–91. doi: 10.1152/ajplung. 00205.2015
- 112. Duan L, Li J, Ma P, Yang X, Xu S. Vitamin E antagonizes ozone-induced asthma exacerbation in Balb/c mice through the Nrf2 pathway. *Food Chem Toxicol* (2017) 107(Pt A):47–56. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2017.06.025
- 113. Li R, Jiang N, Liu Q, Huang J, Guo X, Liu F, et al. Impact of Air Pollutants on Outpatient Visits for Acute Respiratory Outcomes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14(1):47–58. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14010047
- 114. Li Z, Xu X, Thompson LA, Gross HE, Shenkman EA, DeWalt DA, et al. Longitudinal Effect of Ambient Air Pollution and Pollen Exposure on Asthma Control: The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Pediatric Asthma Study. Acad Pediatr (2019) 19(6):615-23. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2019.03.010
- 115. Marques Mejias MA, Tomas Perez M, Hernandez I, Lopez I, Quirce S. Asthma Exacerbations in the Pediatric Emergency Department at a Tertiary Hospital: Association With Environmental Factors. J Invest Allergol Clin Immunol (2019) 29(5):365–70. doi: 10.18176/jiaci.0364
- 116. Wiegman CH, Li F, Ryffel B, Togbe D, Chung KF. Oxidative Stress in Ozone-Induced Chronic Lung Inflammation and Emphysema: A Facet of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1957. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01957
- 117. Jerrett M, Burnett RT, Pope CA,3, Ito K, Thurston G, Krewski D, et al. Longterm ozone exposure and mortality. N Engl J Med (2009) 360(11):1085–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0803894
- 118. McConnell R, Berhane K, Gilliland F, London SJ, Islam T, Gauderman WJ, et al. Asthma in exercising children exposed to ozone: a cohort study. *Lancet* (2002) 359(9304):386–91. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07597-9
- 119. Peden DB. The "envirome" and what the practitioner needs to know about it. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2019) 123(6):542–49. doi: 10.1016/ j.anai.2019.09.014
- 120. Deterding RR, Shimizu H, Fisher JH, Shannon JM. Regulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in vitro and in vivo. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1994) 10(1):30–7. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.10. 1.8292379
- 121. Cao Y, Tao JQ, Bates SR, Beers MF, Haczku A. IL-4 induces production of the lung collectin surfactant protein-D. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 113 (3):439–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.11.031
- 122. Flayer CH, Ge MQ, Hwang JW, Kokalari B, Redai IG, Jiang Z, et al. Ozone Inhalation Attenuated the Effects of Budesonide on Aspergillus fumigatus-Induced Airway Inflammation and Hyperreactivity in Mice. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02173
- 123. Zhang L, Ikegami M, Crouch EC, Korfhagen TR, Whitsett JA. Activity of pulmonary surfactant protein-D (SP-D) in vivo is dependent on oligomeric structure. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(22):19214–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M010191200
- 124. Yousefi S, Sharma SK, Flayer CH, Stojkov D, Ge MQ, Germic N, et al. Oxidative Damage Abolishes the Ability of SP-D to Block Eosinophil Extracellular DNA Trap Release During Exacerbation of Allergic Airway Inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2018) 197:205–14. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.3AB1117-455R
- 125. Yousefi S, Qu WX, Flayer CH, Stojkov D, Germic N, Aeschlimann S, et al. Surfactant Protein D (SP-D) Inhibits Neutrophil Extracellular DNA Trap Formation: Effects of S-nitrosylation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 143(2): Ab192–Ab92. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.12.588
- 126. Kelly FJ, Mudway I, Krishna MT, Holgate ST. The free radical basis of air pollution: focus on ozone. *Respir Med* (1995) 89(10):647–56. doi: 10.1016/ 0954-6111(95)90131-0

- 127. Girotti AW. Lipid hydroperoxide generation, turnover, and effector action in biological systems. J Lipid Res (1998) 39(8):1529–42. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)32182-9
- Bromberg PA. Mechanisms of the acute effects of inhaled ozone in humans. Biochim Biophys Acta (2016) 1860(12):2771–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen. 2016.07.015
- Mumby S, Chung KF, Adcock IM. Transcriptional Effects of Ozone and Impact on Airway Inflammation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1610. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01610
- 130. Sokolowska M, Quesniaux VFJ, Akdis CA, Chung KF, Ryffel B, Togbe D. Acute Respiratory Barrier Disruption by Ozone Exposure in Mice. Front Immunol (2019) 10:2169. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02169
- 131. Brand JD, Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Wurmbrand AP, Shore SA. Regulation of IL-17A expression in mice following subacute ozone exposure. *J Immunotoxicol* (2016) 13(3):428–38. doi: 10.3109/1547691X. 2015.1120829
- 132. Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Cho Y, Wurmbrand AP, Ribeiro L, et al. IL-33 Drives Augmented Responses to Ozone in Obese Mice. *Environ Health Perspect* (2017) 125(2):246–53. doi: 10.1289/EHP272
- 133. Shore SA. Mechanistic Basis for Obesity-related Increases in Ozone-induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Mice. Ann Am Thorac Soc (2017) 14 (Supplement_5):S357–S62. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201702-140AW
- 134. Michaudel C, Mackowiak C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Akdis CA, Sokolowska M, et al. Ozone exposure induces respiratory barrier biphasic injury and inflammation controlled by IL-33. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2018) 142 (3):942–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.044
- 135. Kasahara DI, Wilkinson JE, Cho Y, Cardoso AP, Huttenhower C, Shore SA. The interleukin-33 receptor contributes to pulmonary responses to ozone in male mice: role of the microbiome. *Respir Res* (2019) 20(1):197. doi: 10.1186/ s12931-019-1168-x
- 136. Kasahara DI, Shore SA. IL-33, diet-induced obesity, and pulmonary responses to ozone. *Respir Res* (2020) 21(1):98. doi: 10.1186/s12931-020-01361-9
- 137. Pichavant M, Goya S, Meyer EH, Johnston RA, Kim HY, Matangkasombut P, et al. Ozone exposure in a mouse model induces airway hyperreactivity that requires the presence of natural killer T cells and IL-17. J Exp Med (2008) 205(2):385–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071507
- 138. Kasahara DI, Kim HY, Williams AS, Verbout NG, Tran J, Si H, et al. Pulmonary inflammation induced by subacute ozone is augmented in adiponectin-deficient mice: role of IL-17A. J Immunol (2012) 188(9):4558– 67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102363
- 139. Kasahara DI, Kim HY, Mathews JA, Verbout NG, Williams AS, Wurmbrand AP, et al. Pivotal role of IL-6 in the hyperinflammatory responses to subacute ozone in adiponectin-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2014) 306(6):L508–20. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00235.2013
- 140. Mathews JA, Williams AS, Brand JD, Wurmbrand AP, Chen L, Ninin FM, et al. gammadelta T cells are required for pulmonary IL-17A expression after ozone exposure in mice: role of TNFalpha. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(5):e97707. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097707
- 141. Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Ribeiro L, Wurmbrand AP, Ninin FM, Shore SA. gammadelta T Cells Are Required for M2 Macrophage Polarization and Resolution of Ozone-Induced Pulmonary Inflammation in Mice. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7):e0131236. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131236
- 142. Williams AS, Mathews JA, Kasahara DI, Wurmbrand AP, Chen L, Shore SA. Innate and ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in obese mice: role of TNF-alpha. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2015) 308(11):L1168–77. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00393.2014
- 143. Che L, Jin Y, Zhang C, Lai T, Zhou H, Xia L, et al. Ozone-induced IL-17A and neutrophilic airway inflammation is orchestrated by the caspase-1-IL-1 cascade. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:18680. doi: 10.1038/srep18680
- 144. Fei X, Zhang PY, Zhang X, Zhang GQ, Bao WP, Zhang YY, et al. IL-17A Monoclonal Antibody Partly Reverses the Glucocorticoids Insensitivity in Mice Exposed to Ozonec. *Inflammation* (2017) 40(3):788–97. doi: 10.1007/ s10753-017-0523-7
- 145. Mathews JA, Krishnamoorthy N, Kasahara DI, Hutchinson J, Cho Y, Brand JD, et al. Augmented Responses to Ozone in Obese Mice Require IL-17A and Gastrin-Releasing Peptide. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2018) 58(3):341–51. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2017-0071OC

- 146. Zhang JH, Yang X, Chen YP, Zhang JF, Li CQ. Nrf2 Activator RTA-408 Protects Against Ozone-Induced Acute Asthma Exacerbation by Suppressing ROS and gammadeltaT17 Cells. *Inflammation* (2019) 42 (5):1843–56. doi: 10.1007/s10753-019-01046-6
- 147. Alexis NE, Lay JC, Haczku A, Gong H, Linn W, Hazucha MJ, et al. Fluticasone propionate protects against ozone-induced airway inflammation and modified immune cell activation markers in healthy volunteers. *Environ Health Perspect* (2008) 116(6):799–805. doi: 10.1289/ ehp.10981
- 148. Alexis NE, Lay JC, Hazucha M, Harris B, Hernandez ML, Bromberg PA, et al. Low-level ozone exposure induces airways inflammation and modifies cell surface phenotypes in healthy humans. *Inhal Toxicol* (2010) 22(7):593–600. doi: 10.3109/08958371003596587
- 149. Hyde DM, Hubbard WC, Wong V, Wu R, Pinkerton K, Plopper CG. Ozoneinduced acute tracheobronchial epithelial injury: relationship to granulocyte emigration in the lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1992) 6(5):481–97. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/6.5.481
- 150. Kim CS, Alexis NE, Rappold AG, Kehrl H, Hazucha MJ, Lay JC, et al. Lung function and inflammatory responses in healthy young adults exposed to 0.06 ppm ozone for 6.6 hours. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2011) 183 (9):1215–21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201011-1813OC
- 151. Stevens WH, Adelroth E, Wattie J, Woolley MJ, Ellis R, Dahlback M, et al. Effect of inhaled budesonide on ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and bronchoalveolar lavage cells in dogs. J Appl Physiol (1985) (1994) 77 (6):2578–83. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1994.77.6.2578
- 152. Joad JP, Kott KS, Bric JM, Schelegle ES, Gershwin LJ, Plopper CG, et al. The effects of inhaled corticosteroids on intrinsic responsiveness and histology of airways from infant monkeys exposed to house dust mite allergen and ozone. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2008) 226(2):153–60. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2007.09.005
- 153. Vagaggini B, Taccola M, Cianchetti S, Carnevali S, Bartoli ML, Bacci E, et al. Ozone exposure increases eosinophilic airway response induced by previous allergen challenge. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2002) 166(8):1073–7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2201013
- 154. Vagaggini B, Cianchetti S, Bartoli M, Ricci M, Bacci E, Dente FL, et al. Prednisone blunts airway neutrophilic inflammatory response due to ozone exposure in asthmatic subjects. *Respiration* (2007) 74(1):61–8. doi: 10.1159/ 000096078
- 155. Hernandez ML, Lay JC, Harris B, Esther CRJr., Brickey WJ, Bromberg PA, et al. Atopic asthmatic subjects but not atopic subjects without asthma have enhanced inflammatory response to ozone. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 126(3):537–44 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.043
- 156. Jia Y, Fang X, Zhu X, Bai C, Zhu L, Jin M, et al. IL-13(+) Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Correlate with Asthma Control Status and Treatment Response. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2016) 55(5):675–83. doi: 10.1165/ rcmb.2016-0099OC
- 157. Takenaka MC, Gabriely G, Rothhammer V, Mascanfroni ID, Wheeler MA, Chao CC, et al. Control of tumor-associated macrophages and T cells in glioblastoma via AHR and CD39. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22(5):729–40. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0370-y
- Beamer CA, Shepherd DM. Role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) in lung inflammation. *Semin Immunopathol* (2013) 35(6):693–704. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0391-7
- Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Quintana FJ. Regulation of the Immune Response by the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor. *Immunity* (2018) 48(1):19–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2017.12.012
- 160. Michaudel C, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Quesniaux V, Chung KF, Wiegman C, et al. Interleukin-1alpha Mediates Ozone-Induced Myeloid Differentiation Factor-88-Dependent Epithelial Tissue Injury and Inflammation. Front Immunol (2018) 9:916. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00916
- 161. Quintana FJ. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: a molecular pathway for the environmental control of the immune response. *Immunology* (2013) 138 (3):183–9. doi: 10.1111/imm.12046
- Quintana FJ, Sherr DH. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of adaptive immunity. *Pharmacol Rev* (2013) 65(4):1148–61. doi: 10.1124/pr.113.007823
- 163. Gibbs J, Ince L, Matthews L, Mei J, Bell T, Yang N, et al. An epithelial circadian clock controls pulmonary inflammation and glucocorticoid action. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(8):919–26. doi: 10.1038/nm.3599

- 164. Ince LM, Zhang Z, Beesley S, Vonslow RM, Saer BR, Matthews LC, et al. Circadian variation in pulmonary inflammatory responses is independent of rhythmic glucocorticoid signaling in airway epithelial cells. *FASEB J* (2019) 33(1):126–39. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800026RR
- 165. Sundar IK, Yao H, Sellix MT, Rahman I. Circadian clock-coupled lung cellular and molecular functions in chronic airway diseases. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2015) 53(3):285–90. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2014-0476TR
- 166. Jaeger C, Tischkau SA. Role of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Circadian Clock Disruption and Metabolic Dysfunction. *Environ Health Insights* (2016) 10:133–41. doi: 10.4137/EHLS38343
- 167. Leung DY, Szefler SJ. New insights into steroid resistant asthma. Pediatr Allergy Immunol (1998) 9(1):3–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.1998.tb00293.x
- 168. Michaudel C, Bataille F, Maillet I, Fauconnier L, Colas C, Sokol H, et al. Ozone-Induced Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation Controls Lung Inflammation via Interleukin-22 Modulation. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:144. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00144
- 169. Ramakrishnan RK, Al Heialy S, Hamid Q. Role of IL-17 in asthma pathogenesis and its implications for the clinic. *Expert Rev Respir Medi* (2019) 13(11):1057–68. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2019.1666002
- 170. Chesne J, Braza F, Mahay G, Brouard S, Aronica M, Magnan A. IL-17 in severe asthma. Where do we stand? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2014) 190 (10):1094–101. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201405-0859PP
- Johnston RA, Schwartzman IN, Flynt L, Shore SA. Role of interleukin-6 in murine airway responses to ozone. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2005) 288(2):L390–7. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00007.2004
- 172. Linden A, Dahlen B. Interleukin-17 cytokine signalling in patients with asthma. *Eur Respir J* (2014) 44(5):1319–31. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00002314
- 173. Banuelos J, Cao Y, Shin SC, Lu NZ. Immunopathology alters Th17 cell glucocorticoid sensitivity. *Allergy* (2017) 72(3):331–41. doi: 10.1111/ all.13051
- 174. Tsitoura DC, Rothman PB. Enhancement of MEK/ERK signaling promotes glucocorticoid resistance in CD4+ T cells. J Clin Invest (2004) 113(4):619–27. doi: 10.1172/JCI200418975
- 175. Walford HH, Lund SJ, Baum RE, White AA, Bergeron CM, Husseman J, et al. Increased ILC2s in the eosinophilic nasal polyp endotype are associated with corticosteroid responsiveness. *Clin Immunol* (2014) 155(1):126–35. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2014.09.007
- 176. Barnes PJ. Glucocorticosteroids. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2017) 237:93–115. doi: 10.1007/164_2016_62
- 177. Haczku A, Alexander A, Brown P, Assoufi B, Li B, Kay AB, et al. The effect of dexamethasone, cyclosporine, and rapamycin on T-lymphocyte proliferation in vitro: comparison of cells from patients with glucocorticoid-sensitive and glucocorticoid-resistant chronic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (1994) 93 (2):510–9. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(94)90361-1
- 178. Trevor JL, Deshane JS. Refractory asthma: mechanisms, targets, and therapy. *Allergy* (2014) 69(7):817–27. doi: 10.1111/all.12412
- 179. Wang W, Li JJ, Foster PS, Hansbro PM, Yang M. Potential therapeutic targets for steroid-resistant asthma. *Curr Drug Targets* (2010) 11(8):957–70. doi: 10.2174/138945010791591412
- Pujols L, Mullol J, Picado C. Alpha and beta glucocorticoid receptors: relevance in airway diseases. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep (2007) 7(2):93–9. doi: 10.1007/s11882-007-0005-3
- Mukherjee M, Svenningsen S, Nair P. Glucocortiosteroid subsensitivity and asthma severity. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* (2017) 23(1):78–88. doi: 10.1097/ MCP.00000000000337
- Baschant U, Lane NE, Tuckermann J. The multiple facets of glucocorticoid action in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2012) 8(11):645–55. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2012.166
- Ingawale DK, Mandlik SK. New insights into the novel anti-inflammatory mode of action of glucocorticoids. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* (2020) 42(2):59–73. doi: 10.1080/08923973.2020.1728765
- 184. Reichardt HM, Kaestner KH, Tuckermann J, Kretz O, Wessely O, Bock R, et al. DNA binding of the glucocorticoid receptor is not essential for survival. *Cell* (1998) 93(4):531–41. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81183-6
- 185. Reichardt HM, Tuckermann JP, Gottlicher M, Vujic M, Weih F, Angel P, et al. Repression of inflammatory responses in the absence of DNA binding by the glucocorticoid receptor. *EMBO J* (2001) 20(24):7168–73. doi: 10.1093/ emboj/20.24.7168

- Gross KL, Lu NZ, Cidlowski JA. Molecular mechanisms regulating glucocorticoid sensitivity and resistance. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2009) 300 (1-2):7–16. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2008.10.001
- 187. Zupkovitz G, Tischler J, Posch M, Sadzak I, Ramsauer K, Egger G, et al. Negative and positive regulation of gene expression by mouse histone deacetylase 1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26(21):7913–28. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.01220-06
- Ito K, Chung KF, Adcock IM. Update on glucocorticoid action and resistance. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 117(3):522–43. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2006.01.032
- 189. Adcock IM, Caramori G. Cross-talk between pro-inflammatory transcription factors and glucocorticoids. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2001) 79 (4):376–84. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2001.01025.x
- Adcock IM, Barnes PJ. Molecular mechanisms of corticosteroid resistance. Chest (2008) 134(2):394–401. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-0440
- 191. Adcock IM, Ford PA, Bhavsar P, Ahmad T, Chung KF. Steroid resistance in asthma: mechanisms and treatment options. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep* (2008) 8(2):171–8. doi: 10.1007/s11882-008-0028-4
- 192. Kalinyak JE, Dorin RI, Hoffman AR, Perlman AJ. Tissue-specific regulation of glucocorticoid receptor mRNA by dexamethasone. *J Biol Chem* (1987) 262 (22):10441–4. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)60980-9
- 193. Okamoto K, Tanaka H, Ogawa H, Makino Y, Eguchi H, Hayashi S, et al. Redox-dependent regulation of nuclear import of the glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem (1999) 274(15):10363-71. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.274.15.10363
- 194. Zhu HJ, Dai YF, Wang O, Li M, Lu L, Zhao WG, et al. Generalized glucocorticoid resistance accompanied with an adrenocortical adenoma and caused by a novel point mutation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2011) 124(4):551–5. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2011.04.013
- 195. Geng CD, Pedersen KB, Nunez BS, Vedeckis WV. Human glucocorticoid receptor alpha transcript splice variants with exon 2 deletions: evidence for tissue- and cell type-specific functions. *Biochemistry* (2005) 44(20):7395–405. doi: 10.1021/bi047485e
- 196. Wright JR. Immunoregulatory functions of surfactant proteins. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(1):58–68. doi: 10.1038/nri1528
- 197. Kishore U, Greenhough TJ, Waters P, Shrive AK, Ghai R, Kamran MF, et al. and SP-D: structure, function and receptors. *Mol Immunol* (2006) 43 (9):1293–315. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2005.08.004
- Pastva AM, Wright JR, Williams KL. Immunomodulatory roles of surfactant proteins A and D: implications in lung disease. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* (2007) 4 (3):252–7. doi: 10.1513/pats.200701-018AW
- 199. Haczku A. Protective role of the lung collectins surfactant protein A and surfactant protein D in airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2008) 122(5):861–79; quiz 80-1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.10.014
- Forbes LR, Haczku A. SP-D and regulation of the pulmonary innate immune system in allergic airway changes. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2010) 40(4):547–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03483.x
- Orgeig S, Hiemstra PS, Veldhuizen EJ, Casals C, Clark HW, Haczku A, et al. Recent advances in alveolar biology: evolution and function of alveolar proteins. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* (2010) 173 Suppl:S43–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.resp.2010.04.023
- 202. Hillaire ML, Haagsman HP, Osterhaus AD, Rimmelzwaan GF, van Eijk M. Pulmonary surfactant protein D in first-line innate defence against influenza A virus infections. J Innate Immunity (2013) 5(3):197–208. doi: 10.1159/ 000346374
- 203. Briana DD, Malamitsi-Puchner A. Perinatal biomarkers implying 'Developmental Origins of Health and Disease' consequences in intrauterine growth restriction. *Acta Paediatr* (2020) 109(7):1317–22. doi: 10.1111/apa.15022
- Horvath SM, Gliner JA, Folinsbee LJ. Adaptation to ozone: duration of effect. *Am Rev Respir Dis* (1981) 123(5):496–9. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1981.123.5.496
- 205. Backus-Hazzard GS, Howden R, Kleeberger SR. Genetic susceptibility to ozone-induced lung inflammation in animal models of asthma. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* (2004) 4(5):349–53. doi: 10.1097/00130832-200410000-00004
- 206. Lu FL, Johnston RA, Flynt L, Theman TA, Terry RD, Schwartzman IN, et al. Increased pulmonary responses to acute ozone exposure in obese db/db

mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2006) 290(5):L856-65. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00386.2005

- 207. Shore SA. Obesity and asthma: lessons from animal models. *J Appl Physiol* (1985) (2007) 102(2):516–28. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00847.2006
- Takeda K, Haczku A, Lee JJ, Irvin CG, Gelfand EW. Strain dependence of airway hyperresponsiveness reflects differences in eosinophil localization in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2001) 281(2):L394–402. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2001.281.2.L394
- 209. Atochina EN, Beers MF, Tomer Y, Scanlon ST, Russo SJ, Panettieri RAJr., et al. Attenuated allergic airway hyperresponsiveness in C57BL/6 mice is associated with enhanced surfactant protein (SP)-D production following allergic sensitization. *Respir Res* (2003) 4(1):15. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-4-15
- Haczku A. Role and regulation of lung collectins in allergic airway sensitization. *Pharmacol Ther* (2006) 110(1):14-34. doi: 10.1016/ j.pharmthera.2005.08.008
- 211. Groves AM, Gow AJ, Massa CB, Hall L, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Age-related increases in ozone-induced injury and altered pulmonary mechanics in mice with progressive lung inflammation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2013) 305(8):L555–68. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00027.2013
- 212. Ge MQ, Kokalari B, Flayer CH, Killingbeck SS, Redai IG, MacFarlane AWT, et al. Cutting Edge: Role of NK Cells and Surfactant Protein D in Dendritic Cell Lymph Node Homing: Effects of Ozone Exposure. *J Immunol* (2016) 196 (2):553–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403042
- 213. Forbes LR, Ducka B, Fehrenbach M, Hortobagyi L, Zhu X, Kierstein S, et al. (SP-D) Binds to Signal Regulatory Protein Alpha (SIRP-a) on Alveolar Macrophages and Dendritic Cells and Promotes Allergen-Induced Lymph-Node Directed Migration. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 125(2):AB126. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.498
- 214. Mariencheck W, Crouch E. Modulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in fetal rat lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1994) 10 (4):419–29. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.10.4.8136157
- 215. Rust K, Bingle L, Mariencheck W, Persson A, Crouch EC. Characterization of the human surfactant protein D promoter: transcriptional regulation of SP-D gene expression by glucocorticoids. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1996) 14 (2):121–30. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.14.2.8630261
- 216. Haczku A, Cao Y, Vass G, Kierstein S, Nath P, Atochina-Vasserman EN, et al. IL-4 and IL-13 form a negative feedback circuit with surfactant protein-D in the allergic airway response. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(6):3557–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3557
- 217. Edenborough KM, Gilbertson BP, Brown LE. A mouse model for the study of contact-dependent transmission of influenza A virus and the factors that govern transmissibility. J Virol (2012) 86(23):12544–51. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.00859-12
- Arteaga-Badillo DA, Portillo-Reyes J, Vargas-Mendoza N, Morales-Gonzalez JA, Izquierdo-Vega JA, Sanchez-Gutierrez M, et al. Asthma: New Integrative Treatment Strategies for the Next Decades. *Med (Kaunas)* (2020) 56(9):438– 58. doi: 10.3390/medicina56090438
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR. Nrf2 protects against airway disorders. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2010) 244(1):43–56. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2009.07.024
- 220. Sussan TE, Gajghate S, Chatterjee S, Mandke P, McCormick S, Sudini K, et al. Nrf2 reduces allergic asthma in mice through enhanced airway epithelial cytoprotective function. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2015) 309(1):L27–36. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00398.2014
- 221. Kikuchi N, Ishii Y, Morishima Y, Yageta Y, Haraguchi N, Itoh K, et al. Nrf2 protects against pulmonary fibrosis by regulating the lung oxidant level and Th1/Th2 balance. *Respir Res* (2010) 11:31. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-11-31
- 222. Kinniry P, Amrani Y, Vachani A, Solomides CC, Arguiri E, Workman A, et al. Dietary flaxseed supplementation ameliorates inflammation and oxidative tissue damage in experimental models of acute lung injury in mice. *J Nutr* (2006) 136(6):1545–51. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.6.1545
- 223. Pietrofesa RA, Velalopoulou A, Albelda SM, Christofidou-Solomidou M. Asbestos Induces Oxidative Stress and Activation of Nrf2 Signaling in Murine Macrophages: Chemopreventive Role of the Synthetic Lignan Secoisolariciresinol Diglucoside (LGM2605). *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17 (3):322. doi: 10.3390/ijms17030322
- 224. Capitanio JP, Miller LA, Schelegle ES, Mendoza SP, Mason WA, Hyde DM. Behavioral inhibition is associated with airway hyperresponsiveness but not

atopy in a monkey model of asthma. *Psychosom Med* (2011) 73(4):288-94. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182155c83

- 225. Group RC, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, et al. Dexamethasone in Hospitalized Patients with Covid-19 - Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med (2020). doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436
- 226. Group WHOREAfC-TW, Sterne JAC, Murthy S, Diaz JV, Slutsky AS, Villar J, et al. Association Between Administration of Systemic Corticosteroids and Mortality Among Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19: A Meta-analysis. JAMA J Am Med Assoc (2020) 324(13):1330–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17023
- 227. Tomazini BM, Maia IS, Cavalcanti AB, Berwanger O, Rosa RG, Veiga VC, et al. Effect of Dexamethasone on Days Alive and Ventilator-Free in Patients With Moderate or Severe Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and COVID-

19: The CoDEX Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA* (2020) 324(13):1307–16. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17021

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Enweasor, Flayer and Haczku. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

